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ARTICLES OF MERGER [ALL N2

T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC.,
a Florida corporation

and
TI ACQUISITION, INC.,

a Florida corporation

The following articles of merger are submitied in accordance with the Florida Business

Corporation Act. pursuant to section 607.1105, Plorida Statutes.

First: The name and jurisdiction of the SURVIVING CORPORATION is:

Name Jurisdiction Iocument Number
T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. I‘lorida POGO0O002503
Second: The name and jurisdiction of the MERGING CORPORATION is: & ‘j
Name Jurisdiction Document Number E:Ed
T3 ACQUISITION, INC, IFlorida P17000040537 i\lo
Third: The Plan of Merger is altached. ::-?: et
Fou.vth: The merger ‘s!w.ll become effective on the date the Articles of Merger are filed with the z 1;
Florida Department of Stale, @

Fifth: The Plan of Merger was adopted by the shareholders of the SURVIVING CORPORATION
on May 18,2017,

Sixtl:_The Plan of Merger was adopied by the shareholders of the MERGING CORPORATION

on _m_éj__gﬂ_ 2017

Seventh: Signatures:

T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC, T3 ACQUISITION, INC.
By: _ h.C—__Sy}___ By: /VZ%
Printed Namu: Sieven O, Jones PrintddXame; Arthur L. Smith

Title; Chairman ol the Board, Executive VP Title: Prestdent




Execution Version

AGREEMENT AND PLLAN OF MERGER
by and among
SHIFT8 TECHNOLOGIES, INC,,
T3 ACQUISITION, INC.,
T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC.,
and

MR. STUART CONRAD, AS SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE

Dated as of May 8, 2017
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this “Agreement”) is made as of May 8,
2017, by and among Shift8 Technologies, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“Buyer”), T3
Acquisition, Inc., a Florida corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Buyer (“Acquisition
Company™), T3 Communications, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company’) and Mr. Stuart
Conrad, as the representative of the Shareholders of the Company (in such capacity, the
“Shareholders Representative™).

WHEREAS, capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings
set forth in Annex A made a part hereof;

WHEREAS, all of the issued and outstanding Shares and any issued and outstanding T3
Options of Company are held by the Persons set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto;

WHEREAS, upon the terms and subject 10 the conditions set forth herein, Buyer desires
to acquire all of the Company’s business and assets of every description and assume all of the
Company’s liabilities by effecting a merger of the Acquisition Company with and into the
Company, resulting in the Company being the surviving entity and thereafter a wholly owned
subsidiary of Buyer (the “Merger™); and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Buyer has approved this Agreement, the
Merger and the Transaction contemplated by this Agreement in accordance with the Title 7 of
the Nevada Revised Statutes (the “NRS™) and its organizational documents; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company, and the Board of Directors and sole
member of the Acquisition Company (Buyer) have approved this Agreement, the Merger and the
Transaction contemplated by this Agreement in accordance with the Florida Business
Corporation Act (the “FBCA”) and their respective organizational documents,

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises above, and the representations and
warranties and mutual covenants contained herein and for other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as
follows:

ARTICLE 1.
MERGER

Section 1.1 Merger. On the Closing Date and in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement and the FBCA, Buyer will acquire the Company’s business by effecting a merger of
the Acquisition Company with and into the Company, the separate legal existence of the
Acquisition Company will cease, and the Company will be the surviving entity.

Section 1.2 Certificate of Merger. Concurrently with the Closing, the Acquisition
Company and the Company will file a certificate of merger satisfying all of the requirements of
the applicable provisions of the FBCA with the Secretary of State of Florida, and will make all
other filings or recordings required under the FBCA 1o effect the Merger on and as of the
Closing Date.
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Section 1.3 Effect of Merger. Upon the effectiveness of the Merger:

(a)  the Articles of Incorporation of the Company shall be amended and
restated as set forth in Exhibit A;

(b)  the bylaws of the Company shall be amended and restated as set forth in
Exhibit B;

(c) the individuals set forth on Exhibit C shall be elected 10 the Board of
Directors of the Company and 1o the offices in the Company set forth opposite their respective
names;

(d)  the issued and outstanding membership interests of the Acquisition
Company owned by Buyer immediately prior to the Closing shall by virtue of the Merger and
without any action on the part of any Person be automatically converted into a like number of
shares of the Common Stock of the Company;

(e)  the Shares of the Company issued and outstanding immediately prior to
the Closing held by the Shareholders shall by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the
part of any Person be automatically converted into the right to receive the amount of cash set
forth opposite the name of the respective Sharcholders on Schedule 1 attached hereto, as may be
amended by the Company prior to the Closing to take into consideration the Estimated Purchase
Price and the amount of the Distributable Net Purchase Price payable to each Shareholder at
Closing;

(f) the T3 Options issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Closing
held by the option holders shall by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of any
Person be automatically converted into the right to receive the amouni of cash from the
Distribwtable Net Purchase Price set forth opposite the name of the respective option holder on
Schedule 1; and

(g)  the Shares and T3 Options shall be cancelled and cease to exist aside from
the rights provided in Section_l.3(e) and 1.3(f).

Section 1.4  Purchase Price. Buyer and the Company agree that the purchase price for
the Company (the “Purchase Price™) shall equal (i) $3,850,000, minus {ii) the Indebtedness not
otherwise being assumed by the Buyer pursuant to this Agreement as set forth on Schedule 2, if
any, minus, (iii) that portion of the Company Indebtedness and Company Closing Expenses to be
paid by Buyer pursuant to Section 2.4(e}(i}, if any, and plus or minus (iv) any difference between
the Net Working Capital on the Closing Date and the Target Net Working Capital; provided that
no adjustment shall be made with respect to Net Working Capital unless the difference is at least
$25,000 in excess of or less than the Target Net Working Capital. Pursuant to Section 6.2(g), the
Company shall have Cash on Hand as of Closing of not less than $250,000 (“Closing Minimum
Cash™), which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall be included in the calculation of Net Working
Capital on the Closing Date.

Section 1.5  Appraisal Rights. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the
contrary, each Share as to which written notice of objection to the Merger in accordance with the
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FBCA (“Dissenting_Shares™) has been received by the Company will not be converted into the
right to receive a portion of the Purchase Price as provided by this Agreement, and Buyer and the
Company will therefore have no obligation to pay the portion of the Purchase Price in respect of
any such Share, unless and until the holder of such Share withdraws his or her demand for
appraisal rights or becomes ineligible for appraisal rights. Each Person holding of record or
beneficially owning Dissenting Shares who becomes entitled under the applicable sections of the
FBCA to payment of the fair value of such Dissenting Shares (and any other payments required
by the FBCA) or to payment of any other amount under any other legal theory as a result of their
capacity as a shareholder of the Company prior to the Merger, will receive payment therefor
from the Buyer and the Company in the same manner as Purchase Price is being paid to
Shareholders hercunder.

Section 1.6 Miscellaneous Consideration Terms,

(8)  Prior to the Closing, the Company shall hand deliver or mail to each
Shareholder a letter of transmittal in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D and instructions for
use of such letter of transmittal (the “ITransmittal Letier™) in effecting the surrender of any
certificate representing Shares and obtaining payment of each such Shareholder’s Pro Rata Share
of the Distributable Net Purchase Price, as provided in this Section 1.6.

(b) At the Closing, all Shares issued and outstanding immediately prior to the
Closing will be canceled and cease to exist, and each holder of a certificate that represents Shares
issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Closing will cease to have any rights as a
Shareholder with respect 1o the Shares represented by such certificate (including, without
limitation, any right to receive accrued and unpaid dividends), except for the right to surrender
such certificate, and deliver 1o the Company a duly executed Transmittal Letter, in exchange for
the payment of the Distributable Net Purchase Price provided pursuant to this Agreement and
Schedule 1 or to preserve and perfect such Sharcholder’s right to receive payment for such
holder’s Shares pursuant to applicable sections of the FBCA and Section_L.5 if such holder has
validly exercised and not withdrawn or lost such right, and no transter of Shares issued and
outstanding immediately prior to the Closing will be made on the stock transfer books of the
Company.

(c) If payment of a Sharcholder’s Pro Rata Share of the Distributable Net
Purchase Price by the Payment Agent is to be made to a Person other than the Person in whose
name the certificate surrendered in exchange therefore is registered, it will be a condition to such
payment that, and Payment Agent will not make such payment until, the certificate so
surrendered be properly endorsed and otherwise in proper form for transfer reasonably
satisfactory to Buyer, and that the Person requesting such payment (i} deliver to the Company a
duly executed Transmittal Letter, and (ii) pay to Buyer or the Company any transfer and other
taxes required by reason of such payment in any name other than that of the registered holder of
the certificate surrendered or establish to the reasonable satisfaction of Buyer that such tax either
has been paid or is not payable.

(d)  No interest will accrue or be payable with respect to any amounts which a
holder of Shares will be entitled to receive. The Payment Agent is authorized to pay the cash
attributable to any certificate previously issued which has been lost or destroyed, only upon
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receipt of reasonably satisfactory evidence of ownership of the Shares represented thereby
satisfactory to the Buyer and of appropriate indemnification (without bond or similar
requirement). For the avoidance of doubt, the receipt of an executed Transmittal Letter and the
original certificate representing Shares being surrendered by a Sharcholder or an executed
affidavit of lost certificate in a form attached as an exhibit to the Transmittal Letter, shall be
deemcd to be satisfactory evidence of a Shareholder satisfying all of the requirements to receive
payment of such Shareholder's Pro Rata Share of the Distributable Net Purchase Price.

(e) If the Payment Agent is unable to pay any amount due to the failurec of a
Shareholder or other Person to comply with the requirements of Section 1.6(c) and, if applicable,
Section 1.6(d), the unpaid amount shall be held by the Payment Agent until conditions of the
applicable scction arc met or until the amount must then be paid over in accordance with
applicable Law (including but not limited to applicable state unclaimed property law).

ARTICLE IL
CLOSING

Section2.]  The Closing. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the
closing of the Transaction (the “Closing™) shall take place at the offices of K&I. Gates LLP,
located at Southeast Financial Center, Suite 3900, 200 South Biscayne Boulevard, Miami,
Florida 33131, on a date no later than two (2) Business Days after the last of the Closing
Conditions have been satisfied or waived (other than conditions which, by their nature, are to be
satisfied on the Closing Date), or at such other time or on such other date or at such other place
ag the Company and Buyer may mutually agree upon in writing. The date of the Closing is
herein referred to as the “Closing Date.” The Closing shall be deemed to occur at, and the
calculation of the Purchase Price shall be made as of, 12:01 a.m. Miami. Florida time on the
Closing Date.

Section 2.2 Closing Deliveries by the Company. At the Closing, the Company shall
deliver or cause to be delivered to Buyer, or Escrow Agent or Payment Agent as may be
applicable, the following:

(a) a certificate signed by the Company’s Secretary or Assistant Secretary and
dated the Closing Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, certifying as to
(i) a certified copy of Company's Articles of Incorporation from the Sccretary of State of the
State of Florida and all amendments thereto dated as of a date within ten (10) days prior to the
Closing Date and that no amendments to the Articles of Incorporation have taken place since the
date of the certification, (ii) good standing certificates of the Company from its jurisdiction of
organization and each jurisdiction in which it is qualified to do business as a foreign corporation,
in cach case dated within ten (10) days of the Closing Date, (iii) the Company’s bylaws, as the
same may be amended, and that no other amendments to Company’s bylaws have taken place,
(iv) attesting to the incumbency of the officers of the Company executing this Agreement and the
Transaction Documents;

(b) a certificate signed by the Company’s Secretary or Assistant Secretary and
dated the Closing Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, certifying as to
(i) the due adoption and continued effectiveness of a resolution adopted by the Company’s Board
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of Directors approving this Agreement, the Merger and the Transaction, including, without
limitation, its recommendation 1o the Sharcholders to approve this Agreement, the Merger and
the Transaction in accordance with the FBCA, (ii) the notice of mecting of Sharcholders (the
“Shareholders Meeting™) stating the purpose of the Shareholders Meeting that was held to
consider approving this Agreement, the Merger and the Transaction and transmitting a copy of
this Agreement, together with all schedules and exhibits, and the notice of the Shareholders
appraisal rights under the FBCA, (iii) the voting results of the Sharcholders Meeting, and (iv) the
due adoption and continued effectiveness of a resolution adopted by the Requisite Shareholders
approving this Agreement, the Merger and the Transaction in accordance with the FBCA,;

©) a Certificate of Merger duly signed by the Company;

(d) payoff letters, in forms reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, with respect to
the payoff amounts for the Indebtedness of the Company;

(e)  copies of all consents, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to
Buyer, of third Persons set forth on Schedule 3.4(b);

(f) the written resignation (or documentation reasonably satisfactory to Buyer
showing the removal) of cach director and officer of the Company, with each resignation (or
removal) effective no later than the Closing, provided, however the Buycr acknowledges and
agrees that Josh Reel will continue to be an employee of the Company pursuant to the terms of
the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated December 2, 2016, between Mr. Reel
and the Company,

(g) a Non-Compete and Confidentiality Agreement for key shareholders, in
the form attached hereto as Exhibit E, duly executed by each of Josh Reel, Steven Jones,
Randall Henderson, Tad Yeatter and Stuart Conrad;

(h) an amended Schedule 1 in accordance with Section 2.5(b);

(i) Transmittal Letters and corresponding issued and outstanding certificates
(or lost certificate affidavits in the form attached to the Transmittal Letter) from Shareholders
representing not less than a majority of all issued and outstanding shares of Company stock (the
“Surrendered Stock™) immediately prior to the Closing. All of the Surrendered Stock shall be
canceled and extinguished at the Closing, to effect the exchange of such certificates on behalf of
the applicable Shareholders;

) the Escrow Agreement, in the form attached hercto as Exhibit F, duly
executed by the Shareholders Representative;

(k) the first amendment to the Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement of Josh Reel in the form attached hereto as Exhibit G, executed by the Company and
Josh Reel (the “Employment Apgreement”);

) a Payment Agent Agreement, in a form to be reasonably agreed to by the
Buyer, the Shareholders Representative and the Company, duly executed by the Company and
the Sharcholders Representative;
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(m)}  An opinion of counsel to the Company limited to the proper authorization
by the Sharcholders for the Merger; and

(n)  such other customary filings or documents, in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, as may be required to give cffect to this Agreement.

Section 2.3 Closing Deliveries by Buyer. At the Closing, Buyer shall deliver or cause
to be delivered to the Company, or the Escrow Agent or the Payment Agent as may be
applicable, the following:

(a) a certificate signed by Buyer's Secretary or Assistant Secretary and dated
the Closing Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company, certifying as to
(i) a certified copy of Buyer’s Certificate of Incorporation from the Secretary of State of the State
of Nevada and all amendments thereto dated as of a date within ten (10) days prior to the Closing
Date and that no amendments to the Buyer’s Certificate of Incorporation have taken place since
the date of the certification, (ii) good standing certificates of Buyer from Nevada and each
Jjurisdiction in which it is qualified to do business as a foreign corporation, in each case dated
within ten (10} days of the Closing Date, (ii1) Buyer’s bylaws, as the same may be amended, and
that no other amendments to Buyer’s bylaws have taken place, (iv) attesting to the incumbency
of the officers of Buyer executing this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and (v)
certifying as to the due adoption and continued effectiveness of a resolution adopted by Buyer's
Board of Directors approving this Agreement, the Merger and the Transaction;

(b)  a certificate signed by Acquisition Company’s Secretary or Assistant
Sccretary and dated the Closing Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the
Company, certifying as to () a certified copy of Acquisition Company’s Articles of
Incorporation from the Sccretary of State of the State of Florida and all amendments thercto
dated as of a date within ten (10) days prior to the Closing Date and that no amendments 10 the
Articles of Incorporation have taken place since the date of the certification, (31) good standing
certificates of Acquisition Company from Florida and cach jurisdiction in which it is qualified to
do business as a foreign cntity, in each case dated within ten (10) days of the Closing Date,
(iii) Acquisition Company’s bylaws, as the same may be amended, and that no other
amendments to Company’s bylaws have taken place, (iv) attesting to the incumbency of the
officers of Acquisition Company executing this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents;

{c) a certificate signed by Acquisition Company’s Secretary or Assistant
Sccretary and dated the Closing Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the
Company, certifying as to (i) the waiver by Acquisition Company’s sole stockholder of any
notice required by FBCA, and (ii) the due adoption and continued effectiveness of a resolution
by Acquisilion Company’s sole stockholder approving this Agreement, the Merger and the
Transaction in accordance with the NRS and FBCA (if applicable),

(d}  the Escrow Agreement executed by the Buyer and Escrow Agent;

(e)  the Payment Agent Agreement executed by the Buyer and the Payment
Agent;
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H a Certificate of Merger duly signed by Buyer; and

{(g)  such other customary filings or documents, in form and substance
rcasonably satisfactory to Company, as may be required to give effect to this Agreement.

Section 2.4  Closing Payments. On or before Closing, the following payments and/or
actions shall be undertaken by the parties indicated:

(a) Any cash payments shall be made by cashier’s check or by wire transfer of
immediately available funds according to the payment directions provided to Company, Buyer,
the Payment Agent or Escrow Agent at least two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing;

{b)  Company shall wire transfer or otherwise deliver from the difference
between the amount of Cash on Hand just prior to the Closing and the Closing Minimum Cash
(such amount the “Excess Cash”) to the holders of the Indebtedness of the Company that will be
paid off on or prior to closing to the Persons and in the amounts set forth on Schedule 2.4(b} (the
“Estimated Indebtedness™); provided, however, if the Excess Cash is not sufficient to pay all of
the Estimated Indebtedness, then the Buyer shall cover any shortfalls and reduce the Purchase
Price by such amount;

(c) Company shall, after payment of Estimated Indebtedness as provided in
Section 2 4(b), wire transfer to the Persons specified in Schedule 2.4(c) from the Excess Cash, an
amount equal 1o the estimated company closing expenses in the respective amounts set forth in
Schedule 2.4{c) (the “Estimated Company Closing Expenses”); provided, however, if the Excess
Cash is not sufficient to pay all of the Estimated Company Closing Expenses, then the Buyer
shall cover any shortfalls and reduce the Purchase Price by such amount.

(d)  Company shall wire transfer to the Payment Agent, any remaining portion
of the Excess Cash left over after making the payments described in Section 2.4(b) and 2.4(c)
(such amount, the “Remainder Cash™), if any, for distribution to the Sharcholders as part of the
gross proceeds of the Transaction.

()  Buyershall:

(1) To the extent the Estimated Indebtedness and/or Estimated
Company Closing Expenses have not been fully paid by the Company pursuant 10 Section 2.4(b)
or Section 2.4(c), wire transfer to the Persons specified in Schedule 2.4(b), any amounts of the
Estimated Indebtedness set forth in Schedule 2.4(b) less any amounts previously paid by the
Company pursuant to Section 2.4(b); and to the Persons specified in Schedule 2.4(c), any
amounts of the Estimated Company Closing Expenses set forth in Schedule 2.4{c) less any
amounts previously paid by the Company pursuant to_Section 2.4(c); and

(i)  wire transfer to the Payment Agent, an amount equal 10 the
Estimated Purchase Price less the Escrow Amounts.

(iii}  wire transfer to the Escrow Agent, an amount equal to the Escrow
Amounts.
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(N The Escrow Agreement shall provide that the Escrow Agent shall
segregate the funds required for the Indemnity Escrow Amount and the Working Capital
Escrow Amount (together, the “Escrow Amounts™) in accordance with the terms of the Escrow
Agreement. '

(g) The Payment Agent Agreement shall provide that:

(i) the Company shall for cach Sharcholder that has delivered to the
Company (A) their Share certificate(s), or affidavit of lost certificate(s) as may be applicable,
and (B) an executed Transmittal Letter, promptly (and in any cvent within five days of receipt
thereof) instruct the Payment Agent to wire transfer or otherwise deliver an amount of cash (the
“Distributable Net Purchase Price™) for such Shareholder as set forth on Schedule 1, which shall
be calculated as (1) the Estimated Purchase Price multiplied by such Shareholder’s Percentage
Interest, minus (2) the aggregate exercise price related to any T3 Options held by such
Shareholder, minus (3) the product of such Shareholder’s Percentage Interest multiplied by the
Escrow Amounts; and

(i)  the Payment Agent will add to the balance of the Remainder Cash
to be distributed to Shareholders, any proceeds set forth on Schedule 1 from option exercises
that are deducted from the Estimated Purchase Price received from the Buyer to arrive at the
Distributable Net Purchase Price.

(i)  the Payment Agent shall wire transfer or otherwise deliver to each
Shareholder, an amount equal to the Remainder Cash multiplied by each such Shareholder’s
Percentage Interest.

Section 2.5  Purchase Price Adjustments.

(a) At least two (2) Business Days prior 1o the Closing Date, the Company
shall deliver to the Buyer a good faith estimate of Net Working Capital (the “Estimated Net
Working Capital™), Estimated Indebtedness 1o be paid off by Buyer at Closing, if any, and
Estimated Company Closing Expenses to be paid by Buyer at Closing, and the resulting
calculation of the Purchase Price based upon the Estimated Net Working Capital, Estimated
Indebtedness to be paid by Buyer and Estimated Company Closing Expenses to be paid by Buyer
(the “Estimated Purchase Price™). The Estimated Purchase Price shall be prepared in accordance
with the definitions set forth in this Agreement and using the accounting principles, practices and
procedures, with consistent classifications, judgments and estimation methodology, as were used
in preparation of the Latest Balance Sheet, to the extent consistent with GAAP.

{(b) At least on¢ (1) Business Day prior to the Closing Date, the Company
shall deliver to both the Buyer and the Payment Agent a final Schedule 1 which shall set forth,
in addition to what is otherwise required to be set forth under the terms of this Agreement, each
Shareholder’s respective (i) Percentage Interest, (ii) Distributable Net Purchase Price, and (i1i)
Pro Rata Share of the aggregate Distributable Net Purchase Price.

(c)  Aspromptly as possible, but in any event within ninety (90) days after the
Closing Date, the Buyer will deliver to the Shareholders Representative (i) a special purpose
consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of the Closing Date (the “Closing Balance Sheet™)
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and (i1) a statement showing the Buyer’s calculation of Net Working Capital, Indebtedness and
Company Clesing Expenses, and the resulting calculation of the Purchase Price (together with
the Closing Balance Sheet, the “Preliminary Closing Statement™). The Closing Balance Sheet
shall be prepared in accordance with the definitions set forth in this Agreement and using the
accounting principles, practices and procedures, with consistent classifications, judgments and
estimation methodology, as were used in preparation of the Latest Balance Sheet, to the extent
consistent with GAAP. During the thirty (30) days after delivery of the Preliminary Closing
Statement, the Buyer shall give the Shareholders Representative and its accountants reasonable
access to review the surviving enfity’s books and records and work papers related to the
preparation of the Preliminary Closing Statement {and, solely to the extent relevant thereto, to
the Buyer’s books and records and work papers) for purposcs of the Sharcholders
Representative’s review of the Preliminary Closing Statement. The Shareholders Representative
and its accountants may make inquiries of the Company and the Buyer and their respective
accountants regarding questions concerning or disagreements with the Preliminary Closing
Statement arising in the course of its review thereof, and the Buyer shall, and shall cause the
Company and any such accountants to provide reasonable cooperation with and reasonably
promptly respond 1o such inquiries. If the Shareholders Representative has any objections to the
Preliminary Closing Statement, the Shareholders Representative shall deliver to the Buyer a
statement setting forth in reasonable detail its objections thereto and the basis for such objections
(an “Objections Statement™). [f an Objections Statement is not delivered to the Buyer within
thirty (30) days after delivery of the Preliminary Closing Statement, the Preliminary Closing
Statement shall be final, binding and non-appealable by the parties hereto. The Shareholders
Representative and the Buyer shall negotiate in good faith to resolve any such objections, but if
they do not reach a final resolution within fifteen (15) Business Days after the delivery of the
Objections Statement, the Shareholders Representative and the Buyer shall submit such dispute
to Horn Solutions in Houston, Texas the Dispute Resolution Firm. The Dispute Resolution Firm
shall consider only those items and amounts which are identified in the Objections Statement as
being items which the Sharcholders Representative and the Buyer are unable to resolve. The
Dispute Resolution Firm’s determination will be based solely on the definitions of Net Working
Capital, Indebtedness and Company Closing Expenses, as applicable, contained in this
Agreement. The Shareholders Representative and the Buyer shall use their commercially
reasonable efforts to cause the Dispute Resolution Firm (who shall be acting as an expert and not
as an arbitrator) to resolve all disagreements as soon as practicable and in any event within thirty
(30) days after the submission of any dispute. Further, the Dispute Resolution Firm’s
determination shall be based solely on the submissions by the Buyer and the Sharcholders
Representative which are in accordance with the terms and procedures set forth in this
Agreement {i.e., not on the basis of an independent review) and shall not have assigned a value
to any particular item greater than the greatest value for such item claimed by cither party or less
than the lowest value for such item claimed by cither party, in each case as presented to the
Dispute Resolution Firm. Buyer and the Shareholders Representative will cooperate in good faith
with the Dispute Resolution Firm during the term of its engagement. The resolution of the
dispute by the Dispute Resolution Firm shall be final, binding and non-appealable on the parties
hereto and their Affiliates. The costs and expenses of the Dispute Resolution Firm shall be
allocated based upon the percentage which the portion of the contested amount not awarded to
each party bears to the amount actually contested by such party in the presentation to the Dispute
Resolution Firm. For example, if the Shareholders Representative submits an Objections
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Statement for $1,000, and if the Buver contests only 3500 of the amount claimed by the
Shareholders Representative, and if the Dispute Resolution Firm ultimately resolves the dispute
by awarding the Sharcholders Representative $300 of the $500 contested, then the costs and
expenses of the Dispute Resolution Firm will be allocated 60% (i.e. 300/500) 1o the Buyer and
40% (i.c., 200/500) to thc Sharcholders Representative (on behalf of the Shareholders).

(d) Post-Closing Adjustment Payment.

(i) If the Purchase Price as ultimately determined pursuant to Section
2.5(c) is in excess of the Estimated Purchase Price, the Buyer shall promptly (but in any event
within five (5) Business Days after the final determination of the Purchase Price in accordance
with Section 2.5(¢)) deliver to the Payment Agent (for distribution to the Sharcholders) the
amount of the total of such excess plus any costs and expenses awarded to the Shareholders
Representative by the Dispute Resolution Firm by wire transfer of immediately available funds
to an account or accounts designated in writing by the Payment Agent. Immediately following
payment of any amounts determined pursuant to Section 2.5(c} and this Section 2.5{d){i) to be
owing to the Payment Agent (for distribution to the Shareholders), the Shareholders
Representative and the Buyer shall deliver joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent
instructing the Escrow Agent 10 pay to the Payment Agent (for distribution to the Shareholders)
all remaining funds in the Working Capital Escrow Account, in accordance with the terms of the
Escrow Agreement,

(ii)  If the Purchase Price as ultimately determined pursuant to Section
2.5(c) is less than the Estimated Purchase Price, the Shareholders Representative and the Buyer
shall promptly (but in any cvent within five (5) Business Days after the final determination of the
Purchase Price in accordance with Section 2.5(¢)) deliver joint written instructions to the Escrow
Agent instructing the Escrow Agent to pay from the Working Capital Escrow Account {and, if
the funds in the Working Capital Escrow Account arc insufficient to cover such shortfall, then
also from the Indemnity Escrow Amount) to an account or accounts designed by the Buyer the
total amount of such shortfall plus any costs and expenses awarded to Buyer by the Dispute
Resolution Firm by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account or accounts
designated by the Buyer. immediately following payment of any amounts determined pursuant
to Section 2.5(c) and this Section 2.5(d)(ii) to bc owing to the Buyer, the Shareholders
Representative and the Buyer shall deliver joint writien instructions to thc Escrow Agent
instructing the Escrow Agent to pay to the Payment Agent (for distribution to the Shareholders)
all remaining funds (if any) in the Working Capital Escrow Account, in accordance with the
terms of the Escrow Agreement.

ARTICLE IIL.
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Except as sct forth on the applicable Disclosure Schedules (it being understood
that any matter disclosed in any Schedule will be deemed to be disclosed on any other Schedule
to the extent that it is reasonably apparent from the face of such disclosure that such disclosure is
applicable to such other Schedule or Schedules), the Company represents and warrants to Buyer
as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, as follows:
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Section 3.1 Organization and Corporate Power. The Company is a corporation duly
organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Florida, and the
Company has all requisite corporate power and authority and all authorizations, licenses and
permits necessary to own and operate its properties and to carry on its businesses as now
conducted, except where the failure to hold such authorizations, licenses and permits would not
have a Material Adverse Effect. The Company is qualified to do business in every jurisdiction in
which its ownership of property or the conduct of its business as now conducted requires it to
qualify, except where the failure to be so qualified would not have a Material Adverse Effect,

Section 3.2 Subsidiarics. The Company does not own or hold the right to acquirc any
stock, partnership interest, joint venture interest or other equity ownership interest in any other
Person. There are no outstanding obligations to provide funds to or make an investment in any
other Person.

Section 3.3 Authorization; Valid and Binding Agreement. The execution, delivery
and performance of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party
by the Company and the consummation of the Transaction have been duly and validly authorized
by all requisite action on the part of the Company, and no other proceedings on the Company’s
part are necessary to authorize the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement and the
other Transaction Documents to which it is a party. Assuming that cach of this Agreement and
the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party is a valid and binding obligation of Buyer,
each of this Agreement and such other Transaction Documents constitutes a valid and binding
obligation of the Company, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as enforceability
may be limited by bankruptcy laws, other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights and general
principles of equity affecting the availability of specific performance and other equitable
remedies. :

Section 3.4 - No Breach.

(a) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other
Transaction Documents to which it is a party by the Company and the consummation of the
Transaction do not conflict with or result in any breach of, constitute a default under (with or
without notice or lapse of time or both), give rise to any right of termination, cancellation,
medification or acceleration of any right or obligation of the Company or to a loss of any benefit
to which the Company is entitled, result in a violation of, or result in the creation of any Lien
upon any assets of the Company pursuant to (i) the provisions of the Company’s Articles of
Incorporation or bylaws, (ii) any Material Contract, or (iii) any law, statute, rule or regulation,
order, judgment or decree to which the Company, or any of the assets owned or used by the
Company, is subject, except in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii) to the extent that it would not
have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b}  Except for the filing of the Certificate of Merger as described in Section
1.2, the approval of this Agreement and the Transaction by the Requisite Sharcholders, or as sct
forth on Schedule 3.4(b), the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the
other Transaction Documents to which it is a party by the Company and the consummation of the
Transaction do not require any authorization, consent, approval, exemption or other action by or
notice to any court, other Governmental Body or other third party under (i) the provisions of the

I
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Company’s Articles of Incorporation or bylaws, (ii) any Material Contract, or (iii) any law,
statute, rule or regulation, order, judgment or decrec to which the Company, or any of the assets
owned or used by the Company, is subject.

Section 3.5  Capital Stock.

(a) The authorized capital of the Company consists of (i} One Hundred
Million (100,000,000) shares of Common Stock of the Company, of which Five Million, Four
Hundred Seventy-Six Thousand, Nineteen (5,476,019) shares (and no more) are issued and
outstanding and fully paid and non-assessable (the “Shares™), and (ii) Twenty Million
(20,000,000) shares of Preferred Stock of the Company, of which nonc are issucd and
outstanding. The Shares have been duly authorized, are validly issued and are fully paid and
non-assessable and were not issued in violation of any preemptive rights, rights of first refusal,
rights of first offer, purchase options, call options or other similar rights of any Person.

(b)  The Company has reserved 949,683 shares of Common Stock for issuance
to officers, directors, employees and consultants of the Company pursuant to its Equity Incentive
Plan, Amended and Restated as of February 22, 2007, duly adopted by the Board of Directors
and approved by the Company stockholders (the “Stock Plan™). Of such reserved shares of
Common Stock, options to purchase 100,000 shares have been granted and are currently
outstanding (the “T3 Options”).

(c) Schedule 1 attached hereto contains a complete and accurate list of (i) the
name and registered address of each Person that owns or claims a direct or indirect beneficial
intercst in the Shares and the T3 Options (collectively, the “Sharcholders” and each, a
“Shareholder™), and (ii) the number of Shares or T3 Options claimed by each Shareholder as of
the date indicated on Schedule 1, which shall be updated by the Company just prior to the
Closing,

(d) Except as set forth on Schedule 1, there are no outstanding (i) shares of
capital stock or other equity interests or voting securities of the Company, (ii) securities
convertible or exchangeable into capital stock or other equity interests or voting securities of the
Company, (iii}) options, warrants, purchase rights, subscription rights, preemptive rights,
conversion rights, exchange rights, calls, puts, rights of first refusal, redemption rights or other
contracts that require the Company to issue, sell or otherwise cause to become outstanding or to
acquire, repurchase or redeem capital stock or other equity interests or voting securities of the
Company, (iv)stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation or similar rights with
respect to the Company, (v) declared or accrued dividends, sinking funds or other obligation to
make any distributions or other payments in relation to any outstanding equity interests or voting
securities of the Company, or (vi) voting trusts, proxies, shareholder agrcements or other
understandings relating to the voting of any outstanding voting securities of the Company.,

(e) The Company has taken all action necessary under the Stock Plan to (i)
cancel as of the Closing Date all T3 Options on the Closing Date, and (ii) ensure that, from and
afier the Closing, each holder of a T3 Option shall have only the rights to the payments provided
in Section 2.4,
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Section 3.6  Financial Statements. Schedule 3.6 attached hereto consists of: (i) the
unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company, excluding ITV, as of December 31, 2016
(the “Latest Balance Sheet™) and the related consolidated statements of operations and cash
flows for the twelve (12)-month period then ended, (ii) the unaudited consolidated balance sheet
of the Company, excluding ITV, as of March 31, 2017 and the related consolidated statements of
operations and cash flows for the three (3)-month period then ended (iii) the unaudited
consolidated balance sheet and related consolidated statements of operations and cash flows of
the Company as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, in each case
excluding ITV, and (iv) the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and
for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2014 and 2015, in cach case including 1TV (all such
financial staternents referred to in clauses (i) through (iv), the “Financial Statements™). The
Financial Statements present fairly in all material respects the financial condition, cash flows and
results of operations of the Company, on the basis presented, as of the times and for the periods
referred to therein and are prepared in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied (subject in
the case of the unaudited Financial Statements to (x) the absence of foomote disclosures and
other presentation items and (y) changes resulting from normal year-end adjustments, none of
which are material), except as otherwise noted therein,

Section 3.7  No Liabilitics. The Company does not have any liabilities of any nature
that would be required to be disclosed on a balance sheet of the Company prepared in accordance
with GAAP, except for (i) liabilities reflected or reserved against in the Financial Statements; (ii)
liabilities disclosed in this Agreement or the Disclosure Schedules; (iii) liabilities incurred in the
ordinary course of business after the date of the Latest Balance Sheet, which individually or in
the aggregate would not have a Material Adverse Effect or (iv} liabilities incurred as part of the
Relocation and not in breach of Section 5.2,

Section3.8  Absence of Certain Developments, Since December 31, 2015, the
Business has been operated in the ordinary course, other than the Relocation, should it occur, and
no event, fact or circumstance has occurred that could reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect. Except in connection with the Relocation, if applicable, or as otherwisc set forth
on Schedule 3.8 or as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, since the date of the Latest
Balance Sheet, the Company has not (and in connection with the Relocation, has not in excess of
the limits provided for in Section 5.2):

(a) issued, sold, redeemed, retired or reacquired any of its capital stock or
other equity securities, securities convertible into its capital stock or other equity securilies, or
warrants, options or other rights to subscribe for or acquire its capital stock or other equity
securities;

(b) declared, paid, set aside or made provision for any dividends or
distributions on or in respect of any of its capital stock or other equity interests;

(c) split, exchanged, combined or reclassified any of its capital stock or other
equity interests,

(d)  adopted a plan of merger, consolidation, reorganization, liquidation or
dissolution or filed a petition in bankruptcy under any provision of federal or state bankruptcy,

13

300580119 v26



insolvency, accommodation or debtor relief law or consented to the filing of any such proceeding
under any similar law;

(e) purchased, leased or otherwise acquired any property or asset for an
amount in excess of $50,000, individually (or in the case of a lease, per annum), or $150,000 in
the aggregate (or in the case of a lease, for the entire term of the lease, not including any option
term);

6] incurred, assumed, guarantied or otherwise become obligated with respect
to any indebtedness for borrowed money except borrowings under existing credit lines in the
ordinary coursc of business;

(g)  mortgaged, pledged, created, granted or otherwise subjected any of its
material assets or properties to a Lien other than Permitted Liens;

(h)  sold, assigned, leased or otherwise transferred any material portion of its
tangible or intangible assets, other than 1TV, except in the ordinary course of business;

(1) sold, assigned, licensed or otherwise transferred any Intellectual Property,
except in the ordinary course of business;

i) cancelled, compromised, amended, terminated, relinquished, waived,
accelerated, released or otherwise modified any debts owed by or claims against another Person;

(k)  suffered, sustained or otherwise incurred any material damage, destruction
or loss, or any material interruption in use, of its properties, whether or not covered by insurance;

) made any material capital investment in, or any material loan to, any other
Person, except in the ordinary course of business;

(m) to the Company’s knowledge, suffered an adverse change in the
relationship of the Company with any material customer, supplier, distributor, reseller or sales
representative;

(n)  adopted, terminated or made any materiai changes in its employee benefit
plans or made any material changes in wages. salary or other compensation with respect to its
officers, directors or employees, in each case other than changes made in the ordinary course of
business or pursuant to existing agreements or arrangements or as required to comply with
applicable law;

{(0) paid, lent or advanced (other than the payment of salary and benefits in the
ordinary course of business or the payment, advance or reimbursement of expenses in the
ordinary course of business) any amounts to, or sold, transferred or leased any of its assets to, ot
entered into any other transactions with, any of the Shareholders or any of the Company’s
directors or officers other than the sale of ITV to Jeremy Stakely;
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{(p)  made a material change in its accounting or Tax methods, elections,
practices or policics, entered into any material agrecment relating to Taxes, or settled or
compromised any claim relating to Taxes;

(@) commenced or settled any litigation involving an amount in excess of
$50,000 for any one case; or

() committed to do any of the foregoing.
Section 3.9 Title to Properties.

(a) The Company owns good title to, or holds pursuant to valid and
enforceable leases, all of the personal property shown to be owned or lcased by it on the Latest
Balance Sheet or necessary for the operation of the Business in the ordinary course, free and
clear of all Liens, except for Permitted Liens, and except for assets disposed of by the Company
in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices since the date of the Latest
Balance Sheet or as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, including Section 6.2(g) and the
Relocation to the extent that the Relocation is in compliance with the restrictions set forth in
Section 5.2.

(b}  The Company does not own any real property. The real property listed on
Schedule 3.9(b) (the “Leased Real Property™ constitutes all of the real property used by the
Company in the operation of the Business as currently conducted. Schedule 3.9(b) also sets forth
a list of all leases and subleases pursuant to which the Company holds any Leased Real Property
and a description of any real properties the Company proposes to enter into a lease for prior to
the Closing (collectively, “Leases™). Except as set forth on Schedule 3.9(b), the Company holds
a valid and existing leasehold interest in the Leased Real Property (including any leasehold
improvements) under each such Lease, free and clear of all Liens, except for Permitted Liens,
and (i) the Company has paid or accrued on the Latest Balance Sheet ali rent and other amounts
due and payable under the Leases, (it) neither the Company nor, to the Company’s knowledge,
any other party is in default in any material respect under any Lease, (iii) each Lease is in full
force and effect and constitutes a valid and binding obligation of each party thereto, and (iv) the
Company has not subleased, assigned or otherwise granted to any Person the right to use or
occupy the Leased Real Property. The Company has delivered or made available to Buyer
complete and accurate copies of cach Lease, and none of such Leases has been modified in any
material respect, except to the extent that such modifications are disclosed by the copies
delivered or made available to Buyer.

(c) The Leased Real Property is being used, occupied and maintained in
accordance in all material respects with all applicable building codes, zoning ordinances,
easements, contracts, permits, insurance requirements, restrictions, building setback lines,
covenants and reservations, and in compliance in all material respects with all laws and
regulations of any Govemmental Body. Certificates of occupancy and all other material
licenses, permits, authorizations, and approvals required by any Governmental Body have been
issued for the occupancy and use of the Leased Real Property have been issued to the Company
and are in full force and effect.
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{d)  The Company has not recetved written notice of any existing, pending or
threatened (i) material violations of building codes, zoning ordinances, easements, contracts,
permits, insurance requirements, restrictions, building setback lings, covenants and reservations
or of any laws or regulations of any Governmental Body affecting the Leased Real Property, or
(if} condemnation proceedings affecting the Leased Real Property that could reasonably be
expected to materially adversely affect the use of the Leased Real Property.

Section 3.10  Condition of Assets, Except as set for on Schedule 3.10, the material
. buildings, plants, structures, furniture, fixtures, machinery, equipment, vehicles and other items
of material tangible personal property owned, leased and used by the Company in the Business
are structurally sound, in good operating condition and repair, and adequate for the uses to which
they are being put. The Company has not deferred or delayed any material maintenance or
repairs and none of such material buildings, plants, structures, furniture, fixtures, machinery,
equipment, vehicles and other items of material tangible personal property is in need of material
maintenance or repairs except for ordinary, routine maintenance and repairs that are not material
in nature or cost.

Section 3.11 Tax Matters. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.11:

{a)  all Tax Returns required to be filed on or before the Closing Date by or
with respect to the Company have been duly and timely filed with the appropriate Governmenial
Body;

(b)  all information provided in each such Tax Return is true, correct and
complete in all material respects;

(c)  all material Taxes owed by the Company that are or have become due
have been timely paid in full, whether disputed or not, whether or not shown on any Tax Return;

{(d)  no matenal penalty, interest or other charge is or will become due with
respect to the late filing of any such Tax Return or late payment of any such Tax;

(e) all material Tax withholding and deposit requirements imposed on or with
respect to the Company or any amounts paid or owed by the Company to its employees,
independent contractors, creditors, sharcholders, or other third parties in connection with such
Tax withholding and deposit requirements have been satisfied in full in all respects;

O there are no Liens (other than Permitted Liens) on any assets of the
Company for unpaid Taxes or that arose in connection with any failure (or alleged failure) to pay
any Tax;

{g)  there is no claim pending or threatened in writing by any Governmental
Body with respect to any Taxes due from the Company, and no asscssment, deficiency, or
adjustment has been asserted, proposed, or threatened in writing with respect to any Taxes due
from, or Tax Returns required to be filed by, the Company;

(hy no Tax audits or administrative or judicial proceedings are being
conducted or have been threatened in writing with respect to the Company;
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(1 no claim has ever been received in writing from a Governmental Body in a
jurisdiction in which the Company does not file Tax Returns that the Company is or may be
required to file a Tax Retumn in that jurisdiction;

§)] the Company is not doing and has not done business in or engaged in a
material trade or business in any jurisdiction in which it would legally be required to file
applicable Tax Returns where it has not filed such Tax Returns;

(k)  true, correct and complete copies of all Tax Returns filed by the Company
during the past three years, which returns included 1TV, and all material correspondence between
the Company and a Governmental Body relating to such Tax Returns or Taxes duc from the
Company, have been made available to Buyer;

4)] The Company has not made or rescinded any material election relating to
Taxes, or, excepl as may be required by law, made any material change to any method of
reporting income or deductions for Tax purposes, since the period covered by the last Tax Return

described in Section 3.11(k);

(m) there are no agreements, waivers or other arrangements providing for an
extension of time with respect to the (i) filing of any Tax Retums of or with respect to the
Company, or (ii) assessment or payment of any Tax owed by the Company;

(n)  the Company has not entered into any agreement or arrangement with any
Governmental Body that requires the Company to take any action or to refrain from taking any
action in order to secure Tax benefits, and the Company is not a party to any agreement with any
Governmental Body relating to Taxes that would be terminated or adversely affected as a result
of the Transaction;

(0)  the Company is not and has not previously been a member of any
affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group of companies for Tax purposes or a party to
any Tax sharing, allocation, or indemnity agreement or arrangement and has no obligation to
indemnify or make 2 payment to any Person in respect of any Tax for any past, current or future
period as a transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise;

(p)  no Sharcholder is a ‘“forcign person” as that term is used in Section
1.1445-2 of the Treasury Regulations;

(q)  the Company is not party to any contractual obligation nor has otherwise
made any payment that could result in any “‘excess parachute payment” within the meaning of
Section 280G of the Code or in the imposition of an excise Tax under Section 4999 of the Code
{or any corresponding provisions of state, local or foreign Tax law) or that was or would not be
deductible under Sections 162 or 404 of the Code in connection with the Transaction;

(0 the Company does not own any property of a character, the indirect
transfer of which, pursuant to this Agreement, would give rise to any documentary, stamp, or
other transfer Tax;
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() the Company has not been a “distributing corporation™ or a “controlled
corporation” within the meaning of Section 355(2)(1){(A) of the Code;

t) no closing agreements, private letter rulings, technical advice memoranda
or similar agreements or rulings relating to Taxes have been cntered into or issued by any
Governmental Body with or in respect of any of the Company;

(u)  the Company will not be required to include any item of income in, or
exclude any item of deduction from, taxable income for any taxable period (or portion thercof)
ending after the Closing Date, with respect to which a corresponding amount has previously
accrued or been taken into account by the Company (including for purposes of the Financial
Statements) as a result on or before the Closing Date of: (i) a change in accounting method;
(ii) an agreement with any Governmental Body; (iii) the Company’s method of accounting for
Tax purposes (including, without limitation, the use or application of the installment sale or open
transaction method of accounting, the completed contract method of accounting, the long-term
contract method of accounting or the cash or accrual method of accounting); (iv) any prepaid
amount received on or prior to the Closing Date; or (v) any election under Section 108(i) of the
Code made on or prior to the Closing Date; and

(v) the Company has disclosed on its Tax Returns all positions taken therein
that could give rise to a substantial understatement of Tax within the meaning of Section 6662 of
the Code (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign law) and has never (1) participated
(within the meaning of Treasury Regulations § 1.6011-4(c)(3)) in any “reportable transaction”
within the meaning of Section 6707A(c)(1) of the Code and/or Treasury Regulations § 1.6011-
4(b) (and all predecessor regulations); (ii) claimed any deduction, credit, or other tax benefit by
reason of any “tax shelter” within thc meaning of former Section 6111(c) of the Code and the
Treasury Regulations thereunder or any “confidential corporate tax shelter” within the meaning
of former Scction6111(d) of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder; or
(iii) purchased or otherwise acquired an interest in any “potentially abusive tax shelter” within
the meaning of former Treasury Regulations § 301.6112-1.

Section 3.12 Permits. Schedule 3.12 lists all material permits, licenses, certificates,
authorizations and approvals granted by any Governmental Body and used or held by the
Company or required in connection with the operation of the Business. The Company presently
holds all such permits, licenses, certificates, authorizations and approvals required for the
operation of the Business as it is presently conducted, the Company is not in default thereunder,
and no condition exists that with notice or lapse of time or both would constitute a default
thereunder.

Section 3.13  Contracts and Commitments.
{(a) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.13, the Company is not a party to any:

(i) contract or agreement relating to the merger or consolidation with
any Person, the direct or indirect purchase, sale, issuance or other acquisition or disposition of
the stock or other equity interests of any Person, or the purchase, sale, lease, license or other
transfer of substantially all of the assets of any Person;
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(ii)  contract or agreement involving aggregate consideration in excess
of $100,000 that is not cancellable without penalty on 30 days’ or less notice;

(in)  collective bargaining agreement or contract with any labor union;
(iv)  contract or agreement with a Government Body;
(v)  joint venture, partnership or similar arrangements;

(vi) conmtract or agrcement for the cmployment of any officer,
individual employee or other person on a full-time or consulting basis providing for fixed
compensation in excess of $100,000 per annum;

(vii)  contract between the Company and any Shareholder other than any
employment or consulting agreement;

(viii) confract, agreement or indenture creating or guarantying an
obligation for borrowed money or mortgaging, pledging or otherwise placing a Lien (other than a
Permitted Lien) on any portion of the assets or properties;

(ix)  contract or agreement that provides for the indemnification of any
Person or the assumption of any Tax. environmental or other liability or obligation of any
Person;

(x)  contract or other arrangement to purchase or sell a stated portion of
the requirements or outputs or that contain “take or pay” provisions;

(xi)  contract that grants to any Person the exclusive right to sell
products or services within a spectfic territory or prohibits the Company from freely engaging in
business anywhere in the world (other than confidentiality agreements entered into in the
ordinary course of business); or

(xii) contract or agreement involving aggregate consideration in excess
of $100,000 that is material to the operation of the business in the ordinary course and is not
previously disclosed pursuant to this Section 3.13.

{b)  Buycr has been given access to a true and correct copy of all written
contracts listed on Schedule 3.13 (the “Material Contracts™), together with all amendments,
waivers or other changes thereto.

(c) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.13, (i} cach Material Contract is the
legal, valid obligation of the Company and, to the Company’s knowledge, cach other Person
party thereto, in full force and effect, and binding and enforceable against the Company and. to
the Company's knowledge, any other Person party thereto in accordance with its tcrms,
(11) neither the Company nor, to the Company’s knowledge, any other Person party to any
Material Contract is in material breach or default thereunder and no event has occurred that with
notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a material breach or default, or permit
termination, acceleration of any obligation or modification of any Matertal Contract in any
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manner adverse to the Company, and (iii) no party has asserted in writing or has any right to
offset, discount or otherwise abate any amount owing under any Material Contract except as
expressly set forth in such Material Contract.

Section 3.14 Intellectual Property.

(a) Schedule 3.14(a) scts forth a list, as of the date hereof, of all (i) patents
and patent applications, (ii) internet domain name registrations, web addresses, web pages,
websites, social media accounts and URLs, (i) trademarks, service marks, trade names, brand
names, logos, trade dress, design rights and other similar designations of source, sponsorship,
association or origin, and all registrations, renewals and applications relating thereto, (iv) works
of authorship, expressions, designs and copyrights, including all registrations, renewals and
applications, (v) inventions, discoveries, trade secrets, business and technical information and
knowhow, and other confidential and proprietary information, and (vi) software and firmware,
databases and data collections, in each case that are owned by the Company and material to the
conduct of the Business (collectively, the “Intellectual Property™).

(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.14(b):

(i) the Company has all intellectual property rights necessary for the
conduct of the Business as presently conducted;

(i)  no royalty or other remuneration exceeding an annual fee of
$50,000, is payable by the Company, with respect to any intellectual property rights of another
Person;

(ili)  the Company is not currently infringing on any intellectual
property rights of any other Person;

(iv) to the Company’s knowledge, no other Person is currently
infringing on the Intellectual Property;

(v) the Company possesses all right, title and interest in and to cach
item of Intellectual Property, free and clear of any Lien,

(vi)  the Company has not granted any other Person a written license or
any other written permission to copy, distribute or otherwise use any item of Intellectual
Property; and

(vii) there is not presently any action, suit, proceeding, hearing,
investigation, charge, complaint, claim or demand (that may be pending or threatened in writing)
against the Company which challenges the validity or enforceability of any registered item of
Intellectual Property or that alleges that the use of any item of Intellectual Property infringes on
the intellectual property rights of another Person,

{c) The Company takes reasonable precautions to prevent unauthorized
disclosure of its trade secrets that are material to its business.
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Section 3.15 Litigation, Except as set forth on Schedule 3.15, there are no suits or
proceedings pending or, to the Company’s knowledge, overtly threatened against the Company,
at law or in equity, or before or by any Governmental Body, which, if determined adversely to
the Company, would have a Material Adverse Effect. The Company is not subject 10 any
outstanding judgment, order or decree of any court or other Governmental Body.

Section 3.16 Employee Benefit Plans.

(a) Except as listed on Schedule 3.16(a), neither the Company nor any Person
that would be treated together with the Company as a “single employer”™ (within the meaning of
Section 414 of Code) {each, an “ERISA Affiliate™) has maintained, sponsored, contributed 1o, or
been required to contribute to, any pension, benefit, retirement, compensation, cmployment,
consulting, profit-sharing, deferred compensation, incentive, bonus, performance award,
phantom equity, stock or stock-bascd, change in control, retention, severance, vacation, paid time
off, welfare, fringe-benefit and other similar agreement, plan, policy, program or arrangement, in
each case whether or not reduced to writing and whether funded or unfunded, including any
“pension plans” (as defined under Section 3(2) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
of 1974, as amended (“ERISA™)) (the “Pension Plans™), and “welfare plans” {as defined under
Section 3(1) of ERISA) (the “Welfare Plans™), whether or not tax-qualified and whether or not
subject to ERISA, (the “Plans™) for the benefit of any current or former employee, officer,
director, retiree, independent contractor or consultant of the Company or any spouse or
dependent of such individual, or under which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate has or may
have any liability or obligation.

)] With respect to each Plan, the Company has made available 1o Buyer
accurate, current and complete copies of each of: (1) where the Plan has been reduced to writing,
the plan document together with all amendments, (ii) where the Plan has not been reduced to
writing, a written summary of all material plan terms, (iii) where applicable, copies of any trust
agreements or other funding arrangements, custodial agreements, insurance policies and
contracts, administration agreements and similar agreements, and investment management or
investment advisory agreements, as now in effect, (iv) copies of any summary plan descriptions,
summaries of material meodifications, employee handbooks and any other written
communications (or a description of any oral communications) relating to any Plan, (v) in the
case of any Plan that is intended 1o be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code, a copy of the
most recent determination, opinion or advisory letter from the Internal Revenue Service, (vi) in
the case of any Plan for which a Form 5500 is required to be filed, a copy of the two most
recently filed Form 5500, with schedules and financial statements attached, (vii) the most recent
nondiscrimination tests performed under the Code, and (viii) copies of material notices, letters or
other correspondence from the Internal Revenue Service, Department of Labor, or other
Governmental Body relating to the Plan.

(c) Each Plan complies in form and in operation in all material respects with
the requirements of the Plan, the Code and ERISA.

(d) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.16{d), (i) none of the Plans are subject to
Title 1V of ERISA or provide for medical or life insurance benefits to retired or former
employees of the Company (other than as required under Section 4980B of the Code, or similar
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state law}, and (ii) the Company is not a participaling or contributing employer in any
“multiemployer plan” (as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA), a “multiple employer plan”
(within the meaning of Section 413{(c) of the Code), or a “multiple employer welfare
arrangement” (as defined in Section 3(40) of ERISA) and neither the Company nor any ERISA
Affiliate has incurred any withdrawal liability with respect to any multiemployer plan or any
liability in connection with the termination or reorganization of any multiemployer plan.

(e) Each Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code
{a “Qualified Plan™) is so qualified and has received a favorable and current determination letter
from the Internal Revenue Service, or with respect 1o a prototype plan, can rely on an opinion
letter from the Internal Revenue Service to the prototype plan sponsor, to the effect that such
Qualified Plan is so qualified and that the plan and the trust related thereto are exempt from
federal income taxes under Sections 401(a) and 501(a), respectively, of the Code, and nothing
has occurred that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the qualified status of any
Qualified Plan. Nothing has occurred with respect to any Plan that has subjected or could
reasonably be expected to subject the Company or any ERISA Affiliates to a penalty under
Section 502 of ERISA or to tax or penalty under Section 4975 of the Code. All benefits,
contributions and premiums retating to each Plan have been timely paid in accordance with the
terms of such Plan and all applicable laws and regulations of Governmental Bodies and
accounting principles, and all benefits accrued under any unfunded Plan have been paid, accrued
or otherwise adequately reserved to the extent required by, and in accordance with GAAP.

Section 3.17 Insurance. Schedule 3.17 lists (i) each insurance policy currently
maintained by the Company, and (ii) all pending claims and the claims history since January 1,
2014. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.17, there are no claims pending as to which coverage
has been questioned, denied or disputed or in respect of which there is an outstanding reservation
of rights. All such insurance policies are in full force and effect. The Company has not received
any written notice of cancellation of, premium increase with respect to, or alteration of coverage
under, any of such insurance policies. All premiums due on such insurance policies have either
been paid or, if not yet due, accrued on the Latest Balance Sheet. The Company is not in default
under, or has otherwise failed to comply with, in any material respect, any provision contained in
any such insurance policy. All insurance policies will continue to be in full force and effect
immediately after the Closing,.

Section 3.18 Compliance with Laws. The Company is, and during all times since
January |, 2014 has been, in compliance in all material respects with all applicable laws and
regulations of Governmental Bodies.

Section 3.19 Environmental Matters.

(a) The Company is, and duning all times since January 1, 2014 has been, in
compliance in all material respects with all Environmental Laws and no facts, events,
circumstances or conditions exist that could reasonably be expected to materially adversely
affect the continued compliance with Environmental Laws or require material capital
expenditures to achieve or maintain such continued compliance with Environmental Laws.
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{(b)  The Company is not subject to any outstanding judgment, order or decree
of any court or other Governmental Body pursuant to any Environmental Laws. There are no
suits or proceedings pending or, to the Company’s knowledge, overtly threatened against the
Company, pursuant to Environmental Laws. The Company has not received: (i) written notice of
an actual or alleged violation of Environmental Law or any claim for investigation costs, cleanup
costs, response costs, corrective action costs, personal injury, property damage, natural resource
damage or attorney fees under Environmental Law, or (ii} written request for information
pursuant to Environmental Law.

(c) The Company has obtained and is in matcrial compliance with all
authorizations, licenses and permits required under Environmental Law and necessary to carry
on the Business as now conducted or the ownership, lease, operation or use of its properties and
all such authorizations. All such authorizations, licenses and permits are in full force and effect.
The Company has not received any written notice that any of such authorizations, licenses or
permits will be revoked or that any pending application for the renewal of any authorization,
license or permit will be protested or denied. To the knowledge of the Company, there is no
condition, event or circumstance that, under Environmemal Law, might prevent or impede the
conduct of the Business or the ownership, lease, operation or use of the Company’s properties
after the Closing.

(d)  None of the real property currently or formerly owned, leased or operated
by the Company is listed on, or has been proposed for listing on, the National Priorities List (or
CERCLIS) under CERCLA, or any similar state list.

(e) There has been no release of Hazardous Substances in contravention of
Environmental Law with respect to the operation of the Business or any real property currently
or formerly owned, leased or opcrated by the Company. The Company has not received written
notice from any Person that the Business or the real property currently or formerly owned, leased
or operated by the Company (including soils, groundwater, surface water, buildings and other
structure located thereon) has been contaminated with any Hazardous Substances which could
reasonably be expected to result in a claim for a violation of Environmental Law or investigation
costs, cleanup costs, response costs, corrective action costs, personal injury, property damage,
natural resource damage or attorney fees under Environmental Law.

() The Company has not received written notice asserting an alleged liability
or obligation under any Environmental Law with respect to investigatory, remedial, monitoring
or restoration actions at any location where the Company transported or disposed or arranged for
the transport or disposal of any Hazardous Substances, and, to the Company’s knowledge, there
arc no facts, events, circumstances or conditions that would reasonably be expected to result in
the receipt of such notice.

(2)  To the knowledge of the Company, there has been no exposure of any
Person or property to Hazardous Substances in connection with Company or the Business that
could reasonably be expected to form the basis of a claim for damages or compensation.

(h)  The Company has not retained or assumed by contract, operation of law,

or otherwise, any liabilities or obligations of another Person under Environmental Law.
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(1) The Company has provided or otherwise made available to Buyer (i) any
and all environmental reports, studies, audits, records, sampling data, site assessments, risk
assessments, economic models and other similar documents in the possession or contro} of the
Company with respect to the Business or any real property currently or formerly owned, leased
or operated by the Company, and (ii) any and all material documents conceming planned or
anticipated capital expenditures required to reduce, offset, limit or otherwise contro! pollution
and/or emissions, manage waste or otherwise ensure compliance with current or future
Environmental Laws (including costs of remediation, pollution control equipment and
operational changes),

Section 3.20 Affiliated Transactions. No Shareholder, or any officer or director of the
Company, or, to the Company’s knowledge, any individual in such Shareholder’s, or such
officer’s or director’s immediate family, is a party to any agrecement, contract, commitment or
transaction with the Company or has any interest in any property used by the Company.

Section 3.21 Employment and Labor Matters.

(a)  The Company is not a party to, bound by, or negotiating any collective
bargaining agreement or other contract with a union, works council or labor organization, and no
union, works council or labor organization is representing or purporting to represent any
cmployee of the Company. To the Company’s knowledge, no labor organization or group of
employees is seeking or has sought to organize employees for the purpose of collective
bargaining,

(b) There has never been any strike, slowdown, work stoppage, lockout,
concerted refusal to work overtime or other similar labor disruption or dispute affecting the
Company.

(c) The Company is, and at all times since January 1, 2014 has been, in
compliance in all material respects with all applicable laws and regulations pertaining to
employment and employment practices to the extent they relate to employees of the Company,
including all laws relating to labor relations, equal employment opportunities, fair employment
practices, employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, reasonable accommodation,
disability rights or benefits, immigration, wages, hours, overtime compensation, child labor,
hiring, promotion and termination of employees, working conditions, meal and break periods,
privacy, health and safety, workers® compensation, leaves of absence and unemployment
insurance. Therc arc no procecdings against the Company pending, or to the Company’s
knowledge, threatened to be brought or filed, by or with any Governmental Body or arbitrator in
connection with the employment of any current or former applicant. employee, consultant or
independent contractor of the Company, including any claim relating to unfair labor practices,
employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, cqual pay, wages and hours or any other
employment related matter arising under applicable Jaws.

Section 3.22 Customers and Suppliers. Schedule 3.22 sets forth a list of ten (10) largest
customers and the ten (10) largest suppliers of the Company, in each case as measured by the
dollar amount of purchases therefrom or thereby, during (i) the fiscal year ended December 31,
2015, (it} the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, and (iii) the twelve-months ended as of the
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date of the Latest Balance Sheet. No such customer or supplier has notified the Company in
writing, or to the Company’s knowledge otherwise, that it intends to terminate or matcrially
reduce its business with the Company or change in any significant adverse manner the material
terms on which such customer or supplier conducts business with the Company.

Section 3.23 Brokerage. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.23, there are no claims for
brokerage commissions, finders’ fees or similar compensation in connection with the Transaction
based on any arrangement or agreement made by or on behalf of the Company.,

Section 3.24 Certain Payments.

(@)  The Company is, and during all times since January |, 2014 has been, in
compliance with (i) the obligations and requirements of the United States Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the “FCPA”™), including the anti-bribery provisions and the
accounting and record-keeping requirements set forth in the FCPA; (ii) the principles set out in
the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development Convention Combating Bribery of
Foreign Public Officials in International Business Transactions; and (iii) all other similar or
cquivalent anti-corruption or anti-bribery laws of any jurisdiction applicable to the Company
{whether by virtue of the Company’s jurisdiction of organization or conduct of its business)
(clauses (i), (i) and (iii) collectively, “Anti-Corruption Laws™).

(b)  Neither the Company nor any Shareholder, nor any Person acting for or on
behalf of the Company has, at any time since January 1, 2014:

(1) made, directly or indirectly, any payment or promise to pay, or gift
or promise to give or authorized such a promise or gifi, of any money or anything of value,
directly or indirectly, (A) to (1) any “foreign official” (as such term is defined in the FCPA) for
the purpose of influencing any official act or decision of such official or inducing him or her to
us¢ his or her influence to affect any act or decision of a foreign Governmental Body, or (2) any
foreign political party or official thereof or candidate for foreign political office for the purpose
of influencing any official act or decision of such party, official or candidate or inducing such
party, official or candidate to use his, her or its influence to affect any act or decision of a foreign
Governmental Body, in the case of both clause (1) and (2) above, in order to assist the Company
to obtain or retain business for, or direct business to, the Company under circumstances which
could reasonably be expected to subject the Company to liability under any Anti-Corruption Law
or (B) that is otherwise illegal or improper under any Anti-Corruption Law; or

(i)  made any fraudulent entry on the books or records of the

Company.
ARTICLE IV.
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER AND ACQUISITION
COMPANY

Buyer and Acquisition Company jointly and severally represent and warrant to the
Shareholders and the Company as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, as follows:

Section4.1  Organization and Power.
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(a) Buyer is a Nevada corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in
good standing under the laws of the state of Nevada, with full corporate power and authority to
enter into this Agreement ang each other Transaction Document to which it is a party and to
perform its obligations hereunder and thercunder.

(b)  Acquisition Company is a Florida corporatien duly organized, validly
existing and in good standing under the laws of the state of Florida, with full organizational
power and authority to enter into this Agreement and each other Transaction Document to which
it 15 a party and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder.

Section4.2  Authorization; Valid and Binding Agreement. The execution, delivery
and performance of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party
by Buyer and Acquisition Company and the consummation of the Transaction and the Merger
have been duly and validly authorized by all requisite entity action on the part of Buyer and
Acquisition Company, and no other proceedings on Buyer's or Acquisition Company’s part are
necessary to authorize the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement and the other
Transaction Documents to which it is a party. Assuming that each of this Agreement and the
other Transaction Documents to which it is a party is a valid and binding obligation of the
Company and the Shareholders Representative, this Agreement and cach such other Transaction
Document constitutes a valid and binding obligation of Buyer and Acquisition Company,
enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy
laws, other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights and general principles of equity affecting the
availability of specific performance and other equitable remedies.

Section4.3  No Breach. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement
and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party by Buyer and Acquisition Company
and the consummation of the Transaction do not conflict with or result in any breach of,
constitute a default under (with or without notice or lapsc of time or beth), result in a violation
of, or result in the creation of any Lien upon any asscts of Buyer or Acquisition Company
pursuant to (i) the provisions of Buyer’s or Acquisition Company’s organizaticnal documents,
(i1) any material indenture, morigage, lease, loan agreement or other material agreement or
instrument to which Buyer or Acquisition Company is bound, or (iii) any law, statute, rule or
regulation, order, judgment or decree to which Buyer or Acquisition Company is subject. The
execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to
which it is a party by Buyer and Acquisition Company and the consummation of the Transaction
do not require any authorization, consent, approval, exemption or other action by or notice to any
court, other Governmental Body or other third party under (i) the provisions of Buyer's or
Acquisition Company’s organizational documents, (ii) any indenture, mortgage, lease, loan
agreement or other agreement or instrument to which Buyer or Acquisition Company is bound,
or (iii) any law, statute, rule or regulation, order, judgment or decree to which Buyer or
Acquisition Company is subject.

Section 4.4  Litigation. There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or, to
Buyer’s knowledge, overtly threatened against or affecting Buyer or Acquisition Company, at
law or in equity, or before or by any Governmental Body, which would adversely affect Buyer’s
or Acquisition Company performance under this Agreement or the consummation of the
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Transaction. Neither Buyer nor Acquisition Company is subject to any outstanding judgment,
order or decree of any court or other Governmental Body.

Section4.5  Brokerage. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.5, there are no claims for
brokerage commisstons, finders’ fecs or similar compensation in connection with the Transaction
based on any arrangement or agreement made by or on behalf of Buyer or Acquisition Company.

Section4.6  Financial Ability. Buyer has, or will have on the Closing Date, sufficient
immediately available funds in cash to pay the Purchase Price and all fees and expenses to be
paid by Buyer. After giving cffect to the consummation of the Transaction, Buyer will have the
financial resources and ability to pay and discharge its debts as they become due. Schedule 4.6
attached hereto contains evidence satisfactory to the Sellers of the amount of Buyer’s Cash on
Hand and financing commitments in amounts sufficient to cover the Purchase Price at Closing.

ARTICLE V.
COVENANTS

Section 5.1 Filing of Certificate of Merger. Buyer shall file or cause to be filed the
Centificate of Merger immediately following the Closing and shall take all actions reasonably
necessary 1o cause the Merger to be effective as of the Closing Date.

Section 5.2 Conduct of Business Prior to Closing. From the date hereof until the
earlier of the Closing and the termination of this Agreement in accordance with Section 8.1,
except (i) as expressly contemplated hereunder (including in connection with the Relocation), (ii)
as required by law, (ii1} if the Buyer shall have consented in advance in writing or (iv) as sct
forth on Schedule 5.2, the Company shall (and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to) conduct the
Business of the Company in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and use
commercially reasonable efforts to preserve the goodwill and organization of its business and the
relationships with customers, suppliers, vendors, officers, employees, consultants and other
Persons having business relations with the Company and its Subsidiaries, and the Company shall
not, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries not to:

{(a) issue, sell or deliver any capital stock or issuec or sell any securities
convertible, exercisable or exchangeable into, or options with respect to, or warrants to purchase
or rights to subscribe for, any capital stock, or stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit
participation or similar rights, or any notes, bond or debt securities;

(b) effect any recapitalization, reclassification, stock dividend, stock split or
similar change in capitalization;

(c) amend its certificatc or articles of incorporation or bylaws (or equivalent
organizational documents);

(d) make any redemption or purchase of any equity interests, including the Shares
unless such redemption or purchase of the equity interests is part of a distribution of the
Remainder Cash at or immediately prior to Closing;
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(e) sell, assign, transfer, mortgage, pledge, lease, license, sublicense or subject to
any Lien, except Permitted Liens, charge or otherwise encumber all or any portion of its assets,
other than sales, assignments and transfers of assets in the ordinary course;

{f) make any capital invesiment in, or any capital contribution or loan or advance
to, or guaranty for the benefit of, any other Person;

(g) without Buyer’s consent, make any capital expendilures or commitments
therefor other than those amounts up to $250,000 set forth on Schedule 5.2 in connection with
or in anticipation of the Relocation (it being understood that the amounts set forth with respect
to each expenditure or commitment on Scheduie 5.2 are estimates only and actual incurrences
or commitments may vary provided that the total of them all does not exceed $250,000 or such
other amount as may be agreed to by Buyer);

{h) make any loan to, or enter into any other transaction with, any directors, or
officers or employees, other than immaterial loans or transactions made or entered into in the
outside the ordinary coursc of business consistent with past practice;

(i) without Buyer’s consent, incur any Indebtedness other than those amounts up
10 $250,000 set forth on Schedule 5.2 that are in connection with or in anticipation of the
Relocation (it being understood that the amounts set forth with respect to cach item of
Indebtedness on Schedule 5.2 are estimates only and actual incurrences may vary provided that
the total of them all does not exceed $250,000 or such other amount as may be agreed to by
Buyer);

(j) enter into any real property Lease, without the prior written consent of Buyer;

(k) make or grant any bonus or any wage or salary increase to any director,
officer, employee or group of employees, other than in the ordinary course for employees whose
base salary, individually, is less than $100,000, or make or grant any increase in any employee
benefit plan or arrangement, or amend or terminate any existing employment agreement,
employee benefit plan or arrangement or adopt any new employee benefit plan or arrangement or
enter tnto, amend or terminate any collective bargaining agreement or other employment
agreement;

() implement any employee layoffs that would require notice to employecs
pursuant to the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, as amended, or any
similar state or local law;

{m)compromise or settle any material claim having an amount in controversy in
excess of $100,000;

(n} undertake or fail to undertake any action that, with the delivery of notice, the
passage of time or both, would result in a material breach or default under any Leased Real
Property lease;

28
300580119 v26



(o) terminate early or materially modify or amend any Material Contract, or enter
into any agreement that, if existing prior to the date of this Agreement, would be a Material
Contract;

{(p) make any change in any accounting policies or principles (except as required
by a change in GAAP or applicable law), or make or change any Tax election, change any
annual accounting period, adopt or change any accounting method (except as required by a
change in GAAP or applicable law), file any amended Tax Return, enter into any "closing
agreement” as described in Section 7121 of the Code with respect to Taxes, settle any Tax claim
or assessment, surrendered any right to claim a refund of Taxes, consent to any extension or
waiver of the limitation period applicable to any Tax claim or assessment, except any such
extension or waiver made in the ordinary course and with respect to a Tax other than income
Tax; or

{q) hire any officers or employees having a base salary in excess of $75,000 or
terminate the services of any existing officers or existing employees having a base salary in
excess of $75,000, other than for cause.

Without limiting the scope of covenants of the Company set forth in this Section 5.2, the parties
acknowledge and agree that (y) nothing contained in this Section 5.2 is intended to give the
Buyer, directly or indirectly, the right to direct the control or operations of the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries prior to the Closing and (z) prior to the Closing, subject to this Section 5.2, the
Company shall exercise, consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, complete
control and supervision over the operations of it and its Subsidiaries.

Section 5.3 Access and Audits. From the date hereof until the Closing, the Company
shall afford Buyer and its authorized agents the right to inspect and audit the books and records
of the Company and to consult with those directors, officers, key employees that have knowledge
of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement, attorneys, auditors and accountants of the
Company, as the Company shall approve upon request by Buyer, such approval not to be
unreasonably withheld, concerning customary due diligence matters. Such inspections and
audits may include review and examination of the Company’s books and records of account, Tax
records, records of corporate proccedings, contracts, trademarks, governmental consents, and
other business activities and matters relating to the Transaction contemplated by this Agreement.
Buyer shall, and shall cause its Representatives to, abide by the terms of the Confidentiality
Agreement with respect to any access or information provided pursuant to this Section 5.3. In
addition to the foregoing, Buyer has commenced, at its own expense, to conduct audits of the
fiscal year 2015 and 2016 financial statements of the Company in anticipation of Securities and
Exchange Commission filing requirements relative to Buyer having acquired the Company in the
manner described in this Agreement. In this regard, the Company agrees to provide reasonable
assistance and cooperation until the Closing to the auditors selected by the Buyer in providing to
them as promptly as reasonably practicable upon their request, the following (which is just a
sample and not exclusive):

(a) Bank statements and bank reconciliations;
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{b) Copies of invoices to customers sclected by the auditors (anticipated 1o be approximately
75-100 per vear), copies of evidence of payment reccived and supporting documentation;

(c) Copies of invoices from vendors selected by the auditors (anticipated to be
approximately 75-100 per vear), copies of evidence of payments made and supporting
documentation;

(d) Copies of all promissory notes payable to the Company, copies of evidence of funds
received, including bank statements, by the Company;

(e) Copies of all lease agreements and subsequent renewals;

(f) Copies of invoices relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment in excess of
$10,000 per item or such other amount as may be mutually agreed upon and copies of
payments made and supporting documentation in connection with such purchases of
PP&E;

(g) Copies of all employment agreements, lists of employee original hire dates, proof of any
salary increases, payroll reconciliations, proof of annval and quarterly payroll tax
payments, etc.;

(h) Information relating to Federal, state, local, FCC and other telecom taxes, including
evidence of paymenis submitted monthly, quarterly or annually, and regarding the
calculation for any accrued and or deferred taxes; and

(i) Requests for onsite visit/ audits, including making Company staff available to discuss the
procedures and controls in place and provide any information requested relating
thereto.

In the event the Transaction is not consummated for any reason, Buyer shall (and shall cause its
representatives (including auditors) to) promptly, upon request of the Company, return all such
documents as it may have obtained in its due diligence review, and any and all copies of such
documents.

Section 5.4  Company Notification of Certain Matters. Except as prohibited by law,
the Company shall promptly notify Buyer in writing of all events, circumstances, facts and
occurrences arising subsequent to the date of this Agreement which could result in any breach of
a representation or warranty or covenant of the Company in this Agreement or which could have
the effect of making any representation or warranty of the Company in this Agrecment untrue or
incorrect in any material respect.  Upon delivery of such notice, the Company shall supplement
or amend the Disclosure Schedules hereto with respect to any such matter hereafter arising or of
which it becomes aware afier the date hereof (each a “Schedule Supplement™). Any disclosure tn
any such Schedule Supplement shall not be deemed to have cured any inaccuracy in or breach of
any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement, including for purposes of the
indemnification or termination rights contained in this Agreement or of determining whether or
not the conditions set forth in Section 6.2 have been satisfied; provided, however, that if Buyer
has the right to, but does not elect 1o, terminate this Agreement within ten (10) Business Days of
its receipt of such Schedule Supplement, then Buyer shall be deemed to have irrevocably waived
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any right to terminate this Agreement with respect to such matter and, further, shall have
irrevocably waived its right to indemnification under Section 7.2 with respect to such matter.

Section 5.5  Buyer Notification of Certain Matters. Except as prohibited by law, the
Buyer shall promptly notify Company and the Shareholders Representative in writing of all
events, circumstances, facts and occurrences arising subsequent to the date of this Agreement
which could result in any breach of a representation or warranty or covenant of the Buyer in this
Agreement or which could have the effect of making any representation or warranty of the Buyer
in this Agreement untrue or incorrect in any material respect. Upon delivery of such notice, the
Buyer shall supplement or amend the Disclosure Schedules hereto with respect to any such
matter hereafter arising or of which it becomes aware after the date hereof (each a “Schedule
Supplement”). Any disclosure in any such Schedule Supplement shall not be deemed to have
cured any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement,
including for purposes of the indemnification or termination rights contained in this Agreement
or of determining whether or not the conditions set forth in Section 6.3 have been satisfied;
provided, however, that if Company has the right to, but does not elect to, terminate this
Agreement within ten (10) Business Days of its receipt of such Schedule Supplement, then
Company shall be deemed to have irrevocably waived any right to terminate this Agreement with
respect to such matter and, further, shall have irrevocably waived its right to indemnification
under Section 7.3 with respect to such matter.

Section 5.6 Confidentiality. Buyer acknowledges and agrees that the Confidentiality
Agreement remains in full force and effect and, in addition, covenants and agrees to keep
confidential, in accordance with the provisions of the Confidentiality Agreement, information
provided to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement. If this Agreement is, for any reason, terminated
prior to the Closing, the Confidentiality Agreement and the provisions of this Section 5.6 shall
nonetheless continue in full force and effect,

Section 5.7  Indemnification of Former Officers and Directors.

(a) For six years after the Closing, the Company, and its successors and
assigns, shall abide by and agrees to be bound by the indemnification provisions set forth in the
Articles of Incorporation, and the bylaws of the Company as in effect immediately prior to the
Closing (a copy of which is attached heretc marked Exhibit H), with respect to the
indemnification of officers and directors of the Company prior to the Closing (each, a “D&0O
Indemnified Person™) for any act or omission existing or occurring at or prior to the Closing
including any act or omission relating to this Agreement or the Transaction or any other
Transaction Document,

(b)  If the Company or any of its successors or assigns shall (i) consolidate
with or merge into any other Person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or
entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfer all or substantially all of its properties and
assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, proper provisions shall be made so that the
successors and assigns of the Company (or acquirer of such assets), as the case may be, shall
assume ail of the obligations of the surviving entity set forth in this Section 5.7.
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(c) At the Closing, the Company shall obtain, maintain and fully pay for
irrevocable “discovery/runoff” insurance under the Company’s current D&O policy or such
other “tail” insurance policy reasonably acceptable to the Buyer naming the D&O Indemnified
Persons as direct beneficiaries, with a claims period of at least six (6) years from the Closing
Date, from an insurance carrier with the same or better credit rating as the Company’s current
ingurance carrier with respect to directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and in an amount and
scope at least as favorable as the Company’s existing policies, with respect to matters existing or
occurring at or prior to the Closing Date; provided, however, that the costs to obtain such
“discovery/runoft” or tail” insurance policy shail be included in “Company Closing Expenses™
hereunder and thereby indirectly borne by the Shareholders. The Company shall not cancel or
change such insurance policies in any respect. -

(d) The provisions of this Section 5.7 shall survive the consummation of the
Transaction and are expressly intended to benefit each of the D&O Indemnified Persons.

Section 5.8 Governmental Approvals and Other Third-party Consents.

(a) Each party hereto shall, as promptly as possible, use its rcasonable best
efforts to obtain, or cause to be obtained, all consents, authorizations, orders and approvals from
all Governmental Bodies that may be or become nccessary for its execution and delivery of this
Agreement and the performance of its obligations pursuant to this Agreement. Each party shall
cooperate fully with the other party and its Affiliates in promptly seeking to obtain all such
consents, authorizations, orders and approvals. The parties hereto shall not willfully take any
action that will have the effect of delaying, impairing or impeding the receipt of any required
consents, authorizations, orders and approvals.

(b All analyses, appearances, meetings, discussions, prescntations,
memoranda, briefs, filings, arguments, and proposals made by or on behalf of either party before
any Governmental Body or the staff or regulators of any Governmental Body, in connectton with
the Transaction (but, for the avoidance of doubt, not including any interactions between the
Company and the Governmental Bodies in the ordinary course of business, any disclosure which
is not permitted by law or any disclosurc containing confidential information) shall be disclosed
to the other party hercunder in advance of any filing, submission or atlendance, it being the intent
that the parties will consult and cooperate with one another, and consider in good faith the views
of one another, in connection with any such analyses, appearances, meefings, discussions,
presentations, memoranda, briefs, filings, arguments, and proposals. Each party shall give notice
to the other party with respect to any meeting, discussion, appearance or contact with any
Governmental Body or the staff or regulators of any Governmental Body, with such notice being
sufficient to provide the other party with the opportunity to attend and participate in such
meeting, discussion, appearance or contact,

(¢)  The parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to give all notices to,
and obtain all consents or waivers from, all third parties that are described in Schedule 3.4(b) of
the Disclosure Schedules; provided, however, that the Company shall not be obligated to pay any
consideration therefor to any third party from whom consent or approval is requested.
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Section 5.9  Closing Conditions. From the date hereof until the Closing, each party
hercto shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take such actions as are necessary to
expeditiously satisfy the Closing Conditions.

Section 5.10 Tax Matters.

{a)  Tax Retwuns. The preparation and filing of all Tax Returns by or on behalf
of Company shall be governed by the following provisions of this Section 5.10(a):

(1) The Company shall prepare, or cause to be prepared, and file, or
caused to be filed, all Tax Returns of Company that are filed on or before the Closing Date. Any
such Tax Returns shall be prepared in a manner consistent in all material respects with prior Tax
Returns of Company except as otherwise required by law.

(i) Except as provided in Section 5.9(a}i), Buyer shall prepare, or
cause to be prepared, and timely file, or caused to be filed, all Tax Returns of Company for ail
Pre-Closing Tax Periods and Straddle Periods that are filed or required to be filed after the
Closing Date. Any such Tax Returns shall be prepared in a manner consistent in all material
respects with prior Tax Returns of Company except as otherwise required by law. Recasonably in
advance of filing any such Tax Return, but no later than 30 days prior to the due date (including
extensions thereof) (“Due Date™) for the filing of any such Tax Returns that constitute Income
Tax Returns, Buyer shall submit, or cause to be submitted, to Shareholders Representative for
review, comment, and approval (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or
dclayed) a draft of such Tax Retun. Buyer shall provide Shareholders Representative with
copies of all backup documentation and work papers supporting the preparation of such draft Tax
Retumns as Shareholders Representative may reasonably request. Shareholders Representative
shall have 15 days following the date of delivery of the draft Tax Return to notify Buyer in
writing of either (A) any objection to such draft Tax Return or (B) Shareholders Representative’s
approval of the draft Tax Return, 1f Sharcholders Representative fails to provide written notice
to Buyer within such fifteen-day time period, Shareholders Representative shall be conclusively
treated as having approved of such Tax Return for all purposes hereunder. In the event
Shareholders Representative timely notifies Buyer of any objection with respect to a draft Tax
Return (“Tax Objection Notice™), Buyer shall consider in good faith Shareholders
Representative's comments 1o such draft Tax Return. Buyer and Shareholders Representative
shall attempt in good faith to resolve all disputed items and amounts. If Buyer and Shareholders
Representative are unable to resolve any disagreement within 30 days of Buyer’s receipt of the
Tax Objection Notice, the unresolved disputes shall be referred to the Dispute Resolution Firm
for resolution in accordance with Section 5.9(a)(1ii); provided, however, that in the event that any
disputed items cannot be resolved by the Due Date for filing the applicable Tax Return, the
applicable Tax Return shall be filed by such Due Date reflecting Buyer’s position with respect to
such disputed items and shall, if necessary, be amended promptly after resolution of the dispute
10 reflect such resolution. Buyer shali deliver to Shareholders Representative a compiete and
accurate copy of cach such Tax Return prepared and filed by Buycr pursuant to this Section
5.9(a)(ii) within 15 days of filing.

(iti)  Buyer and Shareholders Representative shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to cause the Dispute Resolution Firm to resolve all remaining disagreements
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identified in any Tax Objection Notice as soon as practicable, but in any event shall direct the
Dispute Resolution Firm to render a written determination within 60 days after its retention. The
Dispute Resolution Firm shall consider only those items and amounts (and any substantiating
documentation from Buyer and Sharcholders Representative in connection therewith) that are
identified as the items in dispute. In resolving any disputed item, the parties will direct the
Dispute Resolution Firm not to assign a value to any item greater than the greatest value for such
item claimed by either party or less than the smallest value for such item claimed by either party.
The Dispute Resolution Firm’s determination of the disputed items shall be made based solely on
substantiating documentation submitted by Buyer and Shareholders Representative (i.e., not on
independent review), the applicable definitions set forth herein, and an analysis that is consistent
with and in accordance with the methodolegies and principles contemplated herein. The
determination of the Dispute Resolution Firm shall be conclusive and binding upon Buyer and
Shareholders, and shall not be subject to appeal or further review absent manifest error. The
parties shall promptly comply with all reasonable requests by the Dispute Resolution Firm for
information, books, records and similar items, The costs and expenses of the Dispute Resolution
Firm shall be borne by Buyer, on the one hand, and the Shareholders Representative (on behalf
of the Shareholders), on the other hand, based upon the percentage that the portion of the
contested amount not awarded to each party bears to the amount actually contested by such
party. For example, if Buyer ctaims a deduction is $1,000 less than the amount determined by
Shareholders Representative, and Shareholders Representative contests only $500 of the amount
claimed by Buyer, and if the Dispute Resolution Firm ultimately resolves the dispute by
awarding Buyer $300 of the 3500 contested, then the costs and expenses of the Dispute
Resolution Firm attributable to such item will be allocated 60% (i.e., 300 =+ 500) to Sharcholders
Representative {on behalf of the Sharcholders) and 40% (i.e., 200 + 500) to Buyer.

(iv)  Buyer shall timely pay or cause to be paid to the appropriate
Governmental Body an amount cqual 1o the total liability for Taxes shown te be due and payable
on any Tax Return to be filed pursuant to this Section 5.9(a). In connection with the filing of any
such Tax Return by Buyer, Shareholders Representative (on behalf of the Shareholders) shall pay
to Buyer or cause to paid to Buyer an amount equal to the portion of the total liability for Taxes
shown to be due and payable on the Tax Return that constitutes Shareholder Taxes within 135
days after receiving notice from Buyer that payment of such Taxes has either been made or wiil
be made by Buyer or Company (but in no event any sooner than two Business Days prior to the
Due Date for such Tax Return, except as Shareholders Representative (on behalf of the
Shareholders) otherwise decides in his sole discretion).

(v)  For the avoidance of doubt, any Company Closing Expenses or
other compensation expense deduction resulting from, or attributable to, the sale, exchange or
other disposition of options or shares of stock of Company pursuant to this Agreement shall be
deemed to occur on the Closing Date such that such compensation expense deduction shall be
utilized in the computation of Taxes attributable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period (or otherwisc
shall inure to the benefit of the Sharcholders).

(vi)  Prior to the Merger, unless otherwise required by applicable law,
Company will not file or cause to be filed any amended Tax Returns for any Pre-Closing Tax
Period without the prior written consent of Buyer, which consent will not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned, or delayed. After the Merger, unless otherwise required by applicable
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law, Buyer will not file or cause or allow 1o be filed any amended Tax Returns for Company for
any Pre-Closing Tax Period or Straddle Period without the prior written consent of Shareholders
Representative, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed.

(b)  Refunds and Credits. Any refund of Taxes received by Buyer or
Company (or any of their respective Affiliates), and any amounts credited against Taxes 10
which Buyer or Company (or any of their respective Affiliates) become entitled, afiter the
Closing Date (whether pursuant to Section 5.9(a)(vi) or otherwise) (i) that relate to any
Shareholder Taxes for any Pre-Closing Tax Period or the portion of any Straddle Period ending
on the Closing Date shall be solely for the accounts of the Shareholders and shall be promptly
(but not more than 15 days after receipt) paid by Buyer to the Shareholders Representative (on
behalf of the Shareholders) and (ii) that relates to any Taxes for any taxable period or the portion
of any Straddle Period commencing afier the Closing Date shall be solely for the account of
Buyer (and neither the Shareholders nor any of their Affiliates at such time shall have any
interest therein), except in each case to the extent that such refund or credit was taken into
account directly or indirectly for purposes of determining the final Purchase Price (as determined
under Section 2.5). For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions of this Section 5.9(b) shall not
apply 10 any amount that arises as the result of a carryback of a loss or other Tax benefit trom a
Tax period beginning after the Closing Date.

(c) Indemnification Payments. All indemnification payments made under this
Agreement shall be treated by the parties as an adjustment to the Purchase Price for Tax
purposes, unless otherwise required by law.

(d) No Section 338 Election. None of Buyer, Acquisition Company, the
Company or any of their Affiliates shall make any election under Section 338 of the Code (or
any similar provision under state, local or foreign law) with respect to the Transaction.

Section 5.11 No Solicitation. The Company shall, and shall cause the Shareholders to,
immediately terminate any negotiations and/or marketing efforts, if any, with Persons other than
the Buyer in regard to any Alternative Transaction. The Company shall not, and shall cause the
Shareholders not to, solicit or initiate the submissions of indications of interesi, proposals or
offers from, or discuss or negotiate with any Person relating to any Alternative Transaction. The
Company shall not, and shall cause the Shareholders not to, furnish to any other Person any
information with respect to the Company that could be used for the purposes described in this
Section 5.11. The Company shall promptly notify Buyer of any acquisition proposal received by
the Company and shall provide Buyer a copy (to the extent written) or description (to the extent
made)} of such acquisition proposal, provided, however, the identity of any other parties
interested in pursuing an acquisition of the Company may be redacted.

Section 5.12  Requisite Stockholder Approval. Following the execution and delivery of
this Agreement by the parties hereto, the Company shall cause the Requisite Shareholders to
execute and deliver to the Company a written consent or minutes of a shareholders meeting
approving the Merger and the Transaction, and adopting this Agreement.

Section 5.13  Further Assurances. From time to time, as and when requested by any
party hereto and at such requesting party's expense, any other party shall execute and deliver, or
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cause to be executed and delivered, all such documents and instruments and shall take, or cause
to be taken, all such further or other actions as the requesting party may reasonably deem
necessary or desirable to evidence and effectuate the Transaction.

ARTICLE VL.
CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

Section 6.1  Conditions to Obligations of All Parties. The obligations of each party to
consummate the Transaction shall be subject to the fulfillment, at or prior to the Closing, of each
of the following conditions;

(a)  The Requisite Sharcholders of the Company shall have duly approved this
Agreement, the Merger and the Transaction in accordance with the FBCA.

(b)  No action, demand, arbitration, audit, inquiry, hearing, noticc of violation,
investigation, litigation, citation, summons, subpoena or suit of any nature (whether civil,
criminal, administrative, regulatory, investigative, or informal), whether at law or in equity, of
any Governmental Body secking to restrain, enjoin or otherwise prohibit the consummation of
the Transaction shall be pending or threatened.

(c) No Governmental Body shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced
or entered any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, determination or award
which is in ¢ffect and has the effect of making the Transaction illegal, otherwise restraining or
prohibiting consummation of the Transaction or causing the Transaction to be rescinded
following completion thereof.

(d)  Other than filing the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of
the State of Florida, all governmental consents and approvals will have been obtained or
provided, other than such governmental consents and approvals (a) as Buyer and Company agree
Company will not seck to obtain, or (b} the failure of which 10 obtain would not result, or
reasonably be expected to result, individually or in the aggregate, in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 6.2 Conditions to Obligations of Buyer. The obligations of Buyer to
consummate the Transaction shall be subject to the fulfiliment or Buyer’s waiver, at or prior to
the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

(a) The representations and warranties of the Company contained in
ARTICLE III (other than the Company Fundamental Representations) shall be true and correct
in all respects (without giving effect to any “materiality” and “Material Adverse Eifect”
qualifiers therein) as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though made at and as of such
date {except those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a specificd date,
which shall be true and correct in all respects as of that specified date), except where the failure
of such representations and warranties to be true and correct would not have a Material Adverse
Effect. The Company Fundamental Representations shall be true and correct in all respects as of
the Closing Date with the same effect as though made at and as of such date (except those
Company Fundamental Representations that address matters only as of a specified date, which
shall be true and cotrect in all respects as of that specified date).
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(b)  The Company shall have duly performed and complied in all material
respects with all agreements, covenanis and conditions required by this Agreement to be
performed or complied with by it prior to or on the Closing Date.

(9 Buyer shall have received a certificate, dated the Closing Date and signed
by a duly authorized officer of the Company, that cach of the conditions set forth in Section
6.2(a) and (b) has been satisfied.

(d)  Unless otherwise waived by the Buyer, the Company shall have received
all consents, authorizations, orders and approvals referred to in Schedule 3.4(b), in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, and no such consent, authorization, order and
approval shall have been revoked.

(e) Buyer shall have received a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant
Secretary (or equivalent officer) of the Company certifying that attached thereto are true and
complete copies of all resolutions or minutes of a special meeting, or action by writlen consent,
adopted by the board of directors and the Shareholders of the Company authorizing the
execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the consummation of the
Transactions, and that all such resolutions or minutes are in full force and effect and are all the
resolutions adopted in connection with the Transaction.

(f The Company shall have delivered copics of the {i) audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2014 and
2015, in each case including ITV, (i1) unaudited carve-out financial statements of the Company
as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015 and 2016, in each case excluding ITV,
and (iii) monthly financial statements of the Company, in form reasonably satisfactory to Buyer,
for each month subsequent to December 2016 through and including the most recent calendar
month ending no later than thirty (30) days prior to the Closing, or such other date agreed upon
between the Company and Buyer.

(g) The Company shall have delivered copies of the federal income Tax
Return of the Company, including ITV, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015,

(h)  The Company shall have not less than $250,000 Cash on Hand, which
shall be retained by the Company.

(i) The Company shall have delivered cach of the other items required to be
delivered by it at the Closing pursuant to Scction 2.2,

() There shall not have occurred a Material Adverse Effect.

(k)  No more than 10% of the total outstanding Shares of the Company shall
be Dissenting Shares; none of which shall be held by any of Josh Reel, Steven Jones, Randall
Henderson, Tad Yeatter and Stuart Conrad or any of their Affiliates, or any other Sharcholder
that collectively with their respective Affiliates holds ten percent (10%) or more of the
outstanding Shares of the Company immediately prior to execution of this Agreement or the
Closing.
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Section 6.3  Conditions to Obligations of the Company. The obligations of the
Company to consummate the Transaction shall be subject to the fulfillment or the Company’s
waiver, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

(a) The representations and warranties of Buyer contained in ARTICLE ]V
(other than the Buyer Fundamental Representations) shall be true and correct in all respects
{without giving effect to any “materiality” qualifiers therein) as of the Closing Date with the
same cffect as though made at and as of such date (except those representations and warrantics
that address matters only as of a specified date, which shall be true and correct in all respects as
of that specified date), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true
and correct would not have a matenial adverse effect on Buyer’s ability 1o consummate the
Transactions contemplated hereby. The Buyer Fundamental Representations shall be true and
correct in all respects as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though made at and as of
such date (except those Buyer Fundamental Representations that address matters only as of a
specified date, which shall be true and correct in all respects as of that specified date).

(b)  Buyer shall have duly performed and complied in all material respects
with all agreements, covenants and conditions required by this Agreement to be performed or
complied with by it prior to or on the Closing Date.

(c) The Company shall have received a certificate, dated the Closing Date and
signed by a duly authorized officer of Buyer, that each of the conditions set forth in Section
6.3(a) and (b) have been satisfied.

(d)  Buyer shall have delivered each of the other items required to be delivered
by 1t at the Closing pursuant to Section 2.3.

ARTICLE VIL
INDEMNIFICATION

Section 7.1 Survival. The representations and warranties contained in ARTICLE 11,
and ARTICLE IV shall survive the Closing and shall terminate on the following dates:

(a) with respect to Section 3.1 (Organization and Corporate Power), Section
3.3 (Authorization; Valid and Binding Agreement), Section 3.5 (Capital Stock), Section 3.9
(Title to Properties), Section 3.11 (Tax Matters) and Section 3.23 (Brokerage) (collectively the
“Company Fundamental Representations™), Section 4.1 (Organization and Power), Section 4.2
(Authorization; Valid and Binding Agreement) and Section 4.5 (Brokerage) (collectively, the
“Buyer Fundamental Representations™}, such representations and warranties shall survive until
the sixtieth (60™) day following the expiration of their respective statute of limitations (the
“Fundamental Representations Expiration Date™); and

(b)  with respect to all other representations and warranties, such
representations and warranties shall survive for twenty-four (24) months after the Closing Date
(the “General Representations Expiration Date™).
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All covenants and agrcements of the Company, the Sharcholders and Buyer contained in this
Agreement that are to be performed in whole or in part after the Closing Date shall survive in
accordance with their respective terms.

Section 7.2 Indemnification of Buyer. From and afier the Closing (but subject to the
provisions of this ARTICLE VID), Buyer and its Affiliates, officers, directors, employees, agents,
successors and assigns (the “Buver Indemnitees™) shall be indemnified by the Shareholders,
severally and not jointly (and limited to the amount of their respective Distributable Net
Purchase Price amount and, to the extent applicable, to a maximum of the indemnity Cap and
any amounts of such Loss funded by the Indemnity Escrow or the Shareholders Representative),
in respect of any and all losses, liabilities, claims, damages, penalties, fines, judgments, awards,
settlements, costs, fegs and expenses (including reasonable costs of investigation and defense and
reasonable accountants’, experts’ and attorneys’ fees and expenses) (individually, a “Loss” and
collectively, “Losses™), whether or not involving a third party claim, suffered or incurred by the
Buyer Indemnnitees 10 the extent such Loss results from or arises out of:

(a)  a breach of any representation or warranty of the Company contained in
ARTICLE 11 of this Agreement (other than the Company Fundamental Representations);

{b)  abreach of any Company Fundamental Representation;

{©) any Company Closing Expenses or Indebtedness of the Company
outstanding as of the Closing to the extent not deducted in the determination of the Purchase
Price;

(d)  a breach of any covenant or agreement by the Company contained in this
Agreement requiring performance by the Company at or before the Closing;

{e) Shareholder Taxes to the extent not deducted in the determination of the
Purchase Price; and

(f) the litigation described in Schedule 3.15 but only to the extent a claim for
indemnification for Losses resulting or arising from such litigation is made prior to the General
Representations Expiration Date.

Section 7.3  Indemnification of the Shareholders. From and after the Closing (but
subject to the provisions of this ARTICLE VII), Buyer shall indemnify the Shareholders and
their respective Affiliates, officers, directors, employees and agents (the “Shareholder
Indemnitees™) against and hold them harmless from any Losses suffered or incurred by the
Shareholder Indemnitees to the extent arising from or relating to:

(a) a breach of any representation or warranty of Buyer contained in this
Agreement (other than Buyer Fundamental Representations);

(b}  abreach of any Buyer Fundamental Representation;

(c) a breach of any covenant or agreement by Buyer contained in this
Agreement requiring performance by Buyer or the Company after the Closing; and
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(d)  for actions taken by Buyer, Acquisition Company or the Company after
the Closing.

Section 7.4  Certain Limitations,

(a)  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, even
if an Indemnitee would otherwise be entitled to indemnification for a Loss pursuant to Section
7.2{a) or 7.2(f), such Indemnitee shall not be entitled to indemnification for a Loss pursuant to
such Section except to the extent the aggregate amount of all Losses cligible for indemnification
pursuant to Section 7.2(a) and Section 7.2(f) exceeds on a cumulative basis an amount equal to
§15,000 (the “Deductible™), but then only to the extent such Losses exceed the Deductible.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties agree that there shall be no deductible for any
expenses incurred related 10 the PAL litigation as is more fully described in Schedule 3.15. No
Buyer Indemnitee shall be entitled to any indemnification pursuant to Section 7.2 in excess of, in
the aggregate, at any time an amount equal to $400,000 (the “Cap”), and no Buyer Indemnitee
shall be entitled 10 any indemnification pursuant to this Agreement from an individual
Shareholder in excess of the actual consideration received by such Shareholder pursuant to this
Agreement. The Deductible and Cap limitation provided for in this Section 7.4(a) shall not be
applicable to any claims for indemnification of a Buyer Indemnitee (i) provided for in Section
7.2(b), {c) and (e}, (ii) provided for in Section 7.2(d) arising solely from a breach of Sections
5.2(g), (1) or (j), and (iii) arising from any claims for fraud or willful misrepresentation. All
payments under this ARTICLE VII shall be treated by the parties as an adjustment to the
proceeds received by the applicable Sharcholder pursuant to Section 2.4 and Section 2.5.

(b)  For purposes of this ARTICLE VII, any Loss related thereto shall be
determined without regard to any materiality, Material Adverse Effect or other similar
qualification contained in or otherwise applicable to such representation or warranty.

() Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, no
Shareholder shall be liable for any Loss arising out of breach by any other Shareholder of any
representations and warranties or failure by such Sharcholder to perform any covenant specific 1o
such Shareholder or the fraud of such other Shareholder.

{d) The Buyer Indemnitecs shall not be entitled to recover any Losses relating
to any matter arising under any provision of this Agreement to the extent that a Buyer
Indemnitee has already recovered Losses with respect to such matter under other provisions of
this Agreement.

Section 7.5  Expiration of Claims. The ability of any Person to receive indemnification
under Section 7.2 or Section 7.3, shall terminate on the applicable survival termination date (as
set forth in Section 7.1), unless such Person shall have incurred a Loss prior to such survival
termination date and made a claim for indemnification pursuant to Section 7.2 or Section 7.3, as
applicable, prior to such survival termination date. 1f a Person has madc a claim for
indemnification pursuant to Section 7.2 or Section 7.3 prior to such survival termination date,
then such claim for such Loss incurred (and only such claim for such Loss incurred), if then
unresolved, shall not be extinguished by the passage of the deadlines set forth in Section 7.1.
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Section 7.6 Procedures Relating to Indemnification for Third Party Claims.

{(a) In order for a Person to be entitled to seek any indemnification provided
for under this Agreement (such party, the “*Claiming Party™), in respect of a claim or demand
made against the Claiming Party by any Person who is not a party to this Agreement or an
Affiliate thereof (a “Third-Party Claim™), such Claiming Party must notify the Person that is or
may be required to provide indemnification hereunder (the “Defending Party™) in writing, and in
reasonable detail, of the Third-Party Claim as promptly as reasonably possible but in any event
within 15 days after receipt by such Claiming Party of notice of the Third-Party Claim (or within
such shorter time as may be necessary to give the Defending Party a reasonable opportunity to
respond to and defend such Third-Party Claim), and include with such notice complete copies of
all correspondence and documentation received from and/or sent to the Third-Party as of the date
on which such notice is delivered to the Defending Party; provided that failure to give such
notification on a timely basis shall not affect the indemnification provided hereunder except to
the extent the Defending Party shall have been materially prejudiced as a result of such failure.
Thereafier, the Claiming Party shall deliver to the Defending Party, within five (5) Business
Days after the Claiming Party’s receipt or delivery thereof, copies of all notices, correspondence
and documents (including court papers} received or delivered by the Claiming Party relating to
the Third-Party Claim.

(b  If a Third-Party Claim is madc against a Claiming Party, the Defending
Party shall be entitled to participate in the defense thereof and, if it so chooscs, to assumec the
defense thereof (subject 1o a reservation of rights) with counsel selected by the Defending Party
and reasonably satisfactory to the Claiming Party, Should a Defending Party so elect to assume
the defense of a Third-Party Claim, the Defending Party shall not be liable to the Claiming Party
for legal expenses subsequently incurred by the Claiming Party in connection with the defense
thereof. If the Defending Party assumes such defense, the Claiming Party shall have the right to
participate in the defense thereof and to employ counsel, at its own expense, scparate from the
counsel employed by the Defending Party, it being understood, however, that the Defending
Party shall control such defense. The Defending Party shall be liable for the reasonable fees and
expenses of counsel employed by the Claiming Party for any period during which the Defending
Party has not assumed the defensc thereof and shall pay all of the reasonable fees and expenses
of a separate counsel for the Claiming Party if the Defending Party has reasonably determined,
based upon advice of counsel, that there exists a material conflict of interest between the
Claiming Party and the Defending Party. If the Defending Party chooses to defend any Third-
Party Claim, then all the parties hereto shall cooperate in the defense or prosecution of such
Third-Party Claim, including by retaining and (upon the Defending Party’s request) providing fo
the Defending Party all records and information which are reasonably relevant to such Third-
Party Claim, and making employees available on a mutually convenient basis to provide
additional information and explanation of any material provided hereunder. Whether or not the
Defending Party shall have assumed the defense of a Third-Party Claim, the Claiming Party shall
not admit any liability with respect to, or scttle, compromise or discharge, any Third-Party Claim
without the prior written consent of the Defending Party.

{c)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Defending Party shall not be entitled to
assume control of such defense (unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Claiming Party) and
shall pay the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel retained by the Claiming Party if (1) the

4}
300580119 v26



claim for indemnification relates to or arises in connection with any criminal claim; (2) the claim
seeks an injunction or equitable relief against the Claiming Party; (3) the Claiming Party has
been advised by counsel that a conflict of interest between the Claiming Party and the Defending
Party exists; (4) upon petition by the Claiming Party, the appropriate court rules that the
Defending Party failed or is failing to prosecute or defend such claim in good faith; or (5) the
Claiming Party reasonably believes that the Losses relating to the Third-Party Claim would
exceed the maximum amount that the Claiming Party could then be entitled to recover for such
claim under the applicable provisions of ARTICLE VII; provided if the reason that the Claiming
Party assumes control of the proceeding is (3} or (5), then the counsel chosen by the Claiming
Party to defend the claim must be reasonably acceptable to the Defending Party.

(dy  If the Defending Party shall control the defense of any such claim, the
Defending Party shall oblain the prior written consent of the Claiming Party before entering into
any settlement of such claim if, pursuant to or as a result of such settlement, injunctive or other
equitable relief will be imposed against the Claiming Party or if such settlement does not
cxpressly and unconditionally release the Claiming Party from all liabilities (monetary or
otherwise) with respect to such claim, with prejudice.

(c) If the Claiming Party shall control the defensc due to any of the
occurrences described above with respect to any Third-Party Claim, the Claiming Party may not
settle or compromise any Third-Party Claim or consent to the entry of any judgment in favor of
any third party with respect 1o which indemnification is being sought hereunder without the prior
written consent of the Sharecholders Representative, acting on behalf of the Shareholders, such
consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

(H For the avoidance of doubt, the Buyer agrees that, if the Defending Party
1s the Sharcholders (acting through the Sharcholders Representative) and the Shareholders have
assumed the defense of any Third-Party Claim, including the PAL litigation as more fully
described on Schedule 3.15, all or some of the out-of-pocket costs and cxpenses payable for
investigating, analyzing and defending any such Third Party Claim, including any payments
made to Josh Reel after his employment with the Company has terminated, may, at the option of
the Shareholders Representative, be funded directly by the amounts in the indemnity Escrow
Account as such costs and expenses are incurred.

Section 7.7 Procedure for Indemnification for Inter-Party Claims. In the event that a
Claiming Party determines that it has a claim for Losses against a Defending Party hereunder
{other than as a result of a Third-Party Claim), the Claiming Party shall promptly give writtcn
notice thereof to the Defending Party, specifying the amount (or estimate) of such claim, the
nature and basis of the alleged breach giving rise to such claim and all relevant facts and
circumstances relating thereto; provided that the failure of the Claiming Party to so notify the
Defending Party shall not relieve the Defending Party of its obligations hereunder, except to the
extent such failure shall have materially prejudiced the Defending Party. The Claiming Party
shall provide the Defending Party with reasonable access to the relevant books and records of the
Claiming Party (and, if Buyer is the Defending Party, the Company’s books and records) during
normal business hours for the purpose of allowing the Defending Party a reasonable opportunity
to verify any such claim for Losses. The Defending Party shall notify the Claiming Party within
forty five (45) days following its receipt of such notice and granting of such access if the
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Defending Party disputes its liability to the Claiming Party under this ARTICLE VII. If the
Defending Party does not so notify the Claiming Party, the claim specificd by the Claiming Party
in such notice shall be conclusively deemed to be a liability of the Defending Party under this
ARTICLE VIi, and the Defending Party shall pay the amount of such liability to the Claiming
Party on demand or, in the case of any notice in which the amount of the claim (or any portion of
the claim) is estimated, on such later date when the amount of such claim (or such portion of
such claim) becomes finally determined. If the Defending Party has timely disputed its liability
with respect to such claim as provided above, the Defending Party and the Claiming Party shall
negotiate in good faith to resolve such dispute.

Section 7.8 Mitigation, Each Person entitled to indemnification hereunder shall take
commercially reasonable steps to mitigate all Losses after becoming aware of any event which
could reasonably be expected to give nise to any Losses that are indemnifiable or recoverable
hereunder or in connection herewith. In the event that a Defending Party makes any payment to
a Claiming Party for indemnification for which the Claiming Party could have collected on a
claim against another Person (including under any contract and any insurance claims), the
Defending Party shall be entitled to pursue claims and conduct litigation on behalf of the
Claiming Party and any of its successors to pursue and collect on any indemnification or other
remedy available to the Claiming Party thercunder with respect to such claim and gencrally to be
subrogated to the rights of the Claiming Party. Except pursuant to a settlement agreed to by the
Defending Party, the Claiming Party shall not waive or release any contractual right to recover
from another Person any loss subject to indemnification hereby without the prior written consent
of the Defending Party. The Claiming Party shall, and shall cause its Affiliates (including the
Company) to, cooperate with the Defending Party, at the Defending Party’s expense, with
respect to any such cffort to pursue and collect with respect thereto.

Section 7.9  Determination of Loss Amount.

(a) Losses for breaches of representations and warranties contained in this
Agreement shall be net of any insurance proceeds or third-party payments realized by and paid to
the Claiming Party. The Claiming Party shall seek full recovery under all insurance policies and
third-party payments covering any Loss to the same extent as it would if such Loss were not
subject to indemnification hereunder. In the event that an insurance or other recovery is made by
any Claiming Party with respect to any Loss for which any such Claiming Party has been
indemnified hereunder, then a refund equal to the aggregate amount of the recevery shall be
made promptly to the Defending Party.

(b) In no event shall any Person be entitled to recover or make a claim for any
amounts in respect of special, consequential or punitive damages, except in the case of fraud,
criminal activity or willful misconduct in connection with this Agreement or to the exient
actually awarded to a Governmental Body or in a Third-Party Claim. In addition, in no event
shall a Defending Party be liable hereunder in respect of any claim if such claim would not have
arisen but for a change in legislation or accounting policies or a change in interpretation of
applicable law as determined by a court or pursuant to an administration rule-making decision, in
each case occurring after the Closing.
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(c) No Buyer Indemnitee shall be entitled to any indemnification under this
ARTICLE VII to the extent (1) such matter was taken into account in determining the Purchase
Price pursuant to Section 2.5, or (ii) such matter was reserved for in the Financial Statements.

Section 7.10  Payment of Losses.

(a) No later than five (5) Business Days following the final determination of
the amount of any Losses payable to any Buyer Indemnitee in accordance with Section 7.2 or
this ARTICLE VII, the Company shall direct the Escrow Agent to release to Buyer, from the
Indemnity Escrow Account, the lesser of (i) the amount of such Losses and (ii) the then-
remaining balance of the Indemnity Escrow Account, including any earnings thereon, it being
understood that, except as set forth in clause (b) below, the Escrow Account shall be Buyer's
sole and exclusive source of recovery with respect to claims arising under, or otherwisc in
connection with, Section 7.2 or this ARTICLE VII of this Agreement and that, fellowing release
in full of all amounts held in the Escrow Account, the Shareholders shall have no further liability
thereunder or in connection therewith.

(b)  Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 7.4, if and to the extent the
amount of any Losses remaining to be paid to a Buyer Indemmnitee at any time under this
ARTICLE VIl is greater than the then-remaining balance of the Indemnity Escrow Account,
including any earnings thereon, then each Shareholder will be responsible for their Pro Rata
Share of such shortfall, up to the Cap, if applicable (the “Loss Shortfall); provided that the total
amount of the Loss Shortfall shall never exceed the total amount of Losses incurred by the Buyer
Indemnitees, up to the Cap, if applicable, less any amounts previously or contemporaneously
funded by payments from the Indemnity Escrow Account or the Shareholders. No later than ten
(10) Business Days following receipt of written notice from the Buyer with the final
determination of their Pro Rata Share of the amount of such Loss Shortfall, each Shareholder
shall pay io Buyer in cash, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account
designated in writing by Buyer, s Pro Rata Share of the amount of such Loss Shortfall;
provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, no payment hereunder by an individual Shareholder
shall be in excess of the portion of the Distributable Net Purchase Price received by such
Shareholder pursuant to this Agreement.

(c)  No later than ten (10) Business Days following the final determination of
the amount of any Losses payable to any Shareholder Indemnitec in accordance with this
ARTICLE VII, Buyer shall pay to each Sharcholder in cash, by wire transfer of immediately
available funds to the accounts designated in writing by the Shareholder, its Pro Rata Share of
the amount of such excess.

Section 7.11 Escrow Release. On the Business Day immediately following the General
Representations Expiration Date (such Business Day, the “Escrow Release Date”), Buyer and
Shareholders Representative shall deliver joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent to
release to the Payment Agent the then-remaining balance of the Indemnity Escrow Account;
provided that any amounts payable to the Shareholders shall be reduced by an amount equal to
the positive difference (if any) between (i) the then-remaining balance of the Indemnity Escrow
Account, including any earnings thereon, minus (ii) the amount of Losses for which Buyer has
timely made a claim for indemnification pursuant to Section 7.6 (up to the Cap, to the extent the
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Cap is applicable), and which claim has not then been finally determined in accordance with this
ARTICLE VII, as applicable. In the event any portion of the Indemnity Escrow Account is not
released to the Payment Agent on the Escrow Release Date as a result of the reduction in respect
of clause (ii) foregoing, following the final determination of all such outstanding claims and, as
applicable, payment in respect thercof pursuant to Section 7.10, Buyer and Sharcholders
Representative shall promptly and in any event within ten (10} Business Days, deliver joint
written instructions to the Escrow Agent to release to the Payment Agent the then-remaining
balance of the Indemnity Escrow Account.

Section 7.12 Tax Benefits. To the extent that a Claiming Party recognizes Tax Benefits
as a result of any Loss, such party shall pay the amount of such Tax Benefits (but not in excess
of the indemnification payment or payments actually received from the Defending Party with
respect to such Loss) - to the Defending Party as such Tax Benefits are actually rcaln;ed by“ the
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uant to, this: 12).) Buyer agrees that, prior to the release of any portion of the
Indemnity Escrow Amount it will negotiate in good faith with the Sharcholders Representative
to determine a mutually agreeable amount of any Tax benefit, if any, realized by the Company in
connection with the payment of any expenses that gave rise to a release of any portion of the
Indemnity Escrow Amount, which amount shall be paid to the Payment Agent by the Company
within five (5) business days of the date on which any funds are released from the Indemnity
Escrow Amount. In the event that the Buyer and the Shareholders Representative are unable to
agree upon the amount of any Tax benefit realized by the Company within fifteen (15) days
following the determination of the Loss owing to the Claiming Party, then the parties shall
submit the issue to the Dispute Resolution Firm for final determination in the manner provided in

Section 2.5(c).

Section 7.13  Exclusive Remedy. Except as set forth in Section 9.16, the remedies set
forth in Section 7.2 and Section 7.3 constitute the sole and exclusive remedies of any Buyer
Indemnitec or Shareholder Indemnitee for recovery of Losses or other claims relating to or
arising from this Agreement, in connection with the Transaction or otherwisc arising out of or
relating to the Company’s businesses and operations, other than claims arising from fraud,
criminal activity or willful misconduct in connection with this Agreement.

ARTICLE VIIL
TERMINATION

Section 8.1  Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the
Closing:

(a) by the mutual written consent of the Company and Buyer;
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(b) by Buyer by written notice to the Company if Buyer is not then in material
breach of any provision of this Agreement and there has been a material breach, inaccuracy in or
failure to perform any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by the Company
pursuant to this Agreement that would give rise to the failure of any of the Closing Conditions
and such breach, inaccuracy or failure cannot be cured by the breaching party within fiftcen (15)
days of the breaching party’s receipt of written notice of such breach from Buyer; or

(c) by the Company by written notice to Buyer if the Company is not then in
material breach of any provision of this Agreement and there has been a material breach,
inaccuracy in or failure to perform any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by
Buyer pursuant to this Agreement that would give rise to the failure of any of the Closing
Conditions and such breach, inaccuracy or failure cannot be cured by the breaching party within
fifteen (15) days of the breaching party’s receipt of written notice of such breach from the
Company; or

(d) by Buyer or the Company in the event that:

8} there shall be any law that makes consummation of the Merger or
Transaction illegal or otherwise prohibited; or

(i)  any Governmental Body shall have issued any order, writ,
judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, determination or award restraining or enjoining
the Transaction, and such shall have become final and non-appealable; or

(1i)  the Closing shall not have occurred by August 15, 2017, which
date may be extended pursuant to a mutual written agreement (such date as may be
extended, the "“Qutside Date™); provided, however, that if on the Outside Date, all
Closing Conditions have been satisfied other than the Closing Conditions set forth in
Section 5.8, either the Company or Buyer may (in its sole discretion) extend the Outside
Date for an additional thirty (30) days by delivery of written notice of such extension to
the other no fewer than five (5) Business Days before the initial Outside Date; and
provided, further, however, the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section
8. 1{d)(iii}, shall not be available 1o either party whose failure to take any action required
to fulfill any obligation under this Agreement (including the failure to act in good faith or
10 usc reasonable best efforts to cause the Closing to occur) shall have been the cause of,
or shall have resulted in, the failure of the Closing to occur before such date.

Section 8.2  Effect of Termination. In the event of the termination of this Agreement
in accordance with this ARTICLE VIII, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and there
shall be no liability on the part of any party hereto except:

(a) if the termination was pursuant to Section 8.1(b) or Section 8.1(c), the
breaching party shall pay the non-breaching party’s rcasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in
connection with the negotiation and execution of this Agreement;

(b) as set forth in this ARTICLE VI and Section 5.6 and ARTICLE IX hereof;
and
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(c) that nothing herein shall relieve any party hereto from liability for any
intentional breach of any provision hereof.

ARTICLE IX.
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 9.1  Shareholders Representative.

(a) By virtue of this Agrcement and the execution of Transmittal Letters, and
without any further actions of the Sharcholders, the Shareholders have irrevocably appointed
Stuart Conrad as the Shareholders Representative, as true and lawful agent and attorney-in-fact,
with full power of substitution, with full power and authority to act for and on behalf of each
Sharcholder for all purposcs of this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement, and with respect to
the consummation of the Merger and the Transaction, agrees to be bound by the provisions of
this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement and the terms of the Transaction. Shareholders
Representative hereby accepts such appointment. Each Shareholder acknowledges and agrees
that Shareholders Representative, pursuant to this Agreement, has the exclusive authority to act
on his, her or its behalf in connection with this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement and
related matters, including to (i) interpret the terms and provisions of this Agreement and the
Escrow Agreement, (ii) execute and deliver and receive deliveries of all agreements, certificates,
statements, notices, approvals, extensions, waivers, undertakings, amendments and other
documents required or permitted to be given in connection with the consummation of the
Transaction, including the Escrow Agreement, (iii) reccive service of process in connection with
any claims under this Agrecment or the Escrow Agreement, (iv) agree to, negotiate and enter
into settlements and compromises of, assume the defense of claims, and demand arbitration and
comply with orders of courts and awards of arbitrators with respect to such claims, and to take all
actions necessary or appropriate in the judgment of the Sharcholders Representative for the
accomplishment of the foregoing, (v} give and receive notices and communications, (vi) 1ake all
actions necessary or appropriate in the judgment of the Shareholders Representative on behalf of
the Shareholders in connection with this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement, (vii) make any
determinations and settle any matters in connection with the adjustments to the Purchase Price
pursuant to Section 2.5, (viii) authorize delivery to any Buyer Indemnitee of the Escrow Funds,
or any portion of thereof in satisfaction of claims brought by any Buyer Indemnitee for Losses or
pursuant to Section 2.5(c), (ix) distribute the Escrow Funds, and any eaming and proceeds
thereon, (x) deduct, hold back and/or redirect any funds which may be payable to any
Shareholder pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the Escrow Agreement or any agreements
or documenis execuled and delivered in connection herewith in order to pay, or cstablish a
reserve for, (A) any amount that may be payable by such Shareholders hereunder or {B) any
costs, fees, expenses and other liabilities incurred by the Shareholders Representative (in its
capacity as such) in connection with this Agreement or its rights or obligations hereunder,
including reasonable compensation to any consultants, attorncys, accountants or other
representatives or agents retained by the Shareholders Representative for purposes of performing
its duties hereunder, (xi} do and perform any and every act the Shareholders Representative
deems required, necessary or proper, including transacting business on behalf of such
Shareholder, in connection with the Transaction.
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(b) The agency provided by Section 9.1(a) may be changed by the
Shareholders Representative from time to time, and the Sharcholders Representative, or any
successor hereafter appointed, may resign, upon not less than thirty (30) days prior written notice
to Buyer. In the event of a resignation by the Shareholders Representative, a successor will be
named by a majority vote of the Shareholders. All power, authority, rights and privileges
conferred in this Agreement to the Sharcholders Representative will apply to any successor
Shareholders Representative.

(c) The Shareholders Representative will not be liable for any act done or
omitted under this Agreement or any agreements or documents executed and delivered in
connection hercwith as Sharcholders Representative while acting in good faith, and any act taken
or omitted to be taken pursuant to the advice of counsel will be conclusive evidence of such good
faith. Each of Buyer and Acquisition Company agrees that it will not look to the personal assets
of the Shareholders Representative, acting in such capacity, for the satisfaction of any
obligations to be performed by the Company (pre-Closing) or the Shareholders. In performing
any of its duties under this Agreement or any agreements or documents executed and delivered
in connection herewith, the Shareholders Representative will not be liable to the Shareholders for
any Losses that such Person may incur as a result of any act, or failure to act, by the
Shareholders Representative under this Agreement or any agreements or documents executed
and delivered in connection herewith, and the Shareholders Representative will be indemnified
and held harmless by the Sharcholders for all Losses, except to the extent that the actions or
omissions of the Shareholders Representative were taken or omitted not in good faith. The
limitation of liability provisions of this Section 9.1{(c) will survive the termination of this
Agreement and the resignation of the Sharcholders Representative.

(d)  Any out-of-pocket costs and expenses reasonably incurred by the
Shareholders Representative in connection with actions taken in performance of its duties
hereunder will be reimbursed to the Sharcholders Representative by the Shareholders first from
any paymenis released from the Indemnity Escrow Account and thereafter, from the
Shareholders, in each case on a pro rata basis in proportion to each such Shareholder’s
Percentage Interest as of the date hereof. In no event shall Buyer, Acquisition Company or the
Company or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives have any obligation 1o
reimburse the Shareholders Representative for all or any portion of any costs or cxpenses of the
Shareholders Representative.

Section 9.2  Press Releases and Communications. No press release or public
announcement related to this Agreement or the Transaction shall be issued or made by any party
hereto without the joint approval of Buyer and the Shareholders Representative, unless required
by law (in the reasonable opinion of counsel) in which case Buyer and the Shareholders
Representative shall have the right to review such press release, announcement or
communication prior to its issuance, distribution or publication.

Section 9.3  Expenses. Except as otherwise cxpressly provided herein Buyer and the
Company shall cach pay their own expenses (including attorneys’ and accountants’ fees and
expenses) in connection with the negotiation of this Agreement, the performance of its
obligations hereunder and the consummation of the Transaction (whether consummated or not).
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Section 9.4  Knowledge Defined. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “the
Company’s knowledge™ as used herein shall mean the actual knowledge of Josh Reel, Jennifer
Crisp. Colin Anderson and Loren Rosenthal and the knowledge that each such person would
reasonably be expected to obtain in the course of diligently performing his or her duties for the
Company and assuming reasonable inquiry.

Scction 9.5 Notices. All notices, demands and other communications to be given or
delivered under or by reason of the provisions of this Agrcement shall be in writing and shall be
deemed to have been given (a) when personally delivered, (b) when transmitted via clectronic
mail to the e-mail address set out below if the sender on the same day sends a confirming copy of
such notice by a recognized overnight delivery service (charges prepaid), (c) the day following
the day (except if not a Business Day then the next Business Day) on which the same has been
delivered prepaid to a reputable national overnight air courier service or (d) the third (3")
Business Day following the day on which the same is sent by certificd or registered mail, postage
prepaid. Notices, demands and communications, in each case to the respective parties, shall be
sent to the applicable address set forth below, unless another address has been previously
specified in writing:

Notices to Buver, Acquisition Company or the Company (after the Closing):

Shift8 Technologies, Inc.
Attention: Arthur L. Smith
3463 Magic Drive, Suite 235
San Antonio, TX 78229

Fax: (210)693-1012
Email: art.smith@shift8networks.net

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

BoyarMiller
2925 Richmond Ave., 14™ Floor
Houston, TX 77098

Fax: (713) 552-1758
Atiention: Lawrence E. Wilson
Email; lwilson@boyarmiller.com

Notices to the Company (before the Closing):

T3 Communications, Inc.

Attention: Mr. Josh Reel, Chief Executive Officer
2401 First Street, Suite 300

Ft. Myers, FL 33901

Fax: (239) 333-0305
Email: josh@nexgencom.com
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with a copy of all correspondence to the Company to (which shall not constitute

notice):

K&L Gates LLP

Southeast Financial Center, Suite 3900
200 South Biscayne Boulevard

Miami, Florida 33131

Fax: (305) 358-7095
Attention: Clayton E. Parker, Esq.
Email: clayton.parker@klgates.com

Notices to the Shareholders Representative (after the Closing Date):

Mr. Stuart Conrad
485 Majestic Cove
Alpharetta, GA 30004

Fax: 674-550-9627
Email: stuartconrad@att.net

Section 9.6  Assignment. This Agreement and all of the provisions hereof shall be
binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and
permitted assigns. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations
hereunder may be assigned or delegated by any party hereto without the prior written consent of
the other parties hereto except that Buyer may assign this Agreement and its rights hereunder to
any lender in connection with obtaining financing for the Transaction.

Section 9.7  Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall
be interpreted in such manper as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any
provision of this Agreement is held to be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such
provision shall be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without
invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

Section 9.8 No Strict Construction; Disclosure Schedules. The language used in this
Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen by the parties hereto to express their
mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction shall be applied against any Person. The
Disclosure Schedules attached to this Agreement have been arranged for purposes of
convcenience in separately titled sections corresponding to sections of this Agreement; provided,
however, that each section of the disclosure schedules shall be deemed to incorporate by
reference all information disclosed in any other section of the disclosure schedules to which such
disclosure is relevant to the extent it is reasonably apparent from the face of such disclosure to a
reader unfamiliar with the Company’s business that such disclosure is applicable to such other
section. Capitalized terms used in the Disclosure Schedules and not otherwise defined thercin
have the meanings given to them in this Agreement. The specification of any dollar amount or
the inclusion of any item in the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement or the
Disclosure Schedules attached hereto is not intended to imply that the amounts, or higher or
lower amounts, or the items so included, or other items, arc or are not required to be disclosed
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{including, without limitation, whether such amounts or items are required to be disclosed as
material or threatened) or arc within or outside of the ordinary course of business, and no party
shall use the fact of the setting of the amounts or the fact of the inclusion of any item in this
Apgreement or the Disclosure Schedules in any dispute or controversy between the parties as to
whether any obligation, item or matter not described or included in this Agreement or in any
Disclosure Schedule is or is not required to be disclosed (including, without limitation, whether
such amounts or items are required to be disclosed as material or threatened) or is within or
outside of the ordinary course of business for purposes of this Agreement. The information
contained in this Agreement and in the Disclosure Schedules hereto is disclosed solely for
purposes of this Agreement, and no information contained herein or therein shall be deemed to
be an admission by any party hereto to any third party of any matter whatsocver (including,
without limitation, any violation of law or breach of contract).

Section 9.9  Amendment and Waiver. Any provision of this Agreement or the
Disclosure Schedules hereto may be amended only in a writing signed by Buyer and the
Shareholders Representative. No waiver by any party of any provision of this Agreement or any
default, misrepresentation or breach hereunder, whether intentional or not, shall be valid unless
the same shall be in writing and signed by the party making such waiver, and no such waiver
shall extend to or affect in any way any other provision or prior or subsequent breach,
misrepresentation or default.

Section 9.10 Complete Agreement.  This Agreement, including the Disclosure
Schedules and Exhibits hereto, the Escrow Agreement and the other documents referred to herein
contain the complete agreement between the parties hercto and supersede any prior
understandings, agreements or representations by or between the parties, written or oral, which
may have related to the subject matter hereof in any way.

Section 9.11  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts
{including by means of telecopied or electronic (.pdf) signature pages), any one of which need
not contain the signatures of more than one party, but all such counterparts taken together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.

Section 9.12  Governing Law. All matters relating to the interpretation, construction,
validity and enforcement of this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance
with the domestic laws of the State of Florida without giving effect to any choice or conflict of
law provision or rule (whether of the State of Florida or any other jurisdiction) that would causc
the application of laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Florida.

Section 9.13  Consent to Jurisdiction and Service of Process. The parties to this
Agreement submit 1o the exclusive jurisdiction of the state courts located in Lee County in the
State of Florida, or the courts of the United States located in Lee County, Florida in respect of
the interpretation and enforcement of the provisions of this Agreement and any related
agreement, certificate or other document delivered in connection herewith and by this Agrecment
waive, and agree not to assert, any defense, in any action for the interpretation or enforcement of
this Agreement and any related agreement, certificate or other document delivered in connection
herewith, that they are not subject thereto or that such action may not be brought or is not
maintainable in such courts or that this Agreement may not be enforced in or by such courts or
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that their property is exempt or immune from execution, that the action is brought in an
inconvenient forum, or that the venue of the action is improper. Service of process with respect
thereto may be made upon any party by mailing a copy thereof by registered or certified mail,
postage prepaid, to such party at its address as provided in Section 9.5.

Section 9.14 Waiver of Jury Trial. Each party hercto hereby acknowledges and agrees
that any controversy which may arise under this Agreement is likely to involve complicated and
difficult issues, and therefore each such party hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives any
right such party may have to a trial by jury in respect of any litigation directly or indirectly
arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the Transaction. Each party certifies and
acknowledges that (i) no Representative, agent or attorney of any other party has represented,
cxpressly or otherwise, that such other party would not, in the event of litigation, seek to enforce
the foregoing waiver, (ii) such party understands and has considered the implications of this
waiver, (iii) such party makes this waiver voluntarily, and (iv) such party has been induced to
enter into this Agreement by, among other things, the mutual waivers and certifications in this
Section 9.14.

Section 9.15 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. No Person other than the parties hereto
shall have any rights, remedies, or benefits under any provision of this Agreement, other than
Section 7.2 and Section 7.3 (to the extent provided therein), and the directors and officers of the
Company solely with respect 1o _Section 5.7.

Section 9.16 Specific Performance. The parties hereto agree that, if any of the
provisions of this Agreement or any other document contemplated by this Agreement were not
performed in accordance with its specific terms or were otherwise breached, irreparable damage
would occur, no adequate remedy at law would exist and damages wouid be difficult to
determine, and, therefore, the parties shall be entitled to specific performance of the terms hereof
and thereof, in addition to any other remedy at law or in cquity.

Section 9.17  Representation of the Company and its Affiliates. Buyer acknowledges,
on its own behalf and on behalf of the Buyer Indemnitees, that the fact that K&L Gates LLP may
have represented the Company, the Shareholders and their respective Affiliates prior to Closing
shall not prevent K&L Gates LLP from representing the Shareholders and such Affiliates, or
their respective equityholders, officers, or managers, in connection with any matters involving,
including without limitation any disputes with, any of the parties to this Agreement after Closing
(a “Post-Closing Representation™. Buyer (on behalf of itself and its Affiliates) and the
Company hereby waive any claim they have or may have that K&I. Gates LLP has a conflict of
interest or is otherwise prohibited from engaging in a Post-Closing Representation and agree
that, in the event that a dispute arises after the Closing between a Buyer Indemnitee or the
Shareholders or one of their respective Affiliates in connection with any matters related to this
Agreement or the Transaction, K&L Gates LLP may represent the Shareholders or their
respective Affiliates in such dispute even though the interests of such Person(s) may be directly
adverse to Buyer or the Company and even though K&L Gates LLP may have represented the
Company in a matter substantially related to such dispute. Buyer represents that Buyer’s own
attorney has explained and helped Buyer evaluate the implications and risks of waiving the right
to assert a future conflict against K&L Gates LLP, and Buyer’s consent with respect to this
waiver is fully informed. Each of the parties hereby irrevocably acknowledges and agrees that
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all communications prior to the Closing between the Company, the Shareholders and their
respective Affiliates and their external legal counsel, including but not limited to K&L Gates
L.LLP, made in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution, delivery and performance
under, or any dispute or procceding arising out of or relating to, this Agrecment, any agreements
contemplated by this Agreement or the Transaction, or any matter relating 1o any of the
foregoing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, all of the client files and records in the
possession of K&L Gates LLP related to this Agreement and the Transaction), are privileged
communications between the Sharcholders and such counsel and thereby property of the
Sharcholders, and the attorney-client privilege and the expectation of client confidence belongs
to, and shall be controlled by, the Shareholders and will not pass 1o or be claimed by Buyer or
the Company, and from and afier the Closing neither the Company nor any other Person
purporting 1o act on behalf of or through the Company will seek to obtain such communications,
whether by seeking a waiver of the attorney-client privilege or through any other means. In
addition, Buyer and the Company agree that it would be impractical to remove all attormey-client
communications from the records (including e-mails and other electronic files) of the Company.
Accordingly, Buyer will not, and will cause each of its Affiliates, and the Company will not, use
any attomey-client communication remaining in the records of the Company after Closing in a
manner that may be adverse to the Sharcholders or any of their respective Affiliates.

Section 9.18 Conflict Between Transaction Documents. The parties hereto agree and
acknowledge that, to the extent any terms and provisions of this Agreement are in any way
inconsistent with or in conflict with any term, condition or provision of any other agreement,
document or instrument contemplated hereby, this Agreement shall govern and control.

Section 9.19 Buyer Deliveries. Buyer agrees and acknowledges that all documents or
other items delivered or made available to Buyer’s Representatives, and all documents or other
items made available to Buyer and its Representatives in the Company’s clectronic data room
shall be deemed to be delivered or made available, as the case may be, to Buyer for all purposes
hereunder.

Section .20 Interpretation.

(a)  All refercnces in this Agreement to Exhibits, disclosure schedules,
Articles, Sections, subsections and other subdivisions refer to the corresponding Exhibits,
disclosure schedules, Articles, Sections, subsections and other subdivisions of or to this
Agreement unless expressly provided otherwise. Titles appearing at the beginning of any
Articles, Sections, subsections or other subdivisions of this Agreement arc for convenience only,
do not constitute any part of this Agreement, and shall be disregarded in construing the language
hereof.

(b}  Exhibits and disclosure schedules to this Agreement are attached hercto
and incorporated herein by refercnce and made a part hereof for all purposes.

(c) The words “this Agreement,” “herein,” “hereby,” “hereunder” and
“hereof,” and words of similar import, refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any
particular subdivision unless expressly so limited. The words “this Article,” “this Section” and
“this subsection,” and words of similar import, refer only to the Article, Section or subsection
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hereof in which such words occur. The word “or” is exclusive, and the word “including” (in its
various forms) means “including without limitation.”

() Pronouns in masculine, feminine or neuter genders shall be construed to
state and include any other gender, and words, terms and titles (including terms defined herein)
in the singular form shall be construed to include the plural and vice versa, unless the context
otherwise recquires.

54
300580119 v26



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the partics hereto have executed this Agreement on
the date first written above.

COMPANY:
T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

By: b C L=_
Name: S eeven L. o

Its: C\m}f“q ol e r-?r&

BUYER:
SHIFTS TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
By:

Name:
Its:

COUIS ANY:
T3 ACQUISITION, INC.
By:

Name:
lis:

LDERS ATIVE:

m

Name: Stuart Conrad

Signature Page 10
Agreement and Plan of Merger



IN WITNESS WHEREOF. the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on
the date first written above,

COMPANY:
T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
By:

Name:
Its:

BUYER:

SHIFT8 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

)

Namé’{Af‘ MLI,- A, 5/"4; ?‘6’_
Its: CE@

ACQUISITION COMPANY:

T3 ACQUISITION, INC,

By:
Nafi€ Fprhy, £, Sm it

ts: fre s, b7

SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE:

Name: Stuart Conrad

Signature Page to
Agreement and Plan of Merger



ANNEX A
DEFINITIONS
“Acquisition Company” shall have the meaning set forth in the prcamble.

“Affiliate” of any particular Person means any other Person controlling,
controlled by or under common control with such particular Person. For the purposes of this
definition, “controlling,” “controlled” and “control” means the possession, directly or indirectly,
of the power to direct the management and policies of a Person whether through the ownership
of voting securities, contract or otherwise.

“Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble.

“Alternative Transaction™ means any, direct or indirect, acquisition or purchasc of
any part or all of the capital stock of the Company, or any part of, or all of, the assets owned by
the Company, or any merger, consolidation or business combination with the Company.

“Anti-Corruption Laws” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.24(a).

“Business” means the business of providing voice and data communications
services to business customers.

“Business Day” means a day other than Saturday, Sunday or any day on which
banks located m the State of Florida are authorized or obligated to close.

“Buyer” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble.

i

Buyer Fundamental Representations™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section
1.1(a).

“Buyer Indemnitees” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.2,

“Cap” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.4(a).

“Cash on Hand” means, with respect to the Company, all cash, all cash
cquivalents, all restricted cash, marketable securities and deposits with third parties (excluding
landlords) in each case determined in accordance with GAAP. For the avoidance of doubt, Cash
on Hand shall be calculated net of issued but uncleared checks, wire transfers and drafis and
shall include checks, wire transfers and drafts deposited or available for deposit for the account
of the Company.

“Claiming Party™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.6(a).

“Closing” shall have the meaning set forth in Sectipn 2. 1.
“Closing Balance Sheet” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(c).
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“Closing Minimum Cash™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4.

3

‘Closing Date™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Company” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble.

“Company Closing Expenses” means all of the Company’s and/or the
Shareholders’ expenses, fees or charges incurred in connection with the preparation, negotiation,
cxecution and delivery of this Agreement and the Escrow Agrecment and any document
contemplated herecby or thereby, including without limitation all attorneys’, accountants’,
consultants’, professionals’, investment bankers” and other advisors’ fees and expenses that have
not been paid in full in cash as of the Closing. Without limiting the foregoing, Company Closing
Expenses include (i) all expenses and payments incurred or made in connection with obtaining
consents or waivers from landlords, customers, vendors, Governmental Bodies or any other party
from whom a consent or waiver is required in connection with the Transaction, (ii) all transaction
or change in control bonuses paid by the Company as part of the Transaction, (ii1) the fees and
expenses of the Escrow Agent and the Payment Agent, and (iv) the costs of the
“discovery/runoff” or “tail” insurance policy described in Section 5.7(c).

13

Section 7.1(a).

“Company’s knowledge” shall have the meaning set forth in 0.

Company Fundamental Representations™ shall have the meaning set forth in

“Confidentiality Agreement” means that certain Confidentiality Agreement, dated
February 25, 2016, between Buyer and the Company.

“D&O Indemnified Person” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.7(a).

“Deductible” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.4(a).
“Defending Party” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.6(a).

“Dispute Resolution Firm” means Hom Solutions, provided it shall be
independent of the parties hereto at ail times during which it is engaged pursuant to this
Agreement.

“Dissenting Shares™ shall have the meaning set forth in 0.

“Distributable Net Purchase Price™ shall have the meaning set forth in Scction

“Due Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.10(a)(ii).

“Employment Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(k).
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“Environmental Laws” means all federal, state, local and foreign statutes,
regutations, ordinances and other provisions having the force or effect of law, and all judicial and
administrative orders and determinations that are binding upon the Company, concerning
pellution or protection of the environment, including without limitation all those relating to the,
generation, handling, transportation, trcatment, storage, disposal, distribution, labeling,
discharge, release, threatened release. control, or cleanup of any Hazardous Substances, as such
of the foregoing are promulgated and in effect on or prior to the Closing Date.

“ERISA™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.16(a).
“ERISA Affiliate” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.16(a).

“Escrow_Account” means the account cstablished by the Escrow Agent pursuant
to the terms of the Escrow Agreement.

“Escrow Agent” means Wilmington Trust, N.A., or its permitted successors and
assigns, in its capacity as escrow agent under the Escrow Agreement.

“Escrow Agreement” means the Escrow Agreement, in the form attached hercto
as Exhibit F, to be entered into among Buyer, the Sharcholders Representative and the Escrow
Agent.

“Escrow Amounts™ shall mean the sum of the Indemnity Escrow Amount and the
Working Capital Escrow Amount.

“Escrow Release Date™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.11.

“Estimated Company Closing Expenses” shall have the meaning set forth in

Section 2.5(a).
“Estimated Indebtedness” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a).

i

Estimated Net Working Capital” shall have the meaning set forth in Section

“Estimated Purchase Price” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.

“Excess Cash” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(b)
“FBCA" shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“FCPA” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.24(a).
“Financial Statements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.6.

“Fundamental Representations Expiration Date™ shall have the meaning set forth

in Section 7. 1(a).
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“GAAP" means United States gencrally accepted accounting principles as in
effect on the date hereof, consistently applied in the same manner used in preparing the
Company’s audited balance sheet and statements of operations and cash flows for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2015,

“General Representations Expiration Date™ shall have the meaning set forth in
Section 7.1(b).

“Governmenial Body™ means any federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other
government or quasi-governmental authority or any department, agency, commission, board,
subdivision, bureau, agency, instrumentality, court or other tribunal of any of the foregoing.

“Hazardous Substance™ means any flammable substances, radioactive materials,
asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls, lead, carcinogens, reproductive toxins, pollutants and
contaminants (including, raw materials, intermediate products, final products and wastes) that
may cause or pose or present a potential hazard to human health or safety or the environment
because of its toxicity, including petroleum and any fraction thereof and any chemical defined as
hazardous or toxic by any Environmental Laws, including any hazardous substance as defined in
the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act 42 U.S.C.
§ 9601, et seq.

“Income Tax” or “Income Taxes” means any Tax or Taxes impesed on or
measured in whole or in part by income.

“Income Tax Returns™ means all Tax Returns filed with respect to Income Taxes.

“Indebtedness™ means, with respect to the Company, without duplication, (i)
indebtedness for money borrowed, including credit card debt (including any prepayment
penalties, fees, premiums or expenses with respect thereto); (i) indebtedness evidenced by notes,
debentures, bonds or other similar instruments (including derivative financial instruments such as
foreign currency contracts and interest rate swaps, letters of credit and performance or surety
bonds), including the current portion of such indebtedness; (iii) all obligations under leases
required to be capitalized in accordance with GAAP other than amounts appearing on Schedule
2; (iv) all unpaid portions of installment purchases; (v) all unpaid Shareholder Taxes for the
calendar year 2016; (vi) any other liability commonly considered indebtedness under GAAP
(including any portion thereof required under GAAP to be recorded as a short-term
indebtedness); (vii) all obligations of the type referred to in clauses (i) through (vi) of any
Persons for the payment of which the Company is responsible or liable, directly or indirectly, as
obligor, guarantor, surety or otherwise, including guarantees of such obligations; and (viit) all
obligations of the type referred to in clauses (i) through (viii) secured by any Lien on any
property or asset of the Company (whether or not such obligation is assumed by the Company);
provided, long-term deferred Tax liabilities and real estate leases shall not be considered
Indebtedness. To avoid double counting, any item included in the determination of Net Working
Capital shall be deemed not to be included in Indebtedness for the purposes of Section 1.4.
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“Indemnitee” means a Buyer Indemnitee or Shareholder Indemnitee, as
applicable,

“Indemnity Escrow Account” means an account established by the Escrow Agent
pursuant to the Escrow Agreement for purposes of indemnification payments owing by the
Shareholders pursuant to Section 7.2.

“Indemmnity Escrow Amount” means $400,000 in cash deposited at the Closing in
the Indemnity Escrow Account with the Escrow Agent pursuant to the terms and conditions of
the Escrow Agreement.

“Intellectual Property™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.14(a).

“ITV” means ITVantage, Inc., a Florida corporation.

“Key Empioyees™ shall mean Josh Reel, Jennifer Crisp, Colin Anderson and
Loren Rosenthal.

“Latest Balance Sheet” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.6.

“Leased Real Property” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.9(b).

“Leases” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.9(b).

“Lien” means any lien, mortgape, security interest, pledge deposit, encumbrance,
deed of trust, claim, or other similar restriction.

“Loss(esY" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.2.
“Loss Shortfall” shall have the meaning sct forth in Section 7.10{b).

“Material _Adverse Effect” means any effect, change, development or
circumstance that, individually or in the aggregate, is materially adverse to the business, assets,
results of operations or financial condition of the Company, taken as a whole, but excluding (and
none of the following shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been a
Material Adverse Effect) any effect, change, development or circumstance resulting or arising
from (i) conditions affecting the industry in which the Company participates that are not unique
to the Company as compared to other industry participants, the U.S. economy as a whole or the
capital markets in general or the markets in which the Company operates (except to the extent
such change, effect, event, occurrence, state of facts or development disproportionately affects
(relative to other participants in the industry in which the Company operates) the Company),
(ii) the exccution of this Agreement or the announcement or pendency of the Transaction, (1ii)
changes in laws, rules, regulations, orders or other binding directives issued by any
Governmental Body that are not specific to the business or markets in which the Company
operates, (iv) changes in GAAP, (v) national or international political or social conditions,
including any act of terrorism, declaration of war or other global unrest or international
hostilities, except to the extent such events result in direct loss or damage to the tangible assets of
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the Company, (vi) any failure (in and of itself) by the Company to meet financial forecasts,
projections or estimates (it being understood that the facts or circumstances giving rise to such
failure may be taken into account in determining whether an Material Adverse Effect has
occurred); (vii) compliance with the terms of, or the taking of any action contemplated by, this
Agreement or any related action, (viii) the identity of Buyer or (ix) the taking of any action by, or
requested by, Buyer,

“Material Contracts” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.13(b).
“Merger” shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“Net Working Capital” means, as of the Closing Date, the difference, after giving
effect to appropriate reserves, between (a) the sum of the amounts shown in the line items from
the Company’s consolidated balance sheets under “Current Asseis” including any cash
remaining with the Company at Closing, but excluding prepaid expenses with respect to
Company Closing Expenses; and (b) the sum of the amounts shown 1n the line items from the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets under “Current Liabilities” (and specifically including,
whether or not typically included in the Company’s balance sheet, accrued income tax payable
for the period between January 1, 2016 and the Closing after giving effect to the tax benefits that
may accrue from any Company Closing Expenses) but excluding (i) Indebtedness and (ii) the
amounts used in calculating the Company Closing Expenses. The determination of Net Working
Capital shall be in accordance with GAAP applicd on a basis consistent with the methodologies,
practices, estimation techniques, assumptions and principles used in the preparation of the
Financial Statements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) Current Liabilities shall include all
employment Taxes payable by the Company with respect to the payment of any Company
Closing Expenses, and (ii) the calculation of “Net Working Capital” shall not include any asscts
or liabilities that are attributable to (A) current and deferred Tax items or (B) the use {or
cxpected use of) any Tax attributes or Tax credits in a post-Closing Tax period {or portion of any
Straddle Period beginning on the Closing Date). A sample calculation of Net Working Capital is
attached, for purposes of illustration only, as Exhibit 1.

“Non-Compete and Confidentiality Agreement” is referred to in Section 2.2(g).

“Objections Statements™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(c).

“Qutside Date™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8. 1(d)(iii).

“Payment Agent” means Wilmington Trust, N.A_, or its permitted successors and
assigns, in its capacity as payment agent under the Payment Agent Agreement.

L

‘Payment Agent Agreement” means the Payment Agent Agreement, in the form
reasonably agreed to by the Buyer, the Shareholders Representative and the Company.

“Pension Plans™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.16(a).

“Percentage Interest™ means the proportion of the Shares and shares of Commeon
Stock underlying T3 Options held by the applicable Shareholder to the total number of Shares
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and sharcs of Common Stock underlying T3 Options held by all Shareholders as of the Closing
as is set forth on Schedule 1.

“Permitted Liens” means (i) statutory Liens for curremt Taxes or other
governmental charges not yet due and payable or the amount or validity of which is being
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings by the Company, (i1) landiords’, mechanics’,
carriers’, workers', repairers’ and similar statutory Liens arising or incurred in the ordinary
course of business for amounts which are not delinquent, (iii) zoning, entitlement, building and
other land use regulations imposed by Governmental Bodies having jurisdiction over the Leased
Real Property which are not violated by the current use and operation of the Leased Real
Property, (iv) covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements and other similar matters of record
affecting title to the Leased Real Property which do not materially impair the occupancy or use
of the Leased Real Property for the purposes for which they are currently used or proposed to be
used in connection with the Company’s businesses, (v) public roads and highways, (vi) matters
which would be disclosed by an inspection or accurate survey of each parcel of Leased Real
Property, (vii) Liens arising under worker’s compensation, unemployment insurance, social
secunty, retirement and similar legislation, (viii) purchase money liens and Liens securing rental
payments under capital lease arrangements, (ix) other Liens arising in the ordinary course of
business and not incurred in connection with the borrowing of money, (x) Liens, the cxistence of
which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (xi) those matters
identified on Schedule A, and (xii) Licns created by any act of Buyer.

“Person’” means an individual, a partnership, a corporation, a limited liability
company, an association, a joint stock company, a trust, a joint venture, an unincorporated
organization and a Governmental Body.

“Plans™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.16(a).
“Post-Closing Representation™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.17.

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period commencing prior to and
ending on or before the Closing Date.

“Preliminary Closing Statement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section
2.5(c).

“Pro Rata Share™ means, with respect to each Sharcholder, the percentage of the
Distributable Net Purchase Price directly across from such Shareholder’s name on Schedule 1.

“Purchase Price” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4.

“Qualified Plan” shall have the meaning set forth in Scction 3.16(e).

“Relocation” shall have the meaning set forth in Schedule 3.

“Remainder Cash™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(d).

Annex A-7
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“Representative(s)” of a Person, means the directors, officers, employees,
advisors, agents, consultants, attorneys, accountants, investment bankers or other representatives
of such Person,

“Requisite Shareholders” means the holders of a majority of the Shares.

“Schedule Supplement" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.4

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“Shareholder Indemmitees™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.3,

“Shareholder Taxes” means any and all (a) Taxes imposed on Company or with
respect to any of its assets for any Pre-Closing Tax Pertod, (b) Straddle Period Shareholder
Taxes, (c) Taxes of any member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined, or unitary group of
which Company (or any predecessor) is or was a member on or prior to the Closing Date,
including pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or any analogous or similar state,
local, or foreign law), (d) Taxes of any Person (other than Company, Buyer or any Affiliates of
Buyer) imposed on Company as a transferec or successor, by contract, or pursuant to any law,
rule or regulation, that relate to an event or transaction occurring before the Closing, and (¢) any
Taxes imposed on the Shareholders or any Affiliates of the Shareholders for any taxable period;
provided, however, that the term “Shareholder Taxes” shall not include any accruals for Taxes
that are taken into account for purposes of determining Net Working Capital.

“Shareholders” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.5(c).

“Shareholders Meeting” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(b).
“‘Sharcholders Representative” shall have the meaning set forth in the preambie.
*‘Shares” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.5(a).

“Stock Plan” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.5(b).

“Straddle Period” means any taxable period that includes (but does not end on)
the Closing Date.

“Straddle Period Shareholder Taxes” means the portion of any Taxes imposed on
Company, or for which Company may otherwise be liable or obligated to pay with respect to a
Straddle Period that is allocable to the portion of the Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date
as follows: (a) in the case of Taxes that are either (i) based upon or related to income, gains,
receipts, or gross margins, or (ii} imposed on a non-periodic basis, the amount of such Taxes that
would be payable pursuant to a closing of the books if the applicable taxable year cnded on and
included the Closing Date; and (b) in the case of Taxes not described above in clause (a), the
amount of such Taxes for the entire Straddle Period multiplied by a fraction the numerator of
which is the number of calendar days in the Straddle Period ending on and including the Closing
Date and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in the entire Straddle Period;
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provided, however, that, (A) for purposes of clause (a) above, exemptions, allowances or
deductions that are calculated on an annual basis (including depreciation and amortization
deductions) shall be apportioned between the portion of the Straddle Period ending on the
Closing Date and the portion of the Straddle Period after the Closing Date in proportion to the
number of days in each such portion, and (B) any credits relating to a Straddle Period shall be
allocated to the portion of the Straddic Period ending on the Closing Date in the same manner as
the Taxes to which such credits relate.

“Surrendered Stock™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(1).

“T3 Options™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.5(b).

“Target Net Working Capital” means $235,000.

“Tax™ or “Taxes” means any federal, state, local or foreign income, gross receipts,
capital stock, franchise, profits, withholding, social security, payroll, employment,
unemployment, disability, real property, ad valorem/personal property, stamp, excise,
occupation, sales, use, transfer, value added, alternative minimum, estimated windfall profits,
customs, duties or other taxes, fees, assessments or chargers of any kind whatsoever, whether
computed on a separate, consolidated, unitary, or combined basis, or in any other manner,
together with any interest, additions or penalties with respect thereto and any interest in respect
of such additions or penalties, whether or not disputed, and including any obligation to
indemnify or otherwise assume, succeed 10, or be responsible for the liability for Taxes of any
other Person. '

“Tax Benefit™ shall have the meaning set forth in 0.

“Tax Objection Notice” shall have the meaning set forth in Scction 5.10(a)it).

“Tax Returns” means any return, report, declaration, claim for refund, information
return or other document (including schedules or any related or supporting information) filed or
required to be filed with any Governmental Body or other authority in connection with the
determination, assessment or collection of any Tax or the administraticn of any laws, regulations
or administrative requirements relating to any Tax.

“Third-Party Claim™ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.6{a).

“Transaction” means, collectively, the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.

“Transaction Documents” means this Agreement, the Escrow Agreement,
Payment Agent Agreement, the Non-Compete and Confidentiality Agreements, Transmittal
Letters and any other agrecments that may be necessary to consummate the Transaction, in cach
case including all exhibits and schedules thereto and all amendments thereto made in accordance
with the respective terms thereof,

“Transmittal Letter” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(a).
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“Treasury Regulations” means the regulations promulgated by the United States
Treasury Department under the Code.

“Welfare Plan” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.16(a).

“Working Capital Escrow Account” means an account established by the Escrow
Agent pursuant to the Escrow Agreement.

“Working Capital Escrow Amount” means an amount deposited at the Closing in
the Working Capital Escrow Account with the Escrow Agent pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the Escrow Agreement, which shall be $50,000.

Annex A-10

300580119 v26



300580119 v21
300580119 v26

SCHEDULES

[See attached]
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DISCLOSURE SCHEDULES
to

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

by and among

Shift8 Technologies, Inc., as Buyer,

T3 Acquisition, Inc., as Acquisition Company,

and

T3 Communications, Inc., as Company

Dated as of May §, 2017
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DISCLOSURE SCHEDULES

The information contained in these Disclosure Schedules provides exceplions to or otherwise
qualifies the representations, warranties and covenants of T3 Communications, Inc., a Florida
Company (“Company™) contained in that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of
May 8, 2017 (as amended or modified in accordance with its terms, the “Agreement™), by and
between Company, Shifi8 Technologies, Inc., a Nevada corpeoration (“Buyer”) and T3
Acquisition, Inc. , a Florida corporation and subsidiary of Buyer (“Acquisition Company”).
Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them
in the Agreement,

These Disclosure Schedules shall be construed with and as an integral part of the Agreement to
the same extent ag if the same had been set forth verbatim thercin, The specific disclosures set
forth in these Disclosure Schedules have been organized to correspond to the section references
in the Agreement to which the disclosure may be most likely to relate, logether with appropriate
cross references when disclosure is  applicable to  other sections of the
Agreement; provided, however, that any fact or item disclosed in any Schedule of these
Disclosure Schedules shall be deemed to be disclosed with respect to another Schedule whether
or not a specific cross-reference thereto appears, to the extent that it is reasonably apparent on its
face that the disclosure of such matier is applicable to such Schedule of the Disclosure
Schedules, including in cases where the corresponding section or subsection of these Disclosure
Schedules includes the phrase “No disclosure”. Inclusion of information in these Disclosure
Schedules will not be construed as an admission that such information is material to the
operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Company or of the Business or that such
information is required to be referred to or disclosed in accordance with the Agreement. The
Disclosure Schedules are qualified in their entirety by reference to the provisions of the
Agreement and are not infended to constitute, and shall not be construed as constituting,
representations and warrantics of Company except as and to the extent expressly provided in the
Apgreement, and shall not be deemed to expand the scope or effect of any representations or
warranties in the Agreement. No disclosure of any matter in these Disclosure Schedules relating
to any possible noncompliance, breach or violation of any Law, or of any contract, license, or
similar document or instrumnent, shall be construed as an agreement or acknowledgment that any
such noncompliance, breach or violation exists or has actually occurred, and nothing in these
Disclosure Schedules shall constitute an admission of any liability or obligation of Company or
any of its Affiliates to any Person or shall confer or give 1o any Person any remedy, claim,
reimbursement, cause of action or other right against Company or any of its Affiliates. Matters
disclosed in these Disclosure Schedules are not necessarily limited to matters required to be
disclosed by the Agreement. Such additional matters are disclosed for informational purposes
and do not necessarily include other matters of a similar nature. For the avoidance of doubt, the
phrase “No disclosure™ used herein shall in no way limit or affect the application of the
foregoing in these Disclosure Schedules.

The headings contained in these Disclosure Schedules are for reference purposes only and shall

not in any way affect the meaning or interpretation of the information and disclosures contained
mn these Disclosure Schedules.
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Where only brief particulars of a matter are sct out or referred to in the Disclosurc Schedules or a
reference is made only to a particular part of a disclosed document, full particulars of the matter
and the full contents of the document are deemed to be disclosed to the extent such brief
particular of such matter or reference to a particular part of a disclosed document has been
disclosed in a manner that it would reasonably be apparent that the omitted information with
respect to such matters should be incorporated therein.

Any descriptions of contracts, license, or similar documents or instruments, or reports or other
documents, set forth in these Disclosure Schedules are summaries only and are qualified in their
entirety by the specific terms of such contracts, licenses, or similar documents or instruments, or
reports or other documents.

The specification of any dollar amount in the representations or warranties contained in the
Agreement or the inclusion of any specific item in any Disclosure Schedule is not intended to
imply that such amounts, or higher or lower amounts or the items so included or other items, are
or are not material, and no party shall use the fact of the setting of such amounts or the inclusion
of any such item in any dispute or controversy as to whether any obligation items or matter not
described herein or included in a Disclosure Schedule is or is not material for purposes of the
Agreement.

In disclosing the information contained in these Disclosure Schedules, Shareholders and
Company expressly do not waive any attorney-client or other privileges associated with such
information or any protection afforded by the work-product doctrine with respect to any of the
matters disclosed herein.

The attachments to these Disclosure Schedules form an integral part of these Disclosure
Schedules and are incorporated by reference for all purposes as if set forth fully herein.
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Schedule 1
T3 SHAREHOLDERS, SHARES AND OPTIONS HELD, PERCENTAGE INTERESTS,
DISTRIBUTABLE NET PURCHASE PRICE & PRO RATA SHARE OF
DISTRIBUTABLE NET PURCHASE PRICE

See Attached
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Schedule 2

EQUIPMENT LEASES ASSUMED BY BUYER

{As of date of Mcrger Agreement)

1. Royal Bank America Leasing Schedule #6

Equipment :

Lease Amt:
Start Date:
End Date:
Monthly Pmt:
Interest Rate:
4/30/17 Bal:

Amortization:

a) 10 APC Model AR 3100 Cabinets
b) 20 AP 7930 PDUs
¢) | Juniper Router Model 1-MX480 Premium-AC

$45,475.00
5/15/15

4/15/18

S 141481
7.512%
516,306.46

See Schedule 2(a)

2. Royal Bank America Leasing Schedule #7

300757723 v1

Equipment ; .

Lease Amt:
Start Date:
End Datc:
Monthly Pmt:

Interest Rate:
4/30/17 Bal:

Amortization:

a) 1 Juniper MX240 Base-DC
b) 1 DPCE-R-20GE-2XGE

$19,375.00
8/15/15

7/15/18

$ 1,414.81
7.536%
$8.606.43

See Schedule 2(b)
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Schedule 2.4(b)
ESTIMATED INDEBTEDNESS TO BE PAID OFF AT CLOSING

(As of 4/30/17, with the final balance te be updated prior to Closing)

1. American Express Corporate Credit Card

300757723 v1

4/30/17 Balance — $22,460.40



Schedule 2.4(c)
ESTIMATED COMPANY CLOSING EXPENSES

(As of date of Merger Agreement, with the final balance to be updated prior to Closing)

Description

Payee Amount

1. Josh Reel $224.000
2. Steven C. Jones % 65,000
3. Randy Henderson $ 45,000
4, Stuart Conrad $ 45,000
5. Tad Yeatter $ 45,000
6. IX Advisors (Vik Grover) $ 38,500
7. K&L Gates $ 35,000
8. Aspen Capital Advisors, LLC § 30,000
9. Stuart Conrad $ 7,500
10. All others g 50,000

Total $575,000

300757723 v1

Retention Pmt & Warrant Make-Whole Pmt
Board change of control payment

Board change of control payment

Board changé of control payment

Board change of control payment

Finders’ fee agreement (1%)

Transaction legal expenses

Transaction consulting fees

Shareholders Representative fec

Estimate for Escrow Agent fees, etc.



Schedule 3
RELOCATION

“Relocation” means, to the extent that it occurs, and subject to Section 5.2, the relocation, 1o
occur prior to the Closing unless otherwise agreed by the parties, of the Company’s operations
currently located at 2401 First Street, Suite 300, Fort Myers, Florida 33901 to a location to be
identified by the Company after the date of this Agreement, which location shall be reasonably
acceptable to Buyer (the “New Property™). The term “Relocation” shall include all actions
reasonably necessary to effect the transfer of the Company’s operations as described in the
immediately preceding sentence, including, but not limited to:

e the entering into by the Company of a lease, at a location and on terms reasonably
acceptable to Buyer, for the New Property;

o the incurrence of up to $250,000 {or such other amount as may be agreed to by Buyer) of
Indebtedness solely for the purpose of effecting the Relocation; and

¢ the making of capital expenditures or commitments therefor in an amount not in excess of

$250,000 (or such other amount as may be agreed to by Buyer) solely for the purposes of
effecting the Relocation.

300757723 v1



Schedule 3.4(b)
AUTHORIZATIONS, CONSENTS, APPROVALS, EXEMPTIONS OR OTHER
ACTIONS REQUIRED.

1. First Florida Integrity Bank (“FFIB™) — T3 Communications Services Agmt, dated 5/13/15
The Company is a party to a three (3) year Renewal Service Order with FFIB, dated 5/13/15,
in which FFIB inserted a provision (paragraph 22) into the Standard Terms and Conditions
that give FFIB the right to terminate the agreement upon a change of control. The specific
language states:

“Upon written notice to T3, Customer shall have the right to terminate this Agreement
upon a completion of a merger, consolidation or reorganization in a transaction in which T3
15 not the surviving entity or T3 sells its assets or experiences a transfer to any person or
group of 51% or more of its outstanding equity interest.”

The FFIB Agreement expires 6/25/2018 and currently bills approximately $14,295/month.

2. Federal Communications Commission (FCC) consent.

3. Florida Public Uttlities Commission consent

300757723 v1



Schedule 3.6
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company, excluding ITV, as of December
31, 2016 (the “Latest Balance Sheet”) and the related consolidated statements of
operations and cash flows for the twelve (12)-month period then ended.

See attached Schedule 3.6(a)

2. The unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company, excluding ITV, as of March
31, 2017 and the related consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for the
three (3)-month period then ended.

See attached Schedule 3.6(b) (preliminary — subject to revision)

3. The unaudited consolidated balance sheet and related consolidated statements of
operations and cash flows of the Company as of and for the fiscal years ended December
31, 2015 and 2014, in cach case excluding ITV.

See attached Schedule 3.6(c)(i) for 2015 and 3.6(c)(ii) for 2014

4. The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the fiscal
years ¢nded December 31, 2015 and 2014, in cach case including ITV.

See attached Schedule 3.6(d)

10
300757723 v1



Accrual Basis

Schedule 3.6(a)

T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit Loss

January through December 2016

COrdinary Income/Expense

Income
Broadband
Fiber
Integrated Voice & Data
PRI
Data-Only
XDSL
ADSL
Wireless RC
ISP Services - NeaTech
QOther Products & Services
HSE
Network Access Fees
XDSL Circuits
XDSL - IAD
Total XDSL Circuits
WiMax
Wireless PTP
Total WiMax
Totai Broadband
Hosted PBX
Meta - Hosted PBX
Hosted PBX - Transport
Meta - Rental
Total Hosted PBX
Long Distance & Usage
Colocation
TDM Voice
CABS Billing
Other Revenue
Meta - Hosled Install
Wireless NRC
Circuit Installation
Telephone & Equipment
Telephone Systems
T1-1AD
Other Equipment

Total Telephone & Equipment

Billable Labor
Other NRC
Earfy Termination Penalty
Total Other Revenue
Total Income
Cost of Goods Sold
Customer COG

1,307,850.79
58041847
372,962.58
50,361.14
99,581.60
0.00
127.626.96
1,651.20
147,707.27
600.00
95,405.81

0.00
0.00

2,095.00
2,095.00

2,786,380.82

713,238.81
458,289.29
148,281.84

1,319,810.84

240,968.93
217,835.68
113,297.70
350,688.60

§2,695.16
0.00
37,168.63

18,489.18
0.00
7,537.83

26,027.01

30,447.07
24,938.96
9,936.78

190,214.61
5,219,177.28

Page 10f 10



501 PM
05102117
Accrual Basis

Schedule 3.6(a)
T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit Loss

January through Decemgﬂszl%%l_

Loop & Trans

HSE

Loop & Transport
Voice Gateway
Fiber

Wireless Transport

High Capacity Loops- TV/PRI

SHDSL Loops

Transport

Off-Net Circuits
Total Loop & Transport
Resale Circuits & Services
UNE-P Connaectivity
Usage COG

Long Distance & Features

MOUTermination/CABS
Total Usage COG
Total Customer COG
Network Costs
Wireloss Tower Rant
Data Wholesala Charges
inter-Office Circuits
Signaling Circuits/LD Trunks
Sprint Colocation Rentat
Total Network Costs
Non-Recurring COG
Fiber Install
Circuit Installation Charges

1,465,9490.85

168,040.33
1,748,828 .91

Colocation Augment Fee/Expenses

Total Non-Recurring COG
Telephone & Equipment
CPE
Other Equipment
Outsourced Contractor
Telephone Systems
Total Telephone & Equipment
Operating Expenses
Englineering
Salaries & Benefits
Salaries- Bonus
Salaries- Base

Salaries- Overtime

83,083.23

S —
53,082.03

Salaries- Health Insurance

Salaties-Ins Den/VIs/LT/ST/LIFE

Salaries- Payroll Taxes
Total Salaries & Benafits

351,404.01

1.000.00
537.12

126,472.60
633,165.56
12,040.00
528,150.1
22,280.58
126,027.57
17,813,583

22,074.92
91,226.69

110,702.24
§7,338.09

30,510.87
13.415.64
168,304.08
38,970.28
90,211,60
34141248

12,275.00
66,933.23
3,885.00

30,279.01
399.71
558.00

21,845.31

1,000.00
302,241.18
4,689.88
16.805.16
1,628.46
25.038.32

Page 2 of 10



5:01 PM
05102117
Accrual Basis

Expense

Schedule 3.6(a)
T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit Loss
January through Decemgg{szl%‘lgl'

Office Expanseas
Miscallaneous
Maintenance Contracts
Consulting
Contracted Labor
Licenses & Permits
Office Supplies
Postage, Freight and Delivery
Telaphone
Cellular phone
Total Telephone
Tools & Supplies
Office Expenses - Other
Total Office Expenses
Travel & Entertainment
Traval- Auto Rent/Tolls/Parking
Travel- Meals
Travel- Personal Mileage

Total Travel & Entertainment

Total Engineering
Total Operating Expenses
Total COGS

Gross Profit

Selling Expenses
Salaries & Benefits - Sales

Baso Salaries

Bonus

Commissions

Payroll Taxes-Sales

Health Insurance

Insurance- Den/Vis/LT/STiLife

Total Salaries & Benefits - Sales
Advertising, S&Mkting-Corp

Office Supplies

Training & Development
Agent Commissions
Direct Marketing

Event Sponsorship
Membership Dues
Out-Sourced Marketing
Print Ads

Printing and Reproduction
Trade Shows

Advertising, S&Mkting-Corp - Other

Total Advertising, S&Mkting-Corp

1,643.15
101,037.36
1,627.50
4,733.14
55,419.93
778.98
3,285.69

4,130.20
4,130.20
30,960.72
1,248.00

T 20087367

5,540.53
43153
122179
7,193.85
563,471.53
563,471.53
2.789,888.18
2,426,289.10

112,655.63
250,00
18,266.90
8.958.16
3.821.15
930.11

= 142,.88195

1,183.41
1.430.06
£2,998.91
998.94
30,919.96
2,818.00
1,030.18
3,468.83
3,114 85
2.629.00
67.80
100,660.94

Page 3 of 10




501 PM Schedule 3.6(a)
os/0217 . .
Accrual Basis T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit Loss
January through Decamgﬂsz%ﬁl_

Telephene - Cell Phone 2,088.62
Travel & Entertainmant
Travel-AUTO 1,131.00
Meals 2,084.08
Mileage Reimbursement 916.06
Total Travel & Entertainment ——4-.1-31—.1T
Total Seling Expenses 71,?25;
Corporate GRA
Salaries & Benefits
Insurance- Dan/Vis/LTD/STD/LIFE 211581
Executive 371,608.52
Customer Care 172,917.28
Overtime 275813
Benus 28,750.00
Payroll Taxes 43451.94
Insurance- Health 27,041.63
Workers Comp 6,235.07
Payroll Administration 2,285.00
Total Salarles & Benefits B57,173.38
Insurance - General
Directors & Officers 7.101.69
Insurance- Property 10,659.35
Liability Insurance 14,983.74
Total Insurance - General 32,744.78
Office Rent
2401 1st. Street 60,114.84
Interlm Corporate Space 36,304.80
Other Rent 5,193.70
Total Office Rent 101613.34
Office Expense
Contracted Labor 100.00
Charitable Donations 10,665.78
Bank Service Charges 54 870.32
Equipment Rental 351567
Fees 9,509.65
Licenses and Permits 6,007 .46
Office Supplies 7516.33
Postage, Fraight and Delivery 743.33
Recruiting 731.03
Repairs and Maintenance
Equipment Repairs/Maintenance 221948
Janitorlal Exp 4,558.84
Repairs and Maintenance - Other 1,744.42
Total Repairs and Maintenance m
Utllities
Electric 4427775

Page 4 of 10



5:01 PM
05/0217
Accrual Basis

Schedule 3.6(a)
T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit Loss

January through December 2046

Total Lhilities
Office Expense - Other
Tota| Office Expense
Professional Fees
Billing System Fees
Accounting
Answering Service
Board Meetings
Consulting
Legal Fees
Total Professional Fees
Taxes
Corp Income Tax - State
Corp Income Tax - Federal
Local
Property
State Sales/Use
Taxes - Other
Total Taxes
Telephone
Cellular Phone
Total Telephone
Travel & Ent-Corp
Travel-Auto/PArking/Rentals
Travel-Hotel
Meals & Entertainment
Entertainment
Meals
Total Meals & Entertainment
Mileage
Total Travel & Ent-Corp
Bad Debt
N.O.C. Expenses
Tools & Supplies
Total N.O.C. Expenses
Regutatory & N'W Admin Fees
Relocation
Corporate G&A - Other

Total Corporate G&A

Total Expense

Nat Ordinary Income

Other Income/Expense

Other Income

Interast Income

Other Income

4427775
5,827.61
152,287.77

3717573
24,000.00
4,242.94
100,000.00
4,4685.00
120,000.00
289,883.67

20,610.00
163,594.00
255.05
21,600.00
5,850.96
201.72

T 2za2073

6,615.13
6.615.13

2,400.00
752.61

12,150.60
4,810.26
16.960.86
631.45
20,744 92

240,658.00

0.00
0.00
9,088.20
3,200.00
0.00

1,726,129.92

—————

1,977,902.57
451,386.53

0.00
7,959.45

Page 5 of 10



5:01 PM Schedule 3.6(a)
05102117 o
Accrual Basis T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit Loss
January through Decemlggfszi%ﬁl_

Tolal Other Income 7.959.45
Other Expense
Gain/Loss on Sale of Assets 142,199.76
Interest Expense
Lease Interest 3,266.86
Non-Cash D.00
Notes Payable 13,708.36
Other 1.231.41
Total interest Expense 18,226.63
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation - Rental Phones 41,807.36
Software 12,058.17
Capital Leases 17,552.44
Dapreciation-Fiber 4,896.96
Depreciation - Wireless 395.24
N/W Equipment 111,518.76
Customer Premise Equipment 45,416.19
Amortization 13,022.19
Office Equipment & Software 5,447.40
Furniture & Fixtures 10,842.10
Leasehold Improvements 11,352.72
Total Depreclation and Amortization 274,309.53
Total Other Expense 434,73592
Net Other income 426,776 .47
Net Income 24,610.06

Page 6 of 10



5:04 PM
05102117
Accrual Basis

ASSETS
Current Assets
Checking/Savings

Schedule 3.6(a)
T3 Communications, Inc.

Balance Sheet

As of December 31|532c031:616

INTRON - FL Gulf Bank 4,912.84
Bank Accounts
Encore - Merchant AMEX {2191) 53,042.28
Encore - Merchant V/MC (2183) 8,5678.57
Encore - Qperating (2175} -2,822.00
Finemark Operating 49,175.71
Southwest Capital Bank - Oper 628,891.04
Checking - T3 - FL Gulf Bk 89,842.47
Merchant Acct. - FL Gulf Bank 98,556.88
Total Bank Accounts m
Petty Cash 4,271.54
Total Checking/Savings —m
Accounts Receivable
Acccunts Receivable 232,497.89
Total Accounts Receivable m
QOther Current Assets
Due from ITVantage 0.00
OmniOSS AIR 440,21591
Allowance for Bad Debt -395,605.62
Inventory for Resale 7,899.44
Other Accounts Receivable
Employee Advances 1.611.29
Other Accounts Receivable - Other 52,081.00
Total Other Accounts Receivable 53,692.29
Pre-Paids
Prepaid Expenses 41.487.01
Prepaid Insurance 12,298.91
Total Pre-Paids -53-7'5?5
Total Other Current Assets 158,987.94
Total Current Assets 1,327,935.16
Fixed Assets
Fixad Assets
Accum Deprec - Rental Phones -215,481.37
Rented Phones 274,415.35
Accum Deprec - Capital Leases -1,894,209.93
Accum Deprec - Wireless Equipm -234 852.13
Wireless Equpiment 235,191.25
Network Equipment & Software 1,752,461.67
Capital Leases 1,952,832.28
Accum Deprec - NW Equip & S/W -1,430,630.35
Software 94,116.25
Accum Deprec- Software -72,632.88

Page 7 of 10




5:.04 PM
0510217

Schedule 3.6(a)

Accrual Basis T3 Communications, Inc.

Customer Premise Equipment
Accum Deprec - CPE
Office Equipment
Accum Deprec - Office Equip
Furniture & Fixtures
Accum Deprec Furn/Fix
Leasehold Improvements
Accum Deprec Leaseholds
Fiber
Accumulated Deprec - Fiber
Total Fixed Assels
Total Fixed Assets
Other Assets
Investement in ITVantage
Stock Options Amortization
Stock Options Award
Deferred Tax Asset
Other Assets
Accumulated Amortization - Cust
Loan Crigination Fee
CLEC Development
Accumulated Amortization
Deposits/Prapaids
Intangible Assets - Caviair
Total Other Assats
Total Other Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabllities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable
Accounts Payable
Total Accounts Payable
Credit Cards
AMEX - GM
Total Credit Cards
Other Current Liabilities
Promissory Notes - Short Term
Deferred Liability - Stock Opti
Un-earned Income-Cust PrePmts
United Way Contributions
Accrued Expenses
Accrued Commissions
Accrued PTO and Incentives

Balance Sheet

As of December 31|j32‘_'1‘.)3‘l1§16

449,205.18
-346,555 .55
100,167.15
-82,801.08
11481175
-66.526.73
186,159.53
-84,888.11
100,448.26
-83,655.97
748,574.58

748,574.58

0.00
-355.67
2,689.00
81,261.00

-53,915.13
15,194.78
13,362.75
-41,579.756
62,580.69
189,056.74

184,700.08

268,284.41
2,345,794.16

474,465 63

474,465.63

15,367.09
15,367.09

0.00
3,000.01
91,044.84
-1,764.00

1.234.12
13,438.59
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5:04 PM Schedule 3.6(a)

05/02117

Accrual Basis T3 Communications, lnc.

Balance Sheet
As of December 315‘!2016

Accrued Accounting Fees
Accrued Payrell
Accrued Legal Fees
Accrued Other
Accruad Property Taxes
Total Accrued Exponses
Capital Lease Current Portfon
Othar Accounts Payable
Regulatory Fees, Taxes Payable
FCC Regulatory Fee
Statutery Gross Receipts
Excise Tax
Sales Tax Payable
ES1t Surcharge
Florida TASA Payable
Federal USF Payable
Total Regulatory Fees, Taxes Payable
Other Accounts Payable - Other
Total Other Accounts Payable
Un-earned Income
Total Other Current Liabilities
Totai Current Liabilities
Long Term Liabilities
Deferred Tax Liability
Promissory Note
Capital LeaseLT
Capital Lease- Interest Amort,
CapHal Lease-Gross
Total Capital Lease-LT
Total Long Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Equity
Common Stock
Additlonal Paid-in-Capltal
Retained Earnings
Net Income

Total Equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY

c 31, 16

- 14,733.50
0.00
13,560.05
-19,000.00
-2,629.28
21,336.98
24,213.72

-8,577.15
-20.79
807.66
238.53
0.01

20.79
B.623.94
4,092.99
513.40

4 606.39
132,050.72
274,488 66
764,321.38

240,897.00
0.00

-1,849.51
0.880.22
8,030.71

248,927.71
1,013.249.09

5,275.57
3,781.902.21
-2,479,242.77
24 610.06

1,332,545.07
2,345,794.16



Schedule 3.6(a)
T3 Communications, Inc.

Cash Flow Statement
January through December 2016
Preliminary Draft - Subject to Adjustment

et T e e e T St

i " Dec 31, 16

|
3 |opPERaTING ACTIVITIES l i
H iNtitlnt:l::ume . -255,793.03!
. . i

-
3

A

‘Adjustme nis to reconcile Met Income

Ilo net cash provlded by operatlons i

% (Othar Accounls Recewable Employee Advancas ' 583.38;

L - . .
Due from ITVantag- L ! -1?9,‘_]00.1(:_‘-

o

; |leed Assots.Accum Daprec N!WEquip&SM 9,071.30.
g ‘leedAssals.Accum Deprec Furn/Fix o . 1,281.76-
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H
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-

- l
' vg ined Assots Accum Deprec Loaseholds - o L o 94606

——
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‘Accounts Payable o, 228 65564

f

1

1

e £
*Promissory Notes - Short Tarm _ _ i 470,000.00
i J ] j12 053,32

_—.«u—:’ ¢ ———— i

N o -726 00
Accrued Expenses.Accruad Commlssions ‘ 1 234 12

Accrued Expenses iAccrued PTC and Incemives ] : -13 875 99
{Othar Accounts Payable:Regulatory Fees, Taxes Payable FCC Rogulntory Fae ) ) »228709

i -

i:.‘..,f.f e
%
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1 INVESTING ACTIVITIES o i )
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_'Fixed Assets:Rented Phones -2 768.34
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i

i
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i

A

v
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!
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£
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3 !Capital Lease-LT Capital Lease- Interest Am ort._' o : 213 3?‘
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L , i

i Cash at beginning of period ~904,840.47!
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5:36 PM
05/02/17
Accrual Basis

Schedule 3.6(b)

T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & L.oss

January through March 2r%1r'£L

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

Broadband
Fiber
integrated Voice & Data
PRI
Data-Only
XDSL
ADSL
Wireless RC
ISP Services - NeoTech
Other Products & Services
HSE
Network Access Fees
XDSL Circuits
XDSL -1AD
Total XDSL Circuits
WiMax
Wireless PTP
Total WiMax
Total Broadband
Hosted PBX
Meta - Hosted PBX
Hosted PBX - Transport
Meta - Rental
Total Hosted PBX
Long Distance & Usage
Colocation
TDM Voice
CABS Billing
Other Revenuse
Meta - Hosted Install
Wireless NRC
Circuit Installation
Telephone & Equipment
Telephone Systems
T1-1AD
Total Telephone & Equipment
Billable Labor
Other NRC
Early Termination Panalty
Total Other Revenue

Total Income
Cost of Goods Sold

Customer COG

351,184.87
132,859.88
89,036.59
10,149.80
18,860.46
0.00
27,212.00
405.00

44 695.13
150.00
27.096.33

0.00

0.00

0.00
0,00
701,649.86

178,664.70
113,449.16
39.413.42
T m1s2128
54,689.75
44,549.69
28,827.51
49,252.31

16,553.33
0.00
8,766.90

4,448.83
0.00
4,448.83
13,866.67
3,660.27
49,463,65

96,759.65

1,307,256.05
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5:36 PM
05/02/117
Accrual Basis

Schedule 3.6(b)
T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & Loss
January through March %%1r7AL

Loop & Trans
HSE
Loop & Transport
Voice Gateway
Fiber
Wireless Transport
High Capacity Loops- T1/PRI
SHDSL Loops
Transport
Off-Net Circuits
Total Loop & Transport
Resale Circuits & Services
UNE-P Connectivity
Usage COG
Long Distance & Features
MOU/Termination/CABS
Total Usage COG
Total Customer COG
Network Costs
Wireless Tower Rent
Data Wholesale Charges
Inter-Office Circuits
Signaling Circuits/LD Trunks
Sprint Colocation Rental
Total Network Costs
Non-Recurring COG
Fiber Install
Circult Installation Charges
Colocation Augment Fee/Expenses
Total Non-Recurring COG
Telephone & Equipment
CPE
Telephone Systems
Total Telaphone & Equipment
Operating Expenses
Enginaering
Salaries & Benefits
Salaries- Bonus
Salaries- Base
Salaries- Overtime
Salaries- Health Insurance
Salaries-Ins Den/Vis/LT/ST/LIFE
Salaries- Payrol! Taxes
Total Salaries & Benefits

0.00
134.28

28.885.96
173,783.65
3.000.00
143,952.30
488025
29,174.15
251817
386,203.48
6.883.70
2184822

31.156.48
14.908.94
46,065.40
461,135.08

6,927.30
3.363.60
40,994.25
9,370.711
22,723.10
83,37B.96

5,400.00
8261.01
48.47
13,709.48

15,026.08
893943

23,965.51

1,000.00
7461852
91241
5,008.73
8648
6,959.33
88.412.51
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5:36 PM Schedule 3.6(b)

ziffﬂ:mis T3 Communications, Inc.
Profit & Loss
January through March %%1'_"(“
Office Expanses
Miscellaneous 422.58
Maintenance Contracts 29,790.98
Consulting 37.50
Licenses & Permits 43,145.25
Postage, Freight and Delivery 778.68
Telephone
Cetlular phone 1,149.64
Total Telephone 1.149.64
Tools & Supplies 7.948.87
Total Office Expenses 83,274.51
Travel & Entertainment
Travel- Auto Rent/Tolis/Parking 1.184.72
Travel- Meals 37.66
Travel- Personal Mileage 535.85
Total Travel & Entertainment 1,758.23
Total Engineering 173,445.25
Total Opersting Expenses 173,445.25
Total COGS 755,634.28
Gross Profit 551.621.77
Expense
Selling Expenses
Salaries & Benefits - Sales
Base Salaries 26,988.82
Commissions 353595
Payroll Taxes-Sales 2,355.46
Health insurance B85.21
Insurance- Den/Vis/LT/ST/Life 239.42
Total Salaries & Beneflts - Sales 34,004.86
Advertising, S&Mkting-Corp
Training & Development 40B.06
Agent Commissions 10,443.49
Direct Marketing 224.99
Event Sponsarship 7.715.79
Print Ads 750.00
Printing and Reproduction 1,183.04
Trade Shows 345.00
Advertising, S&Mkting-Corp - Other 81.60
Total Advertising, S&Mkting-Corp 21,151.94
Telephone - Cell Phone 493.89
Travel & Entertainment
Travel-AUTQ 463.44
Meals 442.28
Mileage Reimbursement 108.00
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5:36 PM Schedule 3.6(b)
05/02/17

Accrual Basis T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & Loss
January through March %%1&'_

Total Travel & Entertainment 1.013.72
Total Selling Expenses 56,664.41
Corporate G&A

Salaries & Benefits

Ingurance- DeniVis/LTD/STDILIFE -173.08
Executive 96,885.86
Customer Care 42,854.05
Qvertime 693.72
Payroll Taxes 728.02
Insurance- Health 7.605.94
Workers Comp 2,092.96
Payroll Administration 564.60
Total Salaries & Benefits 151.252.07
Insurance - General
Directors & Officers 1,238.40
Insurance- Property 3.297.18
Liability Insurance 5,115.37
Total Insurance - Genaral 9,650.95
Office Rent
2401 1st. Street 18,662.64
Interim Corporate Space 9,076.20
Other Rant 1,829.56
Total Office Rent m
Office Expense
Bank Service Charges 12,342.99
Equipmeant Rental 1,253.80
Foes 9,238.35
Licenses and Permits 657.06
Office Supplies 1,320.67
Postage, Freight and Delivery 273.94
Repairs and Maintenance
Equipment Repairs/Maintenance 599.25
Janltorial Exp 929.96
Total Repalirs and Maintenance 1,628.21
Utilities
Electric 12,576.71
Total Wtilities 12,578.71
Office Expense - Othar 0.00
Total Office Expense 39,194.83
Professional Fees
Billing System Fees 8,066.84
Accounting 3,000.00
Answering Service 1,172.62
Total Professional Fees 13,239.46
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5:36 PM Schedule 3.6(b)

5102117

Accrual Basls T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & Loss

January through March %%#TAL

Taxes
Corp Income Tax - State
Corp income Tax - Federal
Property
State Sales/Use
Taxes - Other
Total Taxes
Telephone
Cellular Phone
Total Telephone
Travel & Ent-Corp
Travel-Auto/PArking/Rentals
Meals & Entertainment
Meals
Total Meals & Entertainment
Mileage
Total Travel & Ent-Corp
Bad Debt
N.O.C. Expenses
Tocls & Supplies
Total N.O.C. Expenses
Regulatory & N/W Admin Fees
Relocation
Total Corporate G&A
Total Expense
Net Ordinary Income
Other Income/Expense
Other Income
Interest Income
Other Income
Total Other Income
Other Expense
Non Cash Based Compensation
Gain/Loss on Sale of Assets
Interest Expense
Lease Interest
Non-Cash
Other
Total Interest Expense
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation - Rental Phones
Software
Capital Leases
Depreciation-Fiber

3,654.24
20,476.07
5,400.00
1.464.58
72.00
40,066.89

1,545.88
1,545.88

600.00

1.221.35
1.221.35
-62.92
1.768.43
45,165.00

337,272.58
393,936.98
15768478

0.00
2,512.72

2512.72

-666.68
-60,345.08

571.99
0.00
580.97
1,152 .96

10,693.83
2,444 .49
3,296.28
1,224.24
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5:36 PM
0510217 Schedule 3.6(b)

Actrual Basis T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & Loss
January through March 2&;][1"A

L
Depreciation - Wireless 339.12
N/W Equipment 25,145.52
Customer Premise Equipment 11,658.83
Amortization 3,005.10
Office Equipment & Software 1,361.85
Furniture & Fixtures 2,331.75
Leasehold improvements 2838,18
Total Deprociation and Amortization 64,339.19
Total Other Expense 4.480.39
Net Other Income -1.867.67

Net Income 155,717.11
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5:33 PM
05102117

Accrual Basis

ASSETS
Current Assets
Checking/Savings

INTRON - FL Gulf Bank 3,773.50

Bank Accounts
Encore - Merchant AMEX (2191) 66,026.12
Encore - Merchant V/MC (2183) 114 916.77
Encore - Operating (2175) 305,584.52
Finemark Operating £6,843.20
Southwest Capital Bank - Oper 535,130.31
Checking - T3 - FL Gulf Bk 54,942 .47
Merchant Acct. - FL Gulf Bank 93,556.68

Total Bank Accounts 1,226,999.27 |

Petty Cash 4,033.46

Total Checking/Savings
Accounts Receivable

Total Current Assets
Fixed Assels

Fixed Agsets

Accum Deprec - Rental Phones
Rented Phones

Accum Deprec - Capltal Leases
Accum Deprec - Wireless Equipm
Wireless Equpiment

Network Equipment & Software
Capital Leases

Accum Deprec - N/\W Equip & S/W
Software

Accum Deprec- Software

Customer Premise Equipment

Schedule 3.6(b)

T3 Communications, Inc.

Balance Sheet
As of March 31M‘a?911.717

1,234,806.23

Accounts Receivable 253,727.56
Total Accounts Receivable m
Other Current Assats

Due from ITVantage 0.00

OmniOSS AIR 463,432.62

Allowance for Bad Debt -430,316.30

Inventory for Resale 7,899.44

Other Accounts Receivable

Employee Advances 634.28

Other Accounts Receivable - Other 10,863.00
Total Other Accounts Recaivable _HE;?B.
Pre-Paids

Prepaid Expenses 17,596.40

Prepaid Insurance 0.00

Total Pre-Paids 17,596.40
Total Other Current Assets W

ey
1,558,643.23

-226,175.20
201.047.21
-1,897,506.21
-235,191.25
235191.25
1,752,461.67
1,952,832.28
-1,455,775.87
94,116.25
-75,077.37
458,655.18
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5:33 PM
0502117
Accrual Basis

Schedule 3.6(b)

T3 Communications, Inc.

Balance Sheet
As of March 34, 2017

Accum Deprec - CPE

Office Equipment

Accum Deprec - Office Equip
Furniture & Fixtures

Accum Deprec Furn/Fix
Laasehold Improvements
Accum Deprec Leasehelds
Fiber

Accumulated Deprec - Fiber

Total Fixed Assets

Total Fixed Assets

-358.214.38
100,167.15
-84,162.91
114,811.75
-68,858.48
188,159.53
-87,726.29
100,448.26
-84,880.21

T 71432236
T 71432236

Other Assots
Investement in ITVantage 0.00
Stock Options Amortization 0.00
Stock Options Award 0.00
Defarred Tax Assat 81,251.00
Other Assets
Accumulated Amortization - Cust -53,915.13
Loan Origination Fee 15,194.78
CLEC Deavelopment 13,362.75
Accumulated Amortization -44 584 85
Deposits/Prepaids 59,098.69
Intangible Assets - Caviair 189.056.74
Total Other Assets m
Total Other Assets m
TOTAL ASSETS T 2,532,429.57
LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities
Current Liabillties
Accounts Payable
Accounts Payable 426,562.93
Total Accounts Payable 426,562.93
Credit Cards
AMEX - GM 15,367.09
Total Credit Cards 15,367.09
Other Current Liabilities
Deferred Liability - Stock Opti 0.00
Unearned Inceme-Cust PrePmis 72,934.88
United Way Contributions -2,538.00
Accrued Expenses
Accrued Commissions 2,251.30
Accrued PTO and Incentives 15,273.50
Accrued Accounting Fees 17,733.50
Accrued Payroll 18,746.00
Accrued Legal Fees 11,273.30
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5:33 PM Schedule 3.6(b)

05/02117

Accrual Basis T3 Communications, Inc.

Balance Sheet
As of March 31, 2017

Accrued Other
Accrued Property Taxes
Total Accrued Expenses
Capital Lease Current Portion
Other Accounts Payable
Regulatory Fees, Taxes Payable
FCC Regulatory Fee
Statutory Gross Receipts
Excise Tax
Sales Tax Payable
E911 Surcharge
Florida TASA Payable
Fedaral USF Payable
Total Regulatory Fees, Taxes Payable
Other Accounts Payable - Other
Total Other Accounts Payable
Un-eamed Income
Totai Other Current Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Long Term Liabilities
Deferred Tax Liability
Capital Lease-LT
Capital Lease- Interest Amort.
Capital Lease-Gross
Total Capital Lease-LT
Total Long Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Equity
Common Stock
Additional Paid-in-Capital
Retained Earnings
Net income

Total Equlty
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Mar 31,17

-15,346.00
2,770.,72
52,702,32
24,213.72

-4,696.48
-20.79
709.71
238.53
1.04

20.79
9,422.61
5,675.31
513.40
6,188.71
135,289.47
288,791.10

730,721.12

240,897.00

-1.277.52
3,826.79
2,549.27

243,446.27
974,167.39

5475.57
3,851,702.21
-2.454.632.71
185,717.11

1,558.262.18
2,532,429.57
et
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Schedule 3.6(b}
T3 Communications, Inc.

Cash Flow Statement
For the Period January through March 2017
Preliminary Draft - Subject to Adjustement

! K N { Mar 31,17 |
§

*OPE!ATINGACTIVITIES e N J
: Net Income o : 189055225

N ..i_ o am
. i

_Adjustments to reconclla Net Income

i
to nel cas| h provlded hy oparations. f

xDue frum ITVantago ] ) 6 542 168
Fixad Assets .Accum Deprec NJ'W Equlp & S[W e i B 381 84‘
Fixed

-Fixed Aslets :Accum Deprac Laasoholds

ssets .Accum Deprec FurnIFix

’Athed Assots:Accum Deprec- Software N . B14.83!

i ccountepmane T T T sasmes
!_‘ . ‘,_LM, '» gA»ccrued Expe nses Accrued Payrcll e 187_4?00;
(. ;.1 i peferred Liavily - Stock op e L 200007,

F { i Un aarned Income-CuslPrern ’ ) i -12,9??_72‘
; ! . ‘ ,v | { umted Wy Cantributions e P o t -. 1372({0‘!
! ‘ ‘ "“Accrued Elpa nsus.Accru“ed (:omrnlsswru . ; ) 10171B|

unl

lMet cash provldad by Dperating Acthntlas 261.927.25!
i 1 i
P hwnnus ACTNVITIES ’ N

v l leed Assetu Accum Dcprac chtal Phonss s 3606 31‘

{ leed Asscts Renled Phonas o e H -2 634 11,

[ SORNAPER B

__Fixed Assets:Accum Deprec CapilalLeases

Other As sets .Accum ulatad Am ortlzallon

Stock Options Am ortization

Stock Op tions Award

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Capital Lease-LT: Capital Lease interelt Amort

Net cash provlded by Financmg Aclivlties

%, iN&;i cash increase for period . 26?,512.48i

B T T R TR R eV NERR "

; |
| §Cash at beginning of period '4,223,555.03]
}Cash at end nf pnrlod ! 1,491,067.51)




10:51 AM
04/27117
Accrual Basis

Schedule 3.6{c){i)

T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & Loss

January through Decembe{&m‘_s

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

Broadband
Flber
Integrated Voice & Data
PRI
Data-Cnly
XDSL
ADSL
Wiretess RC
ISP Services - NeoTech
Other Products & Services
HSE
Network Access Fees
XDSL Circuits
XDSL - 1AD
Total XDSL Circuits
WiMax
Wireless PTP
Total WiMax
Total Broadband
Hosted PBX
Meta - Hosted PBX
Hosted PBX - Transport
Meta - Rental
Total Hosted PBX
Long Distance & Usage
Colocation
TDM Voice
CABS Billing
DOther Revenue
Meta - Hosted Install
Wireless NRC
Circuit Installation
Telephone & Equipment
Telephone Systems
T1-1AD
Other Equipment
Total Telephone & Equipment
Billable Labor
Other NRC
Early Termination Penalty

Total Other Revenue

Total Income
Cost of Goods Sold

1.184,482.66
706,127.88
366,380.89
668.510.93
138,181.20
0.00
207,737.45
2.807.11
116,616.74
600.00
101,664.66

0.00

D.00

0.00
0.00
2,893,109.52

686,282.73
483,839.23
141,132.96
311,580.13
259,890.14
144,573,13
204,709.91

72.160.57
0.00
30.48217

10,577.62
0.00
13,055.07

23,632.69
38,982.85
15,650.40
126,133.97

307,042.65
5,432,160.40
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10:51 AM
DAI2TMT
Accrual Basis

Schedule 3.6{c)(i)
T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & Loss
January through Decembe{&ml_s

Customer COG
Loop & Trans
HSE
Loop & Transport
Voice Gateway
Fiber
Wireless Transport
High Capacity Loops- T1/PRI
SHDSL Loops
Transport
Off-Net Circuits
Loop & Transport - Other
Total Loop & Transport
Resale Circuits & Services
UNE-P Connactivity
Usage COG
Long Distance & Features
MOUfTermination/CABS
Total Usage COG
Total Customer COG
Network Costs
WH Colocation
Wireless Tower Rent
Data Wholesale Charges
Inter-Office Circuits
Signaling Circuits/LD Trunks
Sprint Colocation Rental
Total Network Costs
Non-Recurring COG
Fiber Install
Circult Installation Charges
Colocation Augment Fee/Expenses
Total Non-Recurring COG
Telephone & Equipment
CPE
Telephone Systems
Total Talaphone & Equipment
Operating Expenses
Engineering
Salaries & Benefits
Salaries- Bonus
Salaries- Base
Salaries- Overtime
Salaries- Health Insurance

584413
537.12

135,772.66
632,493.13
12,410.00
514,050,056
26,887.76
144.932.30
34.906.52
1,285.08
19,504.77
102.555.21

166,938.86
58,706.49
225,645.35
1.856,824.06

16.070.00
47.657.94
13,580.65
228,622.29
47,637.88
' 77.413.08
430,981.85

1,700.00
19,443.69
1,771.05

22914.74

18,752.51
27,777.82

46,530.33

2,250.00
345,660.35
581297
21,264.40
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10:51 AM
042717
Accrual Basls

Gross Profit

Expense

Schedule 3.6(c)(i)
T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & Loss
January through Decembe{g&lé

Salaries-ins Den/Vis/LT/STILIFE

Salarles- Payroll Taxes
Total Salaries & Benefits
Office Expenses

Training

Miscellaneous

Maintenance Contracts

Consulting

Contracted Labor

Licenses & Permits

Office Supplies

Postage, Freight and Delivery

Telephone
Cellular phone
Total Telephone
Tools & Supplies
Office Expenses - Other
Total Office Expenses
Travel & Entertainment

Travel- Auto RentTolls/Parking

Travel- Alrfare

Travei- Hotels

Travel- Meals

Travel- Personal Mileage

Total Travel & Entertainment

Total Engineering
Total Operating Expenses
Tetal COGS

Selling Expenses
Salaries & Benaefits - Sales

Base Salaries

Bonus

Commissions

Payroll Taxes-Sales

Health Insurance

Ingurance- Den/Vis/LT/ST/Life

Total Sataries & Benefits - Sales
Advertising, S&Mkting-Corp

Office Supplies
Training & Development
Agent Commissions

Contributions

247246
28,692.69
407,052.87

1,100.00
371.42
B7,672.07
1,137.50
575.00
63,756.48
3.314.89
7,014.38

4,021.31
4,021.31
49,766.61
352.00
219,081.66

8,924 54
50.00
1,207.71
781.51
1.488.32
12.452.08
638,586.61
638,586.61
2,995,837.59
2,436,322.81

88,046.78
500.00
23,640.52
7.054.80
3,737.53
1,128.03
124,107 66

1,976.74
4917
50,130.07
2,459.00
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10:51 AM
04427117
Accrual Basls

Schedule 3.6(c)(i)
T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & Loss
January through Decembe{, &Pﬂj

Diract Marketing

Event Sponsorship

Mambership Duas

Print Ads

Printing and Reproduction
Total Advertising, S&Mkting-Corp
Telephone - Cell Phone
Travel & Entertainment

Travel-AUTO

Meals

Total Travel & Entertainment

Total Selling Expenses
Corporate G&A

Salaries & Benefits
Insurance- Den/Vis/LTO/STDILIFE
Executive
Customer Care
Overtime
Bonus
Payroll Taxes
insurance- Health
Workers Comp
Payro!l Administration

Totai Salaries & Benefits

Insurance - General
Directors & Officers
Insurance- Property
Liability Insurance

Totai Insurance - General

Office Rent
2401 1st. Street
Interim Corporate Space
Other Rent
Office Rent - Other

Total Office Rent

Office Expense
Charitable Donations
Bank Service Charges
Equipment Rental
Foes
Licenses and Permits
Office Supplies
Postage, Freight and Delivery

Recruiting

6.122.00
23,925.01
399.00
3,164.96
9,003.22
97,229.17
1,253.91

1,077.00
4,787 .44
5864.44
228,455.18

3,738.17
366,787.07
179,149.93

2,290.41

37,500.00
4511341
27.355.13

7515.25

1,707.50

671,156.87

6,983.64
11.153.08
14,904.08

33.040.80

60,114.84
47,694 .81
1.153.87
1,3656.00

110,328.32

9,075.00
47,258.37
3,995.64
13,213.21
1,954.37
7,805.63
2,740.11
47940
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10:51 AM
02717
Accrual Basis

Schedule 3.6(c)(i)
T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & Loss
January through DecembeF&PAILS

Repairs and Maintenance
Equipment Repalrs/Maintenance
Janitorial Exp
Repairs and Maintenance - Other

Total Repalrs and Maintenanca

Utilities
Elactric
Utilities - Other

Tetal Lkilities

Office Expense - Other

Total Office Expense
Professional Foeps

Collections Fees

Bllling System Fees

Accounting

Answering Sarvice

Consulting

Lease Admin fees

Legal Fees

Total Professional Fees
Taxes
Corp Income Tax - State
Corp income Tax - Federal
Local
Property
State Sales/Use
Taxes - Other
Total Taxes
Telephone

Cellular Phone
Total Telephone
Travel & Ent-Corp
Travel- Airfare
Travel-Auto/PArking/Rentals
Travel-Hotel
Meals & Entertainment
Entertainment
Meals
Total Meals & Entertainment
Mileage
Total Travel & Ent-Corp
Bad Debt
N.O.C. Expenses

Tools & Supplies

4,025.12
3,377.88
0.00

7,403.00

56,365.00
480.14
56,845.14
620.16
151,380.03

0.00

31,734.28
24,000.00
4,782.60
5,408.37
300.00
64,261.62

T ra0.48687

17,660.00
0.00
21510
17,713.88
8,261.95
234.62
44,085.55

6.831.11

6,831.11

368.09
2,704.31%
983.53

13,445.43
11.443.85
24,889.28

1.228.49

30,173.70
200,105.09

0.00
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10:51 AM Schedule 3.6{(c)(i)
04127117

Accrual Bagis T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & Loss
January through Decembe{gg\lé

Total N.O.C. Expenses 0.00
Regulatory & N/W Admin Fees 9,319.82
Training & Davelopment
Other Training 79.00
Total Tralning & Development 79.00
Corporate G&A - Other 0.00
Total Corporate GBA 1,386,997.16
Total Expense 1,615,452.34
Net Ordinary Income B820.870.47
Other Income/Expense
Other Income
Provision for Income Tax Benefi -245,991.00
Income from Subsidiary 143.680.05
Interest Income 0.00
Other Income 7,748.19
Total Cther Income -94,561.76
Other Expense
Non Cash Based Compensation -766.66
Interest Expense
Lease Interest 2.654.76
Non-Cash 0.01
Notes Payable 38,278.93
Other 2,158.88
Total Interest Expense 43,092.58
Depreaciation and Amortization
Deprociation - Rental Phones 51,332.93
Software 7,693.22
Capital Leases 41,192.51
Depreciation-Fiber 4,820.97
Depreciation - Wirelass 3,389.61
N/W Equipment 71,27185
Customer Premise Equipment 53,181.21
Amortization 12,603.78
Office Equipment & Software 4,799.30
Fumiture & Fixtures 4,990 .56
Leasehold Improvements 11,866.72
Total Depreciation and Amortization 267,152.66
Total Other Expense 309,478.58
Net Other Income -404,040.34
Net Income 416,830.13



11:45 AM

Schedule 3.6(c)(i)

zﬂ:::;rgasm T3 Communications, Inc.
Balance Sheet
As of December 31, 2015
Bec 31,15
ASSETS
Current Assets
Checking/Savings
INTRON - FL Gulf Bank 6,733.81
Bank Accounts
Encore - Merchant AMEX (2191} 18,040.83
Encore - Merchant V/IMC {2183) 10,667.52
Encore - Operating (2175} 189,545.72
Finemark Operating 28,364.32
Southwest Capital Bank - Oper 401,118.70
Checking - T3 - FL. Guif Bk 54,942.47
Merchant Acct. - FL Gulf Bank 133,556.88
Total Bank Accounts W
Petty Cash 3,407.29
Total Checking/Savings m
Accounts Receivable
Accounts Raceivable 26.265.52
Total Accounts Receivable 26.265.52
Other Current Assots
Due From ITVantage -127,357 44
Omni0Ss AR 529,265.90
Allowance for Bad Debt -189,480.66
Inventory for Resale 7.899.44
Other Accounts Recelvable
Employee Advances 897.23
Other Accounts Receivable - Other 52,081.00
Total Other Accounts Recelvable 52.978.23
Pre-Paids
Prepaid Expenses 35,076.41
Prepaid insurance 9,382.89
Total Pre-Paids m
Total Other Current Assets 317,754.77
Total Current Assets 1,190,297.83
Fixed Assots
Fixed Assets
Accum Deprec - Rental Phones -173,674.01
Rented Phones 236,466.97
Accum Deprec - Capital Leases -1,876,657 49
Accum Deprec - Wireless Equipm +234,456 .89
Wireless Equpimant 23519125
Network Equipment & Software 1,715,982 41
Capital Leases 1,952,832.28
Accum Deprec - NW Equip & SW -1,319,111.59
Software 85,720.25
Accum Deprec- Software -60,574.71
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11:45 AM
0427117
Accrual Basis

Schedule 3.6(c)(i)
T3 Communications, Inc.

Balance Sheet
As of December 31, 2015

Dec 31,15
Customer Premise Equipment 422,197 68
Accum Deprec - CPE -301,139.36
Office Equipment 100,167.15
Accum Deprec - Office Equip -77,353.66
Furniture & Fixtures 62,763.88
Aceurmn Deprec FurndFix -55,684.63
Leasehold Improvements 188,159.53
Accum Deprec Leaseholds -73,535.39
Fiber 100,448.26
Accumulated Deprec - Fiber -78,759.01
Total Fixed Assets 8458,982.92
Total Fixed Assets 848,982.82
Other Assets
Investement in ITVantage 485,850.22
Stock Options Amortization -355.67
Stock Options Award 2,689.00
Deferred Tax Asset 81,251.00
Other Assets
Accumulated Amortization - Cust -53,815.13
Lean Origination Fee 7.597.39
CLEC Development 13,362.75
Accumulated Amortization -20,960.17
Deposits/Prepaids 62,528.98
Intangible Assets - Cavialr 189,056.74
Total Other Assets 197,670.56
Total Other Assets 767,105.11
TOTAL ASSETS __2,806,3B5.86
LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities
Current Liabilitles
Accounts Payable
Accounts Payable 607,893.70
Total Accounts Payable 807,893.70
Credit Cards
AMEX - GM 24,312.34
Total Credit Cards 24,312.34
Other Current Liablllties
Promissory Notes - Short Term -168,609.07
Deferred Liability - Stock Opti 3,000.01
Un-earned Income-Cust PrePmts 46,620.00
United Way Confributions 0.00
Accrued Expenses
Accrued Commissions 5,985.01
Accrued PTO and Incentives 10,768.69
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11:45 AM Schedule 3.6(c)(i)
04727117

Accrual Basis T3 Communications, Inc.

Balance Sheet
As of December 31, 2015

Dec 31, 15
Accrued Accounting Fees 12,083.50
Accrued Payroll 60,357.25
Accrued Legal Faes 0.00
Accrued Other 0.00
Accrued Property Taxes 0.00
Total Accrued Expenses 89,204.45
Capital Lease Current Portion 24,213.72
Notes Payable - Short Term 0.00
Other Accounts Payable
Regulatory Fees, Taxes Payable
FCC Reguiatory Fes -2,407.34
Excise Tax 639.25
Sales Tax Payable 238.53
Florida TASA Payable 0.00
Federal USF Payable -14,178.08
Total Regulatory Fees, Taxes Payable -15,708.64
Other Accounts Payable - Other 8,128.69
Total Other Accounts Payable -7,579.95
Un-earned Income 138,541.08
Total Other Current Liabilities 126,390.24
Total Current Liabilities 758,596.28
Long Tarm Liabitities
Defarred Tax Liability 240,897.00
Promissory Note 470,000.00
Capital Lease-LT
Capltal Lease- Interest Amort. -5,136.27
Capitai Lease-Gross 34,093.94
Total Capital Lease-LT 28 957.57
Total Long Term Liabilities 739,854 57
Total Liabilities 1,498,450.85
Equity
Common Stock 5275.57
Additional Paid-in-Capital 3,781,902.21
Retained Earnings -2.896,072.90
Net Income 416,830.13
Total Equity W
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY "~ 2,806,385.86



4:01 PM Schedule 3.6(c)(i)
04/27117 Y .
T3 Communications, Inc.

Statement of Cash Flows
January through December 2015

Jan - Dec 15
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Income 416,830.13
Adjustments to reconcile Net Income
1o net cash provided by operations:
Accounts Receivable 73.304.87
Other Accounts Receivable:Employee Advances 1,539.25
Due From |TVantage 108,366.21
Fixed Assets:Accum Deprec - N/'W Equip & S/W 7127185
Fixed Asgsets:Accum Deprec FurnfFix 4,990.56
Fixed Assets:Accum Deprec Leaseholds 11,866.72
Fixed Assets:Accum Deprec- Software 7,683.22
Other Assets:Deposits/Prepaids 736.31
Accounts Payable 269,735.57
AMEX - GM 9,399.66
Accrued Expenses:Accrued Payroll 5478.70
Capital Lease Current Portion 24.213.72
Other Accounts Payable:Regulatory Fees, Taxes Payable:Sales Tax Payable 238.52
Promigsory Notes - Short Term -378,609.07
Deferred Liabillty - Stock Opti -1,249.99
Un-earned Incoma-Cust PrePmts 46,620.00
Accrued Expenses:Accrued Commissions 3,956.67
Accrued Expenses:Accrued PTO and Incentives -6,108.22
Other Accounts Payable:Regulatory Fees, Taxes Payable:FCC Regulatory Fee -1,340.71
Other Accounts Payable:Regulatory Fees, Taxes Payable:Excise Tax -720.97
Net cash provided by Operating Activities m
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Fixed Assets:Capital Loases -64,850.00
Fixed Assets:Network Equipment & Software -210,257.79
Fixed Assats:Fiber -1,520.00
Fixed Assets:Software -22,946.42
Fixed Assets:Accumn Deprec - Rental Phones 51,332.93
Fixed Assets:Rented Phones -35,691.97
Fixed Assaets:Accum Deprec - Capital Leases 41,192,581
Fixed Assets:Accum Deprec - Wireless Equipm 3,389.61
Other Assots:Accumulated Amortization 0.03
Other Assets:intangible Assets - Caviair 17.,500.00
Investemant in ITVantage -143,680.05
Stock Options Amortization -1,016.66
Stock Options Award 250.00
Deferred Tax Asset 144,936.00
Other Assets:Accumulated Amortization - Cust 12,603.75
Net cash provided by Investing Activities -208,758.06

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
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401 PM Schedule 3.6{c)(i)
0427717 T3 Communications, Inc.

Statement of Cash Flows
January through December 2015

Capital Lease-LT:Capital Lease- Interest Amort,
Capital Lease-LT:Capital Lease-Gross

Deferred Tax Llabiiity

Common Stock

Net cash provided by Financing Activities

Net cash increase for period

Cash at beginning of period
Cash at end of period

Jan - Dec 13
N

-5,136.37
34,093.94
101,055.00
378.57

130,391.14

670,847.08

349,327.06
1,029,174.14
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10:45 AM .
04127117 Schedule 3.6{c)(ii)

Accrual Basis T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & Loss
January through Decembe;&mf

Ordinary Income/Expense

Total Hosted PBX

Income

Broadband
Fiber 995,372.11
Integrated Volce & Data 920,748 .65
PRI 447,729.25
Data-Only 75563.51
XDSL 154,109.13
ADSL 0.00
Wireless RC 348,726.63
ISP Services - NeoTech 2,135.09
Other Products & Services 112,736.33
HSE 600.00
Network Access Fees 124 273.60
XDSL Circuits

XDSL - 1AD 0.00
Total XDSL Clreults = 000
WiMax
Wirsless PTP 300.00

Total WiMax 300.00

Total Broadband 3,191,294.30

Hosted PBX
Meta - Hosted PBX 605,801.57
Hosted PBX - Transport 376.839.22
Mota - Rental 118,368.49

1,101,009.38

Long Distance & Usage 292,332.74
Colocation 274,452.70
TDM Voice 140,408.45
CABS Billing 350,047.88
Other Revenue
Mata - Hosted Install 113,360.42
Wireless NRC 0.00
Circuit Instaliation 32947.23
Telephone & Equipment
CPE -28,013.94
Telephone Systems 27.406.68
T1-1AD 0.00
Other Equipment 202.63
Total Telephone & Equipment -404.63
Billable Labor 52,771.51
Other NRC 17.414.06
Early Termination Penalty 102,156.34
Total Other Revenue 318.274.93
Total Income » 5,667,820.38
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10:45 AM
04127117
Accrual Basis

Schedule 3.6{c){ii)

T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & Loss

January through Decembe{,&%fl

Cost of Goods Sold

Customer COG
Loop & Trans
HSE
Loop & Transport
Voice Gateway
Fibar

Wireless Transport

High Capacity Loops- T1/PRI

SHDSL Loops
Transport
Off-Net Circults

Loop & Transport - Other

Total Loop & Transport
Resale Circuits & Services
UNE-P Connectivity
Usage COG

Long Distance & Features
MOU/Termination/CABS

Third Party Biliing
Total Usage COG
Total Customer COG
Network Costs
WH Colocation
Wirsless Tower Rent
Data Wholesale Charges
Inter-Office Circuits

Signaling Circuits/LLD Trunks

Sprint Colocation Rental
Total Network Costs
Non-Recurring COG

Fiber install

Circuit Installation Charges

Colocation Augment Fee/Expenses

Total Non-Recurring COG
Telephone & Equipment
CPE
Other Equipment
Outsourced Contractor
Telephone Systems
Tolal Telephone & Equipment
Operating Expenses
Engineering

Salaries & Benefits

72548
466.80

86.346.04
538.441.47
12.865.00
670.168.52
32,603.40
195,804.90
36,398.82
9,675.34
1,582,493.49
29,734 67
127,096.92

171,430.48
70,100.46
24,354 80

265,885.74
2,006,403.10

38,820.00
64,370.48
96,274.85
225,603.86
53,064.95
94,333.88
572,468.03

5,350.00
2,738.79
7.932.99

16,021.78

1677.26
2,876.91
12,502.85
55,534.88
72,591.90
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10:45 AM
04/2717
Accrual Basls

Schedule 3.6(c)(ii)
T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & Loss
January through Decembe{g‘mcl

Salaries- Base
Salaries- Overtime
Salaries- Health Insurance

Salaries-tns Den/Vis/LT/ST/LIFE

Salaries- Payroll Taxes
Total Salaries & Benefits
Office Expenses

Training

Miscsllaneous

Maintenance Contracts

Consulting

Contracted Labor

Licenses & Permits

Office Supplies

Postage, Freight and Delivery

Telephone
Celtular phone
Total Telephone
Tools & Supplies
Total Office Expenses
Travel & Entertainment

Travel- Auto Rent/Tolls/Parking

Travel- Hotels

Travel- Meals

Travel- Personal Mileage
Total Travel & Entertainment

Total Engineering
Total Operating Expenses
Total COGS
Gross Profit
Expense
Selling Expenses
Salaries & Benefits - Sales

Base Salaries

Commissions

Payroll Taxes-Sales

Health Insurance

Insurance- Den/Vis/LT/ST/Life

Total Salaries & Benefits - Sales
Advertising, S&Mkting-Corp

Business Cards
Office Supplies
Agent Commissions
Direct Marketing

293,466.32
13,846.62
13,605.82

1,612.36
25,855,12
348.386.24

50.00

449 52
87,754.28
75.00
35,223.02
45,690.08
548.59
10,086.06

3,658.63
365963
22,974.94
206,508.12

13,161.11
809.85
292,26

1,292 47
15,555.69
570,450,05
570,450.056
3,237,934.86
2,429,885.52

78,000.33
20,316.30
6,976.24
3.730.31
34511
109,367.29

0.00
609.33
51,063.84
281,53
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10:45 AM
0427117
Accrual Basis

Schedule 3.6{c){ii)
T3 Communications, inc.

Profit & Loss
January through Decembe{g‘&lfl

Event Sponsorship
Mambership Dues
Print Ads
Printing and Reproduction
Advertising, S&Mkting-Corp - Other
Total Advertising, S&Mkting-Corp
Telephone - Cell Phone
Travel & Entertainment
Travel-AUTO
Meals
Entertainment
Total Travel & Entertalnment

Total Selling Expenses
Corporate GRA

Salaries & Benefits
Insurance- Dan/Vis/LTD/STD/LIFE
Executive
Customer Care
Overtime
Bonus
Payroll Taxes
Insurance- Health
Workers Comp
Payro!l Administration

Total Salaries & Benefits

Insurance - General
Diractors & Officers
Insurance- Property
Liability Insurance

Total Insurance - General

Office Rent
2401 1st. Street
Interim Corporate Space
Office Rent - Other

Total Office Rent

Office Expense
Contracted Labor
Bank Service Charges
Credit Card Discount
Equipment Rental
Fees
Licenses and Parmits
Office Supplies
Postage, Freight and Delivery

21,437.50
1,898.80
3.075.00
1,281.90

252.00

79,808.80
2,936.24

945.13
1,883.11
1,440.54

4,368.78
]
196,572.21

1,573.82
431,420.32
157,613.03

4,786.84

45,200.00
51,664.93
25,358.77

9.666.79

930.06
720.214.56

6.854.22
19,630.71
27.829.10

54,314.03

58.801.65
27,611.84

2,408.25
88,821.74

121,530.78
31,632.62
3.131.88
5,894.87
19,457 80
6,968.76
7,543.06
2.601.46
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10:45 AM
a4/2717
Accrual Basis

Schedule 3.6(c){(ii)
T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & Loss
January through Decembe{&%f

Recruiting
Repairs and Maintenance
Equipment Repairs/Maintenance
Janitorial Exp
Repairs and Maintenance - Other
Total Repairs and Maintenance
Litilities
Electric
Utilities - Other
Total Utllities
Total Office Expense
Professional Fees
Collections Fees
Billing System Fees
Accounting
Answering Service
Consulting
Legal Fees
Total Professional Fees
Taxes
Locai
Property
State Sales/Use
Taxes - Other
Total Taxes
Telephone
Cellular Phone
Total Telephone
Travel & Ent-Corp
Travel- Airfare
Travel-Auto/PArking/Rentals
Travel-Hotel
Meals & Entertainment
Entertainment
Meals
Total Meals & Entertainment
Mileage
Total Travel & Ent-Corp
Bad Debt
N.O.C. Expenses
Maintenance Contracts
Tools & Supplies
Total N.O.C. Expenses
Regulatory & N/W Admin Fees

128.00

972,69
3,286.60
1.075.00

5334.29

58,176.24
915.96
———

60,092.20
2665,316.82

800.00
38,972.98
20,000.00

4,690.40
81,508.17
10,584.00

157,555.55

445.55
16,874.42
10.360.94

746.33

2842724

5,960.64
5.960.64

1,578.20
1,898.90
489.69

14,575.38
9,657.28
24,232.66
2,201.07

30.400.52
216,742.18

160.00
0.00
160.00
10.005.07
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10:45 AM
042717

Accrual Basis

Schedule 3.6{c)(ii)
T3 Communications, Inc.

Profit & Loss

January through Decembe‘:&mlfl

Training & Development
Other Training

Training & Development - Other
Total Tralning & Davelopment

Corporate GRA - Other
Total Corporate G&A
Total Expense

Net Ordinary Income

Other Income/Expanse

Other Income

Provision for Income Tax Benefi
Income from Subsidiary
Interest Income

Other Income

Total Other Income

Other Expense

Non Cash Based Compensation
Other Expense
Severance Expense
Other Expense - Other
Total Other Expense
Interest Expense
Lease Interest
Non-Cash
Notes Payable
Other
Total Interest Expense
Depreciation and Amortization
Depraciation - Rental Phones
Software
Capital Leases
Depreciation-Fiber
Depreciation - Wireless
N/W Equipment
Customer Premise Equipment
Amortization
Office Equipment & Software
Furniture & Fixtures

Leasehold Improvements

Total Depraciation and Amortization

Write-offs - DO NOT USE

Total Other Expense

Net Other Income

Net Income

1,933.23
284.00
2,217.23
0.00
1,588,136.58
1.785707.79
64417773

=118,341.00
107,233.78
306.50
7.454.09
-3,346.63

18,184.93
2,318.19

20.000.00
22,318.19

1,245.81
52.01
69,766.72
1,316.80
72,381.34

58,074.02
5,661.37
5192742
4,583.00
27,424 98
57,429.13
55,007.18
1377048
6,085.08
5,191.56
11,033.05
296,187.28
0.00
409,071.74

-412,418 .37
231,759.36
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11:21 AM
04127117

Accrual Basls

ASSETS

Current Assets
Checking/Savings

INTRON - FL Gulf Bank

Bank Accounts
Finemark Operating
Southwast Capital Bank - Oper
Chacking - T3 - FL Gulf Bk
Merchant Acct. - FL Gulf Bank

Total Bank Accounts

Petty Cash

Total Checking/Savings

Accounts Receivable

Accounts Recelvable

Total Accounts Receivable
Other Current Assets

Due From [TVantage
OmniOSS A/R
Allowance for Bad Debt
Inventory for Resale
Other Accounts Recelvable
Employee Advances
Total Other Accounts Receivable
Pre-Paids
Prepaid Expenses
Prepaid Insurance
Total Pre-Paids
Shareholder Recelvable

Total Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets
Fixed Assets

Fixed Assets

Accum Deprec - Rental Phones
Rented Phones

Accum Deprec - Capital Leases
Accum Deprec - Wireless Equipm
Wireless Equpiment

Network Equipment & Software
Capital Leases

Accum Deprec - N'W Equip & SAW
Software

Accum Deprec- Software
Customer Premise Equipment
Accum Deprec - CPE

Office Equipment

Schedule 3.6(c)(ii)

T3 Communications, Inc.

Balance Sheet

As of December 31091::03‘%?14

5,663.66

28,396.66
170,744.74
38,963.32
101,142.88

339,247.70

4,415.70

——
348,327.06

98,570.39

98,570.38

71,008.77
593.425.49
-202,763.44
7,889.44

2,436.48
2,436.48

29,101.98
18,944.32
48,046.30

0.00

520,053.04
968,850.49

-122,341.08
200,775.00
-1,835,464.98
-231,067.28
235,191.25
1,505,724.62
1,887,982.28
-1,247,839.74
62,773.83
-52,881.48
394,215.68
-247,948.15
892,667.15
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11:21 AM
0427117

Schedule 3.6(c)(ii)

Accrual Basis T3 Communications, Inc.

Accum Daprec - Office Equip
Furniture & Fixtures
Accum Deprec Furn/Fix
Leasehold Improvements
Accum Deprec Leaseholds
Flber
Accumulate& Deprec - Fiber

Total Fixed Assets

Total Fixed Assets
Other Assets

Investement in ITVantage

Stock Options Amortization

Stock Options Award

Deferred Tax Asset

Other Assets
Accumulated Amortization - Cost
Loan Origination Fee
CLEC Davelopment
Accumulated Amortization
Deposits/Prepaids
Intangible Assets - Caviair

Total Other Assets

Total Other Assels
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities
Current Liabilitles
Accounts Payable
Accounts Payable
Total Accounts Payable
Credit Cards
AMEX - GM
Total Credit Cards
Other Current Liabilities
Promissory Notes - Short Term
Deferred Liability - Stock Optl
Un-earned Income-Cust PrePmts
United Way Contributions
Accrued Expenses
Accrued Commissions
Accrued PTO and Incentives
Accrued Accounting Fees
Accrued Payrolt
Accrued Legal Fees

Balance Sheet

As of December 3169%0311‘,1 14

-72.554.36

62.763.88
-50,694.07
188,158.53
-61,668.67

98,928.26
-73,938.04

732,783.62

732,783.62

34217017
-1,372.33
2,939.00
226,187,00

-41,311.38
7.597.39
13,362.75
-20,960.14
63,265.29
206,556.74
228,510.65

798,434.49
2,500,168.60

338,158.13
338,158.13

14,012.68

14,912 68

210,000.00
4,250.00
0.00

0.00

2,038.34
16,876.91
6,183.50
54,877.55
7.500.08
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11:21 AM Schedule 3.6(c)(ii)

427117

Accrual Basis T3 Communications, Inc.

Balance Sheet
As of December 31, 2014

Accruad Other
Accrued Property Taxes
Total Accrued Expenses
Capital Lease Current Portion
Notes Payable - Short Term
Other Accounts Payable
Regulatory Fees, Taxes Payable
FCC Regulatory Fee
Excise Tax
Sales Tax Payable
CST Payable
Florida TASA Payable
Federal USF Payable
FL Sales Tax Pay.
Total Regulatory Fees, Taxes Payable
Total Other Accounts Payable
Un-earned Income
Total Other Current Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Long Term Liabilities
Deferred Tax Liability
Promissory Note
Capital Lease-LT
Capital Lease- Interest Amort.
Capital Lease-Gross
Total Caplital Lease-LT
Notes Payable (Convertible)
Total Long Term Llabilities
Total Liabilities
Equity
Commeon Stock
Additional Paid-in-Capital
Restricted Stock Award
Additional Paid-in-Capital - Qther
Total Additional Paid-in-Capital
Retained Earnings
Neot Income

Total Equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Bec 31, 14

25,000.00
262178
115,098.17
0.00
300,000.00

-1,066.63
1,360.22
0.0

0.00
297.00
-21,779.92
0.00
-21,180.32
-21,189.32
170,482.06
778,650.91
1131, 721.72

139,842.00
470,000,00

609,842.00
1,741,563.72

4,897.00

0.00
3,648,780.78
3,649,780.78

-3,127,832.26
231,759.36

758,604.88
~_2,500,168.60.
—_——




3:56 PM Schedule 3.6(c)(ii)

oazTy T3 Communications, Inc.
Statement of Cash Flows
January through December 2014 Jan - Dec 14
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Income 231,759,386
Adjustments to reconcile Net Income
to net cash provided by operations:
Accounts Recaivable -54,076.16
Inventory for Resale B8,127.56
Other Accounts Receivable:Employee Advances 3,462.52
Due From iTVantage 3712163
Fixed Assets:Accum Deprec - N'W Equip & S/W 57.429.13
Fixed Assets:Accum Deprec FurnFix 5,191.56
Fixed Assets:Accum Deprec Leaseholds 11.033.05
Fixed Assets:Accum Deprec- Software 5,6561.37
Other Assets:Deposits/Prepalds 7.194.11
Accounts Payable -120,465.89
AMEX - GM 12,034.84
Accrued Expenses:Accrued Payroll 10,991.90
Capital Leasa Current Portion -27,698.94
Other Accounts Payable:Regulatory Fees, Taxes Payable:5ales Tax Payable 0.01
Premissory Notes - Short Term -620,000.00
Deferred Liability - Stock Opti -1,237.00
Un-earned Income-Cust PrePmts -110.33
Accrued Expenses:Accrued Commissions -2.716.97
Accrued Expenses:Accrued PTO and Incentives -3,751.44
Other Accounts Payable:Regulatory Fees, Taxes Payable:FCC Regulatory Fee -1,207.25
Other Accounts Payable:Regulatory Fees, Taxes Payable:Excise Tax 91597
Net cash provided by Operating Activities -340,350.87
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Fixed Assets:Network Equipment & Software -136,789.90
Fixed Assets:Leasehold Improvements -8,000.00
Fixed Assets:Software -13,050.00
Flxed Assets:Accum Deprac - Rental Phones 58,074.02
Fixed Assets:Rented Phones -50,395.30
Fixed Assats:Accum Deproc - Capitat Leases 51,927.42
Fixed Assets:Accum Deprec - Wireless Equipm 27,424.98
Investement In ITVantage -107,233.78
Stock Options Amortization 683.33
Stock Options Award -250.00
Deferred Tax Asset 122,782.00
Other Assets:Accumulated Amortization - Cust 13,770.48
Net cash provided by Investing Activities -41,046.74
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital Lease-LT:Capital Lease- Interest Amort, 1,245.81
Capital Leasae-LT:Capital Lease-Gross -2.75
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3327’[’1"‘; Schedule 3.6(c)(ii)
T3 Communications, Inc.

Statement of Cash Flows
January through December 2014

Deferred Tax Liability

Promissory Note
Additional Paid-in-Capital:Restricted Stock Award

Net cash provided by Financing Activities

Net cash increase for period

Cash at baginning of pariod
Cash at end of period

Jan -Dec 14
L]
-4,451.00

470,000.00
17,501.60
484,293 .66

102,895.95

235,4B2.78

338,378.71
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS & CONSULTANTS

Board of Directors and stockholders
T3 Communications, Inc. and subsidiaries
Fort Myers, Florida

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS® REPORT

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of T3 Communications, Inc. (&
Florida corporation) and subsidiaries, which comprise the consotidated balance sheets as of December
31, 2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of income, consolidated changes in
stockholders’ equity, and consolidated cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to
the consolidated financiat statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generatly accepted in the United States of America;
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures 1o obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financiat statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our aadit opinion.

1.

1470 ROYAL PALM SQUARE BOULEVARD * FORT MYERS, FLORIDA 33919 » (239) 939-2233 = FAX (239) 939-0554




Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of T3 Communications, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015
and 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the vears then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note P to the consolidated financial statements, intangible assets at the beginning of
2014 have been adjusted down by $17,500 to recognize a correction of an error in the purchase price of a
customer list based upon contingent earnings. Our opinion is not modified with respect to that matter.

Report on Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements as a whole. The consolidating information contained on pages 20 — 22 is presented for
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated
financial stalements or 1w the consolidated financial stalements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole.

Kl flicor

HUGHES, SNELL & CO,, P.A.

Fort Myers, Florida
November 11, 2016
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T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2015 and 2014

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS 2015 2014
Cash and cash equivalents 962,660 $ 530,034
Accounts receivable, net 485,941 705,575
Other receivables 16,586 22 847
Employee receivables 897 2436
Inventory 13,154 13.154
Prepaid expenses 52,096 48,536

Total Current Assets 1,531,334 1,322,582

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net 945,037 §15.981

OTHER ASSETS
Deposits 65,239 64,742
Goodwill, net 64,577 73,802
Other intangible assets, net 135.142 147,745
Deferred tax asset 81.251 226,187
Other assets 2,333 1,567

348,542 514,043
Total Assets § 2,824,913  § 2,652,606
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 571,233 § 353,070
Accrued expenses 101,948 121,035
Federal and state income taxes payable 17.660 -
Deferred revenue 225415 305,210
Secured convertible debenture - 300,000
Current portion of notes payable 248,654 219,316
Curreni portion of capital lease obligations 24,003 8,508

Total Current Liabilitics 1,188,913 1,307,139

LONG TERM LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liability 240,897 139,842
Notcs payable, less current maturities 82,601 479,895
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities 32,244 3,076

355,742 622,813
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Capital stock. $,001 par value, authorized 100.000,000 shares;
5,276,019 and 4,847,448 issued and outstanding in 2015
and 2014, respectively 5,276 4,847
Additional paid-in-capital 3,781,902 3,632,331
Accumulated deficit (2,506,920) (2,914,524)
Total Stockholders’ Equity 1,280,258 722.654
Total Liabilitics and Stockholders’ Equity $ 2,824,913 § 2,652,606

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Income
Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014

REVENUES EARNED
Recurring Revenue
Broadband $
Fiber
Wireless
Long distance usage
Hosted PBX
Collocation
Managed Services
CABs
TDM voice
Total Recurring Revenue

Equipment sales
Nonrecurring revenue
Total Revenue

COST OF GOODS SOLD
Loop and transport
Usage
Network costs
Netwaork operations
Equipment costs
Installation and customer premise equipment
Total Cost of Goods Sold

OPERATING EXPENSES
Selling
Salaries
Commission
Advertising
Other
Total Selling Expenses

Cieneral and Administrative
Salarics
Rent
Bad debt
Professional fees
Travel and entertainment
Other
Total General and Administrative Expenses

Total Operating Expenses

Income from Operations

OTHER INCOME AND (EXPENSE)
Interest income
Other income
Gain on sale of assets
[nterest expense
Other expense
Diepreciation and amortization

Net Income Before Provision for Income Taxes
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Net Income §

2015 2014
1,500,889 & 1,847,196
1.184.483 995372

207.737 348,727

311,580 292,333
1,311,255 1,101,009

259.890 274453
1,584.238 1,104,009

204.710 350,048

144,573 140,408
6,709.355 6,453,555

676,096 706,456

445,757 686,385
7,831,208 7.846,396
1,630,642 1,740,051

226,182 266,353

430,982 572.468

638,587 570,450

738.253 750 847

256,748 256.731
3,921,354 4,156,950

137,773 232,500

86,279 79,236
63,920 44,153
7118 7,305

295,090 363,194
1,455.641 1.417,087

183,500 132,955

250,629 224,457

157.238 157.556

39,603 41,443

502,638 584.736
2,589,249 2,558,234
2,884,339 2,921428
1.025.475 768,018

- 307
8,061 7,576
4,664 572

{45.007) (75.916)

- (22,318}

(321.938) (337,364)
{354,220V (427,143)

671,255 340,875
{263,651} (118,341}

407.604 S 222,534

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014

Balancces, Janvary 1, 2014
Share-based payments
Net income

Balances, December 31, 2014
as previously reported

Prior period adjustment

Balances, December 31, 2014
as restated

Issuance of additional common stock
from secured convertible debenture

Net income

Balances, December 31, 2015

Additional
Capital Paid-In Accumulated
Stock Capital Deficit Total

4,897 § 3,632279 § (3,137,058 % 500,118

- 17,502 - 17,502

- - 222,534 222,534

4,897 3,649,781 (2,914,524) 740,154
(50) (17.450) - (17,500)

4,847 3,632,331 (2,914,524) 722,654

429 149,571 - 150,000

- - 407,604 407,604

5276 $ 3,781,902 $§ (2,506,920) $ 1,280,258

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements,
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T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended Decernber 31, 2015 and 2014

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2015 2014

Net income $ 407,604 8 222,534
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 321,938 337.364
Bad debt expense 250,629 224457
(ain on sale of assets (4,664) (572)
Share-based compensation - 17.502
(Increase) decrease in assets
Accounts receivable {30.995) (287.230)
Other receivables 6,261 (22 847)
Employee receivables 1,539 3,463
Inventory - 8181
Prepaid expenses (3.560) 1.454
Deferred 1ax asset 144936 122,792
Deposits (497) 6,512
Other assets (767) 433
Increase (decrease) in liabilities
Accounts payable 218,163 (108.433)
Accrucd cxpenses (19,087) 18,670
Federal and state income taxes payable 17,660 -
Deferred tax liability 101,055 (4.451)
Deferred revenue (79,795) 148.765
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 1,330,420 688,504

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property and equipment (342,673) (331.467)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 9,000 1.300
Net Cash Used in Investing Activitics (333,673) (330,167)

CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Principal payments on notes payable (393,934) {100,029}
Principal payments on secured convertible debentures (150,000) -
Principal payments on capital leases (20,187) (33.923}
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (564,121) (133,952)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 432,626 224,475
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, Beginning of Year 530,034 305,559
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, End of Year £ 962,660 § 530,034

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW

INFORMATION
Interest paid 8 45,007 $ 75.916
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NONCASH ACTIVITIES
Capital lcases incurred for purchase of property and equipment 5 64,850 % -
Note payable incurred for purchase of property and equipment $ 25978 3% -
Issuance of common stock due to conversion of note k) 429 3% -
Increase in APIC due to conversion of note $ 149571 § -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015 and 2014

NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

T3 Communications, Inc. (T3), a Florida corporation, was incorporated on January 4, 2006. s
principal place of business is at 2401 First Street, Suite 300, Fort Myers, FL 33901,

T3 is a next-generation telecommunications carrier, providing broadband internet, advanced IP voice
and data, disaster recovery and collocation services and a host of other premise-based and cloud-
computing solutions to businesses in Southwest and Central Florida. The Company offers services
through traditional access methods, such as copper Tls and x-DSL, as well as some unique access
methods to reach its customers, including WiMAX (wireless) and Fiber, which allows the company to
be a low-cost, high-quality leader in the markets it serves.

T3 owns 100% of ITVantage, a provider of managed network scrvices in local markets, making
ITVantage a wholly owned subsidiary of T3.

Eastern Lee County Fiber, LLC (Eastern) is a single member limited liability company, solely owned
by T3. Intron Solutions, LLC (Intron) is a single member limited liability, solely owned by
Eastern,that provides fiber services to customers. As single member limited liability companies, the
transactions of Eastern and Intron are included as transactions of T3.

T3, ITVantage, Eastern and Intron are collectively herein referred to as the “Company™.

NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The Company's policy is to prepare its consolidated financial statements on the accrual basis of
accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Under this method of accounting, revenues and profits are recognized when earned,
regardless of when cash is received, and expenses and losses are recognized when incurred, regardless
of when cash is disbursed.

Pnnciples of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of T3, [TVantage, Eastern and Intron.  All
significant intercompany transactions are eliminated in these consolidated financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Management considers all short-term highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less
to be cash equivalents.

7.




T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015 and 2014

NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Accounts Receivable

Accounts Receivable represents normal trade obligations due from customers for services provided.
The Company generally considers accounts past due if they are outstanding over 20 days. T3
maintains a collection process for past due accounts.

An allowance for doubtful accounts reflects the Company’s best estimate of probable losses inherent
in its reccivable portfolio determined on the basis of historical experience and other available
evidence. Past due accounts are written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts when
collection is considered to be not probable. Allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014 were $189,730 and $209,701, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

T3 recognizes revenue for services when the related services arc provided. Recognition of certain
payments received in advance of services being provided is deferred until the service is provided.
These advance payments include managed services and 1T support charges, which the Company
recognizes as revenue over the expected customer relationship period.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined substantially by the weighted
average cost method. Market represents the lower of replacement cost or estimated net realizable

value.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is charged on the straight-line method over
the cstimated useful life of the various assets, The Company’s property and equipment are
depreciated or amortized over the following estimated useful lives:

Term
Network equipment 5 years
Software 3 -5 years
Leasehold improvements Lease Term
Customer premise equipment 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3 -5 years
Fiber 5-15 years
Hardware rented to customers 3 years
Wireless equipment ' 5 years
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T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015 and 2014

NOTE B ~- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property and Equipment (continued)

Leaschold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the leasehold improvements useful life or
lease term. Repairs and maintenance arc charged to operations as incurred. Upon disposition, the
cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any related gain or loss
is reflected in earnings. The Company reviews long-lived assets, other than goodwill and other
intangible assets with indefinite lives, for impairment whenever facts and circumstances indicate that
the carrying amounts of the assets may not be recoverable.

Goodwill

Intangible assets arising from business combinations, such as goodwill, are initially recorded at fair
value, Goodwill was derived from acquisitions whereby the purchase price exceeded the fair value of
the net assets acquired. The Company amortizes goodwill over ten years on a straight-line basis.
Additionally, the Company is required to review goodwill for impairment. Goodwill should be tested
for impairment when a triggering event occurs that indicates that the fair value of an entity (or
reporting unit) may be below its carrying amount. No adjustment for impairment was made for the
year ended December 31, 2015 or 2014, respectively. The Company began amortizing goodwill
during 2013. Goodwill accumulated amortization was $27.675 and $18,450 for the ycars ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Intangible Assets

Customer lists are being amortized on the straight-line method over forty-cight months. Amortization
expense for years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $12,604 and $13,771, respectively.
Accumulated amortization for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 were $53,915 and
$41,311, respectively. Amortization expense for each of the next five years will be approximately
$12,600.

Initial costs for becoming a telecormmunications exchange provider are amortized on a straight-line
basis. Costs of $13,363 have been fully amortized.

USF, Gross Receipts Taxes and Other Surcharges

Certain taxes and surcharges collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities,
including USF charges, sales, use, excise, and gross receipts taxes are not included in the Company’s
revenue. T3 acts merely as a collection agent for the povernment authority and remits collected taxes
accordingly.



T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015 and 2014

NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income Taxes

The Company files a consolidated tax return including the wholly owned subsidiary 1TVantage, and
the single member limited liability companies Eastern and Intren.

The Company provides for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes
are recognized for expecied future tax consequences of temporary differences between financial
statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of existing asscts and liabilities using tax rates expected
in the years in which those temporary differences are expected 1o be recovered or scttled.  Valuation
allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to
be realized.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely
than not that, some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income and tax
planning strategies in making this assessment. In order to fully realize the deferred tax asset, the
Company will need to generate future taxable income prior to the expiration of the deferred tax assets
governed by the tax code.

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 740-10 as it relates to uncertain tax
positions and has evaluated its tax positions taken for all open tax years. Currently, the last three tax
years are open and subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service. However, the Company is
not currently under audit nor has the Company been contlacted by any tax jurisdiction.

Based on the evaluation of the Company’s tax positions, management believes all positions taken
would be upheld under an cxamination. Therefore, no provision for the effects of uncertain tax
positions has been recorded for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Share-Based Compensation

ASC 718 Equity applies to share-based payment transactions to employees in which an entity acquires
goods or services by issuing equity instruments. All entities must recognize the fair value of share-
based payment awards classified in equity, and are required to estimate the number of awards
expected to vest and recognize compensation cost based on that estimate.

The Company maintains programs that allow its Board of Directors (through its Compensation
Committee or Chief Executive Officer as its delegate) to grant incentives to certain employees in the
form of incentive stock options and restricted stock awards. The fair values of awards are generally
based on enterprise values for the Company in recent financing transactions and in prospective
earnings calculations used for recent business valuations.
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T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2015 and 2014

NOTE B —~ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense for years ended December 31, 2015
and 2014 was $63,920 and $44,153, respectively.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles gencrally accepted
in the United States of America requircs management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Managements’ Review of Financial Stalemernits

Management has evaluated subsequent events through November 11, 2016, the date, which the
financial statements were available to be issued.

NOTE C - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The components of property and cquipment are as follows at December 31:

2015 2014

Network equipment $ 3,256,408 % 2,981,299
Software 167,933 112,840
Leasehold improvements 188,160 188,160
Customer premise equipment 705,968 677,986
Fumiture, fixtures and office equipment 279,603 266,676
Fiber 100,448 98,928
Hardware rented to customers 236,467 200,775
Wireless equipment 288,450 288,450
Vehicles 67,483 65,030
5,290,920 4,880,144

Less accumulated depreciation 4,345,883 4,064,163
$ 945037 % 815,981

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $300,109 and 5314,369,
respectively.
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T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Conschdated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015 and 2014

NOTE D - ACCRUED EXPENSES

The components of accrued expenses and other current liabilities are as follows at December 31:

2015 2014
Fees and taxes § 98 % 4,309
Other accruals 3,000 20,250
Professional fees 12,084 13,684
Incentives and commissions 26,408 1R.915
Accrued wages 60,358 54,877

$ 101,948 §$ 121,035

NOTE E - LEASE OBLIGATIONS
Capital leases

Assets recorded under capital lease obligations and included in property and equipment in the
accompanying balance sheet consist of the following:

2015 2014
Equipment under capital lease, cost $ 88,363 § 23513
Accumulated depreciation (20,218) (7,838)
Capital lease equipment, net $ 68,145 § 15,675

The Company has entered into a capital leases to finance certain network acquisitions. The lease
expires in 2016.

Future minimum lease payments under capital leases are as follows:

Year Ending December 31

2016 § 27376

2017 24,214

2018 0,879

Total payments : 61,469
Less amount representing interest (5,222)
Total capital lease obligations 56,247
Capital lease obligations, current (24.003)
Capital lease obligations, net of current 8 312,244
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T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2015 and 2014

NOTE E - LEASE OBLIGATIONS (continued)
Operating Leases

The Company leases its corporate facilities, sales office and collocation space for data centers under
non-cancelable operating leases in Ft. Myers and Naples, FL. Additionally, the Company has tower
lease obligations and a lease in Winterhaven, FL for additional data center cabinets that expired in
July 2015. Rent expense for operating leases for years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was

$183,500 and $132,955, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under operating leases are as follows:

Year Ending
December 31
2016 8
2017
2018
2019

Total Payments §

NOTE F - NOTES PAYABLE

Notes payable consists of the following at December 31:

Notes payable to shareholders, unsecured. with monthly interest
only payments at 7% through March 2015. Monthly payments
from $1.119 to $3,358 including principle and interest scheduled
to mature March 2017,

Notes payable to shareholders, unsecured, with monthly interest
only payments at 7% through March 2013, Monthly payments
from $2,239 to $6.716 including principle and interest scheduled
to mature March 2017.

Notes payable to sharcholders, unsecured, with monthly interest
only payments at 7% through March 2015. Monthly payments

from 52,239 to $3,134 including principle and interest scheduted

1o mature March 2017,
Note payable finance company, collateralized by a vehicle in

maonthly installments of $361 with zero interest, maturing
in August 2021.

-13-
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2014

96,188

128,252
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T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015 and 2014

NOTE F - NOTES PAYABLE (continued)

2015 2014
Note payablc finance company, collateralized by a vehicle in
monthly installments of $466 including interest of 8 89%,
maturing in December 2016. 5,331 10,214
Note payable finance company, collateralized by a vehicle in
monthly installments of $386 including interest of 2.9%,
paid in full October 2015, - 8,997
331,255 699,211
Less current maturities 248,654 219,316

5 82,601 § 479,895

The following is a summary of maturities of notes payable:

Year Ended

December 3]
2016 $ 248 654
2017 66,728
2018 4,330
2019 4,330
2020 4,330
2021 2,883

s 331255

NOTE G - SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT

In 2006, the Company entered into Securities Purchase Agreements with four related parties (the
“Investors™). In conjunction with the execution of the Securities Purchase Agreements, the Company
also entered into a secured convertible debenture agreement and a common stock warrant agreement
with cach investor. Principal and unpaid interest at the rate of prime plus 5% on the one remaining
secured convertible debenture was due March 31, 2014, In 2014, the debenture agreement was
extended one year to March 31. 2015, with interest on the debentures payable monthly at the rate of
T%.

The Investor was entitled to convert all or part of the debenture into shares of common stock of the
Company. The conversion price was currently $.35 per share and was subject to adjustment as
provided in the secured convertible debenture agreement. The debenture was convertible into a total
of 857,143 shares of common stock of the Company at December 31, 2014.

On March 31, 2015, the debenture was converted 10 428,571 shares of common stock at $.35 per
share and a redemption payment of $150,000.
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T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015 and 2014

NOTE H - STOCK WARRANTS

In April of 2011, the Company made a “‘Debt Exchange Offering and Debt Restruciuring” to non-bank
secured and unsecured debt holders of the Company, all of whom were also shareholders or nominees
of sharcholders. Under the debt-restructuring offer, the exercise price per share of common stock for
existing warrants previously issued to debt holders {“Existing Warrants™) was adjusted to $.35 per
share.

Also in consideration for acceptance of debt restructuring, debt holders were offered new warrants
from the Company to purchase common stock at an exercise price of $.35 per share, (“New
Warranis'™),

The fair value of outstanding warrants were indexed to an aggregate 2,133,515 shares of the
Company’s stock. The calculated value for all warranis was $.01 per warrant share. The fair value
calculations were performed by independent consultants using fair value as defined in the Accounting
Standards Codification 820-10-35-2, Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2012
Management asserts no substantial change in the warrant value per share as of December 31, 2014,
These warrants expired as of March 31, 2015.

NOTE I - INCENTIVE BASED COMPENSATION

In 2007, the Company awarded 200,000 restricted shares of common stock, par value $.001 per share,
10 executive officers, subject 10 a vesting schedule and/or completion of certain company performance
conditions. For the year ended December 31, 2015, there was no share-based compensation cxpense.
For the year ended December 31, 2014, shared-based compensation expense was S17.502.

The following table summarizes the activity involving restricted stock awards for the year ended
December 31, 2014:

Non-vested Weighted
Number of Average Non-vested
Shares Grant Price Share Vaiue
As of January 1, 2014 49 988 0.35 5 17.502
Granied - - -
Vested (49,988) 0.35 (17,502)
Forfeited - - -
As of December 31, 2014 - 0.35 $ -

The total vested shares at the end of December 31, 2014, were 200,000,

-15-



T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015 and 2014

NOTE J - EQUITY INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION PLAN

The T3 Communications Equity Incentive Plan was originally established to foster and promote the
long-term financial success of T3 and its subsidiaries and thereby stockholder value. The Plan
provides for the award of equity incentives to those employees, directors. or officers of. or key
advisers or consultants to. the Company or any of its subsidiaries who are responsible for or
contribute to the management, growth or success of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The maximum number of shares available for issuance under the Plan at any given time shall be equal
to the greater of 900,000 shares of Common Stock; or that number of shares of Common Stock equal
to eighteen percent {18.0%) of the Adjusted Diluted Shares Outstanding.

The vesting period is generally over a period of five years from the date of grant, subject to certain
exceptions at the discretion of the Board,  Each Stock Option agreement shall siate the period of time
within which the Stock Option may be exercised, however no Stock Option shall be exercisable after
10 years from the date of grant.

The following table summarizes the activity involving stock option awards for the year ended
December 31, 2015:

Qutstanding Weighted
Number of Average
Options Exercise Price
Beginning of year 2015 425,000 0.01
Granted - -
Exercised - -
Forfeited (125,000) 0.01
End of year 2015 300,000 0.01

The total vested options at the end of December 31, 2015, were 300,000.

NOTE K -~ 401(K) RETIREMENT PLAN
The Company has a discretionary 401(k) retirementi plan covering all eligible employees. Profit-

sharing expense is funded through annuai contributions to the plan. The Company did not contribute
for the years ending December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

-16-



T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015 and 2014

NOTE L - INCOME TAXES

The provisions for income taxes consist of the following components:

2015 2014
Current tax expense
Federal 3 155870 § 119,306
State 6,726 -
162,596 119,306
Deferred expense (benefit)
Federal 82,770 (965)
State 18,285 -
101,055 {965)

3 263.651 3 118,341

Deferred income taxes are provided for the temporary differences between the financial reporting
basis and the tax basis of the Company's assets and liabilities. Notwithstanding, differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases are evaluated to determine
whether income tax asscts or liabilities require recognition.

These deferred tax assets (liabilities) consisted of the following at December 31:

2015 2014
Net current assets (liabilities):
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Federal $ 66,406 § 73,395
State 10,435 -
76,841 73,395
Net non-current assets (liabilities):
Net operating loss carry-forwards
Federal 3,911 152,792
State 499 -
Property and equipment
Federal (222,612) (139.842)
State (18,285) -
(236,487) 12,950
Less: Valuation allowances - -
(236,487) 12,950
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ (159.646) §% 86,345

Valuation allowances are required in the absence of reasonable assurance of future income sources.
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T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015 and 2014

NOTE L - INCOME TAXES (continued)

At December 31, 20135, the Company had net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $4,410,
which may be used to offset future taxable income. After reviewing recent history, management
decided that the Company is generating sufficient taxable income that will allow the use of the net
operating loss. The net operating loss carry-forward is available to offset futurc camnings expiring
through the year 2035. At December 31, 2014, the Company had net operating loss carry-forwards of
approximately $436,550, of which $434,951 were used to offset taxable income during 2015.

NOTE M — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company purchases its corporate insurances including director and officer insurance, workers
compensation, and commercial & general liability insurances from a company of which an ewner is a
note holder. For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company paid fees of $6,982 and
$6,989, respectively.

The Company leases one of its facilities from a corporation, which is a shareholder of the Company.
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company paid rent of $2,575 and $4,607,
respectively.

The Company entered into a two-year consulting agreement during February 2012 with a board
member and sharcholder 1o act in the capacity of Chief Operating Officer at an annual fee of
$120,000. As of January 31, 2014, the agreement automatically renewed for a period of one year
expiring December 31, 2014. For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company paid
fees of $5,000 and $120,000, respectively.

The Company purchased software-programming services from a company of which a certain member
is also an employee of the Company. For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company
incurred and paid total fees of $60,119 and $81.391, respectively.

The Company provided services to a company of which the sole member is also an officer of the
Company. For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company recorded sales of $15,773
and 515,984, respectively.

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company has intercompany receivables and payables of
$266,086 and $71,009, respectively. These transactions are not evidenced by any notes between the
companies and are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, Company incurred fiber costs totaling $148,930 and $161,133,

respectively, through Eastern and Intron. Intercompany transactions rclaied to these services are
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.
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T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015 and 2014

NOTE N - CONCENTRATIONS

Cash

The Company maintains cash balances at various financial institutions. Interest bearing cash accounts
arc insured by the FDIC up to $250,000 per depositor. At December 31, 2015, the Company had
uninsured cash balances of $151,119. At December 31, 2014, the Company had no uninsured cash
balances. The Company has not experienced any losses from the accounts and management believes
the Company is not exposed to significant credit risk related to bank deposit accounts.

Suppliers

A portion of the Company’s total carrier and other direct costs of service is provided by a limited
number of vendors. During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, one vendor accounted for
approximately 29% and 32% of related costs, respectively.

NOTE O - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

In June 2015, the Company was named as a party to a patent infringement complaint with respect to
over-the-counter software purchased in the normal course of business. The Company has filed a
third-party complaint against the vendor selling the equipment asking the court to indemnify the
Company in any litigation. In the opinion of management, the ultimate outcome is uncertain as of the
date for the accompanying consolidated financial statements, Management does not believe the
outcome of any asserted or unasserted claims will have a material adverse effect upon the Company’s
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

NOTE P - RESTATEMENT OF PRIOR PERIOD

Intangible assets at the beginning of 2014 have been adjusted to recognize a correction of an error in the
purchase price of a customer list based upon contingent earnings from the previous year. Management
has subsequently evaluated and determined that the contingent revenue earnings were incorrectly
calculated to include pre-closing revenue triggering additional shares of common stock to be issued. The
2014 consolidated financial statements have been restated.  The effect of this restatement on the
consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2014 was as follows:

Decrease in intangible assets $ 17,500
Decrease in common stock $ 50
Decrease in additional paid-in-capital $ 17.450
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Schedule 3.8(j)
SETTLEMENTS SINCE LATEST BALANCE SHEET DATE

On February 27, 2017, the Company settled a litigation that it had against Rossman Realty
Group {(“Rossman”), a former customer, for $3.500. The Company had previously sued
Rossman for $12,000 for the early termination penalties specified in its contract after
Rossman terminated its agrecment early.
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Schedule 3.8(k)

INTERRUPTIONS IN USE OF PROPERTIES

From time to time the Company cxperiences certain network outages as a result of ¢vents beyond
The following major outages have occurred since December 31, 2015.

i1s control,

7/5/2016

"9/12/2016 -
9/19/2016

10/11/2016

11/16/2016

11/29/2016

- 2/1/2017

2/18/2017

300757723 vt

__:Description

10/9/2016

!Summit Broadband
‘{fiker vendor)
Equipment Issue - They
had to replace line card
i

iSummit Broadband
‘Multiple Network Issues

| Detaits

and had to replace it.

Affected T3 customers'
data and voice being ;
transported aver
Summit's fiber.

6 hours

S“l’Jr“'"nmat exp.e“r“uénced a fiber“cut and rerouted our
traffic through new equipmant in order to get us
back up. After rerouting the traffic, customers still
.had issues with data due to several DDoS attacks
happening over Summit’s network directed at one
of their customers. There were still issues with
some customers after that and we worked with the
{Summit engineers to determine they had a bad
IMTU setting an one of their links.

Bistributed Deniai‘ of
sSer\ri-:e' {DDoS) attack

i

Power outage affected
voice

“Florida Power & Light A
Outage

[ TR a \
iBroadcast storm on
ESummit Broadband lirntks

'Voite Outage due to SIP
-Attack

Failures

After bringing a customer fram previous DDoS
attack back online, they were attacked again. We
removed the Customer from T3's network for
Internet access and have them on Comcast now.

A power surge tripped a circuit breaker in the

as well as the link to the backup CFS were both
installed on the same circuit in errar. After
restoring power we made sure all redundant power
supplies were on separate breakers.

Tept experienced fiber cut. After repairing they
continued to have issues until they rebooted their
equipment.

‘ Whﬁeaddlng redundantlmks Witﬁ Su.mmii,‘.f'ﬁe;

tactivated a link that was plugged in but not
configured carrectly and caused a broadcast starm
on our network. We contacted Summit
immediately after seeing the issue and had them
shut the interface back down.

The Perimeta SBC was overloaded with outbound
call actempts due to a SIP attack. We determmined
'the source IP of the attack and blocked it on all
:edge routers to restore service.

The Secureboost aggregators were experiencing
random crashes and Multipplied was in the process
!of troubleshooting. The crashes were not a major
issue since the bonds would fail over to the

aggregators crashed at about the same time
causing all Secureboost customers to go down

12

redundant aggregatars. On this day however, both -

i

All SecureBoost

Affected T3 customers'
data and vaice being
transported aver

{Summit's fiber.

AH T3 Internet traffic
and some Voice
connectivity

AH T3 Voice

jdowntown data center. The new Metaswitch CFS .Connectivity

and voice transported
over FPL Fiber

data

T3C uéfomers usi'n‘gw o
VolIP far outhound calls;

Customers

AIT3 customers's data

of misc
downtime

0.5 hours

0.5 hours

1.5 hours

AN T3 Voice and some (.25 hours

1 haur

"0.25 hours

Duration;

3 hours

<
H

H




Schedule 3.9(b)
LEASED REAL PROPERTY

1. 2401 First Street, Unit 300, Fort Myers, FL 34901.

The Company is a party to that certain “Office Lease Agreement”, dated July 15, 2012,
with Viking Center, LLC pursuant to which it lcases approximately 6,800 gross square
feet of floor area. The lease is a net lease with a five-year term, commencing on October
1, 2012 and terminating on September 30, 2017. The Base Rent at the beginning of the
lease was $56,664 per year ($4,722/mo or approximately $8.33/sf), but was subject to a
3% increase each year thereafter. In addition to the Base Rent, the Company pays certain
taxes, insurance, and Common Area Maintenance charges.

The Company is working diligently to effect the Relocation prior to the expiration of this
lease on September 30, 2017. However, it is possible that construction will not be done
and/or the move will not be completed before then. In such case, pursuant to Section 25
of the Leasc Agreement, the Company will have to pay monthly rent at the holdover rate
of 200% of the lease rate in cffect prior to the holdover until such time as it vacates the

property.

2. The Company is negotiating to enter into a leasc for 4,250 square feet of leasable interior
office space at 1610 Royal Palm Ave, Fort Myers, FL 33901 in connection with the
Relocation. The Contemplated lease will be a 10 year lease that is cancellable after 5
years so long as any unamortized portion of the Landlord’s tenant improvement (TI)
allowance is reimbursed 1o the Landlord. It is currently contemplated that the Landlord
will provide a TI allowance of $170,000 of the estimated $220,000 - $240,000 of
construction expenses. The rent in Year 1 is estimated to be $8 net per square foot plus
Common Area Maintenance (CAM) charges, plus 6% sales tax. In Years 2-10, the rent is
estimated 1o be a 2% escalation from the previous year plus CAM, plus sales tax. It is
presently contemplated that there will be a security deposit equal to two month’s rent.
Any lease entered into by Company in connection with the Relocation is subject to an
obligation to obtain prior written approval of such lease by Buyer. Any discussion related
to the Relocation in this Schedule and/or the Agreement shall not be construed as Buyer’s
consent.

300757723 v1



Schedule 3.10
CONDITION OF ASSETS

1. The data center Fire Suppression System was just inspected by Protective Systems and
passed on 4-3-2017. Their recommendations are to watch for a small leak down of gas in
the next 12 months. The gauge may be malfunctioning or may have a small bladder leak
but nothing was thought to be in immediate need to repair,

2. The Company’s AC UPS is in good condition. Gruber Power, the service contract,
replaced the batteries earlier this year and a completed a cycle of maintenance. The last
test showed that the AC UPS is running at 100% as designed. Gruber recommended that
further maintenance for 2017 should include replacing the air filter and load testing twice
per year.

3. The Company’s DC Power UPS recently went through a load test as well as an inspection
and it was suggested that the batteries be replaced in 2017-2018. The current DC load
has been significantly reduced in 2017, and the Company believes that the load reduction
will allow it to continue through 2017. Gruber Power is also the contracted service
company for this equipment. Consideration should be given to replacing this system as
part of the Relocation.

4. The Company’s Liebert 22 Ton HVAC unit is very old but regularly maintained by
United Mechanica. During the last quarterly inspection, air filters were replaced but no
major repairs were recommended. However, given the age of the equipment, more
significant maintenance may be required sooner rather than later. The Company also has
2-Movin Cool portable units in new conditicn as a standby in case there are maintenance
1ssues with the Liebert HVAC unit. Consideration should be given to replacing this
system as part of the Relocation.

5. The Company’s Automatic Transfer Switch (ATS) was tested on 4/28/17 by Morrison
Electric, the contracted service company. Morrison recommended that the unit be rebuilt
in 2017 to replace some surface corrosion.

6. The Company’s Rooftop Generator (180KW) just had a full-service oil change and
coolant flush on 2/1/2017. The unit is tested on Friday of every week., The Company
keeps a log of the tests and lets it run for approximately 45 minutes cach week. The
generator is serviced by Metro Power systems and their recommendations moving
forward are 1o replace the cover due to surface rust and to paint the fuel lines that feed up
to the belly tank from the storage tank. This is large generator that is affixed to the roof
of the current facility. It is unclear at this time, whether this unit will be able to be
accommodated at the new facility contemplated by the Relocation. Consideration will
need to be given as to whether to install a different generator set up at the new location.

300757723 v1



Schedule 3.11(j)

STATES WHERE STATE TAX MIGHT BE DUE

During the last three (3) years, the Company has provided scrvices 1o a de-minimus number of
customers outside the state of Florida that theoretically would give rise to certain State sales and
other communications taxes being due. However, based on the advice of its outside tax advisors,
the Company determined there was no material risk to not becoming a filer for such state taxes.
Listed below is a table of the amounts that would have theoretically been due if the Company

had become a filer in such states;

2014 | 2015 2016 2017 to-dat Totals
Taxable Total Tax

Totals Totals Totals Totals Revenue Amt
o FCCRegFee 5 - $ 00s 5 . |$ 1105 % 005
§ StateSalesTax $ - § - % 214 8 - |§ 5180 § 214
0] FUSF 5000 5 198 5 $ 1128 § 202
g' GAUSF § - . 5 193 $ 5357 § 193
SPUED § - § - & 107 $ 5180 § 107
[¢ - s ovoals 7a7|s - [s n
! Local Option Sales Tax $ - $ - $ 008 $ 004]|5 1247 5 012
o .. .  FCCRegree 5 1416 5 480 § 1306 § 630 | 5251074 $ 4432
5| [9liSeniceChage § 3300 $ 3600 § 2700 § 600165542 $ 10200
X, StateSalesTax $ 4088 § 3003 § 3054 5 595§ 52652 $ 107.40
=0 © PUSF $13757 $ 4655 519196 $ 5671 $2510.74 5 432.79
: [$22561] 311738 s 26864 5 75.00 ['s s8663
! RTA Charge $ 019 $ - % 019 $ - |$% 5000 $ 038
! CountySalesTax $ 006 § - & - % - |s 200 5 006
" FCCRegFee $ 486 § 220 $ 027 § 0265174023 & 759
S 5 StateExciseTax § 89.25 $ 4598 § 776 § 410 51,823.38 $ 147.09
Sy ... . SateiMF $ 635 § 329 5 055 $ 0295182338 5 1048
= StateSalesTax § 156 $ - $ 156 § - |$ 5000 5 312
L FUSF $179.45 $ 8520 $ 1323 § 11585174023 $ 289.15
. UsFS (pD3) $ 074 S 098 5 074|% 20614 & 243
! [s28139] 3137415 2454]5 1697 [s 46031
| FCCRegFee|$ (044) $ 211 S 131 § - |S 70673 S 298
vingston COTech911 § 258 $ 258 $ 153 § - $6,406.40 S 6.69
c | . CountySiiCharge $ 2004 $ 2004 5 1169 $ - |$640640 S 5177
B County911Charge $ 228 $ 228 § 133 § - |$640640 5 539
£ MIRestruct MechFee $ 2108 § 1939 § 1473 § - | $8344.07 § 5530
s State UseTax § 230,89 320223 $ 12081 $§ $9,050.80 5 553.93
S'g State911Charge $ 204 § 204 5 119 § - [%640640 $ 527
. StateSiicharge § 024 § 024 5 014 5 - | 9640640 5 062
FUSF § (17.25] § 7888 § 6175 5 - |$ 70673 $ 123.38
i [s261.56[$32079] 5 21408 [ $ [s 80s.83
2 CﬂunWSa‘FﬁTa*IS 201§ 927 5 918 5 227|54537.03 § 2313
3 FCCRegFee $_(158) § 260 § 268 5 0665 273.47 $ 436
E . ... StateSalesTax §131.41 $12673 $12605 $ 31085598822 § 41527
S 911/Tele-Relay/TapCharge § 4192 % 1335 § 1250 §  3.09 | $370500 $ 70.86
= ' FUSF ¢ (1358) $ 2788 $ 2768 $ 605|% 273.50 § 4803
=2 [s1e058]517983] 5178095 4315 [s se16s
Grand Tatal I 52,521.63
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Schedule 3.11(a)
EXTENSION OF TIME TO FILE 2016 FEDERAL & STATE TAX RETURNS

The Company filed extensions for its 2016 Federal and Florida State tax returns.

The Company made an estimated Federal tax payment for its 2016 tax liability of $150,000 on
4/18/17 as part of its Federal Extension. The Company filed its final 2016 Tax Return on Form
1120 on 5/1/17 and included an additional payment of $13,594. All of such payments were
made timely.

The Company made estimated Florida state tax payments of $19,000 in 2016 and made an
additional payment of $1,610 with its FL Tax Return of Form F-1120 return on 4/28/17. All
such payments were made timely.

16
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Schedule 3.12
PERMITS

1. Florida Public Service Commission (PSC) Order Granting Certificate to Provide
Alternative Local Exchange Telecommunications Services, dated 11/20/2002 (PSC Order
# PSC-02-1606-PAA-TX)

2. Florida Public Services Commission Registration of Intrastate and Interexchange
Telecommunications Company (1XC), 7/16/2003 (Docket # 030348-TI)

3. Federal Communications Commission's 214 License granting T3 license to provide long
distance and international toll calling (no date identified)

17
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Schedule 3.13
CONTRACTS AND COMMITMENTS

3.13(a)iv) - Contracts or agrcements with a Government Body. The following is a list of
contracts with municipalities, with the monthly recurring charges and expiration dates:

! A .; Contract Expiration

|Account © MRC Date
City of Fort Myers l $ 315007  8/11/2016.
City of Marco Island - Phone " $133530 1_ ~9/22/2019

City of Marco Island - Internet

1495.00| 9/21/2019

City ¢ ofM co sland - ) 00 . 224/2020!
City of Naples Data _ s 1 895.00 : 10/31/2017
City of Naples - FEe15chmann Park . S 1,000.00 . - 2/22/2020
.City of Naples - Norris Community Centelj | s 1,000. OQ _______ 2/24/2020
‘City of Naples - Voice s 1281 50| . 12/20/2016;
“City of Naples - River Park Commumty Reg :$1,095.00¢ 3/1/2018|
City of Naples - Dock . $ 1,095.00 : . 5/8/2018;
Cityof Naples LowdermikPark 51095001 10/4/2018'
.City of Naples - Pier {$1,095.00 10/29/2019
City of Naples- WaterPlant '$109500{ 87/2017

3.13(vi) — Contracts with employees for fixed compensation in excess of $100,000/year. Josh
Reel, the Company’s CEOQ, is the only employee with annual compensation in excess of
100,000/year. Under the terms of that certain Amended and Restated Employment Agreement,
dated December 2, 2016, Mr. Reel is currently operating under a bifurcated salary structure
designed to wind his time with the Company down and provide for an orderly transition to new
leadership in two different scenarios (i) the Company is not sold, and (ii) the Company is sold.
The salary structure in each case is outlined as follows:

)] If the Company is not sold:

% of Mthly  Target Mihly

Time & Service Monthly
Period Aftention* Hours Salary Level

Effcctive Date through January 31, 2017 oo B0% 144 $12.500
From Februvary 1, 2017 until the earlier of (A) four weeks after
a new President (or new CEO) commences employment
with the Company and (B) August 31, 2017 (such date, the

“Change Date"™).... . . ettt en 50% 90 $12,500
From the day after the Change Date through the 2-year
anniversary of the Change Date (or such other date as may

be agreed between the Company and the Executive)................ 20% 36 $4.000

18
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(i)  ifthe Company is sold;

% of Mthly

Target Mthly

Time & Service Monthly
Period Altention* Hours* Salary Level
Effective Date on which T3 enters into an SPA through the
SALE DAL ..ottt b R0% 144 $12,500
Sale Date through the 3-month anniversary of the Sale Date ....... 80% 144 $12.500
Day after the 3-month anniversary of the Sale Date through the
6-month anniversary of the Sale Date ..........c.covevvvrmencenn 50% 90 $8,000
Day after the 6-month anniversary of the Sale Date through the
12-month anniversary of the Sale Date.........ccoroir e 20% 36 $4.000

Mr. Reel is also eligible for the following bonus compensation and retention payments in the

event of a sale of the Company:

() on the Sale Date, a closing bonus in an amount equal to the product of (i} 400,000
multiplied by (ii) (A) the amount by which the final per share consideration realized by T3
shareholders pursuant to the transaction contemplated by the SPA afier giving effect to all
deductions of the gross proceeds to pay off debt, transaction expense, or other contractual
obligations (which shall be determined in good faith by the Board if all of such

consideration is not paid in cash) exceeds (B) $0.35;

b) on the Sale Date, a retention payment of $100,000; and

{c) within five (5) business days of:

(i) the twelve (12) month anniversary of the Sale Date, a further retention

payment of $100,000 (the “Final Retention Payment™) provided (A) the Executive
continues to provide services to the Company in accordance with this Agreement or
any successor agreement as of such anniversary or (B) this Agreement is terminated
within such twelve (12) month period upon mutual amicable agreement signed in
writing by the Executive and the Company; or

(ii}  any termination of the Executive by the Company without Cause, or by
reason of death or disability, prior to the twelve (12) month anniversary of the Sale
Date, the Final Retention Payment.

Mr. Reel also receives a $500/month taxable car allowance and is eligible for an award of

500,000 warrants of the Company with a strike price of $0.35/share in the event the

Company is not sold.

3.13(ix) — Indemnification Obligations. Under Article VI of the Company’s current By-Laws,
the Company has an obligation to indemnify all directors, officers, employees or agents of the
Company who was, is, or becomes a party, or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened,

pending or completed action, suit or proceeding.

3.13(xii) - Contracts over $100,000/Ycar - See Scheduie 3.22
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Schedule 3.14
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

13.14(a)(1i): Domain Names

Previous and current company domain names and identities:
Intronsolutions.com
Intronsolutions.net
Neosmart.com
T3com.com

T3com.net
Tier3communications.com
Tier3communications.net
Caviair.com

Caviair.net

Caviair.org

Hosted platform uses the following for customer logins and support:
https:#/portal. myt 3hosted.comy’ (Metaswitch Comm Portal)

httpe/www 13hosted.com/’ (Godaddy Reseller Website)
hitpsst3eom.cde ws (CDG E-Care)
hitps://noc.t3com,net (PRTG Network Monitoring and Customer Traffic Graphs)

Product and Service pages:
Myt3hosted.com
Myt3hosting.com
Myt3phone.com
Myt3portal.com
Myt3fax.com
Securchoost.com
Secureboost.net
Secureboost.info
Secureboost.org
Myt3voip.com
Myt3voip.net
Myt3mail.net

13.14(a)(jii); Trade Names

T3 Communications
Intron Solutions

13.14(a)(vi): Sofiware

“Monstro” - is a SQL Database used for customer, provisioning, inventory and support
information
“Numbers Database” - is a MySQL database for management of phone numbers

20
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Schedule 3.15
LITIGATION

On June 19, 2015, Patent Asset Licensing, LLC (“PAL” or “Plaintiff”) filed complaints in the
U.S. District Court for the Middle District of Florda (the “Court™) against Defendants Bright
House Networks, LLC (“BHN"), WideopenWest Finance, LLC and Knology of Florida, Inc.
(collectively, “WOW™), YMax Corp. (“YMax"), Birch Communications, Inc. (“Birch”), and T3
Communications, Inc. (“T3™} (collectively, “Defendants™) (together with Plaintiff, “the Parties™),
alleging that they infringe claims of U.S. Patent Nos. 7,764,777; 8,155,298; and 8,457,113 (the
“patents-in-suit”). The T3 Complaint was assigned Case No. 3:15-CV-747-)-32JBT.

The claims in cach complaint allege infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 7,764,777 (the “777
Patent™); 8,155,298 (the “298 Patent™; and 8,457,113 (the “113 Patent”) (collectively, the
“patents-in-suit”). According to PAL, the patents-in-suit “share a common specification and
disclose improved systems and methods for applying call features and routing telephone calls
across telecommunication networks”.  On February 17, 2016, the Court held a preliminary
pretrial conference after which it, among other things, consolidated the cases for discovery
through the claim construction hearing and requested that the parties submit agreed pretrial
deadlines. Thereafter, the Court entered a Case Management and Scheduling Order, which it
amended twice at the parties’ request.

On June 23 and 24, 2016, five of the six Defendants submitted petitions for inter partes review 10
the Patent Trial and Appeal Board (“PTAB™), an administrative law body of the United States
Patent and Trademark Office (“PTO™). WOW, Knology, Bright House, and Birch filed a set of
four petitions which collectively challenge the validity of all of the asserted patent claims.
YMax filed three petitions which challenge the validity of all 12 asserted claims from the ‘777
patent, both asscrted claims from the ‘298 patent, and 9 of the 2! asserted claims from the “113
patent. YMax’s petitions purpertedly rely on different prior art than that relied upon in
Defendants’ petitions, thus presenting possible alternative reasons for invalidation. T3 did not
file any of the petitions but has agreed to be bound by the litigation estoppel provision of 35
U.S.C. § 315 as if it had filed Defendants’ petitions.

On December 19, 2016, the Patent Office instituted BHN, WOW, and Birch’s IPR challenging
the "298 patent (IPR2016-01259, -01263). On December 28, 2016, the Patent Office instituted
YMax's IPR challenging the "113 patent (IPR2016-01260). On Janvary 3, 2017, the Patent
Office instituted YMax’s IPR challenging the "777 patent (IPR2016-01258) and BHN, WOW,
and Birch’s IPRs challenging the '113 patent (IPR2016-01261) and the 777 patent (IPR2016-
01262). On January 4, 2017, the Patent Office instituted YMax’s IPR challenging the '298
patent (IPR2016-01256). The Patent Office has therefore instituted review based on all seven
IPR petitions and is considering patentability of every asserted claim in the Actions.

Since January 5, 2017, the date of filing of the Parties’ first Joint Report PAL has submitted its
Patent Owner Responscs and Motions to Amend certain claims on April 3, 2017, pursuant to the
schedule set forth by the Patent Office. Under the current schedule, the Patent Office will issue
Final Wntten Decisions in the IPRs by January 4, 2018.
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Schedule 3.16
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

3.16(a) — ERISA Plans.

The Company currently offers participation in a 401K Plan as part of its employee
benefits package. The 401K Plan is sponsored by Lincoln Financial Group, and the Third Party
Administrator is The Retirement Advantage, Inc.. The Company does not offer any matching
contributions to plan participants.

3.16(d) - ERISA Plans subject to Title IV or that provide for medical or life insurance benefits
to retirees and former employees or participation in multiemployer plan,

None

22
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' Schedule 3.17
INSURANCE

1. Insurance Policies: The Company currently carries the following types of insurance policies.

All of these renewed in March 2017 and will expire in March 2018. A summary of the
coverage hmits, premiums and deductibles can be found on Schedule 3.17(a).

Business Auto Insurance

Cyber/Computer Insurance

Directors and Officers Insurance

Package — Property, Commercial General Liability, & Employce Benefits
Umbrella/Excess Liability Insurance

Workers Compensation

me s o

2. Claims History (2014 — 4/24/17)

a) Number of Claims

YTD 2017
Insurance Type 2014 2015 2016 (to 4/24/17)
Auto 0 1 0 0
Cyber 0 1 0 0
D&O 0 0 0 0
Package 0 0 0 0
Urmnbrella 0 0 0 0
! Workers Comp 0 1 0 0
|
| b) Dollar Amount of Paid Claims
YTD 2017
Insurance Type 2014 2015 2016 (to 4/24/17)
Auto S0 $74.20 $0 50
Cyber $0 $0 $0 $0
D&O 30 $0 $0 $0
Package $0 $0 $0 $0
Umbrella $0 $0 $0 $0
Workers Comp £0 $34,969.83 $0 $0
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Sched

ule 3.22

CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

1. Top Ten Customers by dollar amount of Annual Revenue:

-y

2015 !
Recurring l Recurring 1
Charges Charges

‘Name Annuslized l _Name Annualized
'"HOPE HEALTHCARE SERVICES 5 41718560 HOPE HEALTHCARE SERVICES .5 33979240
-First | Florlda 3 Integrity N t First Florida Integrity Bank ’ 176,397.36
ROYAL SHELL-9- VACATIONS PRI 167 493.70 ROYAL SHELL o 161, 691 35 1
ENCORE BANK NA A 130,586.02_, ENCORCE BANK NA 109,835.32 i
CityofNaples . 8210510] CityofNaptes 10207030
Salus Care,Inc. .~~~ 56234.33 ) Cltvof Marco lsland 64,873.80§
SPF.CIALISTS iN UROLDG\" ] ) ' L. . 54,183.24 ¢ _SPECIALISTS IN UROLOGY 52,15_4:24 ;
AutoTraderGroupcom ... 43932 OQ.j AutoTraderGroup.com 49,932.00 |
Cityof Marco Island i 47,382.47  JOINTIMPLANT SURGEONS OF FLORIDA ~ 47,214.40 |

21,00,00|  YELLOW CAB/BLUEBIRD TAXI 4538260

JFLORIDA'S NATURAL GROWERS

2. Top Ten Vendors by dollar amount of Annual Spend:

2015

vm e e ey

Do ' " 016

"Annual Charges

‘Name ‘Annual Charges | Name
ICenturyLink Wholesale and 311208115 ! 1,051,067.53 | Centurlenk Wholesale .
Summit Broadband {formely US Metro]  355,009.07 | Summit Broadband (formely US Metra)
tWl\.ﬁletaswitch o L 243,070.20 | ‘ ‘FPLFiberNet
lFPL FiberNet =~ e e 229,551, 941 ;United He_g!t_hsz?rg_!ns_urance Company
Umted Healthcare Insurance Compa ny 174 380 46 ; ,V‘!‘".‘S,E?E‘FQE,!-!:Q e
!Comcast Fiber .« 146428371 iRogers Towers Attorneys
Verlzon Busmess e L __1_}5,@{3'7__:2?5.5 Metaswft(_‘h o
|Viking Center LLC 1 113,780.69 | IComeast - Re
.Comcast - Retail £1,755.03
{Travelers 65,455.00 Véﬁzon Busmesswmhmm -

24

300757723 w1

.. 108120298 |

356,357.1‘? .
219,800.69 |
181,071,58 |
10220472
94,913.05
85,159_._52 i
79.983.83
7456561
_71,5(_)_2.88 .



Schedule 4.5
BROKERAGE (Acquisition Company)

Vikram P. Grover d/b/a IX Advisors (“*IXA") is broker in connection with Transaction based on
that certain Letter Agreement dated July 27, 2017, by and between IXA and the Buyer, as
amended.

25
300757723 v1
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Schedule 5.2
ANTICIPATED RELOCATION EXPENSES

Move 1610 Royal Palm
Data Center Build*

Engineering Drawings $3,500.00
Electrical Drawings $8,400.00
CRAC Units $25,000.00
Pad Construction $20,000.00
Plumbing $6,800.00
Sled - Move and Installation $30,000.00
Door access £5,000.00
Video Recording $2,000.00
Fire Suppressicn $20,000.00
Downtown Splicing $3,500.00
Metered PDUs $6,000.00
Cabling and Mgmt $20,000.00
Fiber Install & Splicing $25,000.00

Business Expenses:

S0C2 $30,000.00
Cubicles, Desks and chairs §25,000.00
Moving Expenses $10,000.00

Move Totals $240,200.00

The above anticipated expenses related to the Relocation shalt be approved by Buyer only after a
lease has been entered into by Company, which contains lease terms that are satisfactory to the
Buyer and the Company.
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Schedule 4.5

Financial Ability

Buyer will have on the Closing Date, sufficient immediately available funds in cash to pay the
Purchase Price and all fecs and expenses to be paid by Buyer.

[See attached)
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Schedule 5.2
ANTICIPATED RELOCATION EXPENSES

Move 1610 Royal Palm

Data Center Build*

Engineering Drawings $3,500.00
Electrical Drawings $8,400.00
CRAC Units $25,000.00
Pad Construction 520,000.00
Plumbing $6,800.00
Sled - Move and Installation $30,000.00
Door access $5,000.00
Video Recording 52,000.00
Fire Suppressicn $20,000.00
Downtown Splicing $3,500.00
Meterad PDUs $6,000.00
Cabling and Mgmt $20,000.00
Fiber Install & Splicing $25,000.00

Business Expenses:

50C2 $30,000.00
Cubicles, Desks and chairs 525,000.00
Moving Expenses $10,000.00

Move Totals $240,200.00

The above anticipated expenses related to the Relocation shall be approved by Buyer only after a
lease has been entered into by Company, which contains lease terms that are satisfactory to the
Buyer and the Company.
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EXHIBIT A

AMENDED AND RESTATED ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
OF
T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC,,
a Florida corporation

[See attached]
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FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF STATE
DIVISION OF CORPORATIONS

Attached is a form for filing Areicles of Amendment 1o amend the articles of incorporation of a Flarida Profit Corporation pursuant o
section 607.1006, Florida Statutes. This is a basic amendment form and may not satisfy all statutory requirements for amending.

A corporation can amend or add as many articles as nceessary in one amendment.
» The original incorporators cannot be amended.
*> If amending the name of the corporation, the new name must be distinguishable on the records of the Florida Department of

State. A preliminary search for name availability can be made through the Division’s website at www sunbiz.org, You arc
responsible for any name infringement that may result from your corporate name selection.

Y

1f amending the registered agent, the new agent must sign accepling the appointment and state that he/she is familiar with the
ohligations of the position,

# Il amending/adding officers/directors, list titles and addresses for each officer/director.

# If amending from a gencral corporation to a professional corporation, the purposc (specific nature of business) must be
amended or added 1 not cuntained in the articles of incorporation.

If a scetion is not being amended, enter N/A or Not Applicable.
The document must be typed or printed and must be legible.

Pursuant to scction 607.0123, Florida Statutes, a delayed effective date may be specified but may not be later than the 90™ day after the
date on which the document is filed.

Filing Fee $35.00 (Includes a letter of acknowledgment)
Certified Copy (optional) $8.75
Certificate of Status (optional) $8.75

Send one check in the tolal amount made payable 1o sthe Florida Department of State,

Please include a letier containing your telephone number, return address and certification requirements. or complete the attached cover
letter.

Mailing Address Street Address

Amendment Section Amendment Section

Division of Corporations Division of Corporations
P.O. Box 6327 Clifton Building
Tallahassee, FL 32314 2661 Executive Center Circle

Tallahassce, FL 32301

For turther information you may call the Amendment Section at (850) 245-6050

CRIEGIN (04715)
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COVER LETTER

TO: Amendment Section
Division of Corporations

; NICATIONS. INC.
NAME OF CORPORATION: T3 COMMUNICATIO

P06000002503

DOCUMENT NUMBER:

The enclosed Articles af Amendment and fee are submitted for filing.

Pleasc return all correspondence concerning this manter to the following:

SILVIA QUERALES

Name of Contact Pcrson
BOYARMILLER ‘

Finr/ Company
2925 RICHMOND AVE.. 14TH FLLOOR
Address

HOUSTON, TEXAS 77098

City/ State and Zip Code

JOSH@NEXGENCCM.COM

E-mail address: (to be used for furure annual report notification)

For further information concerning this matter, please call:

SILVIA QUERALES at{ 832 ) 615-4249

Name of Contact Person Area Code & Daytime Telephone Number

Enclosed is a check for the following amount made payable to the Florida Department of State:

X $35 Filing Fee (3$43.75 Filing Fee &  [0S43.75 Filing Fee &  [3$52.30 Filing Fee
Certificate of Status Certified Copy Certificate of Status
(Additional copy is Certified Cony
enclosed) {Additional Copy

is enclosed)

Mailing Address Street Address

Amendment Section Amendment Section
Division of Corporations Division of Corporations
P.0. Box 6327 Clifton Building

Tallahassee, FL 32314 2661 Exccutive Center Circle

Tallahassee, FL 32301

ILDDS - £:5:2015 Wolizrs Kl o1 Onlioe



Articles of Amendment
to

Articles of Incorporation
of

T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
(Name of Corporation as currently filed with the Florida Dept. of State)

POGOO0002503

{Document Number of Corporation (if known)

Pursuant to the provisions of section 607.1006, Florida Statutes, this Florida Profit Corporation adopts the following amendment(s) to
its Articles of Incorporation:

A. I amending name, enter the new name of the corporation:

The new
name must be distinguishahle and contain the word “corporation,” “company,” or “incorporated” or the ubbreviation
“Corp.,” “Inc.,” or Co.,” or the designation “Corp,” “Inc,” or "Co". A professional corporation name must contain the
wend Vchariered,” Cprofessional association.” or the abbreviation “P.A. "

3463 MAGIC DR., SUITE 355

B. Enter new principal office address, if applicable:
(Principal office address MUST BE A STREET ADDRESS ) SAN ANTONIO. TEXAS 78229
C. Enter new mailing address, if applicable; 1463 MAGIC DR... SUITE 355

(Mailing address MAY BE A POST QFFICE BOX)

SAN ANTONIO, TEXAS 78229

D. If amending the registered agent and/or registered office address in Florida, enter the name of the
new registered agent apd/or the new repistered office address:

Name of New Registered Agent CT CORPORATION SYSTEM

1200 SOUTH PINE ISLAND ROAD

tFlorida street adldress)
PLANTATION ., 33324
New Registercd Office Address: . Florida
(Citv) {Zip Code)

I herehy accept the appointment as registered agent. I am familiar with and accept the obligations of the position.

Sighature of New Registered Agent, if changing

Page 1 of 4
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1f amending the Officers and/or Directors, enter the title and name of each officer/director being removed and title, name, and
address of each Officer and/or Director being added:

fAttach additional sheets, if necessary)

Please note the officer/director title by the first letter of the office title:
P = President; V= Vice President; T= Treasurer: S= Secretary: D= Director; TR= Trustee; C = Chairman or Clerk; CEQ = Chief
Executive Officer; CFO = Chief Financial Officer. If an officer/divector holds mare than one title, list the first letier of each office
held. President, Treasurer, Divector would be PTD.
Changes should he noted in the following munner. Currently John Doe is listed us the PST and Mike Jones is listed us the V. There is
a change, Mike Jones leaves the corporation, Sally Smith is named the V and 5. These should be noted as John Doe, PT as a Change.
Mike Jones. V as Remove. and Sallv Smith, SV as an Add,

Example:
X Change

X Remove
_X Add

Type of Action
{Check One)

1) D Change
X g
D Remove

» [ Change
[ A

3) ]:I Change
J:l Add
X remove

4) El Change
D Add
I____l Remove

5} D Change
[ Jas
J:I_ Remove

) I:l Change
[ au
D Remove

FLOGS - #757201€ Wolters Kluw er Onlhine

COOD

PT John Doe

v Mik¢ Jones

Title Name Address

D ARTHUR L. SMITH 3463 MAGIC DR.. SUITE 355
SAN ANTONIO, TEXAS 78229

PD JOSH REEL 2401 1ST STREET, SUITE 300
FT. MYERS, FLORIDA 33901

RANDALL P. HENDERSON, JR. 2401 1ST STREET, SUITE 300

FT. MYERS, FLORIDA 33901
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E. if amending or adding additional Articles, enter change(s) here:
(Attach addditional sheets, if necessary).  (Be specific)

F. If an amendmeni provides for an exchange, reclassification, or cancellation of issued shares,

provisions for implementing the amendment if not contained in the amendmen? itself:
(if not applicable, indicare N/A)

Page 3 of 4
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The date of each amendment(s) adoption: . 1f other than the
date this document was signed.

Effective date if applicable:

{ro more than 90 days after amendment file date)

Note: If the date inserted in this block does not meet the applicable statutory filing requirements. this date witl not be listed as the
document’s ef fective date on the Department of Stale’s records.

Adoption of Amendment(s) (CHECK OXNE)

O The amendment(s) was/were adopied by the shareholders. The number of votes cast for the amendment(s)
by the sharcholders wasfwere sufficient for approval.

[J The amendment(s) was/were approved by the shareholders through voting groups.  The following statement
must be separately provided for each voting growp entitled to vote scparately on the amendment(s):

“The number of vates cast for the amendment(s) wasfwere sufficient for approval

by

(voting group)

0 The amendment(s) was/were adopted by the board of directors without sharcholder action and sharcholder
action was not required.

O The amendment(s) was/were adopted by the incorporatars without sharcholder action and sharcholder
action was not required.

Dated

Signature

(By a director, president or other officer — if directors or atficers have not been
selected, by an incorporator — if in the hands of a receiver, trustee, or other court
appoinled fiduciary by that fiduciary)

(Typed or printed name of person signing)

(Title of person signing)

Page 4 of 4
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EXHIBIT B

AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS
OF
T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC,,
a Florida corporation

[Sce attached]
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EXHIBITB
AMENDED AND RESTATED
BYLAWS
OF

T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
(herein referred to as the “Corporation™)

PREAMBLE

These Bylaws (these “Bylaws™) are subject to, and govermned by, the Florida Business
Corporation Act (the “FBCA™) and the articles of incorporation of the Corporation (the “Articles
of Incorporation™. In the cvent of a direct conflict between the provisions of these Bylaws and
the mandatory provisions of the FBCA or the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation, such
provisions of the FBCA or the Articles of Incorporation, as the case may be, will be controlling.

ARTICLE I,
CAPITAL STOCK

Section 1. Certificates Representing Shares. The Corporation shall deliver
certificates representing shares to which sharcholders are entitled in such form as shall be
approved by the Board of Directors, or the Corporation may issuc uncertificated shares in
accordance with the requirements of the FBCA. Each cenificate shall bear on its face the
statement that the Corporation is organized in Florida, the name of the shareholder to whom the
certificate is being issued, the name of the Corporation, the number, class and series of shares
issued and the par value or a statement that the shares are without par value. Each certificate
shall also contain, on its face or back, all recitations or references required by law. Certificates
for shares of the Corporation shall be issued only when consideration for the shares has becn
fully paid. Such certificates shall be signed by the President or a Vice President and the
Secretary or any Assistant Secretary, and may be scaled with the seal of the Corporation or a
facsimile thereof. Where any such certificate is countersigned by a transfer agent or registered by
a registrar, either of which is other than the Corporation itself or an employee of the Corporation,
the signatures of any such President or Vice President and Secretary or Assistant Secretary may
be facsimiles. In case any officer who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed
upon such certificate shall have ceased to be such officer before such certificate is issued, it may
be issued by the Corporation with the same effect as if he were such officer at the date of its
issuance. The certificates shall be consecutively numbered and shall be entered in the books of
the Corporation as they are issued.

Section2.  Shareholders of Record. The Board of Directors of the Corporation may
appoint one or more transfer agents or registrars of any class of stock of the Corporation. Unless
and until such appointment is made, the Secretary of the Corporation shall maintain, among other
records, a stock transfer book, the stubs in which shall set forth the names and addresses of the
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holders of all issued shares of the Corporation, the number of shares held by each, the certificate
numbers representing such shares, the date of issue of the certificates representing such shares,
and whether or not such shares originate from original issues or from transfer. The names and
addresses of shareholders as they appear on the stock transfer book shall be the official list of
shareholders of record of the Corporation for all purposes. The Corporation shall be entitled to
treat the holder of record of any shares of the Corporation as the owner thereof for all purposes,
and shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to, or interest in, such shares or
any rights deriving from such shares, on the part of any other person, including (but without
limitation) a purchaser, assignec or transferee, unless and until such other person becomes the
holder of record of such shares, whether or not the Corporation shall have cither actual or
constructive notice of the interest of such other person.

Section 3. Transfer of Shares. The shares of the Corporation shall be transferable
on the stock transfer book of the Corporation by the holder of record thereof, or his duly
authorized attorney or legal representative, upon endorsement and surrender for cancellation of
the certificates representing such shares. All certificates surrendered for transfer shall be
cancelled and no new certificate shall be issued until a former certificate or certificates for a like
number of shares shall have been surrendered and cancelled. except that in the case of a lost,
destroyed or mutilated certificate, a new certificate may be issued therefor upon such conditions
for the protection of the Corporation and any transfer agent or registrar as the Board of Directors
or the secretary may prescribc. When authorizing such issue of a new certificate or certificates,
the Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion and as a condition precedent to the issuance
thereof, require the owner of such lost or destroyed certificate or certificates, or his legal
representative, to give the Corporation a bond in such sum as it may direct as indemnity against
any claim that may be made against the Corporation with respect to the certificate or certificates
alleged to have been lost or destroyed.

ARTICLE 1L
MEETINGS OF SHAREHOLDERS

Section 1. Place of Meetings. All meetings of shareholders shall be held at the
principal place of business of the Corporation or at such other place within or without the State
of Florida as shall be specified or fixed in the notices or waivers of notice thereof.

Section 2. Annual Meeting. Annual meetings of the shareholders shall be held,
commencing in 2017, on the first Tuesday of June each year at such hour as may be designated in
the notice of the meeting, if such day is not a legal holiday, and if a holiday, then on the first
following day that is not a legal holiday. If the annual meeting is not held on the date above
specified, the Board of Directors shall cause a meeting in lieu thereof to be held as soon
thereafter as convenient, and any business transacted or election held at that meeting shall be as
valid as if held at the annual meeting. Failure to hold the annual meeting at the designated time
shall not work a termination of the Corporation.

Section 3. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the shareholders may be called at
any time by the President or the Board of Directors. Special meetings of sharcholders may also
be called by the Secretary upon the written request of the holders of at least ten percent (10%) of
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the outstanding stock entitled to be voted at such meeting, unless the Articles of Incorporation
provides for a number of shares greater than or less than ten percent (10%), in which event
special meetings of the shareholders may be called by the holders of at least the percentage of
shares so specified in the Articles of Incorporation, but in no event shall thc Articles of
Incorporation provide for a number of shares greater than fifty percent (50%). Such request shall
state the purpose or purposes of such meeting and the matters proposed 10 be acted on thereat.

Section 4. Notice of Meeting. Written notice of all meetings, stating the place, day
and hour of the meeting and in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which
the meeting is called, shall be delivered not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days
before the meeting, either personally or by mail, by or at the direction of the President, the
Seccretary or the officer or person calling the meeting, to each sharcholder of record entitled to
vole at such meeting. If mailed, such notice shall be decmed to be delivered when deposited in
the United States mail addressed to the sharcholder at his address as it appears on the stock
transfer book of the Corporation, with postage thereon prepaid. Notice for an adjourned meeting
is not necessary unless the meeting is adjourned for thirty days or more, in which case, notice of
the adjourned meeting shall be given as in the case of any special meeting. Any notice required
to be given to any shareholder under any provision of the FBCA, the Articles of Incorporation or
these Bylaws need not be given to the sharcholder if (1) notice of two consecutive annual
meetings and all notices of meetings held during the period between those annual meetings, if
any, or (2) all (but in no event less than two) payments (if sent by first class mail) of distributions
or interest on securities during a twelve (12) month period have been mailed to that person,
addressed at his address as shown on the records of the Corporation, and have been returned
undeliverable. Any action or meeting taken or held without notice to such a person shall have
the same force and effect as if the notice had been duly given and, if the action taken by the
Corporation is reflected in any certificate or document filed with the Florida Department of State,
that certificate or that document may statc that notice was duly given to all persons to whom
notice was required to be given. If such a person delivers to the Corporation a written notice
setting forth his then current address, the requirement that notice be given to that person shall be
reinstated.

Section 5. Closing of Transfer Books and Fixing Record Date. The Board of
Directors may fix, in advance, a date as the record date for the purpose of determining

shareholders entitled to notice of, or to vote at, any meeting of shareholders or any adjournment
thereof, or shareholders entitled 1o receive any distribution, dividend or the allotment of any
rights, or in order to make a determination of sharcholders for any other proper purpose. Such
date, in any case, shall be not more than sixty (60) days, and in the case of a mecting of
shareholders not less than ten (10) days, prior to the date on which the particular action requiring
such determination of shareholders is to be taken. In lieu of fixing a record date, the Board of
Directors may provide that the stock transfer book shall be closed for a stated period, but not to
exceed, in any case, sixty (60) days. If the stock transfer book is closed for the purpose of
determining shareholders entitled to notice of, or to vote at, a meeting of shareholders, such book
shall be closed for at least ten (10) days immediately preceding such meeting.

Section 6. Voting List. The officer or agent having charge of the stock transfer book
of the Corporation shall make, at least ten (10) days beforc cach meeting of sharcholders, a
complete list of the sharcholders entitled to vote at such meeting or any adjournment thereof,
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arranged in alphabetical order, with the address of, and the number of shares held by, cach
shareholder, which list, for a period of ten days prior to such meeting, shall be kept on file at the
registered office of the Corporation and shall be subject to inspection by any shareholder at any
time during usual business hours. Such list shalt also be produced and kept open at the time and
place of the meeting and shall be subject to the inspection of any shareholder during the whole
time of the meeting. The original stock transfer book shall be prima facie evidence as to the
identity of the shareholders entitled to examine such list or transfer books or to vote at any
meeting of shareholders. Failure to comply with any requirements of this Article 116 shail not
affect the validity of any action taken at such meeting,

Section 7. Voting at Meetings. Any holder of shares of the Corporation entitled to
vote shall be entitled to one vote for cach such share, either in person or by proxy exccuted in
writing by him or by his duly authorized attorney in fact. Voting on any resolution at the meeting
shall be by voice, unless any shareholder demands a ballot vote before the voting begins. No
proxy shall be valid after eleven months from the date of its execution unless otherwise provided
in the proxy. Each proxy shall be revocable unless the proxy form conspicuously states that the
proxy is irrevocable and the proxy is coupled with an interest, including the appointment as
proxy of (a) a pledgee, (b) a person who purchased or agreed to purchase, or owns or holds an
option to purchase, the shares, (c) a creditor of the Corporation who extended its credit under
terms requiring the appointment, (d) an cmployee of the Corporation whose employment contract
requires the appointment, or (e) a party to a voting agreement created under the FBCA. A
revocable proxy shall be deemed to have been revoked if the Secretary of the Corporation shall
have received at or before the meeting instructions or revocation or a proxy bearing a later date,
which instructions or proxy shall have been duly executed and dated in writing by the
shareholder.

Section 8. Quorum of Shareholders. The holders of a majority of shares entitled to
vote, represented in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at a meeting of sharcholders,
but, if a quorum is not represented, a majority in interest of those represented may adjourn the
meeting from time to time, without notice of adjournment other than announcement at the
meeting, until a quorum shall be present or represented. At such adjourned meeting, at which a
quorum shall be present or represented, any business may be transacted which might have been
transacted at the meeting as originally notified. The vote of the holders of a majority of the
shares entitled to vote, and, thus, represented, at a meeting at which a quorum is present, shall be
the act of the shareholders' meeting, unless the vote of a greater number is required by law, the
Articles of Incorporation or thesc Bylaws.

Section 9. Officers. The President shall preside at, and the Secretary shall keep the
records of, each meeting of sharcholders. In the absence of either such officer, his or her duties
shall be performed by another director or officer of the Corporation appointed at the meeting.

ARTICLE I1I,
DIRECTORS

Section 1. Number and Tenure. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall
be managed by a Board of Directors, consisting initially of one (1) member. The number of
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members on the Board of Directors may be increased or decreased from time to time by
resolution of the Board of Directors, provided that there shall at all times be at least one (1)
member of the Board of Directors and no decrease shall have the effect of shortening the term of
any incumbent director. Unless sooner removed in accordance with these Bylaws, members of
the Board of Directors shall hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders and until
their successors shall have been elected and qualified. Directors need not be shareholders of the
Corporation.

Section 2. Vacancies. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors may be filled
by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors, though less than a quorum of the
entire Board. Any directorship to be filled by reason of an increase in the number of directors
may be filled by the Board of Directors for a term of office continuing only until the next election
of one or more directors by the shareholders. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors or
any directorship to be filled by reason of an increase in the number of directors may be filled by
election at an annual or special meeting of shareholders called for that purpese. A director
elected 10 fill a vacancy shall be elected for the unexpired term of his predecessor in office.

Section 3. Place of Meeting. Meetings of the Board of Directors may be held either
within or without the State of Florida, at whatever place is specified by the officer calling the
meeting.

Section 4. Regular Meetings. The Board of Directors shall meet each year
immediately following the annual meeting of the sharcholders, at the place of such meeting, for
the transaction of such business as may propetly be brought before it. The Board of Directors
may designate other times for the conduct of regular meetings of the Board of Directors. No
notice of annual meetings or regular meetings for which the Board of Directors has designated a
time need be given to members of the Board of Directors.

Section 5. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be
held at any time upon the call of the President or a director of the Corporation. Notice shall be
sent at least three (3) days before the meeting by mail or facsimile transmission to the last known
physical address or facsimile number of each director, or by electronic mail to the last known
email address of each director so long as electronic delivery confirmation is received. Oral
notice may be substituted for such written or electronic notice if given not later than one (1) day
before the meeting. Notice of the time, place and purpose of such meeting may be waived in
writing before or after such meeting, and shall be equivalent to the giving of notice. Attendance
of a director at such meeting shall also constitute a waiver of notice thereof, except where such
director attends for the announced purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the
ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Except as otherwise herein provided,
neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the
Board of Directors need be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting.

Section 6. Quorum. A majority of the number of directors fixed by or in the manner
provided in these Bylaws, as from time to time amended, shail constitute a quorum for the
transaction of business, but a smaller number may adjourn the meeting from time to time until
they can secure the attendance of a quorum. The act of a majority of the directors present at any
mecting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors. Any regular or
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special directors' meeting may be adjourned from time to time by those present, whether a
quorum is present or not.

Section 7. Compensation. Directors as such shall not receive any stated salary for
their services, but, by resolution of the Board, a fixed sum and expenses of attendance, if any,
may be allowed for attendance at each regular or special meeting of the Board, provided, that
nothing contained herein shall be construed to preclude any director from serving the
Corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor.

Section 8. Removal. Any and all directors may be removed, either for or without
cause, at any special meeting of shareholders by the affirmative vote of a majority of the
outstanding shares entitled to vote at elections of directors. The notice calling such meeting shall
give notice of the intention to act upon such matter, and if the notice so provides, the vacancy
caused by such removal may be filled at such meeting by vote of a majority of the shares
represented at such meeting and entitled to vote for the election of directors.

Section 9. Committees. The Board of Directors may, by resolution, designate an
executive committee and one (1) or more other committees to conduct the business and affairs of
the Corporation, to the extent authorized by the resolution and subject to the restrictions of the
FBCA. The Board of Directors, by majority vote, shall have the power at any time to change the
powers and members of any committee, to fill vacancies and to terminate the existence of any
committce. Members of any committee shall receive such compensation as the Board of
Directors may from time to time provide. The designation of any committee and the delegation
thereto of authority shall not operatc to relieve the Board of Directors, or any member thereof, of
any responsibility imposed by law. Every committee so designated shall keep regular minutes of
the proceedings and regularly report the minutes to the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE 1V,
OFFICERS

Section 1. Officers. The officers of the Corporation shall be clected by the Board of
Directors and shall, at a minimum, consist of a President and a Secretary. The Board of Dircctors
may elect such other officers, including, without limitation, a Chief Executive Officer, a Chairman
of the Board, additional Vice Presidents, a Treasurer, and Assistant Secretaries and Assistant
Treasurers, and appoint such agents, as it may deem necessary or desirable. All officers shall,
unless otherwise removed by the Board of Directors, hold office until their successors are elected
and qualified. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person. The salaries of the
officers shall be determined by the Board of Directors, and may be altered by the Board from time
to time, except as otherwise provided by contract. All officers shail be entitled to be paid or
reimbursed for all costs and expenditures incurred in the Corporation's business. The following
named persons have been elected by the Board of the Directors of the Corporation as the initial
officers of the Corporation and have been elected to the offices set forth opposite their names, to
serve until their successors are duly elected and qualified:

Arthur L. Smith President
Antonio Estrada Secretary
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Section 2. Vacancies. Whenever any vacancies shall occur in any officc by death,
resignation, increase in the number of officers of the Corporation, or othcrwise, the same shall be
filled by the Board of Directors, and the officer so elected shall, unless otherwise removed by the
Board of Directars, hold office until his successor is chosen and qualified.

Section 3. Removal. Any officer or agent elected or appointed by the Board of Directors
may be removed by the Board of Directors whenever, in its judgment, the best interests of the
Corporation will be served thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract
rights, if any, of the person so removed. Election or appointment of an officer or agent shall not of
itself create contract rights.

Section 4. Chairman of the Board. The Chairman of the Board, if there shall be such an
officer, shall, if present, preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and exercise and perform
such other powers and duties as may from time to time be assigned to the Chairman by the Board of
Directors or prescribed by these Bylaws.

Section 5. President. Subject to the supervisory powers, if any, that may be given by the
Board of Directors to the Chairman of the Board, if there be such an officer, the President shall be
the principal executive officer of the Corporation, and subject to the control of the Board of
Directors, shall, in general, supervise and contro! all of the business and affairs of the Corporation.
The President shall preside at ali meetings of the sharcholders and, in the absence of the Chairman
of the Board, of the Board of Dircctors. Thc President may sign, with the Secretary or any other
proper officer of the Corporation thereunto authorized by the Board of Directors, certificates for
shares of the Corporation, any deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts or other instruments which the
Board of Directors has authorized to be executed, except in cases where the signing and execution
thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors or by these Bylaws to some other
officer or agent of the Corporation, or shall be required by law to be otherwise signed and executed,
and in general shall perform all duties incident to the office of President and such other duties as
may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.

Section 6. Vice President. Any Vice President, if there shall be such an officer, may
perform the usual and customary duties that pertain to such office (but no unusual or extraordinary
dutics or powers conferred by the Board of Directors upon the President) and, under the direction
and subject to the control of the Board of Directors, such other duties as may be assigned to him or
her.

Section 7. Secretary. It shall be the duty of the Secretary to send any and all required
notices of and 10 attend all meetings of the shareholders and Board of Directors and record correctiy
the proceedings of such meetings in a book suitable for that purpose. It shall also be the duty of the
Secretary to attest with his or her signature and the seal of the Corporation all stock certificates
issued by the Corporation and to keep a stock transfer book in which shall be correctly recorded all
transactions pertaining to the capital stock of the Corporation. The Secretary shall attest and keep at
the registered office of the Corporation the original or a copy of these Bylaws, as they may be
amended, and the original of the Articles of Incorporation, as they may be amended. The Secretary
shall also attest with his or her signature and the seal of the Corporatton all deeds, conveyances or
other instruments requiring the seal of the Corporation. The person holding the office of Secretary
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shall also perform, under the direction and subject to the control of the Board of Directors, such
other duties as may be assigned to him or her. The duties of the Sccretary may also be performed
by any Assistant Secretary.

Section 8. Treasurer. The Treasurer, if there shall be such an officer, shall keep such
moneys of the Corporation as may be entrusted to his or her keeping and account for the same. The
Treasurer shall be prepared at all times to give information as to the condition of the Corporation
and shall make a detailed annual report of the entire business and financial condition of the
Corporation. The person holding the office of Treasurer shall also perform, under the direction and
subject to the control of the Board of Dircctors, such other duties as may be assigned to him or her.
The duties of the Treasurer may also be performed by any Assistant Treasurer.

Section 9. Delepation of Authority. In the case of any absence of any officer of the
Corporation or for any other reason that the Board may deem sufficient, the Board of Directors may
delegate some or all of the powers or duties of such officer to any other officer or to any director,
employee, shareholder or agent for whatever period of time seems desirable, providing that a
majority of the entire Board concurs therein.

ARTICLE YV,

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE

Section 1. Indemnification of Directors.
A, Definitions.

For purposes of this Article:

M “Covered Period” means any time after , 2017.

(2y  “Expenses” include court costs and attorneys' fees.
(3) “Official capacity” means

(a) when used with respect to a director, the office of director in the
Corporation, and

(b)  when used with respect 1o a person other than a director, the
elective or appointive office in the Corporation held by the officer
or the employment or agency relationship undertaken by the
employee or agent on behalf of the Corporation, but

() in both clauses (a) and (b) of this Article V.1{A) subsection 2, such
term does not include service for any other foreign or domestic
corporation or any partnership, joint venture, sole proprietorship,
trust, employee benefit plan, or other cnterprise.
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4 “Proceeding” means any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit, or
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, arbitrative, or investigative, any appeal in
such an action, suit, or proceeding, and any inquiry or investigation that could lcad to such an
action, suit, or proceeding.

B. Indemnification where Director has been wholly successful in_a
Proceeding, The Corporation shall indemnify a director against reasonable expenses incurred by
him in connection with a proceeding in which he is a party because he is or was a director of the
Corporation during the Covered Period if he has been wholly successful, on the merits or
otherwise, in the defense of the proceeding.

C. Indemnification_where Director_has not been wholly successful in a

Proceeding.

(1)  The Corporation shall indemnify a person who was, is, or is threatened to
be made a named defendant or respondent in a proceeding because the person is or was a director
of the Corporation during the Covered Period, and who does not qualify for indemnification
under Article V.1(B), if it is determined, in accordance with the procedure set out in Article
V.1(C) subsection 4, that the person:

(a) conducted himself in good faith;
(b) reasonably belicved:

() in the case of conduct in his official capacity as a director
of the Corporation, that his conduct was in the
Corporation's best interest; and

(ii) in all other cases, that his conduct was at least not opposed
to the Corporation's best interests; and

{c) in the case of any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to
believe his conduct was unlawful.

(2)  The termination of a proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, or
conviction, ot on a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, is not of itself determinative that the
person did not meet the requirements set forth in Article V.1{C) subsection 1. A person shall be
deemed to have been found liable in respect of any claim, issue or matter only after the person
shall have been so adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction after cxhaustion of all appeals
therefrom.

(3) A person may be indemnified under Article V.1(C) subsection 1 against
judgments, penalties (including excise and similar taxes), fines, settlements, and reasonable
expenses actually incurred by the person in connection with the proceeding; but if the person is
found liable to the Corporation or is found liable on the basis that personal benefit was
improperly received by the person, the indemnification (a) is limited to reasonable expenses
actually incurred by the person in connection with the proceeding and (b) shall not be made in
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respect of any proceeding in which the person shall have been found liable for willful or
intentional misconduct in the performance of his duty to the Corporation.

(4  Any indemnification under Article V.1(C) subsection 1 shall be made by
the Corporation only upon a determination that indemnification of the director is proper in the
circumstances because he has met the applicable standard of conduct. Such determination shall
be made:

(a) by the Board of Directors by a majority vote of a quorum
consisting of directors who, at the time of such vote, arc not named
defendants or respondents in the proceeding;

(b) if such a quorum cannot be obtained, then by a majority vote of a
commiltee of the Board of Directors, duly designated to act in the
matter by a majority vote of all directors (in which designation
directors who are named defendants or respondents in the
proceeding may participate), such committee to consist solely of
one (1) or more dircclors who, at the time of the committee vote,
are not named defendants or respondents in the proceeding;

(c) by special legal counsel selected by the Board of Directors or a
committee thereof by vote as set forth in clauses (a) or (b) of this
Article V. 1{C) subsection 4, or, if the requisite quorum of all of the
directors cannot be obtained therefor and such committee cannot
be established, by a majority vote of all of the directors (in which
directors who are named defendants or respondents in the
proceeding may participate); or

(d) by the shareholders in a vote that excludes the shares held by
directors who are named defendants or respondents in the
proceeding.

Determination as to reasonableness of expenses shall be made in the same manner
as the determination that indemnification is proper, except that if the determination that
indemnification is proper is made by special legal counsel, determination as to reasonablencss of
expenses must be made in the manner specified in clause (c) of this Article V.1(C) subsection 4
for the selection of special legal counsel. In the event a determination is made under this Article
V.1{C) subsection 4 that a director has met the applicable standard of conduct as to some matters
but not as to others, amounts to be indemnified may be reasonably prorated.

(5)  Except to the extent permitted by Article V.1(C) subsection 3, even if a
person is or was a director of the Corporation during the Covered Period, such director may not
be indemnified under Article V.1{C) subsection ! in respect of a proceeding:

(a) in which the director is found liable on the basis thar personal
benefit was improperly received by him, whether or not the benefit
resulted from an action taken in the director's official capacity; or
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(b) in which the person is found liable to the Corporation.

D. Court-ordered Indemnification. A person who is or was a director of
the Corporation during the Covered Period may apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for
indemnification from the Corporation, whether or not he has met the requirements set forth in
Article V. 1{C) subsection | or has been adjudged liable in the circumsiances described by Article
V.I(C) subsection 5. If such a director of the Corporation seeks to obtain court-ordered
indemnification, the Corporation and its Board of Directors shall cooperate fully with such
director in satisfying the procedural steps required thercfor.

E. Advancement of Expenses. Rcasonable expenses incurred by a person
who is or was a director of the Corporation during the Covered Period and who was, is, or is
threatecned to be made, a named defendant or respondent in a proceeding shall be paid or
reimbursed by the Corporation at reasonable intervals in advance of the final disposition of the
proceeding, and without making any of the determinations specified in Article V.1(C) subsection
4, after receipt by the Corporation of:

(a) a written affirmation by such director of his good faith belief that
he has met the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification
under this Article; and

(b) a written undertaking by or on behalf of such dircctor to repay the
amount paid or reimbursed by the Corporation if it shall ultimately
be determined that he is not entitled to be indemnified by the
Corporation as authorized in this Article. Such written undertaking
shall be an unlimited general obligation of such director but need
not be secured and it may be accepted by the Corporation without
reference to financial ability to make repayment.

F. Directors as Witnesses, The Corporation shall pay or reimburse expenscs
incurred by a person who is or was a director of the Corporation during the Covered Period in
connection with his appearance as a witness or other participation in a proceeding at a time when
he is not a named defendant or respondent in the proceeding.

G. Notice to_Shareholders. Any indemnification of or advancement of
expenscs to a director in accordance with this Section shall be reported in writing to the
sharcholders of the Corporation with or before the notice or waiver of notice of the next
shareholders' meeting or with or before the next submission to shareholders of a consent to action
without a meeting and, in any case, within the twelve (12) month period immediately following
the date of the indemnification or advance.

H. Directors’ Services to Benefit Plans. For purposes of this Article, the
Corporation is deemed to have requested a director to serve an employee benefit plan whenever
the performance by him of his duties to the Corporation also imposes duties on or otherwise
involves service by him to the plan or participants or beneficiaries of the plan. Excise taxes
assessed on a director with respect to any employee benefit plan pursuant to applicable law are
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deemed fines. Action taken or omitted by him with respect to an employee benefit plan in the
performance of his duties for a purpose reasonably believed by him to be in the interest of the
participants and beneficiaries of the plan is deemed to be for a purpose which is not opposed to
the best interests of the Corporation,

Section 2. Indemnification of Officers, Employees, Agents and Others,

A. In General, The Corporation shall indemnify and advance expenses to
any person who is or was an officer of the Corporation during the Covered Period in the same
manner and to the same extent as is provided by Article V.1 for a director. Such an officer is
entitled to seek indemnification to the same extent as a director pursuant to Article V.1.

B. Indemnification for Service to Other Enterprises. The Corporation
may, in the discretion of the Board of Directors, indemnify and advance expenses to persons who

are or were employees or agents of the Corporation during the Covered Pericd as well as persons
who are not or were not officers, employees, or agents of the Corporation but who are or were,
during the Covered Period, serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer,
partner, venturer, proprietor, trustee, employee. agent, or similar functionary of another foreign or
domestic corporation, partnership, joint venture, sole proprietorship, trust, employee benefit plan,
or other enterprise to the same extent that it may indemnify and advance expenses to directors
under this Article.

C. Additional Rights to Indemnification. The Corporation may, at the
discretion of the Board of Directors in view of all the relevant circumstances, indemnify and
advance expenses to a person who is or was an officer, employee, or agent of the Corporation
and who is not a director of the Corporation or a person identified in Article V.2(B) and who is
not a director of the Corporation to such further extent, consistent with law, as may be provided
by the Articles of Incorporation, by general or specific actions of the Board of Directors, by
contract, or as permitted or required by common law.

Section 3. Continuing Offer; Reliance; Effect of Amendment. The provisions of
this Article are for the benefit of, and may be enforced by, each person who serves or who has

served during the Covered Period as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation,
and cach person identified in Article V.2(B), the same as if set forth in their entirety in a written
instrument duly executed and delivered by the Corporation and such person, and constitute a
continuing offer to all persons occupying any such position during the Covered Period. The
Corporation, by its adoption of these Bylaws, acknowledges and agrees that each such person has
relied upon and will continue o0 rely upon the provisions of this Article in agreeing to serve and
serving in any of the capacities referred to above, waives reliance upon, and all notices of
acceptance of, such provisions by each such person and acknowledges and agrees that no person
occupying any such position at any time during the Covered Period shall be prejudiced in his
right to enforce the provisions of this Article in accordance with their terms by any act or failure
to act on the part of the Corporation. No amendment, modification or repeal of this Article or
any provision hereof shall in any manner terminate, reduce or impair the right of any person who
serves or who has served during the Covered Period as a director, officer, employee or agent of
the Corporation, or any person identified in Article V.2(B), to be indemnified by the Corporation,
nor the ebligation of the Corporation to indemnify any such person, under and in accordance with

-12-



the provisions of this Article as in effect immediately prior to such amendment, modification or
repeal with respect to claims arising from or relating to matters occurring, in whole or in part,
prior to such amendment, modification or repeal, regardless of when such claims may be asscrted
so long as such claims arise as a result of such person being a director, officer, employee, agent
or person identified in Article V.2(B) during the Covered Period.

Section 4. Insurance. The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance or
another arrangement on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent
of the Corporation or who is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director,
officer, partner, venturer, proprietor, trustee, employce, agent, or similar functionary of another
foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, joint venture, sole proprictorship, trust, employec
benefit plan, or other enterprise, against any liability asserted against him and incurred by him in
such a capacity or arising out of this status as such a person, whether or not the Corporation
would have the power to indemnify him against that liability under Article V.1 and Article V.2
If the insurance or other arrangement is with a person or entity that is not regularly engaged in the
business of providing insurance coverage, the insurance or arrangement may provide for payment
of a liability with respect to which the Corporation would not have the power to indemnify the
person only if including coverage for the additional liability has been approved by the
sharcholders of the Corporation. Without limiting the power of the Corporation to procurc or
maintain any kind of insurance or other arrangement, the Corporation may, for the benefit of
persons indemnified by the Corporation, (1) create a trust fund; (2) establish any form of self-
insurance; (3) secure its indemnity obligation by grant of a security interest or other lien on the
assets of the Corporation; or (4) establish a letter of credit, guaranty, or surety arrangement. The
insurance or other arrangement may be procured, maintained, or established within the
Corporation or with any insurer or other person deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors
regardless of whether all or part of the stock or other securities of the insurer or other person are
owned in whole or part by the Corporation. In the absence of fraud, the judgment of the Board of
Directors as to the terms and conditions of the insurance or other arrangement and the identity of
the insurer or other person participating in an arrangement shall be conclusive and the insurance
or arrangement shall not be voidable and shall not subject the dircctors approving the insurance
or arrangement to liability, on any ground, regardless of whether directors participating in the
approval are beneficiaries of the insurance or arrangement.

Section §. Severability. The indemnification provided by this Article shall be
subject to all valid and applicable laws, including, without limitation, Chapter 607.0850 of the
FBCA. If this Article or any portion hercof shall be invalidated on any ground by any court of
competent jurisdiction, then the Corporation shall nevertheless indemnify cach person who
serves or who has served during the Covered Period as a director, officer, employee or agent of
the Corporation, and each person identified in Article V.2(B), as to expenses, judgments, fines
and amounts paid in settlement with respect to any proceeding, to the fullest extent permitted by
any applicable portion of this Article that shall not have been invalidated and to the fullest extent
permitted by applicable law. If any provision hereof should be held by a court of competent
jurisdiction to be invalid, it shall be limited only 1o the extent necessary to make such provision
enforceable, it being the intent of this Article to indemnify each person who serves or who has
served during the Covered Period as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation,
and cach person identified in Article V.2(B), to the maximum extent permitted by law.
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ARTICLE VL.
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 1. Amendments. The Board of Directors shall have the power to amend or
repeal these Bylaws or adopt new Bylaws, unless the sharcholders in amending, repealing or
adopting new Bylaws expressly provide that the Board of Directors may not amend or repeal
those Bylaws. The Board of Directors may exercise this power at any regular or special meeting
at which a quorum is present by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors present at the
meeting and without any notice of the action taken with respect to the Bylaws having been
contained in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting. Unless the Corporation's Articles of
Incorporation or Bylaws adopted by the shareholders provide otherwise as to all or some portion
of the Bylaws, the Corporation's sharcholders may amend, repeal or adopt Bylaws cven though
the Bylaws may also be amended, repealed or adopted by the Board of Directors. The
shareholders may amend, repeal or adopt new Bylaws at any annual meeting of the shareholders
or al any special meeting of the shareholders at which a quorum is present or represented,
provided that notice of the proposed alteration or repeal is contained in the notice of such special
meeting, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares entitled to vote at such meeting and
present or represented thercat. The directors shall not amend these Bylaws so as to cffect a
change in the time or place of the meeting for the election of directors within sixty (60) days
before the day on which such meeting is to be held; furthermore, in case of any change of said
time or place, notice thereof shall be given to each shargholder in person or by letter mailed to his
last known post office address at least twenty (20) days before the meeting is held.

Section2.  Waiver. Whenever, under the provisions of any law, the Articles of
Incorporation or amendments thereto, or these Bylaws, any notice is required to be given to any
shareholders, director or committee member, a waiver thercof in writing signed by the person or
persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be equivalent
to the giving of such notice. Morcover, attendance at any meeting by a sharcholder or director
shall constitute a waiver of notice of said meeting by such sharcholder or director unless such
individual attends the meeting for the specific purpose of objecting to the transaction of any
business thereat on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

Section 3. Conference Telephone Meetings. Meetings of sharcholders, directors or
any committee thereof, may be held by means of conference telephone or similar
communications equipment so long as all persons participating in the meeting can hear each
other. Participation in a meeting pursuant to this Section shall constitute presence in person at
such meeting, cxcept where a person participates in the meeting for the cxpress purpose of
objecting to the transaction of any business thercat on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully
called or convened.

Section 4. Action by Written Consent. Any action required by the FBCA to be
taken at any annual or special meeting of the shareholders of the Corporation. or any action
which may be taken at any annual or special meeting of the shareholders of the Corporation, may
be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if a consent or consents in
writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by the holders of outstanding stock
having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take

-14-




such action at a sharcholders meeting at which all shares entitled fo vole thercon werc present
and voted. Additionally, any action required by the FBCA to be taken at any annual or special
meeting of the Board of Directors, or any action which may be taken at any annual or spccial
meeting of the Board of Directors, may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and
without a vote, if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be
signed by the number of Directors having not less than the minimum number of votes that would
be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting of the Board of Directors at which all
Directors entitled to vote thereon were present and voted.

Section §. Offices. The principal office of the Corporation shall be located in San
Antonio, Texas unless and until changed by resolution of the Board of Directors. The
Corporation may also have offices at such other places as the Board of Directers may from time
to time designate or as the business of the Corporation may require.

Section 6. Resignations. Any director or officer may resign at any time. Such
resignations shall be made in writing and shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if no
time be specified, at the time of its receipt by the President or Secretary. The acceptance of a
resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective, unless expressly so provided in the
resignation.

Section 7. Seal. The seal of the Corporation shall be such as from time to time may
be approved by the Board of Directors, but the use of a seal shall not be essential to the validity
of any agreement entered into by the Corporation, unless otherwise provided by law.

Section 8. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall end at the close of
business on the 31st day of December in each year.

Section 9. Books_and Records. The Corporation shall maintain those books and
records as provided by statute and as it may deem necessary or desirable. All books and records
provided for by statute shall be open to inspection of the shareholders from time to time and to
the extent expressly provided by statute, and not otherwise. The members of the Board of
Directors may cxamine all such books and records at all reasonable times.

Section 10. Integration. These Amended and Restated Bylaws supersede, integrate
and cance! any and all prior bylaws of the Corporation.

[THE REMINDER OF THIS DOCUMENT INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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The undersigned hercby executes these Bylaws and confirms that these Bylaws were
approved and adopted by the Board of Directors on the day of , 2017.

By:
Arthur L. Smith, President

Bylaws | T3 Communications, Inc,



EXHIBIT C

OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS
OF
T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC,,
a Florida corporation

Name Title

Arthur L. Smith President
Antonio Estrada Secretary
Arthur L. Smith Sole Director
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EXHIBIT D

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

THIS FORM SHOULD BE COMPLETED, SIGNED AND SENT TO T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC., (THE
“COMPANY,” AND, FOLLOWING THE CLOSING OF THE MERGER AGREEMENT DEFINED BELOW,
THE “SURVIVING COMPANY"), AT THE ADDRESS STATED BELOW, TOGETHER WITH YOUR
CERTIFICATE(S} FORMERLY REPRESENTING SHARES OF STOCK OF T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC
{(“COMPANY STOCK™). PLEASE REVIEW THE INSTRUCTIONS THAT ACCOMPANY THIS FORM.

To: T3 Communications, Inc.
2401 First Street, Suite 300
Fort Myers, Florida 33901
Attention: Mr. Josh Reel, Chief Executive Officer
j.reel@t3com.net

With a Copy To: BoyarMiller
2925 Richmond Avenue, 14® Floor
Houston, Texas 77098
Attention: Steve Kesten
skesten(@boyarmiller.com

FOR ASSISTANCE CONTACT Jennifer Crisp at (239) 333-3021.
Ladies and Gentlemen:

Pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), 1o be consummated by and
among the Company, Shift8 Technologies, Inc. (“Buyer”), T3 Acquisition, Inc. (“Acquisition Company™) and
Stuart Conrad (“Shareholders Representative™) as the initial representative of the Shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders™), such Shareholders are entitled to receive their allocable portion of the Purchase Price and the
Remainder Cash, each as defined in the Merger Agreement: provided such Shareholder complies with the applicable
conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement necessary to receive such Purchase Price and the Remainder Cash.
Capitalized terms not defined herein and defined in the Merger Agreement have the meaning given to such terms in
the Merger Agreement. By executing this Letter of Transmittal, the undersigned Shareholder agrees to be bound by
the terms and provisions of the Merger Agreement as a Shareholder, a true and correct copy of which Merger
Agreement has been delivered 10 Shareholder.

The undersigned Shareholder hercby delivers to the Company, or the Surviving Company, if occurring
after the Closing of the Merger, the certificate(s) or instrument(s) described below representing all of the Company
Stock owned by the Shareholder, each such certificate to be transferred or exchanged for the right to receive the
Shareholder’s allocable portion of the Purchase Price and the Remainder Cash determined pursuant to the Merger
Agreement. The undersigned Shareholder agrees that payment(s) made, if any, to such Shareholder pursuant to the
Merger Agreement shall, and does hereby, fully and irrevocably acquit, release and discharge the Company and the
Surviving Company from any and alt payment obligations owing now or in the future (except with respect to any
amounts payable to such Shareholder as provided in the Merger Agreement) to the undersigned in respect of any
Company Stock held by the undersigned, including. without limitation, any and all rights to receive any dividends
whether accrued or to be paid in the future with respect to such Company Stock. Further, in consideration of this
Letter of Transmittal and the Merger Agreement, the undersigned Shareholder, on behaif of itself, himself or herself
and such Shareholder’s affiliates (other than, for the avoidance of doubt, the Company and the Surviving Company),
executors, heirs, legal representatives, successars (whether pursuant to testamentary disposition, the laws of descent
and distribution or otherwise) and permitted assigns (any of the foregoing, a “Shareholder Releasing Party™) hereby
releases and forever discharges, effective as of the Closing Date, the Company, Buyer and the Surviving Company.
and each of their respective officers, managers, directors, employees and representatives (each, a “Shareholder
Released Party”™) from any and all claims, liabilities or obligations of any nature (whether known or unknown.



suspected or unsuspected, absolute or contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, due or to become due, accrued, fixed or
otherwise) which have been or could have been or could be asserted against any Sharcholder Released Party, which
such Shareholder Releasing Party has or ever had or may have, arising out of or in any way relating to events,
circumstances, actions or omissions, occurring, existing or taken prior to or as of the Closing Date with respect to
matters relating to the Company; provided, however, that the undersigned Shareholder acknowledges and agrees that
this paragraph does not apply to and shall not constitute a release of (a) any rights or obligations arising under this
Letter of Transmittal or the Merger Agreement, (h) if the undersigned Shareholder is an employee of the Company
or the Surviving Company, rights under any Company benefit plan (other than as it relates to the provision of equity
or equity-based compensation or other forms of incentive or deferred compensation) or rights to earned but unpaid
wages or compensation, unpaid vacation and unreimbursed business expenses, (c) rights to indemnification under
any of the organizational documents of the Company existing as of the Closing Date or of the Surviving Company,
(d) rights to insurance coverage for claims against the undersigned Shareholder in his or her capacity as an officer,
director, employee or manager of the Company arising prior to the Closing under policies held by the Company that
would cover such claims, and (e) any claims that cannot be released as a matter of law.

The Shareholder acknowledges that each Shareholder is liable in respect of potential indemnification
obligations, subject to limits, as provided in the Merger Agreement.

The Shareholder acknowledges that he, she or it will not be entitled to any consideration in the event that
the Merger contemplated by the Merger Agreement is not consummated and that. in such event. the Company stock
certificate(s) enclosed herein shall be returmed to the Shareholder.

Submission of the certificate(s) described below is subject to the terms, conditions and limitations set forth
in the Merger Agreement and in the additional materials included herewith. All authority herein conferred or agreed
to shall survive the death or incapacity of the Shareholder, and all obligations of the Shareholder hercunder shall be
binding upon his or her heirs. personal representatives, successors and assigns,

STOCKHOLDER REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
The Shareholder hereby represents and warrants that:

(a) the Shareholder is the record and beneficial owner of the Company Stock evidenced by the
Certificate(s) set forth herein or described in an affidavit of lost certificate, free and clear of any Liens:

(b)  the execution, delivery and performance of this Letter of Transmittal by the Sharcholder has
been duly and validly authorized by all necessary actions, and this Letter of Transmittal constitutes the legal, valid
and binding agreement of the undersigned, enforceable against the Shareholder in accordance with its terms; and

(c) except for shares of Company Stock evidenced by the Certificate(s) set forth herein (or
affidavit of lost certificate, il applicable) or that may be evidenced by additional Letters of Transmittal submitted by
the Shareholder, the Shareholder does not own or have any right to acquire any additional shares of Company Stock
and/or other shares of capital stock of the Company.

The Shareholder hereby agrees to defend, indemnify and hold the Buyer and the Surviving Company harmless from

and agamnst any Loss, directly or indirectly, resulting from, relating to, or arising out of the breach of any
representation or warranty of Shareholder contained herein,

PLEASE READ CAREFULLY THE ACCOMPANYING INSTRUCTIONS



CERTIFICATE(S) SURRENDERED
(Attach List if Necessary)

Number and
Name(s) and Address of Registered Holder(s) Type of Shares
(Pleasc fill in exactly as Name(s) Certificate Represented
___appear(s} on Certificate(s)) Number(s) by Certificate

DELIVERY INSTRUCTIONS
(See Instructions 2 and 3)

Pleasc specify below the name and social security number or federal 1ax idemtification number of the record
owner of the shares of Company Stock surrendered hereby, and the address to which such holder’s check should be
mailed or routing and account number to which such holder’s payments should be wire transferred. All checks will be
issued in the name(s) and delivered to the address(es) specified below and the account to which any wire transfer 1s made
must be in the name(s) specified below. Please note that checks and wire transfers will only be issued in the name
of the person or entity named as the record owner on each certificate representing Company Stock surrendered
hereby.

NAME OF STOCKHOLDER(S)OWNER(S):

Individval/Entity Name(s) (Please Print)

Social Security or Federal Tax ID Number

CHOOSE DELIVERY METHOD:
Name (Please Print}
O PLEASE DELIVER MY CHECK TO:

Address

O PLEASE WIRE TRANSFER MY FUNDS TO: Account No.

Bank
Name:
ABA Routing #

The Sharcholder will, upon request, execute and deliver any additional documents deemed by the Company to
be necessary or desirable to complete the transfer of the Company Stock surrendered hereby.

Please sign and date this Letter of Transmittal and these delivery instructions below. Please note that
signature(s} of registered holder(s) must be EXACTLY the same as the name(s) set forth as record owners on the
Company Stock certificates surrendered hereby. If signed by an agent, see Instruction 2. THE SURVIVING
COMPANY CANNOT PAY YOU FOR YOUR SHARES UNTIL THIS LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL AND
THE CERTIFICATES REPRESENTING THE SHARES (OR AFFIDAVIT OF LOST, STOLEN OR
DESTROYED CERTIFICATE) HAVE BEEN EXECUTED AND DELIVERED TO THE COMPANY OR THE
SURVIVING COMPANY. IF AFTER THE CLOSING.

Owner Signature: Date: . 2017

Title (if applicable):




Signature of other Owner (if held jointly): Date: L2017
Signature of Spouse (if individual Owner): Drate: , 2017




FORM 1

IRS FORM W%



FORM 2

‘ CERTIFICATE OF NON-FOREIGN STATUS
Individuals® Certification

Section 1445 of the Internal Revenue Code ot 1986, as amended, provides that a iransferee of a U.S. real
property interest must withhold tax if the transferor is a foreign person. To inform the transferee that withholding of
tax is not required in connection with the transactions contemplated by that certain Merger Agreement, dated May 8.
2017, by and among Shifif Technologies, Inc., T3 Acquisition, Inc., T3 Communications, Inc. and Stuart Conrad, as
the shareholders representative, I, , hereby certify, under
penalties of perjury, the following:

l. 1 am not a nonresident alien for purposes of U.S. income taxation;

2, My U.S. tax identification number (social security number) is
- ;and

3. My home address is:

1 understand that this certification may be disclosed to the Intemal Revenue Service and that any false
statement | have made herein could be punished by fine, imprisonment, or both.

Under penalties of perjury, 1 declare that 1 have examined this certification and to the best of my knowledge
and belief it is true, correct, and complete.

Date: L2017 By:

Name:




FORM 3

CERTIFICATE OF NON-FOREIGN STATUS
Entity Certification
(to be completed and signed on behalf of each Shareholder which is an entity.)

Section 1445 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Cede™). provides that a transferee of
a U.S. real property interest must withhold tax if the transferor is a foreign person. For U.S. tax purposes (including
section 1445 of the Code), the owner of a disregarded entity (which has legal title to a U.S. real property interest
under local law) will be the transferor of the property and not the disregarded entity. To inform the transferee that
withholding of tax is not required in connection with the transactions contemplated by that certain Merger
Agreement, dated May 8, 2017. by and among Shifi8 Technologies, Inc., T3 Acquisition. Inc., T3 Communications,
Inc. and Start Conrad, as the shareholders representative, the undersigned hereby certifies the following on behalf
of (“Shareholder™).

‘ 1. Shareholder is not a foreign corporation, foreign partnership, foreign trust or foreign estate (as
! those terms are defined in the Code and Income Tax Regulations);

2. Shareholder is not a disregarded entity as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.1445-
2(b)(2)(iik);

3 Shareholder's U.S. employer identification number is - ;and

4, Shareholder’s office address is:

Shareholder understands that this certification may be disclosed to the Internal Revenue Service and that
any false statement contained herein could be punished by fine, imprisonment, or both.

Under penalties of perjury, | declare that | have examined this certification and to the best of my knowledge
and belief it is true, correct and complete, and 1 further declare that I have authority to sign this document on behalf
of Shareholder.

By:

Name:

Title:

Date: _2my



FORM 4

AFFIDAVIT OF LOST STOCK CERTIFICATE
(Individual Shareholder)

STATE OF §
§
COUNTY OF §
(the “Shareholder™), deposes and says:
(13 The Sharcholder is entitled to the possession and is the true, lawful and sole
beneficial owner of Stock Certificate No. __ representing shares of common stock,
such shares having a par value of § per share (the "Original Certificate"), issued by T3

COMMUNICATIONS, INC., a corporation created under the laws of the State of Florida (the
"Cormporation"), in the name of the Shareholder.

(2  The Ongnal Certificate was originally acquired by the Shareholder directly
from the Corporation, and has been lost, stolen or destroyed.

3) The Shareholder has not otherwise endorsed, or authorized anyone else to
endorse, the Original Certificate.

(4) The Shareholder has made or caused 1o be made a diligent search for the
Original Centificate, and has been unable to find or recover it; the Shareholder has not sold,
assigned, pledged, transferred, deposited under any agreement or hypothecated the Original
Certificate or any interest therein, or signed any power of attorney or other authorization respecting
the same which is now outstanding and in force, or otherwise disposed of the same; and no person,
firm, corporation, agency or government other than the Shareholder has or has asserted any right,
title, claim, equity or interest in, o or respecting the Original Certificate or the proceeds thereof.

(5)  The Sharcholder hereby requests that the Corporation, and this Affidavit of
Lost Stock Cenificate is made for the purposes of inducing the Corporation to, (i} refuse to
recognize any person other than the Shareholder as the owner of the Original Certificate; (ii) refuse
to make any payment, transfer, registration, delivery or exchange called for by the Original
Certificate 1o any person other than the Shareholder; (iii) refuse to take any other action pursuant to
the request or demand of any person other than the Shareholder; and (iv) complete the retumn of the
shares represented by the Original Certificate to the Corporation in exchange for the merger
consideration described in that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger entered into by and among
Shift8 Technologies, Inc., T3 Acquisition, Inc., the Corporation and Mr. Stuart Conrad, as
shareholders representative, without reissuing a certificate to the Shareholder in replacement of the
Original Certificate.



(6  If the Sharcholder should find or recover the Original Certificate, the
Shareholder will immediately surrender it to the Corporation for cancellation without requiring any
consideration therefor.

(7y  The Shareholder agrees in condderation of compliance with the foregoing
requests by the Corporaion to indemnify and protect the Corporaion from any and dl liabilities,
loss, damage or expense to which the Corporation may be subjected by reason of the loss of the
Origind Certificate, induding dams by any person daming ownership of the Origind
Certificate or shares of Corporation’s stock represented thereby.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]



Signed and delivered by the Shareholder this day of , 2017,

Signature;
Name (please print):

STATE OF

W

COUNTY OF

BEFORE ME, a notary public, on this day personally appeared ,
known to me to be the person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument and, being
by me first duly sworn, declared that the statements therein contained are true and correct,

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL of office this day of , 2017,

NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR THE
(Notary’s Seal) STATE OF




INSTRUCTIONS

1. Completion and Delivery of Letter of Transmittal. The Letter of Transmittal must be
properly completed and signed by the registered holder(s) of the Company Stock being surrendered
herewith, and mailed or hand delivered with the certificate(s) for such shares (or an affidavit of lost
certificate) and any other documents required by Instruction 3 to the Company, or to the Surviving
Company, if after the Closing, at the address set forth in the Letter of Transmittal. The Company, or the
Surviving Company, if afier the Closing, may by subsequent notice change the designated recipient and
address. for any Leters of Transmittal not already sent to it. If additional space is needed for listing
certificates, attach a separate signed sheet. A return Federal Express envelope with prepaid label is
enclosed for your convenience.

THE METHOD OF DELIVERY OF THIS DOCUMENT AND ANY
ENCLOSURES IS AT THE ELECTION AND RISK OF THE STOCKHOLDER. THE RETURN
FEDERAL EXPRESS ENVELOPE AND LABEL HAVE BEEN PROVIDED SOLELY AS A
CONVENIENCE, ON THE ASSUMPTION THAT FEDERAL EXPRESS OR OTHER COURIER
SERVICE WILL RESULT IN FASTER RETURN TO THE COMPANY. BUT NEITHER THE
COMPANY NOR THE SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE HAS PURCHASED INSURANCE
OR OTHER PROTECTION FOR YOUR BENEFIT IF YOU USE THE ENCLOSED FEDERAL
EXPRESS ENVELOPE AND LABEL, OR IF YOU USE ANY OTHER COURIER SERVICE OR
OTHER METHOD OF RETURN AND THE RISK IN TRANSIT IS YOURS. 1IF THIS
DOCUMENT IS SENT BY MAILL, THE USE OF REGISTERED MAIL WITH RETURN RECEIPT
REQUESTED, PROPERLY INSURED, IS RECOMMENDED BECAUSE THE RISK OF LOSS IN
TRANSIT IS YOURS.

All questions as to validity, form and eligibility of any surrender of any certificate
representing shares of Company Stock hereunder will be determined by the Company, or the Surviving
Company, if such determination is made after the Closing, and such determination shall be final and
binding. The Company and the Surviving Company reserve the right to waive any irregularities or defects
in the surrender of any certificate(s) representing shares of Company Stock. A surrender will not be
deemed to have been made until all irregularities have been cured or waived.

2. Signing Letter of Transmittal, If this Letter of Transmittal is signed by the registered
holder(s) of Company Stock surrendered hereby, the stockholder’s name on the Letter of Transmittal must
be signed in EXACTLY the same manner as the name appears on the certificate(s) surrendered herewith.
If the shares of Company Stock are registered in the name of a trustee, executor, administrator, guardian,
attomey-in-fact, officer of a corporation or other person acting in a fiduciary or representative capacity,
such person must indicate his or her capacity when signing. If certificates are registered in different forms
of a nume (e.g., “John Doe™ and ). Doe™), the stockholder should sign as many Letters of Transmittal as
there are different registrations. [f a certificate is registered in the name of two or more holders, each such
holder must sign.

If the Letter of Transmittal is signed by a trustee, executor, administrator, guardian,
attorney-in-fact, officer of a corporation or other person acting in a fiduciary or representative capacity, and
such person is not the registered stockholder, he or she must indicate the capacity when signing and must
submit proper evidence of hig or her authority to act.

kR Deliveries by the Buyer threugh the Surviving Company. For those Shareholders
electing payment via wire transfer, funds representing payment for the shares of Company Stock
surrendered hereby, will be wire transferred to such Shareholders pursuant to the instructions set forth in
the Delivery Instructions set forth in the Letter of Transmittal. For those Shareholders not electing to
receive a wire transfer, checks representing payment for the shares of Company Stock surrendered hereby,
will be mailed to the address indicated in the Delivery Instructions set forth in the Letter of Transmittal.

4. Timing. Each Shareholder is urged to submit this Letter of Transmittal to the Company
by delivery of same to the Company at its address set forth above as soon as possible,. No payments will be



made to a Shareholder until all of the documents required by this Letter of Transmittal with respect to that
Shareholder are received by the Company (or by the Surviving Company, if received after the Closing). 1f
vou wish to receive payment at the earliest possible time (which should occur shortly following the Closing
of the Merger. which Closing is currently expected to be on or shortly after July 14, 2017), this Letter of
Transmittal and all required documents should be in the Company’s possession no later than May 18,
2017,

5. Lost or Stolen Certificate. If your certificate for Company Stock is lost or stolen,
complete and execute this Letter of Transmittal and return it with a completed affidavit in the form attached
hereto as Form 4 regarding the lost or stolen certificate in the form sent to you with this Letter of
Transmittal. After you have completed all such documents to the Company’s satisfaction, and returned
them to the Company, and in exchange therefor provided the Closing of the Merger has occurred, the
Company (acting through the Surviving Company) will make payment for the shares of Company Stock
registered in the Company's stock transfer records and represented by the lost certificate.

6. Withholding. Under the federal income tax law, a person surrendering certificate(s)
must provide his or her correct taxpayer identification number (TIN) and certify that such TIN is correct by
completing the IRS Form W-9 included herewith as Form 1. If the correct TIN is not provided, a $50.00
penalty may be imposed by the Internal Revenue Service and any cash payments made may be subject to
backup withholding of 31%. Withholding also is requited in certain other circumstances—e.g., if the
Internal Revenue Service notifies the recipient that he or she is subject to backup withholding as a result of
a failure to report all interest and dividends. The TIN that must be provided is that of the registered holder
of the certificate(s) or of the last transferee appearing on the transfers attached to or endorsed on the
certificate(s). The TIN for an individual is his or her social security number. For further information
concerning backup withholding and instructions for completing the Form W-9 (including how to obtain a
TIN if the holder does not have one and how to complete the Form W-9 if the securities are held in more
than one name), consult the enclosed “General Instructions” included with the Form W-9.

Certain holders (including, among others, all corporations and certain foreign individuals)
are not subject to these backup withholding and reporting requirements. Exempt holders should still
complete the Form W-9 to avoid possible erroneous backup withholding. Exempt holders should furnish
their TIN in Part 1 of the Form W-9 and sign, date and return the Form W-9 to the Company. See the
enclosed “General Instructions™ included with the Form W-9 for additional instructions. Foreign
individuals. trusts, partnerships and corporations not engaged in a U.S. trade or business may qualify as
exempt persons by submitting an IRS Form W-8, signed under the penalties of perjury, certifying their
foreign status. 1f IRS Form W-R is not sent to you with the Letter of Transmittal, it may be obtained from
the Company or from any Internal Revenue Service Office.

Stock in the Company may be considered a U.S. real property interest if the Company
could be considered a “United States real property holding corporation™ based en the fair market value of
its real property interests in certain other assets. 1f stock of the Company were determined to be a U.S. real
property interest, a tax equal to 10% of the amount payable to a Shareholder must be withheld and paid
aver to the IRS under Section 1445 of the Internal Revenue Code. Withholding is not required ¥f each
Shareholder furnishes his, her or its certification, under penalties of perjury, that the Shareholder is not a
foreign person and that includes the Sharcholder’s U.S. taxpayer identification number (Social Security
number for an individual or Federal Employer Identification Number for an entity) and the Shareholder’s
address (home address for an individual or office address for an entity). To avoid the possibility of 10%
withholding under Section 1445, you must complete, sign and return the Certification of Non-Foreign
Status. If you are an individual Shareholder, complete and sign the Individual Certification (in respect of
shares held by two or more individuals jointly. each must complete and sign an Individual Certification)
included herewith as Form 2. If you are an entity Shareholder (corporation, limited liability company,
partnership, trust or estate), complete and sign the Entity Certification included herewith as Farm 3;
provided, however, if you are an cntity that is disregarded for federal income tax purposes (a single-
member limited liability company or a grantor trust), the individual who is the owner and taxpayer with
respect 1o the disregarded entity must complete and sign the Individual Certification and print below his or




her signature that it is compleied for the entity Sharcholder (identified by name) and that the entity
Shareholder is a disregarded entity for federal income tax purposes.

The Company will make any applicable withholdings and payments to the IRS in order to
comply with the referenced laws and regulations.

7. Miscellanecus. Neither the Company, the Buyer nor the Surviving Company is or will
be under any duty to give notification of defects in any Letter of Transmittal and shall not incur any
liability for failure to give such notification. The Buyer has, and the Surviving Company will have, the
absolute right to reject any and all Letters of Transmittal not in proper form or to waive any irregularities in
any Letter of Transmittal.

8. Additional Copies. Additional copies of the Letter of Transmittal may be obtained from
the Company, or from the Surviving Company, if after the Closing, at the address set forth on the front
hereof.



EXHIBIT E

FORM OF NON-COMPETE AND CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT
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EXHIBIT E

NON-COMPETE AND CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT

This NON-COMPETE AND CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”),

datcd as of the  day of , 2017, is by and between T3 Communications, Inc., a
Florida corporation (the “Company,” and sometimes referred to herein as the ‘‘Surviving
Company™), and (“Shareholder™).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Shifi8 Technologics,
Inc., a Nevada corporation (“Buyer™), acquired al! of the Company’s business and asscts of every
description by effecting a merger (the “Merger™) of T3 Acquisition Inc., a Florida corporation,
with and into the Company, resulting in the Company being the surviving entity and thereafter a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Buyer, all as more specifically provided in and subject to that

certain Agreement and Merger Agreement dated as of , 2017 (the “Merger
Agrecement™);

WHEREAS, this Agreement shall become effective as of the closing of the transactions
contemplated by the Merger Agreement;

WHEREAS, immediately prior to the Merger, Sharcholder owned a portion of the issued
and outstanding shares of common stock of the Company;

WHEREAS, in connection with the Merger, Shareholder has reccived substantial
consideration;

WHEREAS, the Company desires to be assured that the confidential information and
goodwill of the Company will be preserved for the exclusive benefit of the Surviving Company;
and

WHEREAS, the business of the Company is to provide voice or data communications
services and solutions for business customers, including, without limitation, cloud based hosted
PBX, ISP, voice and data, broadband and metro Ethernet, and co-location and disaster recovery;
provided, however, participating as an owner in a data or collocation center shall not be deemed
to be included in the definition of “Business” so long as the Sharcholder does not have an
operating role in such data or collocation center business (the “Business”);

WHEREAS, the Company and Shareholder are entering into this Agreement for the
purposc of preserving the proprietary rights, going business value and goodwill of the Business
for the benefit of the Company by assuring that Shareholder does not usc any nonpublic,
confidential and proprietary information relating to the Business and/or any experience, expertise
and personal contacts to compete with the Business and the Company after the date hereof,
except as permitted by this Agreement.
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NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the monetary consideration
hereinafter stated, the Company and Shareholder hereby covenant and agree as follows:

1. Definitions. All capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined
shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Merger Agreement. In addition to the
terms defined elsewhere in this Agreement, unless the contexi shall expressly or by
necessary implication indicate to the contrary, as used herein, the following terms shall
have the following meanings:

(a) “Customer” means any person or entity which has purchase or
ordered goods, products or services from the Company and/or entered into any contract
for products or services with the Company within the onc (1) year period preceding the
Closing Date.

(b)  “Prospective Customer” means any person or entity which has
evidenced an intention to order products or services from the Company or with whom the
Company has had material contact and discussions regarding the ordering of products or
services from the Company within the one (1) year period preceding the closing of the
Closing Date.

(©) “Restricted Territory” means the State of Florida and Texas.

(d) “Term” means the period commencing on the date of the closing of
the Merger Agreement (the “‘Closing Date™) and ending five years thereafter.

2. Non-Competition; Non-Solieitation.

(a) During the Term, Sharcholder shall not directly or indirectly, own,
manage, engage in, operate, control, work for as an employee, consult with, render
services to or for, do business with or participate in a business that is competitive with the
Business of the Company in the Restricted Territory. Notwithstanding anything herein to
the contrary, Shareholder may hold passive investments in any enterprise the shares of
which are publicly traded if such investment constitutes less than two percent (2%) of the
equity of such enterprise.

(b) As a separate and independent covenant, Sharecholder further
agrees that during the Term, Shareholder shall not (i) cause, solicit, induce or encourage
any employees of the Company (or former employees who had been employed by the
Company within a six (6) month period prior to any such solicitation or hiring) to leave
such employment or hire, employ or otherwise engage any such individual; (ii) cause,
induce or encourage any Customer, supplier, or licensor of the Company (including any
person that becomes a Customer of the Company after the Closing Date) or any other
person who has a material business relationship with the Company, to terminate or
modify any such rclationship; or (iii) cause, induce or encourage any Prospective
Customer of the Company not to do business with the Company.

(©) The covenants of Sharcholder set forth in this Agreement
constitute a material inducement for the Company to execute, deliver and consummate

2
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the Merger Agreement and are an essential element of the acquisition of the Business
and, but for such covenants, the Company would not have executed and dclivered the
Merger Agreement and would not have been willing to consummate its acquisition of the
Business.

(d) Without intending in any way to limit the remedies available to the
Company, Shareholder hereby acknowledges that the breach, or attempted or threatened
breach, of this Agreement by Sharcholder will result in immediate and irreparable harm
to the Company and that damages at law will not be an adequate remedy for the
Company, and further acknowledges and agrees that if Shareholder breaches any of the
covenants contained in this Agreement, the Company may seek injunctive relief in any
court of competent jurisdiction to restrain the breach or the threatened breach of, or
otherwise specifically to enforce, any of such covenants. Such injunctive relief shall be
in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies at law or in equity available fo the
Company.

3. Nondisclosure of Confidential or Proprietary Information. Shareholder
acknowledges that, as a result of Shareholder’s past association with the Company and the
Business, Shareholder has acquired confidential or proprietary information of special value
to the Company. Shareholder covenants and agrees that Shareholder shall not during the
Term or at any time thereafter, directly or indirectly, disclose, reveal, divulge or
communicate to any person other than authorized officers, directors and employces of the
Company or use or otherwise exploit for Sharcholder’s own benefit or for the benefit of
anyone other than the Company, any Confidential Information (as defined below).
Shareholder shall not have any obligation to keep confidential any Confidential
Information if and to the cxtent disclosure thereof is specifically required by applicable
law, provided, however, that in the event disclosure is required by applicable law,
Shareholder shall, to the extent reasonably possible, provide the Company with prompt
notice of such requirement prior to making any disclosure so that the Company may seek
an appropriale protective order.

“Confidential Information™ means any confidential information with respect to the
Company, including, without limitation, methods of operation, customer lists, products,
prices, fecs, costs, technology, formulas, inventions, trade secrets, know-how, software,
marketing methods, plans, suppliers, competitors, markets or other specialized information
or proprictary matters; provided, that there shall be no obligation hereunder with respect 1o
information that (i) is generally available to the public on the Closing Date, (11) becomes
generally available to the public other than as a result of a disclosure not otherwise
permissible hereunder or a known breach by a third party of any confidentiality covenants
owing by that party to the Company, or (iii) is independently developed by Sharcholder
without the use of any such information.

4. Scope of Coverage. The partics agree and intend that the covenants
contained in Section 2 and Section 3 of this Agreement shall be construed as a series of
separate covenants, one for each applicable county, parish, state or country comprising the
Restricted Territory. Except for geographic coverage, each such separate covenant shall be
deemed identical in terms.
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5. Judicial Amendments; Scverability. H is expressly understoed and agreed
that, although the Company and Shareholder consider the restrictions contained in this
Agreement to be reasonable for the purpose of preserving for the Company’s benefit the
proprietary rights, going business value and goodwill of the Business, if a court of
competent jurisdiction holds or deems that any of the separate covenants contained in this
Agreement is unenforceable against Sharcholder in respect of the geographic area, then
such unenforceable covenant shall be deemed eliminated from this Agreement for the
purpose of such proceedings to the extent necessary to permit the remaining separate
covenants to be enforced and such findings shall not affect the enforceability of any of the
other separate covenants contained herein. If the court referred to above finds that any
covenant or restriction contained in this Agreement is unenforceable for any other reason,
then the provisions of such covenant shall not be rendered void but shall be deemed
reduced or otherwise amended to the extent such court may judicially determine or indicate
to be reasonable and so as to provide the Company, to the fullest extent permitted by
applicable law, the bencfits intended by this Agreement.

6. Entire Agreement. Assignment. This Agreement sets forth the entire
agreement and understanding of the parties relating to the subject matter hereof, and
supersedes all prior agreements, arrangements and understandings, writien or oral, between
the parties. The rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall inure to the benefit of,
and be conclusive and binding, upon each such party and their respective successors and
agsigns. Sharcholder may not assign its obligations hereunder under any circumstances,
but the Company may assign its rights hereunder to its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or to any
third party that acquires all or substantially all of the assets of the Company.

7. Notices. All notices or other communications given pursuant to this
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given as of the date
delivered if personally delivered or if mailed by U.S. first class certified mail, retumn receipt
requested, as follows:

(a) if to the Company:

T3 Communications, Inc.
Attention: Arthur L. Smith
3463 Magic Drive, Suite 235
San Antonio, Texas 78229
art.smith@shift8networks.net

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):
BoyarMiller

2925 Richmond Ave., 14" Floor

Houston, TX 77098

Fax: (713) 552-1758

Adttention: Steve Kesten

Email: skesten@boyarmiller.com

300754571 v4



{b) if to Shareholder:

Email:

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

K& Gates LLP

Southeast Financial Center, Suite 3900
200 South Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, Florida 33131

Fax: (305) 358-7095

Attention: Clayton E. Parker

Email: clayton.parkerf@klgates.com

8. Counterparts. This Agrecment may be executed in counterparts, cach of
which shall be deemed to be an original instrument, but all of which taken together shall
constitute one agreement.

0. No Waiver. The failure of the Company to insist, in any one or more
instances, upon the strict performance of the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall
not be construed as a waiver or relinquishment of any right hereunder nor of the future
performance of any such terms and conditions.

10.  Amendment. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by
an instrument in writing signed by, or on behalf of, each of the Company and Shareholder,

11.  Gender. All references in the Agreement to the masculine shall be deemed
to include, where required or appropriate, the feminine or neuter genders,

12. Headings. Article, section and paragraph headings are inserted for
convenience only and do not form a part of this Agreement.

13.  Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed under and enforced in
accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, without regard to the conflicts of law
provisions thercof. The partics to this Agrecment submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the
state courts located in Lee County in the State of Florida, or the courts of the United States
located in Lee County, Florida in respect of the interpretation and enforcement of the
provisions of this Agreement and any related agreement, certificate or other document
delivered in connection herewith and by this Agreement waive, and agree not to assert, any
defense, in any action for the interpretation or enforcement of this Agreement and any
related agreement, certificate or other document delivered in connection herewith, that they
are not subject thereto or that such action may not be brought or is not maintainable in such
courts or that this Agreement may not be enforced in or by such courts or that their
property is exempt or immune from execution, that the action is brought in an inconvenient
forum, or that the venue of the action is improper. Service of process with respect thereto
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may be made upon any party by mailing a copy thereof by registered or certified mail,
postage prepaid, to such party at its address as provided in Section 7.

14, Waiver of Jury Trial. Each party hereto hereby acknowledges and agrees
that any controversy which may arise under this Agreement is likely to involve complicated
and difficult issues, and therefore each such party hereby irrevocably and
unconditionally waives any right such party may have to a trial by jury in respect of
any litigation directly or indirectly arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the
Transaction. Each panty centifies and acknowledges that (i) no representative, agent or
attorney of any other party has represented, expressly or otherwise, that such other party
would not, in the event of litigation, seek to enforce the foregoing waiver, (ii) such party
understands and has considered the implications of this waiver, (1i1) such party makes this
waiver voluntarily, and (iv) such party has been induced to enter into this Agreement by,
among other things, the mutual waivers and certifications in this Section 14.

[Signature page follows)
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IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and

year first written above.

300754571 v4

SHAREHOLDER:

By:

Name:

Title:

COMPANY:

T3 COMMUNICATIONS INC.
a Florida corporation

By:

Name:

Title:

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT]




EXNIBIT F

ESCROW AGREEMENT

[See attached]
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EXHIBIT F

ESCROW AGREEMENT

THIS ESCROW AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made as of May _ , 2017, by and
among (i) Shift8 Technologies, Inc., a Nevada corporation ("Buyer”), (ii) Stuart Conrad, solely in his
capacity as the Shareholders Representative ("Shareholders Representative”), and (iii) Wilmington Trust,
N.A., a national banking association, as escrow agent (the "Escrow Agent"). Shareholders Representative
and Buyer are sometimes collectively referred to herein as the "Parties”" and individually as a "Party."
Capitalized terms used herein but not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Merger
Agreement (as defined below).

WHEREAS, Sharcholders Representative, Buyer, and other parties thereto are partics to
that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of 8, 2017 (the "Merger Agreement”);

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Merger Agrecment, the Shareholders appointed the
Sharcholders Representative as agent and attorney-in-fact for each such Shareholder, with full power and
authority to represent such Shareholder and such Sharcholder's successors and permitted assigns in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Apreement and the Merger Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Merger Agreement contemplates the establishment of separate escrow
funds as sources of recovery for (i) indemnification claims by Buyer Indemnitees as set forth in Section
7.2 of the Merger Agreement, and (ii) adjustments to the Estimated Purchase Price, as set forth in
Section 2.5(d) of the Merger Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Parties and the Escrow Agent desire to more specifically set forth their
rights and obligations with respect to the Indemnity Escrow Amouni (as defined below) and the Working
Capital Escrow Amount (as defined below) and the distribution and release thercof; and

WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of this Agreement is a condition to the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants set forth herein and other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the
Partics and the Escrow Agent hereby agree as follows.

1. Appointment of Escrow Agent. Shareholders Representative and Buyer hereby
appoint the Escrow Agent as escrow agent in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth herein,
and the Escrow Agent hereby accepts such appointment.

2. Escrow Deposit.

{a) On the date of this Agreement, Buyer shall deposit or cause to be deposited with the
Escrow Agent, in accordance with Section 2.4(e)(iii) of the Merger Agreement:

(i $50,000 (such amount, together with all income accrued thercon which
has not been distributed pursuant to this Agreement, the "Working Capital Escrow Amount"); and

(ii) $400,000 (such amount, together with all income accrued thereon which
has not been distributed pursuant to this Agreement, the "Indemnity Escrow Amount" and, together with
the Working Capital Escrow Amount, the "Escrow Funds").
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(b} The Escrow Agent shall hold the Working Capital Escrow Amount in a scparate and
distinct account (the "Working Capital Escrow Account”) and the Indemnity Escrow Amount in a
separate and distinct account (the "[ndemnity Escrow Account” and together with the Working Capital
Escrow, the "Escrow Accounts" and each, an "Escrow Account"). All income eamed on the Working
Capital Escrow Amount shall be credited to the Working Capital Escrow Account and be deemed to be a
part of the Working Capital Escrow Amount for any and all purposes hereunder and all income eamed on
the Indemnity Escrow Amount shall be credited to the Indemnity Escrow Account and be deemed to be a
part of the [ndemnity Escrow Amount for any and all purposes hereunder. The Escrow Agent shall not
distribute or release the Escrow Funds except in accordance with the express terms and conditions of this
Agreement.

3. Permitted Investments.

(a) The Escrow Agent shall follow the Joint Instructions (as defined below) of the Parties
concerning any investment or reinvestment from time to time of the funds held in the Escrow Accounts;
provided that permissible investments shall be limited to: (a) money market accounts and money market
mutual funds (including those of the Escrow Agent), treasury bills, freasury notes or any other direct
obligations issued by or guaranteed in full as to principal and interest by the United States of America and
certificates of deposit issued by a commercial bank having capital, surplus and undivided profits of not
fess than $500,000,000 (including the Escrow Agent and its affiliates), (b) obligations of or guaranteed by
the U.8. povernment with a maturity of not more than 120 days, (c) certificates of deposit with a maturity
of not more than 120 days with a commercial bank having capital, surplus and undivided profits of not
less than $500,000,000, (d) commercial paper with a maturity of not mere than 120 days that is rated A-2,
P-2 or better by Standard & Poor's Corporation or Moody's Investors Services, Inc. and (e) debt of or
guaranteed by any state or political subdivision with a maturity of not more than 120 days that is rated A
or better (the "Permitted Investments"). In the absence of the Joint Instructions described above, the
Escrow Agent shall invest the Escrow Funds, to the extent reasonably practicable, in M&T Bank
Corporate Deposit Account (the "CDA") or such successor or similar fund with the Escrow Agent.
Amounts on deposit in the CDA are insured up to a total of 3250,000 per depositor, per insured bank
(including principal and accrued intcrest) by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the "FDIC"),
subject to the applicable rules & regulations of the FDIC. The Parties understand that deposits in the
CDA are not secured. Neither of the Parties nor the Escrow Agent shall be liable or responsible in any
manner for any loss or depreciation resulting from any such Permitted Investment or any liquidation
thereof, or for any costs in connection therewith, and all of said losses and costs shall be borne by the
Escrow Accounts. The Escrow Agent is hereby authorized to execute purchases and sales of investments
through the facilities of its own trading or capital markets operations or those of any affiliated entity. The
Escrow Agent shall send statements to each of the Parties on a monthly basis reflecting activity in the
Escrow Accounts for the preceding month. The Escrow Agent will act upon investment instructions the
day that such instructions are received; provided that the instructions are communicated within a
reasonable amount of time to allow the Escrow Agent to make the specified investment.

(b) The Parties recognize and agree that the Escrow Agent will not provide supervision,
recommendations or advice relating to either the investment of moneys held in the Escrow Accounts or
the purchase, sale, retention or other disposition of any Permitted Investment.

(c) Although the Parties recognize that they may obtain a broker confirmation or written
statement containing comparable information at no additional cost, the Parties hereby agree that
confirmations of Permitted Investmenis are not required to be issued by the Escrow Agent for each month
in which a monthly statement is rendered.
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(d) The Partics acknowledge and agrec that the delivery of the escrowed property is
subject to the sale and final settlement of Permitted Investments. Proceeds of a sale of Permitted
Investments will be delivered on the Business Day on which the appropriate instructions arc delivered to
the Escrow Agent if received prior to the deadline for same day sale of such Permitted Investments, 1T
such instructions are received after the applicable deadline, proceeds will be delivered on the next
succeeding Business Day.

4. Release of Escrow Funds. The Escrow Funds shall be distributed and released only

as follows.

{(a) Purchase Price Adjustment. Upon the determination of the Purchase Price pursuant
10 Scction 2.5 of the Merger Agreement, Buyer and Sharcholders Representative shall execute and deliver
to the Escrow Agent a joint written instruction signed by Buyer and Shareholders Representative (a "Joint
Instruction") instructing the Escrow Agent to release not later than five (5) Business Days after receipt of
the Joint Instruction the Working Capital Escrow Amount to cither Buyer or Wilmington Trust, N.A., a
national banking association, as payment agent (the “Paviment Agent™), or combination of both, and in the
amounts specified in such Joint Instruction in accordance with Section 2.5 of the Merger Agreement.

(b) Indemnification Claims. At any time and from time to time prior to .20 ]!
(the "Escrow Release Date"), if any Buyer Indemnitee makes a claim for indemnification from the
Shareholders pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Buyer shall deliver concurrently to the Escrow Apent
and Sharcholders Representative a written notice (an "Indemnification Notice") describing the claim, the
amount thereof (if known and quantifiable, and which may include the amount of Losses actually suffered
by the Buyer Indemnitee and/or Losses which may in good faith be expected to be suffered by the Buyer
Indemnitee assuming in each case that all of the facts and circumstances forming the basis of the
indemnification were true) and the basis of the claim ("Indemnification Clairg"). Buyer shall promptly
notify Shareholders Representative of the date that Escrow Agent received the Indemnification Notice, 1f
the Escrow Agent has not received a written objection to such Indemnification Notice from Sharcholders
Representative within thirty (30) days following the Escrow Agent's receipt of such Indemnification
Notice, then the Escrow Agent shall, on the first (1st) Business Day following the expiration of such
thirty (30) day period, release to Buyer a portion of the Indemnity Escrow Amount from the Indemnity
Escrow Account equal to the amount of such Indemnification Claim (such amount to be distributed by
wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account or accounts designated by Buyer in the
Indemnification Notice).

(c) Disputes. If Shareholders Representative delivers to the Escrow Agent and Buyer a
written objection (a "Dispute Notice") to the amount of any Indemnification Claim or pertion thereof
within thirty (30) days following the Escrow Agent's reccipt of the related Indemnification Notice, then
the Escrow Agent shall not distribute to Buyer any portion of such Indemnity Escrow Amount that is the
subject of the Dispute Notice until the Escrow Agent receives either (x) a Joint Instruction authorizing the
release to Buyer of all or any portion of the Indemnity Escrow Amount or (y) a Final Order (as defined in
Section 5.(f)) directing the release to Buyer of all or any portion of the Indemnity Escrow Amount. Upon
receipt of such Joint Instruction or such Final Order, as the case may be, the Escrow Agent shall release to
Buyer the portion of the Indemnity Escrow Amount in accordance with such Joint Instruction or such
Final Order. In the event that Sharcholders Representative is the prevailing party in whole or in part in
connection with any such dispute, the portion of the Indemnity Escrow Amount that was the subject of
such Dispute Notice and that is not released as provided in the immediately preceding sentence shall
remain in the Indemnity Escrow Account and shall be available to satisfy subsequent Indemnification

! To insert the date that is one Business Day immediately following the 24 month anniversary of the Closing Date.
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Claims until relcased as provided herein. Any Dispute Notice shall describe in reasonable detail the basis
for any objection to the matters set forth in the Indemnification Notice and the portion of such
Indemnification Claim that is the subject of such Dispute Notice.

(d) Partial Release. If any Dispute Notice includes an objection to only a portion of an
Indemnification Claim, the Escrow Agent shall promptly release to Buyer a portion of the Indemnity
Escrow Amount equal to the portion of the Indemnification Claim for which there is no objection;
provided that no such partial release by the Escrow Agent shall terminate or otherwise prejudice Buyer's
rights with respect to amounts claimed in any Indemnification Notice which are in excess of the amounts
so released.

() No Limitation of Remedies. Sharcholders Representative hereby acknowledges and
agrees that in the event all of the Indemnity Escrow Amount is paid to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement,
any further right of indemnification which Buyer may otherwise have pursuant to the Merger Agreement
(subject to the limitations thereof) shall not be limited or otherwise affected thereby.

(fy Escrow Release. On the Business Days immediately following the Escrow Release
Date, Shareholders Representative and Buyer shall deliver a Joint Instruction directing the Escrow Agent
10 release, subject to Section 7.11 of the Merger Apreement, the Indemnity Escrow Amount remaining in
the Indemnity Escrow Account (if any) in excess of the amount of all unresolved Claims as of such date
to the Payment Agent (for distribution to the Shareholders in accordance with their respective Pro Rata
Shares); provided that if the Escrow Apgent has not received such Joint Instruction by the tenth Business
Day following the Escrow Release Date, then the Escrow Agent shall nonetheless relcase the balance of
the Indemnity Escrow Amount (if any) in excess of all unresolved Claims as of the Escrow Release Date
to the Payment Agent.

5. Conditions 1o Escrow. The Escrow Agent agrees to hold the Escrow Funds and o
perform its obligations in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement. The Parties agree
that the Escrow Agent shall not assume any responsibility for the failure of the Parties to perform in
accordance with the Merger Agreement or this Agreement. The acceptance by the Escrow Agent of its
respensibilities hereunder is subject to the following terms and conditions, which the parties hereto agree
shall govern and control with respect to the Escrow Agent's rights, duties and liabilities hereunder:

(a) Documents. The Escrow Agent shail be protected in acting upon any writien notice,
request, waiver, consent, receipt or other paper or document furnished to it, not only as to its due
execution and validity and the effectiveness of its provisions, but also as to the truth and accuracy of any
information therein contained, which the Escrow Agent in good faith believes to be genuine and what 1t
purports to be. Should it be nccessary for the Escrow Agent to act upon any instructions, dircctions,
documents or instruments issued or signed by or on behalf of any corporation, partnership, fiduciary or
individual acting on behalf of another party hereto, it shall not be neccssary for the Escrow Agent to
inquire inlo such corporation's, partnership's, fiduciary's or individual's authority. The Escrow Agent is
also relieved from the necessity of satisfying itself as to the authority of the persons executing this
Agreement in a Shareholders Representative capacily or on behalf of any of the Parties. Concurrent with
the execution of this Agreement, Buyer and Shareholders Representative shall deliver o the Escrow
Agent authorized signers' forms in the form of Exhibit A-1 and Exhibit A-2 1o this Agreement.

(b) Liability. Provided the Escrow Agent complies with Joint Instructions furnished to it
by Buyer and Shareholders Representative, the Escrow Agent shall not be liable for anything which it
may do or refrain from doing in connection herewith, except for its own gross negligence. willful
misconduct or fraud.
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(c) Legal Counsel. The Escrow Agent may consult with, and obtain advice from, legal
counsel in the event of any question as to any of the provisions hereof or its duties hereunder, and it shall
incur no liability and shall be fully protected in acting in good faith in accordance with the opinion and
instructions of such counsel.

(d) Limitation of Duties. The Escrow Agent shall have no duties except those which are
expressly set forth herein and it shall not be bound by any agreements of the other parties hereto,
including, without limitation, the Merger Agreement (whether or not it has any knowledge thereof). The
Escrow Agent shall not be deemed a fiduciary for any party to this Agreement. PROVIDED THE
ESCROW AGENT COMPLIES WITH THIS AGREEMENT, JOINT INSTRUCTIONS FURNISHIID
TO IT BY PURCHASER AND SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE OR A FINAL ORDER, THE
ESCROW AGENT SHALL NOT BE LIABLE, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, FOR ANY (1)
DAMAGES, LOSSES OR EXPENSES ARISING OUT OF THE SERVICES PROVIDED
HEREUNDER, OTHER THAN DAMAGES, LOSSES OR EXPENSES WHICH HAVE BEEN
FINALLY ADJUDICATED TO HAVE DIRECTLY RESULTED FROM THE ESCROW AGENT'S
FRAUD, GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, OR (I} SPECIAL, INDJRECT OR
CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES OR LOSSES OF ANY KIND WHATSOEVER (INCLUDING
WITHOUT LIMITATION LOST PROFITS), EVEN IF THE ESCROW AGENT HAS BEEN ADVISED
OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH LOSSES OR DAMAGES AND REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF
ACTION.

(c) Resignation or Termination of Escrow Agent. The Escrow Agent shall have the right
to resign at any time by giving thirty (30) calendar days' prior written notice of such resignation io the

Parties, and the Parties shall have the right to terminate the services of the Escrow Agent hereunder at any
time by giving joint written notice (with such wrillen notice being signed by the Parties) of such
termination to the Escrow Apgent, in each case specifying the effective date of such resignation or
termination. Within thirty (30) days after receiving or delivering the aforesaid notice, as the case may be,
the Parties agree to appoint a successor escrow agent to which the Escrow Agent shall distribute the
property then held hereunder in accordance with the terms hereof. If a successor escrow agent has not
been appointed and has not accepted such appointment by the end of such thirty (30)-day period, the
Escrow Agent may apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor escrow
agent, and the reasonable costs and expenses which are incurred in connection with any such proceeding
shall be paid one-half by Shareholders Representative, on the one hand, and one-half by Buyer, on the
other hand. Except as otherwise agreed to in writing by the Parties, no Escrow Funds shall be released
from the Escrow Accounts unless and until a successor escrow agent has been appointed in accordance

with this Section_5(e).

(H) Discharge of Fscrow Agent. Upon delivery of all of the Escrow Funds pursuant to
the terms of Section 4 above or 1o a successor Escrow Agent, the Escrow Agent shall thereafter be
discharged from any further obligations hereunder. The Escrow Agent is hereby authorized, in any and
all events, to comply with and obey any and all fixed, nonappealable judgments, orders and decrecs of
any court of competent jurisdiction which may be filed, entered or issued (each a "Final Order"), and, if it
shall so comply or obey, it shall not be liable to any other person by reason of such compliance or
obedience. The Escrow Agent shall be entitled to receive and may conclusively rely upon an opinion of
counsc! to the effect that a judgment, order or decree is final, nonappealable and from a court of
competent jurisdiction.

(2) Interpleading of Assets upon Dispute. In the event that (i) any dispute shall arise
between the Parties with respect to the dispesition or disbursement of any of the assets held hereunder or
{ii} the Escrow Agent shall be uncertain as to how to proceed in a situation not explicitly addressed by the
terms of this Agreement whether because of conflicting demands by the other parties hercto or otherwise,
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the Escrow Agent shall be permitted 1o interplead all of the assets held hereunder into a court of
competent jurisdiction, and thereafter be fully relieved from any and all liability or obligation with respect
to such interpleaded assets. The Parties further agree to pursue any redress or recourse in connection with
such a dispute, without making the Escrow Agent a party to the same.

(h) Agency. The Escrow Agent shall have the right to perform any of its dutics
hereunder through agents, attomeys, custodians or nominees,

(i) Merger of Escrow Agent. Any banking association or corporation into which the
Escrow Agent may be merged, converted or with which the Escrow Agent may be consolidated, or any
corporation resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Escrow Agent shall be a
party, or any banking association ot corporation to which all or substantially all of the corporate trust
business of the Escrow Agent shall be transferred, shall succeed to all the Escrow Agent's rights,
obligations and immunities hereunder without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on
the part of any of the Parties, anything hetein to the contrary notwithstanding.

(j) Garnishment of Escrow Funds. In the event that any of the Escrow Funds shall be
attached, garnished or levied upon by any court order, or the delivery thereof shall be stayed or enjoined
by an order of a court, or any order, judgment or decree shall be made or entered by any court order
affecting the property deposited under this Agreement, the Escrow Apent is hereby expressly authorized,
in its sole discretion, 10 obey and comply with all writs, orders or decrees so entered or issued, which it is
advised by legal counsel of its own choosing is binding upon it, whether with or without jurisdiction, and
in the event that the Escrow Agent obeys or complies with any such writ, order or decree it shall not be
liable to any of the parties hereto or to any other person, firm or corporation, by reason of such
compliance notwithstanding such writ, order or decree be subsequently reversed, modified, annulled, set
aside or vacated.

6. Taxation. All Parties agree that, for all tax purposes including federal and state
income tax purposes, all interest or other income earned with respect to any portion of the Working
Capital Escrow Account or the Indemnity Escrow Account in any tax year shall be allocated to
Shareholders Representative and reported to the Internai Revenue Service by the Escrow Agent as income
earmed from the Escrow Funds. The Parties acknowledge that payments of any Escrow Funds will be
subject to backup withholding penalties unless a properly completed Internal Revenue Service form W-8
or W-9 certification is submitted to the Escrow Agent by each Party.

7. Indemnification.

{a) Shareholders Representative. on the one hand, and Buyer. on the other hand, hereby
agree, severally and not jointly, to indemnify the Escrow Agent for and to hold it harmless against any
loss, Hability or reasonable expense {including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses) incurred without
gross negligence, willful misconduct or fraud on the part of the Escrow Agent arising out of or in
connection with its performance under this Agreement; provided, however, that, Shareholders
Representative, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand, shall each be responsible for not more
than 50% of any such losses, liabilities, fees or expenses.

{b) Subject to there being Escrow Funds available therefor, the Escrow Agent shall,
pursuant to writlen instructions from the Sharcholders Representative, make a distribution to the
Shareholders Representative on or prior 10 January 31, 2018 {and on or prior to January 31 of any
subsequent year that precedes the Escrow Release Date) in an amount equal to 40% of the aggregate
income earned on the Escrow Funds during the preceding calendar year. Such distribution shall be funded
from the Escrow Funds. Concurrently with such distribution, the Escrow Agent shall provide Buyer with
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notice of the amount disbursed to the Shareholders Representative,

8. Escrow Costs. The Escrow Agent shall be entitled to be paid a fec for its services
pursuant to the attached Exhibit B and to be reimbursed for its reasonable costs and expenses incurred in
connection with maintaining the Escrow Accounts hereunder, which fees, costs and expenses shali be
paid one-half by Shareholders Representative, on the one hand, and one-half by Buyer, on the other hand.
The Escrow Agent shall be entitled and is hereby granted the right to set off and deduct from the Escrow
Funds any unpaid fees, non-reimbursed expenses and unsatisfied indemnification rights from such
Escrow Funds. In the event that the Escrow Agent exercises its right to set off (as set forth in the
immediately preceding sentence), the amount of such set off shall be replenished into the Escrow Funds
by the Party whose failure 10 pay pursuant to the first sentence of this Section & resulted in such set off;
provided, however, if such set off is a result of the failure of the Shareholders Representative to pay its
share of the fees, costs and expenses pursuant to this Section 8, then Shareholders Representative shall not
be required to replenish into the Escrow Funds the amount of such set off until the date that all of the
Escrow Funds in the Escrow Accounts have been released and distributed in accordance with Section 4
and then only to the extent necessary to comply with Shareholder Representative’s obligations under this
Section 8.

9. Limitations on Rights to Escrow Funds. None of the Parties shall have any right, title
or interest in or to, or possession of, the Escrow Accounts and therefore shall not have the ability to
pledge, convey, hypothecate or grant as securily all or any portion of the Escrow Funds unless and until
such Escrow Funds have been released pursuant to Section 4 above. Accordingly, the Escrow Agent shail
be in sole possession of the Escrow Funds and shall not act as custodian of the Parties under this
Agreement for the purposes of perfecting a security interest therein, and no creditor of any of the Parties
shall have any right to have or to hold or otherwise attach or seize all or any portion of the Escrow Funds
as collateral for any obligation and shall not be able to obtain a security interest in any of the Escrow
Funds unless and until such Escrow Funds have been released pursuant to Section 4 above,

10. Notices. All notices, demands or other communications to be given or delivered
vnder or by rcason of the provisions of this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have
been given (i) when delivered personally to the recipient, (i) one (1) Business Day afier being sent to the
recipient by reputable overnight courier service (charges prepaid), (iii) on the date of such transmission if
being sent to the recipient by facsimile transmission or electronic mail and the relevant electronic record
indicates a full and successful transmission, or (iv) four (4) Business Days after being mailed to the
recipient by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, and addressed to the
intended recipient as set forth below (or to such other address or to the attention of such other person as
the recipient party has specified by prior writien notice to the sending party):

Notice to Shareholders Representative:

Mr. Stuart Conrad
485 Majestic Cove
Alpharetta, GA 30004

Fax: 674-550-9627
Email: stuartconrad(@att.net

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

K&L Gates LLP
Southeast Financial Center, Suite 3900
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200 South Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, Florida 33131

Fax: (305) 358-7095
Attention: Clayton E. Parker, Esq.
Email: clayton.parker(@klgates.com

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Steven Jones

1740 Persimmon Drive

Naples, FL 34109

Fax: (239) 325-2001

Email: sjones@aspencapgroup.com

Notice to Buver:

Shift§ Technologies, Inc.
3463 Magic Drive, Suite 235
San Antonio, Texas 78229
Attention: Arthur L. Smith
Telephone:
Email: art.smith@shifi8networks.net

with a copy to {(which shall not constitute notice):

BoyarMiller

2925 Richmond Ave., 14th Floor
Houston, Texas 77098

Attention: Steven D. Kesten
Telephone: (832) 615-4246
Email: skesten@boyarmiller.com

Notice to Esctow Agent:

Wilmington Trust, N.A.

15950 N. Dallas Parkway, Suite 550
Dallas, TX 75248

Attention: Camilla J. Lindsey
Telephone: {972) 383-3151

Email: clindsey@wilmingtontrust.com

11. Entire Apreement; Amendments. This Agreement, together with the Merger
Agreement, contains the entire understanding of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter
hercof and supersedes any prior understandings or agreements by or among the parties hercto, whether
written or oral, which may have related to the subject matter hereof in any way. This Agreement may be
amended, or any provision of this Agreement may be waived, so long as such amendment or waiver is sct
forth in a writing executed by each of the Parties (2 copy of which shall be promptly provided to the
Escrow Agent); provided that. if any such amendment or waiver would have the effect of increasing or
expanding the Escrow Agent's obligations or duties under this Agreement, the written consent of the
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Escrow Agent shall be required in addition to the written consent of the Parties. No course of dealing
between or among the parties hereto shall be deemed effective to modify, amend or discharge any part of
this Agreement of any rights or obligations of any party hereto under or by reason of this Agreement,

12. Assigns and Assignment. This Agreement and all actions taken hereunder shall inure
1o the benefit of and shall be binding upon all of the parties hereto and upon all of their respective
successors and assigns; provided that (a) the Escrow Agent shall not be permitted to assign its obligations
hereunder except as provided in Sections 5.(e) and 5.(i) above and (b) no assignment by any of the Parties
shall be binding against the Escrow Agent unless and until written notice of such assignment is delivered
to and acknowledged by the Escrow Agent.

13. No Other Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing herein expressed or implied is intended
or shall be construed to confer upon or to give any Person other than the Escrow Agent, the Parties and
their permitted assigns any rights or remedies under or by reason of this Agrecment.

14. Interpretation. The headings in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of
reference only and shall not be a part of or control or affect the meaning hereof,

15. No Waiver. No failure or delay by a party hereto in exercising any right, power or
privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, and no single or parfial exercise thereof shall
preclude any right of further exercise or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. The right of
the Parties to receive all or a portion of the Escrow Funds under the circumstances deseribed in Secticn 4
above is in addition 1o, and not in lieu of, any other remedies that any Person may have against another
Person pursuant to the Merger Agreement in the event of a breach of, or other liability under, the Merger
Agreement.

16. Severability. The parties hereto agree that (a) the provisions of this Agreement shall
be severable in the event that for any reason whatsoever the provisions hereof are invalid, void or
otherwise unenforceable, (b)such invalid, void or otherwise unenforceable provisions shall be
automatically replaced by other provisions that are as similar as possible in terms to such invalid, void or
otherwise unenforceable provisions but are valid and enforceable and (c) the remaining provisions shall
remain enforceable to the fullest extent permitied by law.

17. No Strict Construction. The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be
the language chosen by the parties hereto to express their collective mutual intent, and no rule of strict
construction shall be applied against any person. The term "including" as used herein shall be by way of
example and shall not be deemed to constitute a limitation of any term or provision contained herein.
Each defined term used in this Agreement has a comparable meaning when used in its plural or singular
form.

18. Governing Law. Al issues and questions concerning the construction, validity,
enforcement and interpretation of this Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with,
the domestic laws of the State of Delaware without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law
rules or provisions (whether of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the
application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware.

19. Banking Days. If any date on which the Escrow Agent is required to make an

investment or a delivery pursuant to the provisions hereof is not a banking day, then the Escrow Agent
shall make such investment or delivery on the next succeeding banking day.

300692016 v5 9



20. Counterparts. This Agreement may be exccuted by the parties hereto individually or
in any combination, in one or more counicrparts (including by means of telecopicd or PDF signature
pages), cach of which shall be an original and all of which shall together constitute one and the same
agreement.

21. Conflicts. The Parties agree and acknowledge that to the extent any terms and
provisions of this Agreement are in any way inconsistent with or in conflict with any term, condition or
provision of the Merger Agreement, the Merger Agreement shall govern and control. Unless and until the
Escrow Agent shall be notified in writing that an inconsistency or a conflict exists between this
Agreement and this Merger Agreement, it shall be entitled to conclusively assume that no such
inconsistency or conflict exists. In the event that the Escrow Agent shall be notified that an inconsistency
or a conflict exists between the Agreement and the Merger Agreement, the Escrow Agent shall be
permitted 1o interplead assets held hereunder pursuant to Section 5.(g) hereof.

22. Bankruptcy Proceedings. In the event of the commencement of a bankruptcy case or
cases whercin Shareholders Representative or Buyer is the debtor, the Escrow Funds will not constitute
property of the debtor's estate within the meaning of 11 U.S.C. § 541.

23. Specific Performance. The obligations of the parties hereto (including the Escrow
Agent) are unique in that time is of the essence, and any delay in performance hereunder by any party will
result in irreparable harm to the other parties hereto. Accordingly, any party may seek specific
performance and/or injunctive relief before any court of competent jurisdiction in order to enforce this
Agreement or to prevent violations of the provisions hereof, and no party will object to specific
performance or injunctive relief as an appropriate remedy. The Escrow Agent acknowledges that its
obligations, as well as the obligations of any party hercunder. are subject to the equitable remedy of
specific performance and/or injunctive relief.

24. Termination. This Agreement shall terminate when all of the Escrow Funds in the
Escrow Accounts have been released and distributed in accordance with Sectiond4. Upon such
termination this Agreement shall have no further force and effect, except that the provisions of this
Section 24 and Sections 6, 7 and 8 and Sections 10 through 20 shall survive such termination and the
resignation or removal of the Escrow Agent.

Remainder of the page intentionally left blank, signarure page follows
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Escrow Agreement as of
the date first written above.

BUYER:

SHIFT8 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By:
Name:
Its:

SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE:

STUART CONRAD

ESCROW AGENT:

WILMINGTON TRUST, N.A., AS ESCROW AGENT

By:
Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Escrow Agreement

00604370000341801136.1
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EXHIBIT A-1

CERTIFICATE AS TO AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
OF BUYER

Shift® Technologies, Inc. (the “Buyer™) hereby designates each of the following persons as its Authorized
Representatives for purposes of this Agreement, and confirms that the title, contact information and
specimen signature of cach such person as set forth below is true and correct. Each such Authorized
Representative is authorized to initiate and approve transactions of all types for the Escrow Accounts
established under the Agreement to which this Exhibit A-1 is attached, on behalf of the Buyer.

Name (print):

Specimen Signature:

Title:

Telephone Number | Office:
(required): Cell:

If more than one, list all
applicable telephone

nmbers.

E-mail (required): Email 1:
If more than one, list all | Email 2:
applicable email
addresses.

Name (print):

Specimen Signature:

Title:

Telephone Number | Office:
(required): Ceil:

If more than one, list all
applicable telephone

numbers.

E-mail (required): Email 1:
If more than one, list all | Email 2:
applicable email
addresses.

Name (print):

Specimen Signature:

Title:
Telephone Number | Office:
(required); Cell:

If more than one, list alf
applicable telephone
numbers.
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E-mail (required); Email 1:
If more than one, list all | Email 2:
applicable email
atidresses.

Additional Email Addresses:

The lollowing additional email addresses also may be used by Escrow Agent to verify the email address used
to send any Payment Notice to Escrow Agent:

Email 1:

Email 2:

Email 3:

COMPLETE BELOW TO UPDATE EXHIBIT A-1

If Buyer wishes to update this Exhibit A-1, Buyer must complete, sign and send to Escrow Agent an updated
copy of this Exhibit A-1 with such changes. Any updated Exhibit A-1 shall be effective once signed by
Buyer and Escrow Agent and shall entirely supersede and replace any prior Exhibit A-1 to this Agreement.

SHIFT8 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (as Escrow Agent)

By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

Buver Remittance [nstructions:
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EXHIBIT A-2

CERTIFICATE AS TO AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
OF SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE

Stuart Conrad (the “Shareholders Representative™ designates each of the following persons as his
Authorized Representatives for purposes of this Agrecment, and confirms that the title, contact information
and specimen signature of each such person as set forth below is true and correct. Each such Authorized
Representative is authorized to initiate and approve transactions of all types for the Escrow Accounts
established under the Agreement to which this Exhibil A-2 is attached, on behalf of the Shareholders
Representative.

Name (print);

Specimen Signature:

Title:
Telephone Number | Office:
(required): Cell:

If more than one, list all
applicable telephone

numbers.

E-mail (required): Email 1:
If more than one, list all | Email 2:
applicable email
addresses.

Name (print):

Specimen Signature:

Title:
Telephone Number | Office:
(required): Cell:

If more than one, list all
applicable telephone
numbers.

E-mail (required): Email 1;
If more than one, list all | Email 2:
applicable email
addresses.

Name (print):

Specimen Signature:

Title:

Telephone Number | Office:
(required); Cell:

If more than one, list all
applicable telephone
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numbers.

E-mail (required): Email 1:
If more than one, list all | Email 2:
applicable email
addresses.

Additional Email Addresses:

The following additional email addresses also may be used by Escrow Agent to verify the email address used
to send any Payment Order Notice to Escrow Agent:

Emuail 1:

Email 2:

Email 3:

COMPLETE BELOW TQO UPDATE EXHIBIT A-2

If the Sharcholders Representative wishes to update this Exhibit A-2, the Shareholders Representative must
complete, sign and send to Escrow Agent an updated copy of this Exhibit A-2 with such changes. Any
updated Exhibit A-2 shall be effective once signed by the Shareholders Representative and Escrow Agent
and shall entirely supersede and replace any prior Exhibit A-2 to this Agreement.

SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE

Name: Stuart Conrad
Date:

WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (as Escrow Agent)

By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

Sharcholders Representative Remitiance Instructions:
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EXHIBIT B

SCHEDULE OF ESCROW AGENT FEES

Fees of Escrow Agent
Shift8 Technologies, Inc.

Acceptance Fee: Waived

Initial Fees as they relate to Wilmington Trust acting in the capacity of Escrow Agent — includes
review of the Escrow Agreement; acceptance of the Escrow appointment; setting up of Escrow
Account(s) and accounting records; and coordination of receipt of funds for deposit to the Escrow
Account(s). Acceptance Fee payable at time of Escrow Agreement execution

Escrow Apent One Time Administration Fee: $3,500.00

For ordinary administrative services by Escrow Agent - includes daily routine account
management; investment transactions; cash transaction processing (including wire and check
processing); monitoring claim notices pursuant to the agreement; disbursement of funds in
accordance with the agreement; and mailing of trust account statements to all applicable parties.

Wilmington Trust's bid is based on the following assumptions:

¢ Number of Escrow Accounts to be established: No more than Two
¢ Est. Term: 24 months
« Escrow funds are deposited in M&T Deposit Product

Out-of-Pocket Expenses: Billed At Cost

Stephen McPhersonAssistant Vice President
Wilmington Trust, N.A.
(972) 383-3156smcphersoni@wilmingtontrust.com
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EXHIBIT G

AMENDMENT TO JOSH REEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

[See attached]

G-1



SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”) is
entered into on this _'h day of , 2017 (the “Effective_Date’) by and between
JOSH P. REEL, an individual whose address is indicated in the signature section of this
Agreement (“Mr. Reel” or the “Executive™), and T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC., a Florida
company with its principal office located at 2401 First Street, Suite 300, Fort Myers, Florida
33901 (*T3” or the “Company”). This Agreement supersedes and replaces all previous
agreements between the parties related to the subject matter herein. -

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, T3 and Mr. Reel are party to that certain Amended and Restated
Employment Agreement dated December 2, 2016 (the “Employment Agreement”), pursuant to
which Mr. Reel 1s serving as the Company's Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ™), and pursuant to
which Mr. Reel has served as an employee of T3 since 2012; and

WHEREAS, in connection with the Closing of the transaction contemplated by that certain
Agreement and Plan of Merger, by and among Shift8 Technologics, Inc., a Nevada corporation, T3
Acquisition, Inc., a Florida corporation, and thc Company, dated May 8, 2017 (thc “Merger
Agreement”), the parties desire to make certain amendments to the Employment Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises herein conlained, the
parties agree as follows:

1. Term of Engagement. This Agreement shall be effective for a period beginning on the
Effective Date and running through the first anniversary of the closing under the Merger Agreement
{the “Closing Date™). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company and/or Exccutive shall have
the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Paragraph 8 hereof at any time. For purposes of
this Agreement, the period from the Effective Date until the termination of this Agreement for
any reason shall hereinafter be referred to as the “Term”.

2. Appointments and Duties. On the Effective Date, the Company hereby appoints the
Executive as CEO of the Company, to serve in such capacity until the carliest of (i) four weeks afier
a new President or CEO commences employment with the Company, (ii) December 31, 2017 and
(111) the completion of the Term, or until his earlier termination or resignation in accordance with
this Agreement. During the period in which Executive serves as CEO, Executive will continue 1o
provide services to the Company as an employee that are customary for someone who holds the
position of CEO at a similar sized telecommunications company, subject to the direction of the
Board. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, for so long as Executive serves as CEO,
Executive shall have the following duties:

(1) Provide day to day operational leadership for the Company’s activities, including
managing the employees of the Company;




(i)  Prowvide strategic advice to the Board with respect to major growth initiatives for the
Company and manage the implementation of such growth initiatives,

(1)  Lead the sales force in expanding the Company’s sales activities;

(iv)  Formulate and implement effective product and nctwork strategies to facilitate
growth;

(v) Provide leadership, guidance and assistance in negotiating and drafting contracts
with employees, vendors, clients, sirategic partners, and other parties with whom the
Company may due business;

(vi)  Provide leadership, guidance and assistance to the Company in raising debt or equity
capital, when requested to do so;

(vi) Provide leadership, guidance and assistance in the development of operational
budgets for the Company and forecast models for various business opportunitics;

{vii)) Travel at the request of the Company to assist with any of the above duties; and

(ix)  Such other duties as may be required to advance the interests of the Company’s
sharcholders as may be assigned from time-to-time by the Board. The spirit of this
section is to try and account for other activities or issues that have not been
addressed or identified in (i} through (x) above.

3 Agreements of Company. Pursuant io this Agreement, the Company agrees to provide such
support as Executive may reasonably request in order to perform the duties outlined in Paragraph 2.
The Company agrees to provide an office for Executive to use while he 1s working on site at the
Company’s headquarters’ location in Ft. Myers, Florida.

4, Compensation and Expenses. In consideration for the services rendered by the Executive
to the Company throughout the Term, the Company shall compensate Executive as follows:

(a) Monthly Salary. The Company agrees to pay Executive a cash salary (the “Base
Salary”) in the following amounts for the periods indicated:

% of Mthly  Target Mthly

Time & Service Monthly
Period Aftention* Hours* Salary Level
Effective Date through the 3-month anniversary of the Closing
Date 80% 144 $12,500
Day after the 3-month anniversary of the Closing Date through
the 6-month anniversary of the Closing Date 50% Q0 $8.000
Day after the 6-month anniversary of the Closing Date through
the 12-month anniversary of the Closing Date ..........cccooenne.. 20% 16 $4,000



The foregoing payments will be made in accordance with the Company's normal payroll
practices with any prorated adjustments taking place in the final payroll peried for any given
month. The Company agrees that if requested by Exccutive, it will st up a regularly recurring
transfer to Executive’s designated bank account.

(b)  Expenses. The Company shall reimburse Executive for all expenses rcasonably
incurred by Executive in connection with the services performed on behalf of the Company under
this Agreement including, but not limited to, airfare, hotel, food, and a standard mileage allowance
pursuant to IRS guidelines for travel on Company business using a personally owned vehicle
(collectively “Business Expenses”), upon providing the original receipts and an expense report for
such expenses in accordance with the Company’s expense reimbursement policy then in effect.
Executive agrees that he will notify the Board in the event he needs to incur aggregate Business
Expenses in excess of $2,000 in any given calendar month.

(c) Car Allowance. The Company agrees that a significant portion of the Executive’s
time will be spent on sales and marketing activities and it is expected that he will need to utilize
his personal vehicle to perform the duties of his posiion. As such, the Company agrees to
provide the Executive with a taxable automobile allowance of $500 per month plus reimburse
him for all work-related gas expenses according to the Company’s policy.

5. Transaction and Retention Compensation. The Cormpany shall pay, or cause to be paid, to
the Executive (or, in the case of any payment under clause (c)(ii), his estate) in cash:

() on the Closing Date, a cash bonus in an amount equal to the product of (i) 400,000
muitiplied by (ii) the cxcess, if any, of (A) the amount by which the final per share consideration
realized by T3 shareholders pursuant to the Merger Agreement, after giving cffect to all deductions
of the gross proceeds to pay off debt or transaction expenses over (B) $0.35;

(b)  aretention payment of $100,000; and

{c) within five (5) business days of the first anniversary of the Closing Date, a further
retention payment of 3$100,000 (the “Final Retention Payment™) provided (A) the Executive
continues to provide services to the Company in accordance with this Agreement or any successor
agrecment as of such anniversary; or (B) this Agreement is terminated within such twelve (12)
month period mutual agreement signed in writing by the Executive and the Company; or (C) thig
Agreement is terminated within such twelve (12) month period by the Company without Cause, or
by reason of death or disability. For the avoidance of doubt, if, prior to the twelve (12) month
anniversary of the Closing Date, the Executive resigns, without Cause, or the Company terminates
the Executive for Cause, the Final Retention Payment otherwise payable pursuant to Paragraph
5(c) shall be forfeited and shall not become due or payable.

(d) The Company agrees to cause the amounts payable pursuant to Paragraphs 5(a) and
5(b) to be deducted from the sale proceeds otherwise payable to the Company’s stockholders as a
result of the applicable transaction under the Merger Agreement.

6. Best Efforts of the Executive and Minimum Time Commitments of Service. The Executive
agrees to perform faithfully and to the best of his ability, talent, and experience all of the duties




hereunder to the reasonable satisfaction of the Company. Unless otherwise agreed with the
Company in wriling, Executive agrecs that on average he will provide services 1o the Company in
an amount equal to the target number of hours per month specified in Paragraph 4(a} for the periods
indicated at either the Company’s primary place of business in Fort Myers, FL or such other place
or places as the interests, needs, business, or opportunities of the Company shall require and/or such
other place as may be mutually agreed upon in writing by the parties. Executive agree that the
Company may pro-rate his salary payments accordingly for any months in which he performs less
than 90% of the target services hours specified in Paragraph 4(a). Executive further agrees that if
requested in writing by the Company, he wilt promptly provide a good faith estimate of the number
of hours of services provided to the Company pursuant 1o this Agreement in any given month.

Following the first anniversary of the Closing Date, if requested by the Company, the Executive
agrees to negotiate in good faith with the Company te provide for an additional consulting or
employment agreement pursuant to which the Executive will spend at least 10% of his business
working time and attention on the affairs of the Company on such terms and conditions as may be
mutually agrecd between the Exccutive and the Company.

7. Confidentiality, Non-Solicitation, Non-Competition and Title to Work Product Agreement.

In consideration of entering into this Agreement, the Executive agrees that the Confidentiality, Non-
Solicitation, and Non-Compete Agreement between the Execcutive and the Company, dated
December 16, 2010, and attached hereto as Exhibit A, shall remain in full force and effect and that
such Confidentiality Agreement is made a part hereof. Executive acknowledges and agrees that his
past compensation under the Employment Agreement and the compensation provided under this
Agreement constitute full, adequate and sufficient consideration to Executive for the Executive’s
duties, obligations and covenants under this Agreement and under the Confidentiality, Non-
Solicitation, and Non-Compete Agreement.

8. Termination.  Either party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement (a
“Termination”) in accordance with the following:

(a) Termination Without Cause. The parties agree that they have each made a
minimum commitment to work with one another pursuant to this Agreement until December 31,
2017 (the “Minimum Commitment”) and that the consideration that each party is receiving
pursuant to this Agreement is sufficient consideration for such Minimum Commitment.
Therefore, the parties agree that, unless they have otherwise agreed in writing, neither party will
terminate this Agreement without Cause during the Minimum Commitment period.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent a new CEO has not been appointed by the Company
by December 31, 2017, either party may then terminate this Agreement without Cause for any
reason upon three (3) months written notice to the other party. The obligation of the Company to
pay for services hercunder shall continue during the time from either party’s written notification
of a Termination until the actual date of Termination (the “Termination Date™. All unpaid
compensation owed to Executive hereunder as of any Termination Date, including
reimbursement of business and business-related travel expenses, shall be paid to Executive
within fifteen (15) days of such Termination Date.

(b) Termination for Cause, The Executive shall have the night to terminate this
Agreement for *Cause™ in the event of any material breach of the Company’s obligations under




thus Agrecment have not been cured within thirty (30) days of the date on which the Company
recetves written notification from the Exccutive outlining the event or events that the Executive
believes constituted such material breach. The Company shall have the right to terminate this
Agreement for “Cause" hereunder upon:

(i) failure to materially perform and discharge the dutics and responsibilitics
of Executive under this Agreement after receiving written notice from the Company and
allowing Executive ten (10} business days to create a plan to cure such failure(s), such
plan being acceptable to the Board, and a further thirty (30) days to cure such failure(s), if
so curable, provided, however, that after one such notice has been given to Executive and
the thirty (30) day cure period has lapsed, the Company is no longer required to provide
time to cure subsequent failures under this provision, or

(ii)  any breach by Executive of the material provisions of this Agreement; or

(iii)  misconduct which, in the good faith opinion and sole discretion of the
Board, is injurious to the Company, or

(iv)  felony conviction involving the personal dishonesty or moral turpitude of
Exccutive; or a determination by the Board, after consideration of all available
information, that Executive has willfully and knowingly violated Company policies or
procedures involving discrimination, harassment, or work place violence; or

(v)  engagement in illegal drug use or alcohol abuse which prevents Executive
from performing his duties in any manner, or

(vi)  any misappropriation, embezzlement or conversion of the Company’s
opportunities or property by the Executive; or

{vil)  willful misconduct, recklessness or gross negligence by the Executive in
respect of the duties or obligations of the Executive under this Agreement and/or the
Confidentiality, Non-Solicitation and Non-Compete Agreement.

Any termination for Cause pursuant to this paragraph shall be given to the Executive in writing
and shall set forth in detail all acts or omissions upon which the Company is relying to terminate
this Agreement for Cause. 1f this Agreement is terminated for Cause, the Executive shall only be
entitled to receive his accrued and unpaid Base Salary and the reimbursement of any
unreimbursed Business Expenses through the Termination Date and the Company shall have no
further obligations under this Agreement from and afier the Termination Date. In the event of a
Termination of this Agreement for Cause by the Company pursuant 1o this Paragraph 8(b), any
Option Agreement shall be deemed to have been cancelled upon the Termination Date, and any
vested, but unexercised options to purchase common stock of the Company shall be deemed
cancelled.

9. Covenants Regarding PAL Litigation. The Executive shall enter into a separate consulting
agreement with the Company dealing with the PAL Litigation for up to five (5) years from the
Effective Date. During the period from the Effective Date to the later of (i) the last day of the Term




and (ii) December 31, 2018, the Exceutive shall provide the services contemplated by this paragraph
9(a) in consideration of the compensation payable under this Agrecment and for no further
consideration, so long as time commitment doesn’t exceed time commitment outlined in Paragraph
4(a). Following the conclusion of such period, the Executive shall negotiate in good faith with the
Company with regards to a new consulting or similar agreement to provide the services
contemplated by this Paragraph 9(a), if so requested by the Company.

10. Representations of Executive. Executive represents and warrants to the Company that (a)
nothing in his past legal and/or work and/or personal experiences, which if became broadly
known in the marketplace, would impair his ability to serve as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company or materially damage his credibility with sharcholders, employees or customers of the
Company; (b) there are no restrictions, agreements, or understandings whatsoever to which he is
a party which would prevent or make unlawful his execution of this Agreement or the provision
of the services described hereunder; (¢) the execution of this Agreement does not constitute a
breach of any contract, agreement or understanding, oral or written, 1o which he is a party or by
which he is bound; {d) Executive is free and able to execute this Agreement and to provides
services to the Company hereunder; and (e} Exccutive has not used and will not usc confidential
information or trade secrets belonging to any prior employers or companies with whom he has
been affiliated to perform services for the Company hereunder.

11 Miscellaneous.

(a)  This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements and understandings between the
parties, including the Employment Agreement, and may not be modified or terminated orally.
The Executive hereby waives any claims that it might have under any previous oral or other
contract. No medification or attempted waiver of this Agreement will be valid unless in writing
and signed by the party against whom the same is sought to be enforced.

(b)  The provisions of this Agreement are separate and severable, and if any of them is
declared invalid and/or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction or an arbitrator, the
remaining provisions shall not be affected.

(©) This Agreement is the joint product of the Company and the Executive and each
provision hereof has been subject to the mutual consultation, negotiation and agreement of the
Company and the Executive and shall not be construed for or against either party hereto.

(dy  This Agreement will be governed by, and construed in accordance with the
provisions of the law of the State of Florida, without reference to provisions that refer a matter to
the law of any other jurisdiction. Each party hereto hereby irrevocably submits itself to the
exclusive personal jurisdiction of the federal and state courts sitting in Lee County, Florida;
accordingly, any matters involving the Company and the Executive with respect to this
Agreement may be adjudicated only in a federal or state court sitting in Lee County, Florida.

(e) All notices and other communications required or permitted under this Agrecment
shall be in writing, and shall be deemed properly given if delivered personally, mailed by
registered or certified mail in the United States mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested,



sent by lacsimile, or sent by Express Mail, Federal Express or nationally recognized express
delivery service, as follows:

(i) If to the Company, at the address listed at the preamble to this Agreement
or its then primary executive offices to the attention of the CEO;

(i)  If to the Executive, to the address which is listed at the signature block of
this agreement.

Notice given by hand, certified or registered mail, or by Express Mail, Federal Express or other
such express delivery service, shall be effective upon actual receipt. Notice given by facsimile
transmission shall be effective upon telephonic confirmation of receipt by the party to whom it is
addressed. Al notices by facsimile transmission shall be followed up promptly after
transmission by delivering an original copy by hand, certified or registered mail, or by Express
Mail, Federal Express or other such delivery service. Any party may change any address to
which notice is to be given to it by giving notice as provided above of such change of address.

(H This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, and by fax or Adobe PDF, each of
which shall be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon
the same instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year
first set forth above.

T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC. EXECUTIVE
By:
Arthur L. Smith Josh P. Reel
President 9019 Mockingbird, Sanibel, FL. 33057,
Mailing address: PO Box 1274, Sanibel, FL
33957



Exhibit A

Confidentiality, Non-Solicitation and Non-Compete Agreement
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EXHIBIT H

FORMER COMPANY INDEMNIFICATION PROVISIONS

[See attached|
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EXHIBIT H
FORMER COMPANY INDEMNIFICATION PROVISIONS

(1) Articles of Incorporation of T3 Communications, Inc.
Article VII -Indemnification

The Corporation shall indemnify its officers and directors, or any former officers or directors of
the Corporation, to the full extent permitted by applicable law,

(2) Bylaws of T3 Communications, Inc.
Indemnification of Officers Directors, Employees And Agents

Section 6.01. Indemmification. In addition to any other rights of indemnification, including,
without limitation, any rights set forth in the Articies of Incorporation, T3 Communications, Inc.
(the “corporation”) shall, and does hereby, indemnify any person who was, is, or becomes a
party, or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit or
proceeding:

(a) Whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative (other than an action by, or in
the right of, the corporation) by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, officer, employce,
or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director,
officer, employee or agent of another corporation, or other enterprise, against expenses
(including attorncys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and
reasonably incurred by him in conncction with such action, suit, or proceeding, including any
appeal thercof, if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in, or not
opposed to, the best interests of the corporation and, with respect to any criminal action or
proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful. The termination of any
action, suit, or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction or upon a plea of nolo
contendere or its equivalent, shall not, of itsclf, create a presumption that the person did not act
in good faith and in the manner which he reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best
interests of the corporation or, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable
cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful.

(b) By or in the right of the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of
the fact that he is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the corporation or is or was
serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another
corporation, or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and
reasonably incurred by him in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit,
including any appeal thereof, if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to
be in, or not opposed 1o, the best interests of the corporation, except that no indemnification shall
be made in respect of any claim, issue, or matter as to which such person shall have been
adjudged to be liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of his duty to the
corporation unless, and only to the extent that, the court in which such action or suit was brought
shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all

300756857 v1



(c) To the extent that such director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation has
been, in whole or in pact, successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit, or
proceeding referred to in Section 6.01(a) or 6.01(b) of this Article, or in defense of any claim,
issue or matter therein, such person shall be indemnified against expenses (including attorneys’
fees, court costs and expenses incurred in the course of attending trials, conferences, depositions,
hearings and meetings) actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection therewith.,

(d) -Any indemnification under Section 6.01(a) or 6.01(b) of this Article, unless pursuant
to a determination by a court, shall be made by the corporation only as authorized in the specific
casc upon a determination that indemnification of the director, officer, employee or agent is
proper in the circumstances because he has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in
Section 6.01(a) or 6.01(b) of this Article. Such determination shall be made by the Board of
Directors by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors who were not parties to such
action, suit, or proceeding or by the sharcholders by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of
sharecholders who were not parties to such action, suit, or proceedings or, if such quorum of
directors or sharcholders is not obtainable or, even if obtainable, a quorum of disinterested
directors so directs, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion or regardless of whether
such quorum of directors is obtainable, the directors, by majority vote, may submit the
determination to the American Arbitration Association.

Section 6.02. Interim Expenses. The corporation may, after a preliminary determination
following one of the procedures set forth in Section 6.01(d) of this Article, pay expenses
(including attorneys’ fees, court costs and expenses incurred in the course of attending trials,
conferences, depositions, hearings and meetings) incurred in defending a civil or criminal action,
suit or proceeding, in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding, provided
that such preliminary determination is to the effect that the director, officer, employee or agent
has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Section 6.01(a) and 6.01(b) of this Article,
and, upon reccipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the director, officer, employee or agent to
repay such amount unless it be ultimately determined that he is entitled to be indemnified by the
corporation as authorized in this Article.

Section 6.03. Additional Indemnification. The corporation shall have the power 10 make any
other or further indemnification of an officer, director, employee or agent, both as to action in his
official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office cxcept an
indemnification against gross negligence or willful misconduct, under the following
circumstances;

(a) Pursuant to an agreement between the corporation and such officer, director,
employee or agent; or

(b) Pursuant to the vote of sharcholders; or

(c) Pursuant to the vote of disinterested directors; or
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{d) Pursuant to the written recommendation of independent legal counsel when the
Board of Directors submits determination to such counsel; or

{e) Pursuant to the written award of the American Arbitration Association when the
Board of Directors and person seeking indemnification submit the determination to the American
Arbitration Association.

Section 6.04. Survival of Indemnification. The corporation shall and does hereby, indemnify any
person, if the requirements of this Article have been met, without affecting any other rights to
which those indemnified may be entitled under the Articles of Incorporation, these By-laws,
agreement, vote of shareholders or disinterested directors or recommendation of counsel or
otherwise, both as to actions in such person’s official capacity and as to actions in another
capacity while holding such office, and such indemnity shall continue as to a person who has
ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent, and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs,
executors and administrators of such a person,

Section 6.05. Insurance. The corporation may, if approved by the Board of Directors or
Executive Committee, purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a
director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the
corporation as a director, officer, employce or agent of another corporation or other enterprise,
against any liability asserted against him and incurred by him in any such capacity or arising out
of his status as such, whether or riot the corporation would have the power to indemnify him
against such liability under the provisions of this Article or applicable Florida law.

Section 6.06. Notification of Sharcholders. If any expenses or other amounts are paid by way of
indemnification, otherwise than by court order or action by the shareholders or by an insurance
carrier pursuant to insurance maintained by the corporation, the corporation shall, not later than
the time of delivery to shareholders of written notice of the next annual meeting of sharcholders,
unless such meeting is held within three months from the date of such payment, and, in any
event, within fifteen months from the date of such payment, deliver either personally or by mail
to each shareholder of record at the time entitled to vote for the election of directors a statement
specifying the persons paid; the amounts paid, and the nature and status at the time of such
payment of the litigation or threatened litigation. Such written notice may be contained in any
document distributed to shareholders generally and need not be matled separately.
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EXHIBIT 1

EXAMPLE NET WORKING CAPITAL CALCULATION

[See attached]
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EXHIBIT I

Sample Calculation of Net Working Capital

Debt-Free/Cash Free Workin Ad of 17
Current Assets (incl Cash) S 1,558,643
Less: Cash [1,234,806]
Net Current Assets 323,837
Accounts Payable - Excluding Taxes & Tranaction Exp 217,368
2016 Accrued Fed & State Taxes in A/P 165,204
2017 Accrued Fed & State Taxes in A/P 32,718
Accrued Transaction Expenses in AP 11,273
Customer Prepayments 72,935
Accrued Expenses 50,164
Other A/P 6,189
Unearned income 135,289
Adjustments (205,541)12)
Net Currene Liabilities 485,599
Est Cash Free/Debt Free Working Capital Bal (161,762)
Working Capital Adi s
Cash Free/Debt Free Working Capital Balance {1) {161,762)
Pius: Cash Left inT3 to Offset WC Deficit 161,762
Pius: Additional Cash to Meet Contractual Minimum Cash = 250,000 88,234
Totat working Capital Adjustment 88,238

{1) Based on Preliminary 3/31/17 T3 Balance Sheet - Will be updated with a Closing estimate and then trued up 90 days after Close.

{2) Represents payments on acerued taxes and Tramsaction Expenses in Apnl for amounts that were in 3/31/17 accruais. Inthe final
workign capital calculation, there will be no adjustments for future payments.
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Signature Copy

FIRST AMENDMENT TO
AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This FIRST AMENDMENT AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this

“Amendment™), effective as of the 10® day of August, 2017 (the “Effective Date™, is made by
and among Shifi8 Technologies, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“Buyer'), T3 Acquisition, Inc., a
Florida corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Buyer (“Acquisition Company), T3
Communications, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company™) and Mr. Stuart Conrad, as the
representative of the Sharcholders of the Company (in such capacity, “Shareholders

Representative”).

WHEREAS, Buyer, Acquisition Company, the Company and Sharcholders
Representative entered into that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger dated May 8, 2017 (the
“Agreement and Plan of Merger™),

WHEREAS, the Agreement and Plan of Merger was approved by the Sharcholders of the
Company at a meeting duly called and covered for that purpose on May 18, 2017;

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 9.9 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, any provisions
of the Agreement and Plan of Merger may be amended only in a writing signed by both Buyer and
Shareholder Representative; and

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the Outside Date, as defined in Section 8.1(d)ii)
of the Agreement and Plan of Merger.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants contained
herein and therein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which is acknowledged, the parties hereto mutually agree and covenant as follows:

1. Capitalived Terms. All capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined
shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Agreement and Plan of Merger.

2. Amendment. Section 8.](d)(iii) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby
be modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

(i) the Closing shall not have occurred by August 31, 2017, which

date may be extended pursuant 10 a mutual written agreement (such date as may
be extended, the “Outside Date"); provided, however. the right to terminate this
Agreement under this Section 8.1(d)(ii), shall not be available to either party
whose failure 1o take any action required to fulfill any obligation under this
Agreement (including the failure 10 act in good faith or 1o use reasonabie best




efforts to cause the Closing 1o occir) shall have been the cause of, or shall have
reswulted in, the failure of the Closing to occur before such date.”

3. Governing Law and Venne. This Amendment shall be construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of Florida.

4, Severability. If any provision of this Amendment, or the application thereof to
any person or circumstance, shall, for any reason and to any extent, be invalid or unenforceable,
the remainder of this Amendment and the application of such provision to other persons or
circumstances shall not be affected thereby, but rather shall be enforced to the greatest extent
permitted by applicable law.

5. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts,
¢ach of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which when taken
together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

6. Continuing Effect of Agreement and Plan of Merger. Except as modified by
this Amendment, the Agreement and Plan of Merger will continue in full force and effect in

accordance with its terms. To the extent of any conflicts between the terms of the Agreement and
Plan of Merger and the terms hereof, the terms of this Amendment will control.

[THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Amendment o be
effective as of the Effective Date.

BUYER:

SHIFT8 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,
a Nevada corporation

oy Qsthuh, X foith

Name Arthur L. Smith
Title: President and CEQ

SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE

A

STUART CONRAD




Signature Certificate RightSignature

(@ Document Reference: 2VP3ZDIDDKCKBNEPSA75F9 Easy Online Document Signing

Art Smith ‘Electionic é%mmm;
Party 1D: BXE37DJSCIFZZAHLNVYACT

iP Address: 75.1.135.234 .
i Qstlecr, K. domith

Timestamp Audit

2017-08-05 14:06'42 0700 All parfies have signed documenl, Signed copies sent lo: Antonio Estrada,
Larry Wilson, and Art Smith.

2017-08-05 140642 -0700  Document signed by Art Smith (art.smith@shiftBnatworks.net) with drawn
signature. - 75.1.135.234

2017-08-08 14.05:29 -0700 Document viowad by Art Smith (art.smith@@shiftBnotworks.nal). - 75.1.135.234

2017.08-09 14:05.29 -0700 Document creatad by Art Smith (art.smith@snifténatworks.nat). - 75.1.135.234
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EXECUTION

SECOND AMENDMENT TO
ACREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This SECOND AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this
“Amendment™), cffective as of the 312 day of October, 2017 {the “Effective Darc™), is made by and
among Shift8 Technologios. Inc., 2 Nevada corparstion (“Buyer™) T3 Acguisition, Inc.. a Florida
corparation  and  wholly  owned  subsidiory of Buver (“Acquisiion Company™, T3
Communications. inc. 2 Florida corporstion {the “Comaanv™) and Mr. Stuert Conrad. as the
representative of the Sharcholders of the Company (in wmich capacity, “Sharcholders
Represerative™).

e S o2 e S

WHEREAS. Buyer, Acquisiion Company, the Company and  Sharchoiders
Represemative entered into that cormin Agreement and Plan of Merper dated May 8, 2017, ux
wnended by that conain Fint Amendment o Agreement and Plan of Merger dated? August 10,

2017 (the “Aryeement and Plon of Merger™):

WHEREAS, pursuant 10 Section 9,9 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, any provisions
of the Agreemant and Plan of Merper may be emended only in 2 writing signed by both Buyer and
Sharcholder Representative; and

WHEREAS, the parties desire to further amend the Outside Date, as defomd in Jection
8, YD) of the Agreement and Plan of Merper.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants comtained herein
ar therein, and other good and vahuble considermion, the receim and sufTicieney of which is
acknowicdged, the parties hereto mutsally agroc, and covenant as follows:

L Capitalized Terms. All capitolized 1erms used herein but not otherwise defined
shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Agreement and Plan of Merger,

2 Representations and Warranties.

(¥  The Company represents and warmanis that all of the represemtations end
warrapties coniained in Anicle I of the Agreement and Plan of Merger are true and comect
&5 of the date of this Amendment and the Company believes in good fah thar auch
represeatztions and warsanties will be true end comrect as of the Outside Date contmned in
this Amendment,

(b)  Asofthe Effective Date. subjoct to the truth of Buyer’s representations and
warranties contsined in Asticle IV of the Agreement and Plan of Merger a5 of the Closing
Dute, the performance by Ruyer of att obliguions onder the Agreement and Plan of Merper
1o be performad by Buyer privs to the Closing Date, and the detivery by Buyer of the items
required to be delivered by Buyer st the Closing, all conditions o the Company’s
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obligations sex forth in Section 6.1 and Soction 6.3 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger
heve heen satisfied.

{¢)  Buyer represents and warrants that all of the representzions and warmanties
conmined in Article 1V of the Agreement end Plan of Merger are true and correct as of the
date of this Amendment excopt for Section 3.6 dealing with Buyer's Financial Ability.
Buyer belicves in good faith that such represcotntions and warrantics will be truc and
correct as of the Cutside Date contained in this Amendmen:.

{d} As of the Effective Date, subject o the wruth of the Company’s
represeniations and warantics contsined tn Article 11 of the Agreement and Plon of
Merper as of the Closing Date, the porformance by the Company of oli abligations under
the Agreement and Plan of Merger o be performed by she Company prior to the Closing
Date, and the delivery by the Company of the items cequired (o be delivered by the
Company at the Closing, all conditions to Buyer's obligations set forth in Section 6.1 and
Neetion 6.2 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger husve beon :anisficd.

(e} Buyer funther represents xnd warrams that based upon current discussions
with Its ioaders, Buyer believes in good faith it will be able to consummate the Closing of
the "T'rmsaction by the revised Qutside Date conmined in this Ameudmont,

3 Awendment.

(2} Sectipn 2 4{e)ji) of the Agrecraent and Plan of Merger shall hereby be
modified and amended 1o read in its eatirety os follows:

“fiiy  wire transfer fo the Paymers Agent, an amound cqual 10 the
Esrimated Purchasy Price fess (A) the Excrow Amounts, {B) if appdivable. the
Extension Foe, and (U} if applicable. the Additional Fxtension Fee.”

by Section 6.2(D of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be
modified ond amended to read in its entirety es Follows:

“th  The Compoany shall hove defivered copies of the (i} audited
consoliduted firancial statements of the Company as of and Jor the fiscai
yeurs ended December 31, 2014 and 2015, in eech cose including ITV., {ii}
wrtdired curve-aut financicl satemernts of the Company as of and for the
Jiseal vears ended December 31 2015 and 2046, in coch case exchading
JTV. und (iiii monthly financial statements of the Compary. in form
reasonably sutisfactory to Buyer, for cach momh subsequent io December
2016 through and inchuding ihe most recent calendar munth ending no later
than sixty (60} davs prior i the Closimg, or such ather date agreed upon
berween the Compury and Biuner.




(€} The following scction is horeby added 28 Section §.3(¢) of the Agreement
and Plan of Merger:

“fet Ber sholl hove initined the paymems required under
Sectinn 2 4(e} simndtaneousy witk the Closing.™

(d)  Section 8 UdXiii) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shail hereby he
modificd and amended 0 read in iis entirety 25 follows:

“fitiy  the Closing shall not have occurred by November | Mil7,
which dme may be extersdnd by Buyer, sbject o Scotion 8.3(a), ol mep be
Jimther exiended prurywant to Scction 8 Hdii) or by o munel writien
agreement {sueh dote us sy Be exended, the “Ouside Dete "); provided
however, the right to taresnate this Agreement under this Section 8. Hdi(iii)
shafl not be avatlable to either party whose failnre to take: ary action required
to fulfill uny obligation wader this Agreememt (including the failure w uct in
s forith o so use reasonadle best effores w canse the Closing to occur) shall
furve been the casse of. or shall have ressdicd in, the futhre of the Closing to

oevwr hefore such date.”

{c)  The fallowing sections are hereby added as Section 8, Hd)iv) and
8. [¢d¥iv) of the Agreement and Plan of Merper:

“(iv)  in the overt the Company has not delivered the Augst 2017
Sfinaneials required wnder Nection 6. (f1ii) by 5:00 PM EST et November 14,
2017, the First Trigser Date specificd in Section 8.3{a) shall deemed 1o be
aulomaticatly extended on a day for deay besis for eoch full day of sach delay,”

“tvi inihe evert Buver hen! dhposited the Additianal Eoension Fee
specified in Seciion 8 3{a) end Compenry has not delivered the September
2017 finuncials required under Section 8.24PfHG by 5:00 PM EST an
Pdecember 8, HH 7, the Second Trigger Daie speetfied in Scction 8.3{a) shall
deenzed 10 be moonmically extended an a day for day basis for cock full day
of such delay. ™

{f}  The following secrion is hereby added os Section 8.3 of the Agreement
and Pizn of Merger:

“Sectign.f.3. Extension

(@} If the Clusing skadl not have occurred by November 1, 2047,
Buyer may extend the Chaside Ihue purssom to Section 8 1{difiii} vmil
Neovember 28, 2057 (the ~First Trigper Dome”) wpon weitten notice o the
Company and deposit with the Pavmens Agent, by wire iransfer of immediarely
available firwds, @ ronrefardubie s of 3 160,000 on or prioe wr 5:00 PMEST
on Nmmfrré,’ 27 (the “Exention Fee™) amd may fiother cxend the

A S



€1 The foliow ing seotion i3 heredy added ox Socnon & 30 of e Agroement
aned Phay of Merews:

ey Buser shadl o pritimed Sw o osmnomcnts megeired conder
SActiue 206 sinreitameandy w i e Chasing, ™

1) Sietion B HE i) of the Apreoment and Plan of Merger hall horeby be
i flod mind snended o resd in Sy entirgy = Tollows:

“ed o the Ulncry shadl s Sarwe vvcurred By Nowember [, 20T,
wihicd diere anae b exremded By Buper, saleer to Seotion 8w wsd oy b
Furtbor evemied porowrs Jo Sectivin Klidive or By o motus wreitien
sgtrevient fsuch dale s aad M oeviended, e Qe {hre ) prensidied
laowwr, 2w ol tes ermentic i Lxrevment wager (R Secgoe 8T
hE ren de vttty wa eothar pumrey whase fotlhare to wbe any eotion rogutred
s [l onny edfsmiony sonber th erecmers (incheding the audoe o ool i
oo farsidt e no st regaensaftde foxs offor ro vair thee Clondreg ooy shll
by Depn the cenost of ewr shurl) Ruroe resalied i she faihere of tiwe Closing b
wesr fetore <k e,

b The following secidons ace herehy added oo Sestion B I(dxiv) and
Boendivy of the Apvement amd Plan of Merger:

“rhv 1w ovent obwe oo Bt pat dolivered pie Avgue MO0
Jincaneieny regutred Qesder Secvian 6, 1y (e 3,59 PAAEST an Xovember {4
JT b Fra Trbgesr Ueate spevified o Section 8 3n) shall deomeed 10 be
anstomanioutiy extendad on a auy far duy buavis for caeh fdl dy of such dedey ™

g e vt Bupvr fasd viepanated the AdBiliont Extersein e
speciiesd Jn Mnesion &3t und Congany e mat deliversd e Sepromber
N7 frnredy requdred sexler Seviom 6 25600 by 00 PYOEST on
fcember & W7 the Necord Teiggur Dz specifiod in Seevion 330} shatl
oo maed 1y B WOARTICEy extvmiesd an ol fr dery S8 for coeh el day
1 suck defay ©

(1} The following section I heretys addod as Section 8.3 of the Agreement
and Pinn of Metgen

“Rectiun S 3 Frrension

dap B the (ening ohadd not Buree ewareed By Neswmber 12007
Buaer wu oxend she Duiside Dute parvienry o Section K (i) i
Nernemher N D00 e Ein Teieeer (lane i spon writion eeice Lo i
¢ ommpgery and depodit with e Pavmery Agerst, by wire trajerof immediaely
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o Noopmber «20 2087 ithe T iaeptan Foe"s omd vy furtler extemd v
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Chosidy Date pursuart In Seetian 8. 1{dW) wntif December 332, 2017 (the
“Second Trigaer Date ) wpon wrilien natice to the Company and deposit wizh
the Payment Agent. by wire trionsfer of immediaiely available funds. a
raverchaulable sum of 310000 on or prior to 3:00 PM EST on the First
Trigeer Dute (the " Adiditional Extension Fee”).

{6} If the Closing shall not have ocowred by November 1. 2017,
and Ruyer has not deposited the Fxtervion Fee with the Payment Agens prior
10 5:00 PM EST an®KESSIr 1R Fotouory v oblixations wrder Section 5.1 M
of this Agreemers shall be terminated and be of no further force or effect.

-

£

(e} ¥ (i) all of the conditions io the Company's obligations ro
consummeie the Transaction wmder Sectiony 6.7 arud 6.3 have pot feen
satisfied by Buyer (other than uny such comditians which by their nature are
to be satisfied ot the Closing), (i) all of the conditions o Buyver's
ubliyarions to comsummaene the Transection under Sectitms 6.1 and 6.2 bave
been xatisfied by the Company (uther than any such conditions wiich
their nature are to be satisfied af the Closing), (55 the Outside Date has ot
been further amended pursunal to thy lerms of this Agreemess ar & weitien
imxtrument hrsween the parties, and (W) the Clasing hus not occurred by
5:00 PM EST on the (haxide Daic, then the Agreement and Plan of Merger
will be deemed w be terminaied pursuunt 1o Section 8. 1(d) and the partivs
agree thet the Comperny shall bave suffered o tosy of wn incalewlably rerure
and amount, unrecoverable in law, and the Paymen! Agent sholi, upen
wrinen instruction by the Company, not ier than one Bushoess Dy afier
recaipt of such rotice. prompriy pay tn the Compeany the Extension Fee and
Addditional Extension Feo, which amuunt represents o reasonable estimare
and ugreed stipulation of such losses thet keve been negoiiated by Buyer
and the Company.

(di  If the Closing occurs on or before the Qwtvide Dyae, the
Exension Fee and the Additional Extension Fee, if applicable, shall be
credited toward the Purchase Price payable by Buyer, ™

{g)  The following Delinidon in Annex A shall bereby be modified and
amendsad 10 read in 1S entiredy as follows:

“Indemnity Escrow Amgyrt™ means $400,000 in cash deposited at che
Closing in the Indempity Escrow Avcount with the Ficrone Apernt pursicant
0 the termys and conditions of the Escrone Agreesment: provided, however,
if the PAL Luigation referenced in Schedide 3.15 s dismissed, withdrawn
or atherwise finolly resoived withoul any linhilitv. obligation or restriction
nn the Company prior 1o the Excrow Release Date specified inSection 7.7 1,
Repyer agrees that the bndemnity Exerow Amovm shail be devwed 1o have
auremuiically been reduced 1o 5250,000 und 1he Escrow Agens may release




Chaaide Ihpe percsantt i Section S wanl (werorter 22 B i
“Segund Trigwrr Dhae * 1 wpon writzen modee to the Campurny: and deporsis with
v Pevmmt dgom By whe teassfer of Immadiurely avaifudis hewds o
soxrefundable s of SIKLUD an or price 1o 5:00 PM ZST o the Finy:

.

Trigoey Pxue (e “additiomsd Lxtengoe Fep !

B I e Uiy shadl s senve cavared by Nowvnier {, G067

warsd Flagyer fuay st deposited the Fezensicn Foe with e Puyeent Agens prior
e e . BB AR VRN 1
o 300 M FET o YRR e x,mrgawr_r & obdiarions wcder St 5 1 {;v;', & ('“ 1
it B Agroement shall be terminaed amd be of ro father jovce veelloee. EA

fo) N wt of e conditions o the Compery s obliggtions in 8 /@

seigfled By Baover tother thun so siwh comdizons which iy their ratare are
wy e saasfied an tiw Closagy, 435 @l of the wonditions o Buyer'i
wBfaions i consumatle e Srunsaction soxder Sections 6 el v 2 kavy
hoen sanshed v dhw Comoarn fnthee den uny swok cogedizions which by
thely sty are to fu satisfiod e v Clpadngy, (650 the Owprde Herte Bas o
howm ferrher smendved pursaant i He teemy of this Agrecoment or o wiitien
instryernist buroeen the peartivs, ond dvy e losing: ki mog gocuresd by
3:00 PM XY on dwe Criside Dige, ibws tie Agreemend amd Plan of Merser
wild I cveemend Jo B torinared parsaan: to Sectien 3. 76dr ad the puriicy
e thar the Compoors Awelf b seffored o2 Joss of amt bserecpeddieBle sucture
amil apeeaent, wereroreeabls sn fiw, cnd e Pament Aot shall, open
Lo i tion Sy the Company, aut fater e o Buenesy Day ofier
roeedng of sheh nodicr, prompdy pay do the Comparny the Exteosion Fee umd
dshlitionisrd Extemaor Few, wRECE sl regrewnss G rsennai e srioic
cael wpreed svipudaiion u) such Spews that Raeve heen repediced by Hmper
o Tiwe € oampeaenp '

ouf i the Clonzeg wcvurs an ar define e Cudisie (hare, s
Evension Fee and the Adlittonal Exrension Fee, if upriicadic, siwll b¢
credited mywwerd tie Parchew Prive moubie by Burer ™

{2 The following Dehiatinn g Aoses A shall horeby be moadifed and
amendded o read in s entirety a5 folivax:

“Indemmity, Escrgy Amoum ™ moony SO in cask depasived o i
loning v the indvetnicy fxorove deeouns with the Facrow doent pussuunt
tu the formy and conditions af tie Exervow dgreement: provdded howe ver.
i the £AL Litigarion referenced in Schodule 315 s dismissed, witfulrowr
ar geiwrwicy Saglly resofwed wirknat wnp lighiling sbiizution or rosiriction
ot the Loy peior tn S Edvraw Belease Dete soeeified in Secnen 7 1
Hmper aareey thel e Dudemnire Esceow Aesemit ol be devred fo uny
emtomtically iven roduced & $2500000 and the Excorow Agert meay celease




3150000 w0 the Sharcholders in proportion to teir Percentage Interests
upen wrilien request from the Shercholders Representative. ™

4, Governing |aw and Venue. This Amendment shall be construed in accordance
with the lrws of the Stinte of Flarida,

5. Severabitity. H any provision of this Amendment. or the epplication thereof to ony
prrson or circumstance, sholl, for any reason and to any extent. be invalid or vnenforceable, the
remainder of thizs Amendment ond the opplication of such provimon to other persons ar
circumsiances shall not be affected therehy, but riher shadl be enforoed to the greatest extent
permitied by applicable tow.

6, Copnrerparts. This Amondmem may be oxecuted in one or more counterparts,
cach of which when so executod shall be deemed to be an original, but ol of which when taken
together shall constinute one and the same instrument.

7 Ceantinving Effect of Agreement and Plan of Merper. Except as modilied by this
Amendmaent, the Agreement and Plan of Merger will onatinue in full foree and effect in accordance
with its terms. To the extent of any conflicts between the terms of the Agreement and Plan of
Merger and the torms hereof, the terms of this Amendment will control.

[THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT 81.ANK]



IN WTTNESS WHERFOF, the undersignad fve exevired this Amendment to be effective
ax of the Effective D

COMPANY:

T3 OOMMUNICATIONS, INC,
a Florsds corporntion

By \de

Name. _ oD t@ueas £ . ; S
Ththe: C—Eg‘rnﬂ-ﬂv\ v
PUYER:

SHIFTS TECHNOLOGIES, INC,,
o Nevada corporation

s (R
By:
Name: i b L. S iEb
Tder _oled

WWW

a7

STUART CONRAD

SGRATURE Paiit TO
SECTND AMENIMWENT TD ALRITMENT AND PLAN OF MIRGER



THIRD AMENDMENT TO
AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This THIRD AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this
“Amendment™), effective as of the 22nd day of December, 2017 (the “Eftective Date™), is made
by and among Shifi Technologics, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“Buyer”). T3 Acquisition, Inc., a
Florida corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Buyer (“Acquisition_Company™), T3
Communications, Inc.. a Florida corporation (the “Company™) and Mr. Stuart Conrad, as the
representative of the Sharcholders of the Company (in such capacity. “Shareholders
Representative™).

WHEREAS, Buyer. Acquisition Company. the Company and Sharcholders
Representative entered into that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger dated May 8. 2017, as
amended by that certain First Amendment Lo Agreement and Plan of Merger dated August 10,
2017, and as further amended by that certain Second Amendment to Agreement and Plan of
Merger effective as of October 31, 2017 (the ~Agrecment and Plan of Merger™);

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 9.9 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger. any provisions
ol the Agreement and Plan of Merger may be amended only in a writing signed by both Buyer and
Shareholder Representative: and

WHEREAS, the parties desire to further amend the Outside Date, as detined in Sgetion
8.1(d)(iii) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger.

NOW, THEREFORE. for and in consideration of the mutual covenants contained
herein and therein, and other good and valuabie consideration. the receipt and sufficiency of
which is acknowledged, the partics hereto mutually agree and covenant as follows:

i Capitalized Terms. All capitalized terms used hercin but not otherwise defined
shall have the meaning ascribed 1o them in the Agreement and Plan of Merger.

2. Amendment.

(a) Section 2.4(e)(i) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be
modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“fif)  wire transfer to the Paymewnt Agent, an amount egqual to the
Extimated Purchase Price less (A) the Escrow Amownts, (B) the Extension
Fee, (C) the Additional Extension Fee. (D) the Third Extension Fee, if
applicable, (£} the Fourth Extension Fee, if applicable, and (F) the Fifth
Extension Fee. if applicable.”



(b Section 8.1(d){iii} of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be
modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“(iti)  the Closing shall not have occurred by 5:00 PM EST on December
29, 2017, which date may be extended pursuant to a mutual written
ugreement (such date as may be extended, the “Chuside Date ) provided
however, the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 8.1¢d)(iif)
shall not be availuble to cither pariy whose failure to 1ake any action
required to fulfilt any obligation uneder this Agreement {including the failure
fo act in good fuith or to use reasonable best efforts to cause the Closing to
vccur) shall have been the cause of, or shall have resulted in, the fuilure of
the Closing to occur before such date.”

(c) Section 8.3(a) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be
modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“(a)  If the Closing shall not have occurred by November 1, 2017, Buyer
mey: (i extend the CGuwiside Date pursuamt to Section 8. 1¢d)(ii)) until
November 28, 2017 (the "First Trigger Date”) upon written notice 1o the
Company and deposit with the Payment Agent, by wire transfer of
immediately available funds, a nonrefundable sum of $16G0,000 on or prior
ta 3:00 PM EST on November 6, 2017 (the “Extension Fee"), (i) further
extend the Outside Date pursuwant to Section 8. 1(d)(¥i) until December 22,
2017 (the “Second Trigger Date”) upon written notice to the Company and
deposit with the Payment Agent, by wire transfer of immediately available
Sunds, u nonrefundable sum of $100,000 on or prior to 5:00 PM EST on the
First Trigger Date (the “Additional Extension Fee”), {iii) further extend the
Chutside Date pursuanmt to Section 8 1d)iii) until January 5. 2018 upon
written notice 1o the Company and deposit with the Payment Agent, by wire
transfer of immediately available funds, un additional nonrefundable sum of
$25.000 on or prior to 5:00 PM EST on December 28, 2017 (the " Third
Extension _Fee'), (ivj further extend the Quiside Date pursuant to Section
8 1) uniil January 12, 2018 upon written notice 1o the Company and
deposit with the Payment Agent, by wire transfer of immediately available
Sunds, an additional nonrefundable sum of $25,000 on or prior to 5:00 PM
EST on Junuary 12, 2018 (the “Fourth Extension Fee'), and (v) jurther
extend the Quside Date pursuant 1o Section 8. 1(d)(iii) until January 19,
2018 upon written notice to the Company and deposit with the Payment
Agent, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, wn additional
nonrefundable sum of 525.000 on or prior to 3:00 PM EST on January 12,
2018 (the " Fifth Extension Fee”)."”




(d)  Section 8.3(d) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be
modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“tdy  If the Closing occurs on or before the Quiside Date, the Extension
Fee, the Additional Extension Fee, the Third Extension Fee, if applicable.
Fourth Extension Fee, if upplicable, and Fifth Extension Fee, if applicuble
shall he credited toward the Purchase Price payuble by Buyer. "

3. Governing Law and Venue. This Amendment shail be construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of Florida.

4. Severability. If any provision of this Amendment, or the application thereof to
any person or circumstance. shall, for any reason and to any extent. be invalid or unenforceable.
the remainder of this Amendment and the application of such provision to other persons or
circumstances shall not be affected thereby, but rather shall be enforced to the greatest extent
permitted by applicable law.

5. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts.
each of which when so executed shall be decmed to be an original. but all of which when taken
together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

0. Continging Effect of Agreement and Plan of Merger. Except as modified by
this Amendment, the Agreement and Plan of Merger will continue in full force and effcet in
accordance with its terms. To the extent of any conflicts between the terms of the Agreement and
IMan of Merger and the terms hercof, the terms of this Amendment will control.

{THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]}



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, thc undersigned have exccuted this Amendment to be
effective as of the Effective Date.
COMPANY:

T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC,,
a Florida corporation

By:
Name: Steven C. Jones
Title: Chairman of the Board, Executive VP

BUYER:

SHIFT8 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,
a Nevada corporation

By:
Name:
Title:

SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE:

STUART CONRAD

SIGNATURE PAGE TO
THIRD AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER



IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, the undersigned have executed this Amendment to be
effective as of the Effective Date.

COMPANY:
T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC,,

a IFlorida corporation

By:
Name:
Title:

BUYER:

SHIFTS TECHNOLOGIES, INC,,
a Nevada corporation

B)’%@"
Namg: /;rklnur L Som it by

Title: _C e

SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE:

STUART CONRAD

SIGNATHIRE PaGE ToO
THHRD AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER



S

effective as of the Effective Date.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Amendment to be
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COMPANY:
T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC.,
a Florida corporation
By:
Name;
Title:
BUYER:
SHIFTS TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,
8 Nevada corporation
By: &
Name: .
Title:
STUART CONRAD
Sionarury Pace To
THIRD AMENDMENT T0 AGREIMENT AND Py anv oy MERGER
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FOURTH AMENDMENT TO
AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This FOURTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this
“Amendment”), effective as of the 19th day of January, 2018 (the “Effective Date™), is made by and
among Shift§ Technologics, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“Buyer™), T3 Acquisition, Inc., a Florida
corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Buyer (“Acquisition Company™), T3
Communications, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company™) and Mr. Stuart Conrad, as the
representative of the Sharcholders of the Company (in such capacity, “Shareholders

Representative™).

WHEREAS, Buyer, Acquisition Company, the Company and Sharcholders
Representative entered into that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger dated May 8, 2017, as
amended by that certain First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger dated August 10,
2017, as further amended by that certain Second Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger
effective as of Qctober 31, 2017, and as further amended by that certain Third Amendment to
Agreement and Plan of Merger made effective as of December 22, 2017 (the *Agreement and Plan

of Merger™);

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 9.9 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, any provisions
of the Agreement and Plan of Merger may be amended only in a writing signed by both Buyer and
Shareholder Representative;

WHEREAS, the Qutside Date, as defined in Section 8.1(d)(iii) of the Agreement and Plan of
Merger, has been extended to January 19, 2018 in accordance with the Agreement and Plan of Merger;
and

WHEREAS, the parties desire to further amend the Qutside Date, as defined in Section
8. 1(d)(ii1) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger as set forth in this Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein
and therein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is
acknowledged, the parties hereto mutually agree and covenant as follows:

1. Capitalized Terms. All capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined
shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Agreement and Plan of Merger.

2. Representations and Warranties.

(@) The Company represents and warrants that all of the representations and
warranties contained in Article 11l of the Agreement and Plan of Merger are true and correct
as of the date of this Amendment and the Company believes in good faith that such
representations and warranties will be true and correct as of the Outside Date contained in
this Amendment.



(b) Buyer represents and warrants that all of the representations and warranties
contained in Article IV of the Agreement and Plan of Merger arc true and correct as of the
date of this Amendment except for Section 4.6 dealing with Buyer’s Financial Ability.
Buyer believes in good faith that such representations and warranties will be true and
correct as of the Outside Date contained in this Amendment.

(c) Buyer further represents and warrants that based upon current discussions
with its lenders, Buyer believes in good faith it will be able to consummate the Closing of
the Transaction by the revised Qutside Date contained in this Amendment.

3 Amendment.

(a) Section 2.4(e)(11) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be

modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“fii)  wire transfer to the Payment Agent, an amount equal to the Estimated
Purchase Price less (A} the Escrow Amounts, and (B) the Extension Fees paid
as of the Closing Date. ™

(b)  Section 8.1(d)(iii) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be
modified and arended to read in its entirety as follows:

“iii)  the Closing shall not have occurred by 5:00 PM EST on February 16,
2018, which date may be extended by Buver, subject to Section 8.3(a), and
may be further extended by a mutual written agreement (such date as may be
extended, the "Cutside Date”); provided, however, the right to terminate this
Agreement under this Section 8. 1(d)(iii) shall not be available to either party
whose failure to take any action required to fulfill any obligation under this
Agreement (including the failure 1o act in good faith or to use reasonable best
efforis to cause the Closing to occur) shall have been the cause of, or shalf
have resulted in, the failure of the Closing to occur before such date. "’

(c) Section 8.3(a) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be
modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“(a) If the Closing shall not have occurred by February 16, 2018, Buyer
may: (1) extend the Quiside Date pursuant to Section 8. 1{d)(iii) until February
23, 2018 upon wrinten notice to the Company and deposit with the Payment
Agent, by wire transfer of immediatelv available finds, an additional
nonrefundable sum of 835,000 on or prior to 5:00 PM EST on February 16,
2018 (the “Sixth Extension Fee’), and (ii) firther extend the Outside Date
pursuant to Section 8. I (d)fiii) until February 28, 2018 upon written notice fo
the Company and deposit with the Payment Agent, by wire transfer of
immediately available funds, an additional nonrefundable sum of $35,000 on
or prior to 5:00 PM EST on February 23, 2018 (the “Sevemth Extension
Fee™). .




(d) Section 8.3(c) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be modified

and amended to read in its entirety as follows;

“(c) If (i) all of the conditions to the Company’s obligations to
consummate the Transaction under Sections 6.1 and 6.3 have not been
satisfied by Buver (other than any such conditions which by their nature are
to be satisfied at the Closing), (ii) all of the conditions to Buyer's
obligations to consummate the Transaction under Sections 6.1 and 6.2 have
been satisfied by the Company (other than any such conditions which by
their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing), (iii) the Outside Date has not
been further amended pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or a written
instrument between the parties, and (iv) the Closing has not occurred by
5:00 PM EST on the Outside Date, then the Agreement and Plan of Merger
will be deemed ro be terminated pursuant to Section 8.1(d) and the parties
agree that the Company shall have suffered a loss of an incalculable nature
and amount, unrecoverable in law, and the Payment Agent shall, upon
written instruction by the Company, not later than one Business Dav afler
receipt of such notice, promptly pay to the Company the Extension Fees,
which amount represents a reasonable estimate and agreed stipulation of
such losses that have been negotiated by Buver and the Company. ”

(e)  Section 8.3(d) of thc Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be

modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

4,
with the laws

5.

“td)  If the Closing occurs on or before the Outside Date, the Extension
Fees shall be credited toward the Purchase Price payable by Buyer.”

H The following Definition is added to Annex A:

“Extension Fees " means the aggregate amount of $100,000 deposited by the
Buver with the Payment Agent on or about November 6, 20117, the amount of
$100,000 deposited by the Buver with the Payment Agent on or about
November 28, 2017, the amount of $25,000 deposited by the Buyer with the
Payment Agent on or about December 28, 2017, the amount of $25.000
deposited by the Buver with the Payment Agent on or about January 3, 2018,
the amount of $25, 000 deposited by the Buyer with the Payment Agent on or
about January 12, 2018, the Sixth Extension Fee, if applicable, and the
Seventh Extension Fee, if applicable.”

Governing Law and Venue. This Amendment shall be construed in accordance

of the State of Florida.

Severability. If any provision of this Amendment, or the application thereof to any
person or circumstance, shall, for any reason and to any extent, be invalid or unenforceable, the
remainder of this Amendment and the application of such provision to other persons or



circumstances shall not be affected thereby, but rather shall be enforced to the greatest extent
permitted by applicable taw.

6. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts,
each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which when taken
together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

7. Continuing Effect of Agreement and Plan of Merger. Except as modified by this
Amendment, the Agreement and Plan of Merger will continue in full force and effect in accordance
with its terms. To the extent of any conflicts between the terms of the Agreement and Plan of
Merger and the terms hereof, the terms of this Amendment will control.

[THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Amendment to be effective
as of the Effective Date.

COMPANY:

T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC,,
a Florida corporation

D S

Name: Steven C. Jones
Title: Executive Vice President & Chairman of the Board

BUYER:

SHIFT8 TECHNOLOGIES, INC,,
a Nevada corporation

By, <7 e L. Smak
Nalnc'_ Arthur L. Smith
Title: CEQ

SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE:

STUART CONRAD

SIGNATURE PAGETO
FOURTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Amendment to be effective
as of the Effective Date.

COMPANY:

T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC.,
a Florida corporation

o M=\

Name: Steven C. Jones
Title:  Executive Vice President & Chairman of the Board

BUYER:

SHIFT8 TECHNOLOGIES, INC,,
a Nevada corporation

Name:  Anhurl Smin
Title: CEQ

SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE:

STUART CONRAD

SIGNATURE PAGE TO
FOURTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER



EXECUTION

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO
AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This FIFTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this
“Amendment”), dated as of the 13th day of April, 2018 and effective as of the 28th day of
February, 2018 (the “Effective Date™), is made by and among Shift8 Technologies, Inc., a
Nevada corporation (“Buver™), T3 Acquisition, Inc., a Florida corporation and wholly owned
subsidiary of Buyer (“Acquisition Company’), T3 Communications, Inc., a Florida corporation
(the “Company”) and Mr. Stuart Conrad, as the representative of the Shareholders of the

Company (in such capacity, “Shareholders Representative™).

WHEREAS. Buyer, Acquisition Company, the Company and Shareholders
Representative entered into that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger dated May 8, 2017, as
amended by that certain First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger dated August 10,
2017, as further amended by that certain Sccond Amendment to 'Agreement and Plan of Merger
effective as of October 31, 2017, as further amended by that certain Third Amendment to
Agreement and Plan of Merger made effective as of December 22, 2017, and as further amended
by that certain Fourth Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger made effective as of
January 19, 2018 (the “Agreement and Plan of Merger™);

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 9.9 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, any provisions
of the Agreement and Plan of Merger may be amended only in writing and must be signed by both
Buyer and Shareholder Representative;

WHEREAS, the Outside Date, as defined in Section 8. 1(d)(iii) of the Agreement and Plan
of Merger, has been extended to February 28, 2018 in accordance with the Agreement and Plan of
Merger; and

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend certain provisions of the Agreement and Plan of
Merger as set forth in this Amendment.

1. Capitalized Terms. All capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined
shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Agreement and Plan of Merger.

2. Representations and Warranties.

(a) The Company represents and warrants that all of the representations and
warranties contained in Article 11l of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, as amended by
this Amendment, are true and correct as of the date of this Amendment and the Company
believes in good faith that such representations and warrantics will be true and correct as
of the Qutside Date contained in this Amendment.

(b) Buyer represents and warrants that all of the representations and
warranties contained in Article IV of the Agreement and Plan of Merger arc true and
correct as of the date of this Amendment except for Section 4.6 dealing with Buyer’s
Financial Ability. Buyer believes in good faith that such representations and warranties



PQ

will be true and correct as of the Outside Date contained in this Amendment.
further represents and warrants that based upon current discussions with its lenders,
Buyer believes in good faith it will be able to consummate the Closing of the Transaction
by the revised Outside Date contained in this Amendment.

3.

Amendment.

Buyer

(a) Section 1.4 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be modified
and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“Section 1.4 Purchase Price. Buyer and the Company agree thar the
purchase price for the Company (the "Purchase Price”) shall equal
(i) $3,169.000, (ii) minus the Indebtedness not otherwise being assumed
by Buver pursuant to this Agreement as set forth on Schedule 2, if any.
(i) minus that portion of the Company Indebtedness and Company
Closing Expenses to be paid by Buyer pursuant to Section 2.4(e)(i), if any,
and (iv) plus any positive difference or minus any negative difference
between the Net Working Capital on the Closing Date and the Target Net
Working Capital; provided that no adiustment shall be made with respect
1o Net Working Capital uniess the difference is at least §25,000 in excess
of or less than the Target Net Working Capital. Pursuant to Section 6.2(g),
the Company shall have Cash on Hand as of Closing of not less than
$250.000 (Closing Minimum Cash "), which, for the avoidance of doub,
shall be included in the calculation of Net Working Capital on the Closing
Date.”

{b) Section 2.2(a)(i) and (ii) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall
hereby be modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“(i) a certified copy of Company's Articles of Incorporation from the
Secretary of State of the State of Florida and all amendments thereto
dated as of a date within sixty (60) days prior to the Closing Date and that
no amendments to the Articles of Incorporation have taken place since the
date of the certification, (ii) good standing certificates of the Company
Srom its jurisdiction of organization and each jurisdiction in which it is
qualified to do business as a foreign corporation, in each case dated
within sixty (60) days of the Closing Date,”

(c)

Sections 2.2(k} of the Agreement and Plan of Merger is hereby be

modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows;

“(k)
(d)

Reserved”

Section 2.2(1) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger of the Agreement

shall hereby be modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

hi(l)

Reserved.”



(e) Section 2.3{a)(i) and (ii) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall
hereby be modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“(i) a certified copy of Buyer's Certificate of Incorporation from the
Secretary of State of the State of Nevada and all amendments therefo
dated as of a date within sixty (60) days prior to the Closing Date and that
no amendments to Buver's Certificate of Incorporation have taken place
since the date of the certification, (ii) good standing certificates of Buyer
from Nevada and each jurisdiction in which ir is qualified 10 do business
as a foreign corporation, in each case dated within sixty (60) davs of the
Closing Date,”

(H Section 2.3(b)(i) and (ii)} of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall
hereby be modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“(i) a certified copy of Acquisition Company's Articles of Incorporation
Jrom the Secretary of State of the State of Florida and all amendments
thereto dated as of a date within sixty (60) days prior to the Closing Date
and that ro amendments 10 the Articles of Incorporation have taken place
since the date of the certification, (i) good standing certificates of
Acquisition Company from Florida and each jurisdiction in which it is
qualified 10 do business as a foreign entity, in each case dated within sixty
(60) days of the Closing Date,”

(g)  Sections 2.3(e) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be
modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows;

“(e)  Reserved’™

(h)  Section 2.4(e)(ii) and (iii) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall
hereby be modified and amended to read 1n their entirety as follows:

“lit) wire transfer to the Payment Agent, an amount equal to the Estimated
Purchase Price less the Working Capital Escrow Amount.

(iii) wire transfer to the Escrow Agent, an amount equal to the Working
Capital Escrow Amount.”

(i) Sections 2.4(f) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger is hereby deleted in
its entirety.

) The second parenthetical in Section 2.5(d)(ii) of the Agreement and Plan
of Merger (referencing the Indemnity Escrow Amount) is hereby be deleted in its
entirety.

(k) Sections 3.2, 3.4, 3.6 through 3.8, 3.10, 3.12 through 3.22, and 3.24 of the

Agreement and Plan of Merger shall each hereby be deleted in their entirety and each
such Section shall read in its entirety as follows:



“Reserved.”

M

Section 4.6 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be modified

and amended to read in their entirety as follows:

“Section 4.6 Financial Ability. Buver has immediately available funds in
cash, or firm commitments from lenders, sufficient ro pay the Purchase
Price and all fees and expenses to be paid by Buyer. Afier giving effect to
the consummation of the Transaction, Buver will have the financial
resources and ability to pav and discharge its debts as they become due.
Schedule 4.8 attached hereto contains evidence of the amount of Buver's
Cash on Hand and financing commirments in amounts sufficient to cover
the Purchase Price at Closing.”

(m)  Section 5.2(g) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hercby be
modified and amended to read in their entirety as follows:

“(g) without Buyer's consent, wake any capital expenditures or
commitments thercfor other than those amounts up to $250.000 in the
aggregate.”

(n) Séction 5.4 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be modified
and amended to read in their entirety as follows:

“Section 5.4 Company Update to Disclosures. Except as prohibited by
law, the Company shall promptly notify Buyer in writing of all events,
circumstances, facts and occurrences arising subsequent 10 the dute of this
Agreement which could result in any breach of a representation or
warranty or covenant of the Company in this Agreement or which could
have the effect of making any representation or warranty of the Company
in this Agreement untrue or incorrect in any material respect. Upon
delivery of such notice, the Company shall supplement or amend the
Disclosure Schedules herefo with respect to any such matter hereafier
arising or of which ir becomes aware after the date hereof (each a
“Schedule Supplement ). In determining whether there is a breach of any
representation or warranty comtained In Article I for purposes of the
indemnification to be provided by the Company pursuant fo Section 7.2
such representation or warranty shall be gualified by any information
provided in the Amended and Restated Disclosure Schedules attached as
Appendiv A to the Fifth Amendment. Notwithstanding the above, any
disclosure in any such Schedule Supplement delivered after the date of the
Fifth Amendment, shall not be deemed to have cured any inaccuracy in or
breach of any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement,
including for purposes of the indemnification or termination rights
contained in this Agreement or of determining whether or not the
conditions set forth in Section 6.2 have been satisfied, provided, however,
that if Buyer has the right to, but does not elect to, terminate this




Agreement within ten (10) Business Days of its receipt of such Schedule
Supplement, then Buver shall be deemed to have irrevocably waived any
Fight to terminate this Agreement with respect to such matter and, further,
shail have irrevocably waived its right 1o indemnification under Section
7.2 with respect to such matter.”

{0) Sectien 5.5 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be modified
and amended to read in their entirety as follows:

“Section 3.5 Buyer Update to Disclosures. Except as prohibited by law,
the Buver shall promptly notify Company and the Shareholders
Representative in writing of all events, circumstances. facts and
occurrences arising subsequent to the date of this Agreement which could
result in any breach of a representation or warranty or covenan! of the
Buyer in this Agreement or which could have the effect of making any
representation or warranty: of the Buver in this Agreement untrue or
incorrect in any material respect. Upon delivery of such notice, the Buyer
shall supplement or amend the Disclosure Schedules hereto with respect
to any such matter hereafier arising or of which it becomes aware after
the date hereof (each such update, a “'Schedule Supplement”). In
determining whether there is a breach of any representation or warranty
contained in Article IV for purposes of the indemnification to be provided
by the Company pursuant to Section 7.3, such representation or warranty
shall be qualified by any information provided in the Amended and
Restated Disclosure Schedules attached as Appendix B to the Fifth
Amendment.  Notwithstanding the above, any disclosure in any such
Schedule Supplement delivered afier the date of the Fifth Amendment,
shall not be deemed to have cured any inaccuracy in or breach of anv
representation or warranty contained in this Agreement, including for
purposes of the indemnification or termination rights contained in this
Agreement or of determining whether or not the conditions set forth in
Section 6.3 have been satisfied: provided, however, that if the Company
has the right fo, but does not elect to, terminate this Agreement within ten
(10) Business Days of its receipt of such Schedule Supplement, then the
Company shall be deemed to have irrevocably waived any right to
terminate this Agreement with respect fo such matter and, further, shall
have irrevocably waived its right to indemnification under Section 7.3
with respect to such matter.”

(p) Section 6.2(a) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be
modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“(a)  The representations and warranties of the Company contained in
ARTICLE i shall be true and correct in all respects as of the Closing Date
with the same effect as though made at and as of such date (except those
representations and warranties that address matters only as of a specified



date, which shall be true and correct in all respects as of that specified

date).”
(@

Secticn 6.2(f) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be

modified and amended to read in its entircty as follows:

0

The Company shall have delivered copies of the (i) audited

consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the fiscal

years ended December 31, 2014 and 2015, in each case including [TV,

(i) unaudited carve-out financial statements of the Company as of and for
the fiscal vears ended December 31, 2015 and 2016, in each case excluding
1TV, (iii) unaudited monthly financial statements of the Company, in forms

reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, for each month subsequent to December
2016 through and including December 31, 2017, provided, that Buyer
understands and acknowledges that the December 2017 monthly financial
statements are subject to year-end audit and other closing adjustments, (iv)

to the extent available, a preliminary draft of revenue and cost of goods sold
information for January 2018, and (v) 16 the extent available, preliminary
drafis of revenue for February and March 2018, it being understood that any
deficiencies relating to the information described Sections 6.2(f)(iv}-(v} shall
not be deemed 1o be a failure to have met the Conditions to Obligations of
Buyer and shall not be grounds 1o delay the Closing bevond the Outside
Date.”

() Section 6.2(k) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be
modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“tk)  No more than 30% of the total outstanding Shares of the Company
shall be Dissenting Shares; none of which shall be held by any of Josh Reel,
Steven Jones, Randall Henderson, Tad Yeatter and Stuart Conrad or any of
their Affiliates, or any other Shareholder that collectively with their
respective Affiliates holds 3% or more of the outstanding Shares of the
Company immediately prior to execution of this Agreement or the Closing.”

(s) Section 7.1 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be modified
and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“Section 7.1 Survival. The representations and warranties contained in
ARTICLE ilf, and ARTICLE IV shall survive the Closing and shall
terminate on the following dates:

fa) with respect to representations and warranties contained in
(i) ARTICLE Il and (i) Section 4.1 (Organization and Power),
Section 4.2 (Authorization; Valid and Binding Agreement) and
Section 4.5 (Brokerage) (collectively, the “Buyer Fundamental
Represemtations ™), such representations and warranties shall
survive until the sixtieth (60th) day following the expiration of their




respective  statwte  of  limitations  (the “Fundamental
Representations Expiration Date”);

(b) with respect to all other representations and warranties in
ARTICLE [V, such representations and warranties shall survive
Jor the twenty-four (24) months  after the Closing Date
fthe "General Representations Expiration Date”).

Al covenants and agreements of the Company. the Shareholders and
Buyer contained in this Agreement that are to be performed in whole or in
part after the Closing Date shall survive in accordance with their
respective terms, if being understood that, other than as provided in
Section 7.2(c), no covenant or agreement by the Company contained in
this Agreement requiring performance by the Company at or before the
Ciosing shall survive the Closing Date.”

(3] Section 7.2 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be modified
and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“Section 7.2 Indemnification of Buyer. From and after the Closing (but
subject o the provisions of this ARTICLE VII), Buyer and its Affiliates,
officers, directors, emplovees, agents, successors and assigns (the “Buyver
Indemnitees ") shall be indemnified by the Shareholders, severally and not
Jointly (and limited to the amount of their respective Distributable Net
Purchase Price amount), in respect of any and all losses, liabilities,
claims, damages, penalties, fines, judgments, awards, settlements, costs,
Sees and expenses (including reasonable costs of investigation and defense
and reasonable accountants’, experts’ and attorneys’ fees and expenses)
(individually, a “Loss” and collectively, "Losses™), whether or not
involving a third party ciaim, suffered or incurred by the Buyer
Indemnitees to the extent such Loss results from or arises out of:

(a) a breach of any represemtation or warranty of the Company
contained in ARTICLE [l of this Agreement;

(b) any Company Closing Expenses or Indebtedness of the Company
outstanding as of the Closing to the extent not deducted in the
determination of the Purchase Price;

(c} a breach of the covenant or agreement by the Companv contained

in Sections 5.2{g), (i}, or (j); and

(d) Shareholder Taxes to the extent not deducted in the determination
of the Purchase Price.”

(u)  Scction 7.4(a) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be
modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:



“fa)  Norwithstanding anvthing to the contrary set forth in this
Agreement, even if a Buyer Indemnitee would otherwise be entifled to
indemnification for a Loss pursuant to Section 7.2, such Buyer Indemnitee
shall not be entitled 1o indemnification for a Loss pursuant 1o such Section
except to the extent the aggregate amount of all Losses eligible for
indemnification pursuant fo Section 7.2 exceeds on a cumulative basis an
amount equal to $400,000 (the “Deductible’), but then only to the extent
such Losses exceed the Deductible. No Buyer Indemnitee shall be entitled
to any indemnification pursuant to this Agreement from an individual
Shareholder in excess of the actual consideration received by such
Shareholder pursuant to this Agreement.  All payments under this
ARTICLE ViI shall be treated by the parties as an adjustment to the
proceeds received by the applicable Shareholder pursuant to Section 2.4
and Section 2.5.”

v)

Section 7.6(0) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be

deleted in its entirety.

(W)

Sections 7.10(a) and (b} of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby

be modified and amended to read in their entirety as follows:

“fa)  Reserved.

(h)  Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 7.4, if and to the
extent the amount of any Losses to be paid to a Buyer Indemnitee at any
time under this ARTICLE VI is greater than the Deductible, then each
Sharehoider will be responsible for their Pro Rata Share of such shortfall
(the “Loss Shortfall ") provided that the total amount of the Loss Shortfall
shall never exceed the 1otal amount of Losses incurred by the Buver
Indemnitees, less any amounts previously or contemporaneously funded by
payments from the Shareholders. No later than ten (10) Business Days
Sfollowing receipt of written notice from the Buver with the final
determination of their Pro Rata Share of the amount of such Loss
Shortfall, each Shareholder shall pay o Buyer in cash, by wire transfer of
immediately available funds to an account designated in writing by Buyer,
its Pro Rata Share of the amount of such Loss Shortfall: provided thar, for
the avoidance of doubt, no payment hereunder by an individual
Shareholder shall be in excess of the portion of the Distributable Net
Purchase Price received by such Shareholder purswant 1o ihis
Agreement.”

(x)

Sections 7.11 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be

modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“Section 7.11 Reserved”



(y)  The third sentence in Section 7.12 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger
shall hereby be modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“Buyer agrees that it will negotiate in good faith with the Shareholders
Representative to determine a mutually agreeable amount of any Tax Benefit, if
any, realized by the Company in connection with the payment of anv expenses that
gave rise to an indemnification payment or payments, which amount shall be paid
to the Payment Agent by the Company within five (5) business days of the date on
which such amounts are determined.”

(z) Section 8. 1(d){(iii) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be
modified and amended 1o read in its entirety as follows:

“(iii) the Closing shall not have occurred by 5:00 PM EST on April 20,
2018, which date may be extended by a mutual writien agreement (such
date as may be extended, the "Quiside Date”); provided, however, the
right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 8. 1{d}(iii) shall not be
available to either party whose failure 1o 1ake anv action reguired to fulfill
any obligation under this Agreement (including the failure lo act in good
Jfaith or 10 use reasonable best efforts to cause the Closing to occur) shall
have been the cause of, or shall have resulted in, the failure of the Closing
to occur before such date.

(aa)  Section 9.1(d) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be
modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“d)  Any out-of-pocket costs and expenses reasonably incurrved by the
Shareholders Representative in connection with actions taken in
performance of its duties hereunder will be reimbursed from the
Shareholders, in each case on a pro rata basis in proportion to each such
Shareholder's Percentage Interest as of the date hereof. In no event shall
Buyer, Acquisition Company or the Company or any of their respective
Affiliates or Representatives have any obligation o reimburse the
Shareholders Represemative for all or any portion of any costs or
expenses of the Shareholders Representative.”

(bb) The following Definitions in Annex A shall hereby be modificd and
amended to read in its entirety as follows:

e

Dissenting Shares " shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.5,

“Financial Statements " shall mean (i) the unaudired consolidated balance sheet
of the Company. excluding ITV, as of December 31, 2016 and the related
consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for the twelve (12)-month
period then ended, (ii) the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company,
excluding ITV, as of December 31, 2017 and the related consolidated statements
of operations and cash flows for the twelve (12)-month period then ended (iii) the
unaudited consolidated balance sheet and related consolidated statements of




operations and cash flows of the Company as of and for the fiscal yvears ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, in each case excluding ITV, and (iv) the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Companv as of and for the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2015, in each case including ITV.

“Latest Balance Sheet” shall mean the unaudited consclidated balance
sheet of the Company, excluding ITV, as of December 31, 2017.

“Payment Agent Agreement” means the Payment Agent Agreement dated
October 31, 2017 by and among the Company. Shareholders
Representative, Buver and the Payment Agent, as amended on December
22, 2017 and Jamuary 18, 2018."

“Tax Benefit” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.12.”
{cc)  The following Definitions shall hereby be added to Annex A:
““Fifth Amendment” means the Fifth Amendment to Agreement and Plan

of Merger dated as of April 13, 2018 and effective as of February 28,
2018.”

(dd) The following Definitions shall hereby be deleted from Annex A in their
entirety: (1) Anti-Corruption Laws, (ii) Cap, (iii} Company's knowledge, (iv) Employment
Agrecement, (v) Environmental Laws, (vi) ERISA, (vil) ERISA Affiliate, (viii) Escrow
Amounts, provided that each reference to “Escrow Amounts” in the Agreement and Plan
of Merger shall be modified and amended to the “Working Capital Escrow Amount”,
(ix) FCPA, (x) Hazardous Substance, (xi) Indemnity Escrow Account, (xi1) Indemnity
Escrow Amount, {xiii) Key Employees, (xiv) Material Contracts; (xv) Pension Plans,
(xvi) Plans; (xvii) Qualified Plan, and (xviii) Welfare Plan.

{ce) Effective as of the date of this Amendment, the Disclosure Schedules of
the Company attached to the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall be amended and
restated in their entirety, and replaced by the Amended and Restated Company
Disclosure Schedule attached hereto as Annex A.

(fi  Effective as of the datc of this Amendment, the Disclosure Schedules of
Buyer and the Acquisition Company attached to the Agreement and Plan of Merger shatl
be amended and restated in their entirety, and replaced by the Amended and Restated
Buyer and Acquisition Company Disclosure Schedule attached hercto as Annex B,

(gg) Exhibit G to the Agreement and Plan of Merger is hereby deleted in its
entirety together with all references thereto.

4. Governing Law and Venue. This Amendment shall be construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of Flonda.

5. Severability. If any provision of this Amendment, or the application thercof to
any person or circumstance, shall, for any reason and to any extent, be invalid or unenforceable,
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the remainder of this Amendment and the application of such provision to other persons or
circumstances shall not be affected thereby, but rather shall be enforced to the greatest extent
permitted by applicable law.

6. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts,
cach of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which when taken
together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

7. Continning Effect of Agreement and Plan of Merger. Except as modified by
this Amendment, the Agreement and Plan of Merger will continue in full force and effect in

accordance with its terms. To the extent of any conflicts between the terms of the Agreement and
Plan of Merger and the terms hereof, the terms of this Amendment will control.

[THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



IN WITNESS WHEREOQVF. the undersigned have exceuted this Amendment to be
cffeetive as of the Effective Date.
COMPANY:

T3 COMMUNICATIONS. INC..
a Florida corporation

Name:v_ . Je o
Title: \/

SHIFT8 TECHNOLOGIES. INC..
a Nevada corporation

By:
Name:
Title:

SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE:

STUART CONRAD

SKINATURE PAGL TO
FIF rH AMENDAVENT TO AGREEMEN] AND PLAN OF MERGER



IN WITNESS WHEREOQF. the undersigned have executed this Amendment 10 be
effective as of the Effective Date.

COMPANY:

T3 COMMUNICATIONS. INC.,
a Florida corporation

Name: S ) < S
Tatle: [ - Q-

BUYER:

SHIFT8 TECHNOLOGIES. INC..
a Nevada corporation

Name: _Frphur £ . Swp, kb
Title: i

SHAREHOLDERS REPRLESENTATIVE:

STUART CONRAD

SIGNATURE PAGE TO
FiF [H AMENDMENT TO AGRUEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER



IN WITNESS WHERFOF. the wndersigned have excoiied this Amwendiment o be
effective as of the Effective Date.
COMPANY:

T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC..
a Florida corporation

By: )&Fﬁ::,(:w ,

Name:

Tisle: ﬂ: .g\-o-‘m_@_—s._i 'ﬁ(?i
BUYER:

SHEFTE TRCOHNGEOGHIS, INC .
a Nevada corpoenition

By
Name:
Titie:

SHAREHOLDERS REPRUSENTATIVE:

STUART CONRAD

Seaaaiter Paa 1o
Fob 00 ANBNDMENT JO AGREEMEX Y AND PLAN OF MERUER




Annex A

Amended and Restated Disclosure Schedule of the Company



EXECUTION

STRICTLY PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL DRAFT FOR DISCUSSION PURPQOSES

AMENDED AND RESTATED DISCLOSURE SCHEDULES
to

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

by and among

Shift8 Technologies, Inc., as Buyer,

T3 Acquisition, Inc., as Acquisition Company,

and

T3 Communications, Inc., as Company

Amended and Restated as of April 13, 2018



DISCLOSURE SCHEDULES

The information contained in these Disclosure Schedules provides exceptions to or otherwise
qualifies the representations, warranties and covenants of T3 Communications, Inc., a Florida
Company (“Company™) contained in that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of
May 8, 2017 (as amended or modified in accordance with its terms, the “Agreement™), by and
between Company, Shift® Technologics, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“Buyer™) and T3
Acquisition, Inc. , a Florida corporation and subsidiary of Buyer (“Acquisition Company”).
Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them
in the Agreement.

These Disclosure Schedules shall be construed with and as an integral part of the Agreement to
the same extent as if the same had been set forth verbatim therein. The specific disclosures set
forth in these Disclosure Schedules have been organized to correspond to the section references
in the Agreement to which the disclosure may be most likely to relate, together with appropriate
cross references when disclosure is applicable to other sections of the Agreement; provided,
however, that any fact or item disclosed in any Schedule of these Disclosure Schedules shall be
deemed to be disclosed with respect to another Schedule whether or not a specific cross-
reference thereto appears, to the extent that it is reasonably apparent on its face that the
disclosure of such matter 1s applicable to such Schedule of the Disclosure Schedules, including
in cases where the corresponding section or subsection of these Disclosure Schedules includes
the phrase *“No disclosure”. Inclusion of information in these Disclosure Schedules will not be
construed as an admission that such information is material to the operations or condition
{financial or ctherwise) of the Company or of the Business or that such information is required to
be referred to or disclosed in accordance with the Agreement. The Disclosure Schedules are
qualified in their entirety by reference to the provisions of the Agreement and are not intended to
constitute, and shall not be construed as constituting, representations and warranties of Company
cxcept as and to the extent cxpressly provided in the Agrcement, and shall not be decmed to
expand the scope or effect of any representations or warranties in the Agreement. No disclosure
of any matter in these Disclosure Schedules relating to any possible noncompliance, breach or
violation of any Law, or of any contract, license, or similar document or instrument, shall be
construed as an agreement or acknowledgment that any such noncompliance, breach or violation
exists or has actually occurred, and nothing in these Disclosure Schedules shall constitute an
admission of any liability or obligation of Company or any of its Affiliates to any Person or shall
confer or give to any Person any remedy, claim, reimbursement, cause of action or other right
against Company or any of its Affiliates. Matters disclosed in these Disclosure Schedules are not
necessarily limited to matters required to be disclosed by the Agreement. Such additional
matters are disclosed for informational purposes and de not necessarily include other matters of a
similar nature. For the aveoidance of doubt, the phrase *No disclosure™ used hercin shall in no
way limit or affect the application of the foregoing in these Disclosure Schedules.

The headings contained in these Disclosure Schedules are for reference purposes only and shall
not in any way affect the meaning or interpretation of the information and disclosures contained
in these Disclosure Schedules.

Where only brief particulars of a matter are set out or referred to in the Disclosure Schedules or a
reference is made only to a particular part of a disclosed document, full particulars of the matter



and the full contents of the document are deemed to be disclosed to the cxtent such brief
particular of such matter or reference to a particular part of a disclosed document has been
disclosed in a manner that it would reasonably be apparent that the omitted information with
respect to such matters should be incorporated therein.

Any descriptions of contracts, license, or similar documents or instruments, or reports or other
documents, set forth in these Disclosure Schedules are summaries only and are qualified in their
entirety by the specific terms of such contracts, licenses, or similar documents or instruments, or
reports or other documents.

The specification of any dollar amount in the representations or warranties contained in the
Agreement or the inclusien of any specific item in any Disclosure Schedule is not intended to
imply that such amounts, or higher or lower amounts or the items so included or other items, are
or are not material, and no party shall use the fact of the setting of such amounts or the inclusion
of any such item in any dispute or controversy as to whether any obligation items or matter not
described herein or included in a Disclosure Schedule is or is not material for purposes of the
Agrecment.

In disclosing the information contained in these Disclosure Schedules, Shareholders and
Company expressly do not waive any attorney-client or other privileges associated with such
information or any protection afforded by the work-product doctrine with respect to any of the
matters disclosed herein.

The attachments to these Disclosure Schedules form an integral part of these Disclosure
Schedules and are incorporated by reference for all purposes as if set forth fully herein.

N
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Schedule 1
T3 SHAREHOLDERS, SHARES AND OPTIONS HELD, PERCENTAGE INTERESTS,
DISTRIBUTABLE NET PURCHASE PRICE & PRO RATA SHARE OF
DISTRIBUTABLE NET PURCHASE PRICE

Sce Attached (to be inserted just prior to Closing with figures based on the estimated purchase
price)



Schedule 2
EQUIPMENT LEASES ASSUMED BY BUYER

(As of date of Merger Agreement)

1. Royal Bank America Leasing Schedule #6
Equipment: a) 10 APC Model AR 3100 Cabinets
b) 20 AP 7930 PDUs
¢) 1 Juniper Router Mode! 1-MX480 Premium-AC

Lease Amt;  $45,475.00

Start Date: 5/15/15

End Date: 4/15/18

Monthly Pmt: $ 1,414.81
Interest Rate: 7.512%

3/15/18 Bal:  $1,405.84
Amortization: See Schedule 2{a)

2. Royal Bank America Leasing Schedule #7
Equipment:  a) 1 Juniper MX240 Base-DC
b) 1 DPCE-R-20GE-2XGE

Lease Amt:  $19,375.00

Start Date:  8/15/15

End Date: 7/15/18

Monthly Pmt: $ 603.00

Interest Rate: 7.536%

3/15/18 Bal:  $2,374.73
Amortization: See Schedule 2(b)

3. Up to $150,000 of other lease financing that may be put in place by the Company prior to
the Closing,



Schedule 2.4(b})
ESTIMATED INDEBTEDNESS TO BE PAID OFF AT CLOSING

(As of 4/5/18, with the final balance to be updated prior to Closing)

1. American Express Corporate Credit Card

4/10/18 Balance — $11,570.00*

*To the cxtent the Company is unable to pay off this balance prior to closing, this will
become a purchase price adjustment for assumed indebtedness.



Schedule 2.4(c)
ESTIMATED COMPANY CLOSING EXPENSES

(As of date of Merger Agreement, with the final balance to be updated prior to Closing)

PR s N -

— o —
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Payee Amount
Josh Reel $224.000
Steven C. Jones $ 77.000
Randy Henderson $ 57,000
Stuart Conrad $ 57,000
Tad Yeatter $ 57,000
IX Advisors (Vik Grover) $ 32,000
K&L Gates $ 98,000

Aspen Capital Advisors, LLC § 60,400

Stuart Conrad $ 20,000
. Jennifer Crisp $ 10,000
. Wilmington Trust $ 1,750
. Lott & Gaylor Insurance $ 9,269
. All others $ 0

Total $703.419

Description
Retention Pmt & Stock-based Comp Pmt

Board change of control payment
Board change of control payment
Board change of control payment
Board change of control payment
Finders’ fee agreement
Transaction legal expenses
Transaction consulting fees
Shareholders Representative fee
Transaction bonus

Escrow Fee

D&O Insurance Runoff Policy



Schedule 3
RELOCATION

“Relocation”™ means, to the extent that it occurs, and subject to Section 5.2, the relocation, to
occur prior to the Closing unless otherwise agreed by the parties, of the Company’s operations
currently located at 2401 First Street, Suite 300, Fort Myers, Florida 33901 to a location to be
identified by the Company after the date of this Agrcement, which location shall be reasonably
acceptable to Buyer (the “New Property™). The term “Relocation™ shall include all actions
reasonably necessary to effect the transfer of the Company’s operations as described in the
immediately preceding sentence, including, but not limited to:

» the entering into by the Company of a leasc, at a location and on terms rcasonably
acceptable to Buyer, for the New Property;

e the incurrence of up to $250,000 (or such other amount as may be agreed to by Buyer) of
Indebtedness solely for the purpose of effecting the Relocation; and

e the making of capital expenditures or commitments therefor in an amount not in excess of
$250,000 (or such other amount as may be agreed to by Buyer) solely for the purposes of
cffecting the Relocation.

*The Relocation has not occurred as of the date of the Fifth Amendment and shall not
occur prior to the Closing. Following the Merger, the Company may choose to effect a
relocation of its operations.
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Schedule 3.9(b)
LEASED REAL PROPERTY

2401 First Street, Unit 300, Fort Myers, FL 34901,

The Company is a party to that certain “Office Lease Agreement”, dated July 15, 2012,
with Viking Center, LLC pursuant to which it leases approximately 6,800 gross square
feet of floor area. The lcase is a net lease with a five year term, commencing on October
1, 2012and originally due to terminate on September 30, 2017. The term of the leasc has
been extended pursuant to the addendum discussed in the subsequent paragraph. The
Base Rent at the beginning of the lease was $56,664 per year (34,722/mo or
approximately $8.33/sf), but was subject to a 3% increase each year thercafter. In
addition to the Base Rent, the Company pays certain taxes, insurance, and Common Area
Maintenance charges.

The Company entered into an Addendum to the Office Lease Agreement on December 1,
2017, extending the current lease to November 30, 2020. The Base Rent i1s $5,314.65 per
month and is subject to a 3% increase each year thereafter. In addition to the Base Rent,
the Company pays certain taxes. insurance, and Common Area Maintenance charges.



Schedule 3.11(a)
EXTENSION OF TIME TO FILE 2016 FEDERAL & STATE TAX RETURNS

The Company has or will file extensions for its 2017 Federal and Florida State tax returns.

The Company made estimated Federal tax payments of $116,667 for its estimated 2017 fax
liability during FY 2017. The Company filed its 2017 Federal Extension on 4/5/18.

The Company made estimated Florida state tax payments of $14,617 for its 2017 Florida state
tax lability during 2017. The Company filed its 2017 Florida Extension on 4/5/18.
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Schedule 3.11(j)
STATES WHERE STATE TAX MIGHT BE DUE

During the last three (3} years, the Company has provided services to a de-minimus number of
customers outside the state of Florida that theoretically would give rise to certain State sales and
other communications taxes being due. However, based on the advice of its outside tax advisors,
the Company determined there was no material risk to not becoming a filer for such state taxes.
Listed below is a table of the amounts that would have theoretically been due if the Company
had become a filer in such states:

1



2014 2015 ¢ 2016 2017 2018 to-dat Totals

Taxable | Total Tax
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Schedule 3.23
BROKERAGE (Company)

The Company has a verbal understanding with Vikram P. Grover d/b/a 1X Advisors (“IXA™), a
broker in connection with Transaction, to pay [% of any transaction consideration in cash for
any transactions in which Mr. Grover introduced the buyer to T3. T3 plans to pay such
commuission as part of the Company Closing Expenses.



Annex B

Amended and Restated Disclosure Schedule of Buyer and the Acquisition Company



Schedule 4.5
BROKERAGE (Acquisition Company)

Vikram P. Grover d/b/a IX Advisors (“IXA™) is broker in connection with Transaction based on
that certain Letter Agreement dated July 27, 2017, by and between LXA and the Buyer, as
amended.
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Schedule 4.6
Financial Ability

Buyer will have on the Closing Date, sufficient immediately available funds in cash to pay the
Purchase Price and all fees and expenses to be paid by Buyer.

[See attached]
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AV Credit, LLC

April 9, 2018

Mr. Stuart Conrad
Shareholders Representative
T3 Communications, Inc.

Dear Mr. Conrad,
Thermo Credit, LLC (“Thermo Credit"} has a long-standing business relationship with Shiftg
Networks, Inc., Shift8 Technologies, Inc., and Digerati Technologies, Inc. (collectively

“Shift8") that originated in August 2010. We are pleased to confirm that Thermo Credit and

an affiliated entity will be funding up to $750,000 for the closing of Shift8's acquisition of T3
Communications, inc.

If you should have additional questions please do not hesitate to contact me either by email,
seth@thermocredit.com, or via phone, (504) 620-3101.

Sincerely,

Seth'Block /ﬁ/

Executive Vice President




Q‘)\ DAVID KAHAN, P.A.

%. ATTORNEYS AT LAW

April 10, 2018

Mr, Art Smith
Shift8 Networks

Re: Credit Facility between TCA Global Credit Master Fund, LP (“TCA™) and Digerau
Technologies, Inc., Shift8Networks, Inc., and other credit parties (collectively, the “Credit
Parties”)

Dear Mr. Smith:

This firm represents TCA in connection with a proposed credit facility between TCA and the Credit
Parties. In this regard, please be advised that TCA has approved (subject to the conditions identified below)
a credit facility for the Credit Parties with an initial funding amount of $1,350,000, which sums are
conternplated to be funded to the Credit Parties at closing (subject to adjustments in accordance with the
credit agreement), subject to completion and cxecution of final loan documents, satisfactory completion of
TCA’s due diligence, and satisfaction of other conditions precedent as set forth in the credit agreement. It
is our understanding that the proceeds of this loan are to be used towards the purchase price for the
acquisition of T3 Communications, Inc.

In the event you have any questions regarding the foregoing, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Very truly yours,
DAVID KAHAN, P.A.
/s/ David Kahan

David Kahan

cc: Ms. Donna Silverman

6420 Congress Ave., Ste. 1800 Telepheone: (561) 672-8330 E-Mail: david.¢ dkpalaw.com
Boca Raton, EL 33487 Facsimile: (561) 672-8301 DKPALAW.COM



NGID, LLC.
10226 San Pedro Ave #110

San Antonio, Texas 78216

April 12, 2018

Arthur L. $mith

CEC

Digerati Technologies, Inc.
1600 NE Loop 410, Suite 126
San Antonio, Texas 78209

Dear Mr. Smith:

This letter is to certify that 5600,000 of the cash listed in the attached Exhibit “A” is committed, subject to, among
other things, conditions set out below, to the ciosing of your acquisition of T3 Communications, Inc. (T3
Transaction”) as an equity financing or underwriting of a convertible debt or equity instrument with Digerati
Technologies, inc.

NGID, LLC may terminate its obligations under this letter if any material information submitted to them proves to
have been inaccurate or incomplete in any material respect, or if any material adverse change occurs as it pertains
to the T3 Transaction.

Sincerely,

NGID, LLC
By: Danny Mills, CEO
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SIXTH AMENDMENT TO
AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This SIXTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this
“Amendment”), dated as of the 20th day of April, 2018 (the “Effective Date”), is made by and
among Shift8 Technologies, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“Buyer™), T3 Acquisition, Inc., a Florida
corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Buyer (“Acquisition Company”), T3
Communications, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”) and Mr. Stuart Conrad, as the
representative  of the Shareholders of the Company (in such capacity, “Shareholders

Representative™).

WHEREAS, Buyer, Acquisition Company, the Company and Shareholders
Representative entered into that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger dated May 8§, 2617, as
amended by that cenain First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger dated August 10,
2017, as further amended by that certain Second Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger
effective as of October 31, 2017, as further amended by that certain Third Amendment to
Agreement and Plan of Merger made effective as of December 22, 2017, as further amended by
that certain Fourth Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger made effective as of January 19,
2018, and as further amended by that certain Fifth Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger
made effective as of February 28, 2018 (the “Agrcement and Plan of Merger™);

WHEREAS, pursuant 1o Section 9.9 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, any provisions
of the Agreement and Plan of Merger may be amended only in writing and must be signed by both
Buyer and Shareholder Representative,

WHEREAS, the Outside Date, as defined in Section 8. 1(d)(iii} of the Agreement and Plan of
Merger, has been extended to April 20, 2018 in accordance with the Agreement and Plan of Merger;
and

WHEREAS, the parties desire to further extend the Outside Dale as set forth in this
Amendment.

L. Capitalized Terms. All capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined
shall have the meaning ascribed 1o them in the Agreement and Plan of Merger.

2. Amendment.

(a) Section 8.1(d)(iii) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger shall hereby be
modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“iii) the Closing shall not have occurred by 5:00 PM ST on April 27,
2018, which date may be extended by a mutual written agreement (such date
as may be extended, the “Qutside Date”); provided however, the right to
terminate this Agreement under this Section 8. 1{d)(iii) shall not be
available to either party whose failure to take any action required fo fulfill
any obligation under this Agreement (including the failure 1o act in good




Jaith or to use reasonable best efforts to cause the Closing to occur) shall
have been the cause of, or shall have resulted in, the failure of the Closing
to occur before such date. ™

3. Governing Law and Venue. This Amendment shall be construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of Florida.

4. Severability. If any provision of this Amendment, or the application thereof to any
person or circumstance, shall, for any reason and to any extent, be invalid or unenforceable, the
remainder of this Amendment and the application of such provision to other persons or
circumstances shall not be affected thereby, but rather shall be enforced to the greatest extent
permitted by applicable law,

5. Counterparts, This Amendment may be cxecuted in one or more counterparts,
each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which when taken
together shalt constitute one and the same instrument.

6. Continuning Effect of Agreement and Plan of Merger. Except as modified by this
Amendment, the Agreement and Plan of Merger will continue in full force and effect in accordance
with its terms. To the extent of any conflicts between the terms of the Agreement and Plan of
Merger and the terms hercof, the terms of this Amendment will control.

[THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Amendment to be
effective as of the Effective Date.

COMPANY:
T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC.,

a Florida corporation

By:
Name:
Title:

BUYER:

SHIFT8 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,
a Nevada corporation

Name: At die
Title, ¢~ £

SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE:

STUART CONRAD

SIGNATURE PAGE TO
SIXTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER



IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, the undersigned have executed this Amendment to be
effective as of the Effective Date.

COMPANY:

T3 COMMINICATIONS N
a Flarisde sovposetion

% e

SHIFTL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,
2 Nevada corporation

SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE:

STUART CONRAD

SIGNATURE PAGE TO
SIXTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Amendment 10 be

effective 8s of the Effective Dme.

COMPANY:

T3 COMMUNICATIONS, INC.,
a Florida corporation

By:

SHIFT8 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,
a Nevada corporation

Tile: o~ =0
SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE:

=

STUART CONRAD

SIGNATURE PAGE TO

SIXTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER
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SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO
AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER
(this “Amendment”), dated as of the 30th day of April, 2018 (the “Effective Date™), is made by
and among Shift8 Technologies, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“Buyer”), T3 Acquisition, Inc., a
Florida comporation and wholly owncd subsidiary of Buyer (“Acquisition Company™), T3
Communications, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”) and Mr. Stuart Conrad, as the
representative  of the Shareholders of the Company (in such capacity, “Shareholders

Representative™).

WHEREAS, Buyer, Acquisition Company, the Company and Shareholders
Representative entered into that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger dated May 8, 2017, as
amended by that certain First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger dated August 10,
2017, as further amended by that certain Second Amendment 10 Agreement and Plan of Merger
effective as of October 31, 2017, as further amended by that certain Third Amendment to
Agreement and Plan of Merger made effective as of December 22, 2017, as further amended by
that certain Fourth Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger made effective as of January
19, 2018, and as further amended by that certain Fifth Amendment to Agreement and Plan of
Merger made effective as of Fcbruary 28, 2018, and as further amended by that certain Sixth
Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger made effective as of April 20, 2018 (the
“Agreement and Plan of Merger™);

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 9.9 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, any provisions
of the Agreement and Plan of Merger may be amended only in writing and must be signed by both
Buyer and Sharcholder Representative; and

WHEREAS, the partics desire to further extend the effective time of the Closing;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto
agree as follows:

1. Capitalized Terms. All capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined
shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Agreement and Plan of Merpger.

2. Amendment.

() The last sentence of Section 2.1 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger
shall hereby be modified and amended to read in its entirety as follows:

“The Closing shall be deemed ro occur at, and the calculation of the
Purchase Price shall be made as of, 11:39 p.m. Miami, Florida time on
the Closing Date.”



3. Governing Law and Venue. This Amendment shall be construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of Florida.

4. Severability. If any provision of this Amendment, or the application thereof to
any person or circumstance, shall, for any reason and to any cxlent, be invalid or unenforceable,
the remainder of this Amendment and the application of such provision to other persons or
circumstances shall not be affected thercby, but rather shall be enforced to the greatest extent
permitted by applicable law.

5. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts,
each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which when taken
together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

6. Continuing Effect of Agreement and Plan of Merper. Except as modified by
this Amendment, the Agreement and Plan of Merger will continue in full force and effect in

accordance with its terms. To the extent of any conflicts between the terms of the Agreement and
Plan of Merger and the terms hercof, the terms of this Amendment will cantrol.

ITHE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF. the undersigned have executed this Amendment to be
effective as of the Effective Daie,

COMPANY:
T3 COMMUNICATIONS. INC..

a Florida corporation

By:

R ST W Ti{
Title: \

BUYER:

SHIFT8 TECHNOLOGIES. INC..

a Nevada corporation

By:
Name:
Title:

E SENTATIVE:

St g

STUART CONRAD

SIGNATURE PAGF TO
SEVENTH AMENDMENT T() AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER



IN WITNESS WHEREOF. the undersigned have executed this Amendment 1o be

eltfective as of the Eltective Dute,

COMPANY:

T3 COMMUNICATIONS INC.
a Florida comperation

By ( -B\‘*
Narme: n . @fﬁg_ . iy
Title: _CAnalcCaan. EEEU

BUYER:

SHIFTE TECHNOLOGIES . INCL
a4 Nevada corporation

Namw: ﬁ e gﬁyfmé@pﬁ__ e
ey _ ol

SHAREIOLDERS REPRESENTATIVE:

STUART CONRAD

SHiNAELRE Paal e

SEVENTHANESSSUN T T AGREISMEN T WD PN 0 MERGER



